Nassau County Shared Services,

Office of Purchasing
o]

Staff Summary A-10-2022

Subject: |AS /ADAPT Software Licenses & Support Late: June 6, 20272

Maintenance Renewal [RQIT22000001)
Department: Department of Shared Services Vendor Name: Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Office of Purchasing
Department Head Name: Melissa Gallucai Confract Number: A-10-2022

Depar’rojiir Head Signa m/m Confract Manager Name: Kimberly Stanton, Buyer
PN KAOQL:

Internal Approvals

Date & In" Approval Ddte &.Init. A Approval
l/ //{/2033 (5’& J ~TCPO z [ Budget
7 (O [ County Atty. ] 71 9 ./~ ) County Exec.
/ V][] £

Marterial Adverse Information Identified? [Yes ___/No _X_| (If Yes, attdch m&mo.)

Narrative:

Purpose: To authorize and award a purchase order for the annual software licenses, support and
maintenance of the Assessmant IAS/ADAPT system.

Discussion: The Department of Shared Services, Office of Purchasing has determined that this is a scle
source procurement. Tyler Technologies, Inc. is the proprietary owner/supplier of this software and is the
sole vendor who exclusively manufactures, sells and distributes the 1AS Software. This software is necessary
to maintain the current technology and is a maintenance agreement for modules related to tax billing,
collections, delinquent tax, appeals management and EDMS interface. The period of this agreement runs
from

January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022.

Impact on Funding: The maximum amount autheorized under this purchase order shall be Six Hundred Sixty-
Seven Thousand Ten Dollars {$667,010.) frem general fund [ITGEN 1420/DESAS).

Recommendation: Department of Shared Services, Office of Purchasmg recommends owordmg a

purchase order to Tyler Technologies, Inc. as the sole SOUTCe prowder .
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COUNTY OF NASSAU

INTER - DEPARTMENTAIL MEMO

TO: CLERK OF THE COUNTY LEGISLATURE A-10-2022

FROM:  MELISSA GALLUCCI - COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES
DATE: JUNE 1, 2022
SUBJECT: RESOLUTION- VARIOUS NASSAU COUNTY AGENCIES.

THIS RESOLUTION IS RECOMMENDED BY THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES
TO AUTHORIZE AN AWARD AND TO EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER IN THE AMOUNT OF
SIX HUNDRED SIXTY-SEVEN THOUSAND TEN DOLLARS ($667,010.00) ON BEHALF OF THE
VARIOUS NASSAU COUNTY AGENCIES TO TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC. FOR IAS
SOFTWARE LICENSES AND SUPPORT MAINTENANCE RENEWAL.

THE ABOVE DESCRIBED DOCUMENT ATTACHED HERETO IS FORWARDED FOR YOUR
REVIEW AND APPROVAT AND SUBSEQUENT TRANSMITTAL TO THE RULES COMMITTEE

FOR INCLUSION IN ITS AGENDA.
\

MELISSA GALI:YCCI
COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES

VB: gb
ENCL: (1) STAFF SUMMARY
(2) DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
(3) RESOLUTION
(4) BID SUMMARY
(5) BID PROPOSAL
(6) CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
(7) RECOMMENDATION OF AWARD
(8) POLITICAL CONTRIBUTION FORM




RULES RESOLUTION 2022

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES TO
AWARD AND EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU
ACTING ON BEHALF OF VARIOUS NASSAU COUNTY AGENCIES AND TYLER

TECHNOLOGIES, INC,

WIHEREAS, the Commissioner of Shared Services is representing to the Rules Committee that

the firm, TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC., is a sole source provider and meets all specifications for the

product described in the said contract as determined by the Commissioner of Shared Services.

RESOLVED, that the Rules Committee of the Nassau County Legislature authorizes the

Commissioner of Shared Services to award and execute the said Purchase Order with Tvler Technologies.

Inc.



COUNTY OF NASSAU
POLITICAL CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Has the vendor or any corporate officers of the vendor provided campaign contributions pursuant to the New York
State Election Law in (a) the period beginning April 1, 2016 and ending on the date of this disclosure, or (b), beginning
April 1, 2018, the period beginning two years prior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of this
disclosure, to the campaign committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign
committees of any candidates for any of the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Executive, the County
Clerk, the Comptroller, the District Attorney, or any County Legislator?

YES NO X If yes, to what campaign committee?

2. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or Vendor authorized as a
signatory of the firm for the purpose of executing Contracts.

The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they are, to
hisfher knowledge, true and accurate.

The undersigned further certifies and affirms that the contribution{s) to the campaign committees identified above were
made freeiv and without duress, threat or any promise of a governmental benefit or in exchanae for any benefit or
remuneration.

Electronically signéd and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Robert Kennedy-Jensen [ROB.KENNEDY-JENSEN@TYLERTECH.COM]

Dated: 02/15/2022 10:10:09 AM Vendor: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Title: Group General Counsel

Page 1 of 1 ' Rev. 3-2016



PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent
(10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to
answer any gquestion, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the
questionnaire,

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. FAILURE TO SUBMIT A COMPLETE

QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE
AND IT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR AWARD

1. Principal Name: Mark Hawkins

Date of birth: (07/23/1975

Home address: 2125 Stags Leap

City: Celina State/ProvincefTerritory:  TX Zip/Postal Code: 75009

Country: Uus

Business Address: 5101 Tennyson Parkway

City: Plano State/Province/Territory:  TX Zip/Postal Code: 75024

Country us

Telephone: (972) 713-3770

Other present address(es):

City: State/Province/Territory: Zip/Postal Code:
Country:

Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2. Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)
President Treasurer
Chairman of Board Shareholder
Chief Exec. Officer Secretary
Chief Financial Officer Partner
Vice President
{Other)
Type Description Start Date
Other President Property & Recording Division 02/18/2019
3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES | X |NO | | If Yes, provide details.

Mark Hawkins owns less than a 10% interest. Only 1.47% of Tyler Technologies, Inc.'s shares are held by
insiders. Please see attached document,

1 File(s) Uploaded: Holder Information 2022.JPG

4. Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of
contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES NO [ X |IifYes, provide details.
| |

Page 10of 5 Rev. 3-2016



5, Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization
other than the one submitting the questionnaire?

YES NO X If Yes, provide details.

6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past
3 years while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES NO X If Yes, provide details.

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a
result of any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you
need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past {5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5
in which you have been a principal owner or officer:
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
| taken.
b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts

cancelled for cause?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

C. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES |—__| NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

-

d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action
pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business's ability to bid or propose on
contract?

YES |:| NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.

Page 2 of 5 Rev. 3-2016



8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or
been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the
last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7
years ago and/or is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever
initiated?
YES [ |NO If 'Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to
all questions check "Yes". If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the
questionnaire.)

9.
a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
|
b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
I
c. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
YES NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken,
B
d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime,
an element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of
business? Y
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
|
e. In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken,
I
f.

In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

Page 3 of 5 Rev. 3-2016



10.

11.

12.

13.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related
to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed
in response to Question 57

YES | NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response

to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other
type of investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES | NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5
had any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional
license held?

YES NO X If yes, pravide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

Page 4 of 5 Rev. 3-2016



l, [ Mark Hawkins | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

I, | Mark Hawkins | , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring
after the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional
inducement to enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT iN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies, Inc

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Mark Hawkins [MARK.HAWKINS@TYLERTECH.COM]

President, Property & Recording Division

Title

05/17/2022 01:51:21 PM

Date

Page 5 of 5 Rev. 3-2016
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Business History Form

The contract shall be awarded to the responsible proposer who, at the discretion of the County, taking into
consideration the reliability of the proposer and the capacity of the proposer to perform the services required by the
County, offers the best value to the County and who will best promote the public interest.

In addition to the submission of proposals, each proposer shali complete and submit this questionnaire. The
questionnaire shall be filled out by the owner of a sole proprietorship or by an authorized representative of the firm,
corporation or partnership submitting the Proposal.

NOTE: All questions require a response, even if response is "none" or "not-applicable.” No blanks.

(USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IF NECESSARY TO FULLY ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS).

Date: (2/28/2022

1) Proposer's Legal Name: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

2) Address of Place of Business: Tyler Technologies, Inc.
City: Plano State/Province/Territory: TX Zip/Postal Code: 75024
Country: US

3) Mailing Address (if different):

City: State/Province/Territory: Zip/Postal Code:

Country:

Phone:

Does the business own or rent its facilities? Own If other, please provide details:

4) Dun and Bradstreet number: 041089293

5) Federal |.D. Number: 752303920

6) The proposeris a: _Corporation {Describe)

7) Dees this business share office space, staff, or equipment expenses with any other business?

YES [ |NO [ X | Ifyes, please provide details:
|

8) Does this business control one or more other businesses?
YES X | NO If yes, please provide details:

Tyler Technologies, Inc. has the following wholly owned subsidiaries:
? Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC

? Tyler Appraisal & Tax Services, ULC

? Tyler Technologies Australia PTY LTD

? Socrata UK Limited

? Tyler Federal, LLC

Page 1 0of 6 Rev. 3-2016



? Harris Custom Programming, L.LC
? MicroPact Philippines, Inc.

? Cavu Corporation

? NIC Inc.

? NICUSA, Inc.

? VendEngine Inc.

9) Does this business have one or more affiliates, and/or is it a subsidiary of, or controlled by, any other business?

YES | | NO X | lf yes, please provide details:
|

10) Has the proposer ever had a bond or surety cancelled or forfeited, or a contract with Nassau County or any
other government entity terminated?
YES NO If yes, state the name of bonding agency, (if a bond), date, amount of bond
and reason for such cancellation or forfeiture: or details regarding the termination (if a contract).

1 File(s) Uploaded: Nassau County, NY Terminations for Disclosure Form 2022.docx

11)  Has the proposer, during the past seven years, been declared bankrupt?

YES NO X | If yes, state date, court jurisdiction, amount of liabilities and amount of assets
I

12) Inthe past five years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business,
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency? And/or, in the past 5 years, have any owner and/or officer of any affiliated
business been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or
local prosecuting or investigative agency, where such investigation was related to activities performed at, for, or
on behalf of an affiliated business.

YES [ | NO [ X ] Ifyes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

- 13) Inthe past 5 years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business
been the subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and
local regulatory agencies? And/or, in the past 5 years, has any owner and/or officer of an affiliated business
been the subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and
focal regulatory agencies, for matters pertaining to that individual's position at or relationship to an affiliated
husiness.

YES [ |NO If yes, provide details for sach such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

14)  Has any current or former director, owner or officer or managerial employee of this business had, either before
or during such person's employment, or since such employment if the charges pertained to events that
allegedly occurred during the time of employment by the submitting business, and allegedly related to the
conduct of that business:

a) Any felony charge pending?
YES NO X | If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the

Page 2 of 6 Rev. 3-2016



circumstances and corrective action taken.

b} Any misdemeanor charge pending?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

¢) In the past 10 years, you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony and/or any other crime, an
element of which relates to fruthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of business?
YES [ ] NO [ X ] Ifyes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

) In the past 5 years been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES NO [ X | If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

e) In the past 5 years been found in violation of any administrative, statutory, or regulatory provisions?
YES |__i| NO [ X ] Ifyes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

15) In the past (5) years, has this business or any of its owners or officers, or any other affiliated business had any
sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license
held?

YES [ |NO If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken,

16) For the past (5) tax years, has this business failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable
federal, state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES [ | NO If yes, provide details for each such year. Provide a detailed response to all
guestions checked 'YES‘ If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it io the
gquestionnaire.

17 Conflict of Interest:
a) Please disclose any conflicts of interest as outlined below. NOTE: If no conflicts exist, please expressly
state "No conflict exists."
(i} Any material financial relationships that your firm or any firm employee has that may create a conflict
of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

| No conflict exists.

Page 3 of 6 Rev. 3-2016



(iiy Any family relationship that any employee of your firm has with any County public servant that may
create a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau
County.

| No conflict exists.

(il) Any other matter that your firm believes may create a conflict of interest or the appearance of a
conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

| No conflict exists.

b) Please describe any procedures your firm has, or would adopt, to assure the County that a conflict of
interest would not exist for your firm in the future.

| Please see attached Tyler Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

1 File(s) Uploaded: Tyler Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 2022.pdf

A. include a resume or detailed description of the Proposer's professional qualifications, demonstrating extensive
experience in your profession. Any prior similar experiences, and the results of these experiences, must be
identified.

Have vou previously uploaded the below information under in the Document Vault?
YES NO &

Is the proposer an individual?
YES &l NO Should the proposer be other than an individual, the Proposal MUST include:

i} Date of formation;
[ 03/14/1990 |

i)  Name, addresses, and position of all persons having a financial interest in the company, including
shareholders, members, general or limited partner. If none, explain.

| List of holders of Tyler stock available here:_https:/finance.yahoo.com/quote/TYL/holders?p=TYL

No individuals with a financial interest in the company have been attached..

iii) Name, address and position of all officers and directors of the company. If none, explain.

No officers and directors from this company have been attached.
1 File{s) Uploaded: Board of Directors and Corporate Officers February 2022.docx

iv) State of incorporation (if applicable);
[DE |

V) The number of employees in the firm;
| 6600 |

vi}  Annual revenue of firm;
| 1590000000 |

Page 4 of 6 Rev. 3-2016




vii) Summary of relevant accomplishments

1 File(s) Uploaded: Tyler Technologies Accomplishments 2022.docx
viii)  Copies of all state and local licenses and permits.

1 File(s) Uploaded: State of New York Business Filing 2022.pdf

B. Indicate number of years in business.
|32
C. Provide any other information which would be appropriate and helpful in determining the Proposer's capacity

and reliability to perform these services.

1 File{s) Uploaded: Tyler Annual Report 2021.pdf

D. Provide names and addresses for no fewer than three references for whom the Proposer has provided similar
services or who are qualified to evaluate the Proposer's capability to perform this work.

Company Wayne County, NY

Contact Person Michael Jankowski, County Clerk

Address 9 Pearl St, PO Box 608

City Lyons State/Province/Territory  NY
Country us

Telephone (315) 946-7470

Fax #

E-Mail Address mjankowski@co.wayne.ny.us

Company City of Philadelphia

Contact Person James Lecnard, Commissioner

Address 1400 John F. Kennedy Bivd

City Philadelphia State/Province/Territory  PA
Country Us

Telephone (215) 686-2261

Fax #

E-Mail Address james.leonard@phila.gov

Company Wayne County

Contact Person Bernie Youngblood, Register of Deeds

Address 2 Woodward Ave

City Detroit State/Province/Territory Ml
Country us

Telephone (313) 224-5856

Fax #

E-Mail Address byoungb@co.wayne.mi.us

Page 50of 6 : Rev. 3-2016



I, | Robert Kennedy-Jensen | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

[, | Robert Kennedy-Jensen | | hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring after
the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is frue to the best of my knowledge, information
and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional inducement to
enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Name of submitting business: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Robert Kennedy-Jensen [ROB.KENNEDY-JENSEN@TYLERTECH.COM]

Group General Counsel

Title

02/28/2022 07:07:34 PM

Date

Page 6 of 6 Rev. 3-2016



BHF - #10

On average, Tyler Technologies adds eleven {11} new clients each week and has a ninety-eight percent
{98%) client retention rate.

Tyler Technologies' Appraisal & Tax Division has in the past five {5) years had one {1) Appraisal & Tax
Division software client opt to terminate its relationship with Tyler Technologies for reasons other than
non-appropriation or non-renewal. That decision was mutually agreed to by Tyler without either party
admitting liability. That client, St. Lucie County Clerk of Circuit Court, FL, terminated its agreement with
Tylerin 2021.

In the past five (5) years, five (5) New World Public Safety clients have opted to terminate their
relationship with Tyler for reasons other than non-appropriation or non-renewal. That decision was

mutually agreed to by Tyler without either party admitting liability. Those clients, and the year in which
the termination took effect, are:

s 2016
o Great Falls, MT (remains an EnerGov & NWERP Customer)
o O'Fallon, IL {remains a Tyler Customer on other software)

o Clayton County, GA (remains a Brazos, e-Filing, Munis and A&T Client)
o Anthony, NM (remains an LGD Customer)
o Sacramento Regional Public Safety Communications Canter, CA



Board of Directors

Officers

Glenn A. Carter: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Brenda A. Cline: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

John 5. Marr, Jr.: 1 Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

Ronnie D Hawkins, Jr.: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Daniel M. Pope: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Dustin R. Womble: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.: 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Mary Landrieu; 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

John S. Marr Ir. — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Executive Chairman of the Board

Brian K. Miller — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
H. Lynn Moore Jr. — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Executive Officer, President

Kevin lwersen — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

Chief Information Officer

Abigail Diaz - One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

Chief Legal Officer, Secretary

Samantha B. Crosby — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Marketing Officer

Bruce Graham — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Senior Strategy Officer

Jeff Puckett — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

Chief Qperating Officer

Kelly Shimansky ~ One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

Chief Human Resources Officer

W. Michael Smith — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Accounting Officer

Jeff Green — 1601 East Valley Rd., Ste. 200, Renton, WA 98057
Chief Technology Officer

Christopher P. Hepburn — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
President, Enterprise Group

Chris Webster —One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
President, ERP Division

Dane Womble — 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414



President, Local Government Division

Mark Hawkins — One Tyler Way, Moraine, OH 45439
President, Property & Records Division

Bret Dixon - 5101 Tennysan Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, State & Federal Group

Rusty Smith - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Justice Group '

Bryan Procter — 840 West Long Lake Rd,, Troy M| 48098
President, Public Safety Division

Franklin Williams — 255 South King Street, Suite 1100, Seattle, WA 58104
President, Data & Insights Division

Brian Combs - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Federal Division

Brian McGrath - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Courts & lustice Division

Elizabeth Proudfit - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, NIC Division



On average, Tyler Technologies adds eleven {11) new clients each week and has a ninety-eight percent
(98%) client retention rate.

Tyler Technologies' Appraisal & Tax Division has in the past five (5) years had one (1) Appraisal & Tax
Division software client opt to terminate its relationship with Tyler Technologies for reasons other than
non-appropriation or non-renewal. That decision was mutually agreed to by Tyler without either party

admitting liability. That client, St. Lucie County Clerk of Circuit Court, FL, terminated its agreement with
Tyler in 2021.

In the past five (5) years, five (5} New World Public Safety clients have opted to terminate their
relationship with Tyler for reasons other than non-appropriation or non-renewal. That decision was

mutually agreed to by Tyler without either party admitting liability. Those clients, and the year in which
the termination took effect, are:

e 2016

o Great Falls, MT (remains an EnerGov & NWERP Customer)
o O'Fallon, IL {remains a Tyier Customer on other software)

o Clayton County, GA (remains a Brazos, e-Filing, Munis and A&T Client)
o Anthony, NM {remains an LGD Customer)
o Sacramento Regional Public Safety Communications Center, CA



Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
of
Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Technologies, Inc. {(“Tyler”) expects all officers, directors, and employees to exercise the
highest degree of professional business ethics in all actions they undertake on behalf of Tyler,
Accordingly, Tyler expects its officers, directors, and employees to act at all times in accordance
with the policies outlined herein. These policies apply to all officers, directors, and employees,
including, without limitation, Tyler’s principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer, and all persons performing similar functions.

Any employee who has questions regarding these policies should contact their human
respurces representative or Tyler’s chief human resources officer. An employee should
immediately report any violations of these policies to Tyler’'s chief human resources officer. The
policies in this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics will be strictly enforced. Tyler will take
appropriate disciplinary action with respect to those involved in any violations of these policies,
including, where appropriate, dismissal. Tyler will not retaliate against an employee for
reporting violations. This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is not intended to affect the
status of any employee or to enhance or diminish any employee’s contract rights or rights
under otherwise applicable law.

Anonymous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns

If any employee has any concerns about any accounting, auditing, internal accounting controls,
or related matter, they are encouraged to bring the matter to the attention of Tyler’s audit
committee chairperson. The audit committee is composed of three (3} or more independent
members of Tyler’s board of directors and assists the board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibility to Tyler's stockholders, potential stockholders, the investment community, and
others relating to Tyler’s financial statements, financial reporting, and processes. The audit
committee chairperson can be contacted in any of the following ways:

1. By phone at {866) 376-4128
2. By Internet at http://www.openboard.info/tyl

3, By mail at
Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Board of Directors, Audit Commiltee Chairperson
5101 Tennyson Parkway
Plano, TX 75024

Reports regarding accounting, auditing, or related matters will be kept strictly confidential. In
addition, the employee or other person raising the issue is under no obligation to reveal their
identity in connection with the reporting process. Please reference Tyler’s Whistleblower
Policy for additional information, including how to maintain anonymity in reporting.
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Introduction and Purpose

This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is designed to deter wrongdoing and promote the
following:

* Honest and ethical conduct, including ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of
interest between personal and professional relationships;

+ Avoidance of conflicts of interest, inciuding disclosure to the appropriate person
identified herein of any material transaction or relationship that reasonably could be
expected to give rise to such a conflict;

s Full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in reporis and documents that
Tyler files with, or submits to, the Securities and Exchange Commission and in other
public communications by Tyler;

e Compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules, and regulations;

* Prompt internal reporting to the appropriate person identified herein of any violations
of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; and

e Accountability for adherence to the policies contained in this Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics.

General Principles for Business Conduct

e Tyler and its employee shall comply with all applicable legal requirements of any
federal, state, local, or foreign jurisdiction where Tyler conducts business.

@ The use of any Tyler assets for any unlawful or improper purpose is strictly
prohibited.

¢ No undisclosed fund or asset shall be established or maintained for any purpose.

No false or misleading entries shall be made for any reason in Tyler’s books, records, or other
financial documents, or in any materials prepared for or submitted to Tyler’'s accountants or
independent auditors, and no employee shall engage in any arrangement that results in such
prohibited act. In addition, all employees dealing with or providing information or
documentation to Tyler's accountants or independent auditors must provide complete and
accurate information, and must immediately report any request, suggestion, or threat that they
do otherwise to the chairperson of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined above under
“Anonymous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

Just as Tyler expects all employees to speak honestly to clients, potential clients, and vendors,
Tyler also expects all employees fo display the same integrity in anything they write, whether
for internal or external use. Therefore, all internal records, memoranda, and other documents
must be accurate, complete, and truthful and must be maintained in that condition without any
alteration, falsification, omission, or other change that would mislead someone reviewing the
record about its original contents or meaning, Any employee who is asked or directed to
engage in such prohibited conduct should immediately report it to their human resources
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representative or Tyler’s chief human resources officer, or, if it concerns questionable
accounting or auditing matters, to the chairperson of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined
above under “Anonymaous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

Retaliation against any employee as a result of their bringing forward any questions, concerns,
or complaints about accounting or auditing matters, recording of information, record retention,
or any other matter concerning the honesty and integrity of Tyler's operations or financial
reporting is strictly prohibited. Similarly, retaliation is prohibited against any employee who
provides accurate information to any law enforcement agency about the commission of any
state or federal offense. Any employee who feels that they have been retaliated against or
threatened with retaliation for these reasons should immediately report it o Tyler's chief
human resources officer, or, if it concerns questionable accounting or auditing matters, to the
chairpersen of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined above under “Ancnymous Reporting of
Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

No payment on behalf of Tyler shall be approved without adequate supporting documentation
or made with the intention or understanding that any part of such payment is to be used for
any purpose other than as described by the documentation supporting the payment.

No Tyler confidential information shall be used or revealed within or outside of Tyler without
proper authorization and purpose.

The use of Tyler employees, materials, or equipment for personal purposes is strictly
prohibited, unless specifically authorized.

Compliance with established internal control procedures is required at all times.

Political Activities and Contributions

Tyler will not make any contribution to or for any political party, committee, or candidate for
any public office. Any employee requested by another employee to contribute Tyler funds to a
political party, committee, or candidate for public office should decline to do so and promptly
notify their human resources representative or Tyler’s chief human resources officer of the
details of any such request.

Payments to Government Officials and Personne!

Tyler's relationships with governmental agencies and their personne! in any federal, state,
local, or foreign jurisdiction where Tyler conducts business shall be conducted so that full
disclosure of the conduct will not impugn or jeopardize Tyler’s integrity or reputation.
Accordingly, payments to government personnel, including gifts of substantial value or lavish
entertainment, is strictly prohibited, whether the payment is made from personal funds or
assels or those of Tyler, and whether made directly or indirectly through consultants, advisors,
suppliers, clients, or other third parties.
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Use of Agents and Others to Assist in Obtaining and Performing Contracts

From time to time, Tyler may elect to use consultants, distributors, representatives, and agents
to assist in obtaining or performing contracts. These representatives must be bong fide
professional individuals or organizations, they must render bona fide services, and their
compensation must be limited to a reasonable fee for their services. A representative may not
be employed by Tyler if they are connected directly or indirectly to the prospective client or to
an official or agent of a prospective client.

Conflicts of Interest

Tyler expects the undivided loyalty of its employees in the conduct of business. It is important
that employees be free from any financial interests or other relationships that might conflict
with the best interests of Tyler. Accordingly, each employee shall avoid any investment or other
interest in any business that would conflict with the proper performance of their duties or
responsibilities for Tyler, or which might interfere with their independence of judgment with
respect to the transactions between Tyler and such o\ther business.

While it is impossible to enumerate all situations in which possible conflicts might arise, the
following are some examples:

o To give or receive gifts of more than token value that are in any way connected with the
business relationship;

* Tolend or barrow money or other assets from individuals or concerns that do business
with or compete against Tyler, except banks and other financial institutions;

* To serve as an officer, director, employee, or consultant of, or receive any income from
any enterprise doing business with or competing against Tyler, or seeking to do so, or to
own an interest in or engage in the management of an organization providing services
or products to Tyler, or to which Tyler sells, or with which Tyler competes, except when
such interest (1) comprises publicly traded securities listed on a national securities
exchange, NASDAQ, or the OTC margin list and (2) is not in excess of 5% of the securities
of such company;

¢ To accept compensation from outsiders for services for which the employee is being
paid by Tyler;

= To speculate or deal in materials, equipment, supplies, products, lands, leases, or
property purchased or sold by Tyler, or for which negotiations to purchase, acquire, or
sell are pending or may reasonably be anticipated, or to receive (other than from Tyler)

any compensation, bonus, or commission in connection with any transaction relating to
Tyler's business;

» To knowingly cause, directly or indirectly, Tyler to enter into a business transaction with
a close relative of a Tyler employee or business enterprise of such relative;

» To knowingly buy or sell for the employee’s own account or the account of a
relative of a Tyler employee any security or other interest which Tyler may be
considering buying or selling, or has decided to buy or sell, until Tyler’'s decision has
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been completely executed and publicly announced; and/or

¢ To transmit any knowledge of any consideration or decisions of any information
that might be prejudicial to the interests of Tyler to any person, except as may be
necessary for the proper discharge of the employee’s responsibilities on behalf of
Tyler.

If an employee finds that they have, or are considering the assumption of, a financial interest or
outside relationship that might involve a conflict of interest, or if the employee has any doubt
as to the proper application of this policy, they should promptly make all facts known to Tyler’s
chief human resources officer and refrain from any exercise of responsibility in any manner
that might reasonably be considered to be affected by such adverse interest.

Protection of Confidential or Proprietary Information

Tyler's confidential and proprietary information is vital to its current operations and future
success. Each employee shall use reasonable care to protect or otherwise prevent the
unauthorized disclosure of such information. In no event shall confidential information be
disclosed or revealed within or outside Tyler without proper authorization or a permitted
purpose. If an employee is uncertain whether certain information should be treated as
confidential, the employee should presume that such information is confidential and not
disclose it without confirmation that there is proper authorization or a permitted purpose.

By way of example, confidential or proprietary information includes information relating to
Tyler’s business methods, business plans, research, development, inventions, databases,
systems, systems designs, technology, intellectual property, know-how, management, business
development, operations, products, services, pricing strategies, client sources, employee
records, terms and conditions of arrangements of any business or clients, client lists, methods
of competing, financial statements, financial projections, financing methods, and other
proprietary information.

Prohibition Against Insider Trading

Insider trading is the trading of Tyler stock while in possession of material “inside” or nonpublic
information. This includes the purchase or sale of Tyler stock on the open market through a
stockbroker of your choice or through an online brokerage account, the exercise of stock
options and corresponding sale of the underlying stock, the sale of stock acquired through
Tyler’'s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (following the applicable holding periods), or the short
sale of Tyler stock. The prohibition against trading other than during the trading window also
encompasses the fulfillment of “limit orders” placed with a broker, and the brokers with whom
ony such limit order is placed must be so instructed at the time it is placed. The prohibition does
not, however, include the purchase of stock under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan pursuant
to previously authorized payroll deductions.

In addition to the prohibition against trading, it is also a violation of the federal securities laws
to disclose (or tip) material nonpublic information to another person who subsequently uses
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that information to their profit.

What is “material nonpublic information?”

In general, information is “material” if its disclosure to the public would affect an investor’s
decision to purchase or sell Tyler stock, It is difficult to describe all the types of material
nonpublic information a Tyler employee may possess that could cause problems with trading or
tipping others to trade Tyler stock. Some examples of material nonpublic information about
Tyler include information or knowledge about the following events:

* Tyler's guarterly or annual earnings or other important financial information;

¢ Changes in previously disclosed financial information, including earnings estimates;

+ Tyler has suffered, or is about to suffer, extraordinary losses or costs;

« Tyler has realized, or is about to realize, extraordinary earnings;

» Tyler is making changes in previously disclosed financial information;

+ Tyler has entered into, or is about to enter into, an important contract with a client, or
that such a contract has been terminated or is about to be terminated;

e A merger, acquisition, or takeover;

¢ Acquisition or sale of a company, a division, or a significant amount of assets;

e Tyler plans to declare stock splits, stock dividends, or cash dividends;

¢ Tyler becomes a party to major litigation;

s Tyler is making significant changes in management;

¢ Tyler plans to make significant changes in cperations; and/or

¢ Tyler has achieved a milestone.

In most cases, employees should presume that information concerning any of these events is
material. If an employee has any questions about what information is material, or whether the
information has been disclosed to the public, they should contact Tyler’s chief legal officer.

General Trading Limitations
All employees, officers, and directors must comply with the following restrictions:

1. They may not buy or sell Tyler stock during the period beginning on the first business
day after the end of each fiscal quarter through the close of trading on the second full
business day after release of the quarter’'s operating results to the public. This blackout
period is intended to remove any appearance that you may have traded based on
material nonpublic information concerning the financial results.

2. If, during times other than the blackout period referred to ahove, they possess material
information (good or bad) that is unknown to the general public (in other words,
information that they have not read in the newspaper, Tyler’s press releases, or annual
or quarterly reports, or seen publicly displayed on the bulletin boards around Tyler's
facilities), then they are prohibited from buying or selling Tyler stock until after the close
of trading on the second full business day after such material information has been
released to the public.

3. They are prohibited from sharing material nonpublic information with others {friends,
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family, stockbrokers, strangers) that buy or sell our stock or recommending that they
trade or hold Tyler stock based on the material nonpublic information or at any time
when the employee, officer, or director possesses material nonpublic information.

4. They may not give material nonpublic information to others, even if they are not buying
or selling Tyler stock, without Tyler’'s permission. In other words, they may not give this
information except where it is required in the performance of duties as an employee,
officer, or director of Tyler and they have permission to do so.

These restrictions also apply to family members and others living in the household of the
employee, officer, or director.

These general trading fimitations are based upon U.S. securities laws. Compliance with these
general rufes should mean compliance with applicable U.5. laws, as well as the regulations of
the New York Stock Exchange.

Property Rights

During and subsequent to employment by Tyler, an employee must disclose to Tyler all ideas,
concepts, inventions, improvements, and discoveries, including those related to software, and
any and all writings including those related to software, regardless of the media that are
conceived, made, or reduced to practice by the employee, provided that such ideas, concepts,
inventions, improvements, and discoveries arise from or relate to work done for or on behalf of
Tyler, relate to Tyler's business, involve the employee’s use of Tyler equipment, facilities, or
time, or arise out of any information received regarding Tyler’s business. It is each employee’s
responsibility to fully disclose to Tyler as promptly as available all information known or
possessed by the employee concerning these property rights. Where appropriate, ideas or
guestions should be directed to Tyler's chief legal officer for patent, copyright, trademark, or
trade secret protection.

Employee Health and Safety

Creating and maintaining a safe environment for our employees is a priority at Tyler. Asa
company, Tyler makes every effort to comply with all applicable health and safety laws,
enlisting the assistance of employees tc help keep facilities free of hazardous conditions.
Employees should immediately report all work-related accidents or injuries as well as any
hazardous or unsafe conditions. In addition, Tyler will not tolerate any vielent hehavior in the
workplace.

Equal Employment and Non-Discrimination

Tyler believes it is important to have a diverse workforce and an inclusive workplace, and is
committed to encouraging diversity of background, culture, experiences, insights, and skills in
its workforce. In keeping with Tyler's commitment to the personal dignity of employees, Tyler
supports each individual’s right to be treated with courtesy and respect.

Tyler is an equal opportunity / affirmative action employer and prohibits discrimination and
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promaotes equality in its employment policies and practices. Management and supervisory
employees are responsible for making decisions affecting employees without regard to race,
religion, color, gender/sex, gender identity, gender expression, sexual orientation, marital
status, creed, national origin, ancestry, citizenship status, age, disability, veteran’s status, and
any other status protected under local, state, or federal laws. This includes decisions regarding
all aspects of the employment relationship, including recruitment, selection, promotion and
transfers, performance appraisals, compensation, and termination.

These policies are implemented in compliance with applicable federal, state and local
nondiscrimination and affirmative action laws and regulations.

If an employee believes that they have been subjected to discrimination by employees, officers
or agents for Tyler, they should report the incident to their manager, their human resources
representative, or directly to their division president, who will investigate and attempt to
resolve the matter,

Anti-Harassment Policy

In order to promote a professional and productive work environment in which all employees
are treated with dignity, courtesy, and respect, Tyler has adopted an Anti-Harassment Policy
prohibiting all forms of harassment. Such policy is included in Tyler’s Employee Handbook and
has been distributed to all employees.

if at any time an employee feels that they have been subjected to or has observed harassment,
he or she should report the incident to any supervisor or manager. If the employee is not
comfortable taking the complaint to a supervisor or manager, they should contact their human
rescurces representative, their division president, or the chief human resources officer.

Employees may also make a complaint, anonymous or not, via Tyler’'s Whistleblower Hotline
either online or by telephone.

Tyler also prohibits any adverse action or retaliation against an employee who makes a

complaint or otherwise participates in an investigation of discrimination or harassment. Tyler
will take disciplinary action against anyone who attempts to retaliate.
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Tyler Technologies' Appraisal & Tax Division provides systems and software that automate the appraisal
and assessment of real and personal property and the recording of land and vital records. These
activities include record keeping, mass appraisal, inquiry and protest tracking, appraisal and tax roll
generation, tax statement processing and electronic state-level reporting. These systems are image and
video-enabled to facilitate the storage of and access to the many property-related and vital record
documents and for the online storage of digital photographs of properties for use in defending values in
protest situations. Other related tax applications are available for agencies that bill and collect taxes,
including cities, counties, school tax offices, and special taxing and ccllection agencies. These systems
support billing, collections, lock box operations, mortgage company electronic payments, and various
reporting requirements.

Tyler Technologies' Public Safety Divisicn provides public safety software that is a fully unified and
comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911/computer aided dispatch
(“CAD"), records management, mobile computing, corrections management, Web-based information
sharing and decision support. The modules are fully integrated, utilizing a common database and
providing full functionality between modules, reducing data entry. The software provides fast, efficient
dispatching, and quick access to records, reports and actionable information from an agency’s database.

Please also see attached 2021 Annual Report.



February 28, 2022 | 3:53 pm Children ages 5+ are eligible for the COVID-19 vaccine and
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ENTITY TYPE: FOREIGN BUSINESS CORPORATION DURATION DATE/LATEST DATE OF DISSOLUTION:
SECTIONOF LAW: 1304 BCL - BUSINESS CORPCRATICN LAW ENTITY STATUS: ACTIVE
DATE OF INITIAL DOS FILING: 02/25/2005 REASON FOR STATUS:
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Service of Process Name and Address

i Name: TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

| Address: 5101 TENNYSCON PARKWAY, PLAND, TX, UNITED STATES, 75024

Chief Exacutive Officer's Name and Address

Name: H, LYNN MOORE, JR.

Address: 5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY, PLANO, TX, UNITED STATES, 75024

Frincipat Executive Offine Address

Address: 5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY, PLANO, TX, UNITED STATES, 75024

Fagisred Agent Name and Addrass

Name: CAPITOL SERVICES, INC.

Address: 1218 CENTRALAVENUE, SUITE 100, ALBANY, NY, 12206

Enfily Primary Location Name and Address

Name:

Address:







COUNTY OF NASSAU
CONSULTANT'S, CONTRACTOR'S AND VENDOR'S DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name of the Entity: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Address: 5101 Tennyson Pkwy

City:  Plano State/Province/Territory:  TX Zip/Postal Code: 75024

Country: us

2. Entity's Vendor Identification Number: 75-2303920

3. Type of Business: Public Corp (specify)

4. List names and addresses of all principals; that is, all individuals serving on the Board of Directors or comparable
body, all partners and limited partners, all corporate officers, all parties of Joint Ventures, and all members and
officers of limited liability companies (attach additional sheets if necessary):

1 File(s) uploaded Board of Directors February 2022.docx
Mo principals have been attached to this form.

5. List names and addresses of all shareholders, members, or partners of the firm. If the shareholder is not an
individual, list the individual shareholders/partners/members. If a Publicly held Corporation, include a copy of the
10K in lieu of completing this section.

If none, explain.

| |

1 File(s) uploaded Tyler Form 10-K 02192021.pdf

No shareholders, members, or partners have been attached o this form.

8. List all affiliated and related companies and their relationship to the firm entered on line 1. above (if none, enter
"None"). Attach a separate disclosure form for each affiliated or subsidiary company that may take part in the
performance of this contract. Such disclosure shall be updated to include affiliated or subsidiary companies not
previously disclosed that participate in the performance of the contract.

Performance will be through Tyler Technologies, Inc. Tyler Technologies, Inc. has the following wholly owned
subsidiaries:

? Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC
? Tyler Appraisal & Tax Services, ULC

? Tyler Technologies Australia PTY LTD
? Socrata UK Limited

? Tyler Federal, LLC

? Harris Custom Programming, LLC

? MicroPact Philippines, Inc.

? Cavu Corporation

? NIC Inc.

? NICUSA, inc.

? VendEngine Inc.

7. List all lobbyists whose services were utilized at any stage in this matter (i.e., pre-bid, bid, post-bid, etc.). If none, ente
"None." The term "lobbyist” means any and every person or organization retained, employed or designated by any clien
to influence - or promote a matter before - Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads,
legislators or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee and Planning
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Commission. Such matters include, but are not limited to, requests for proposals, development or improvement of real
property subject to County regulation, procurements. The term "lobbyist" does not include any officer, director, trustee,
employee, counsel or agent of the County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

Are there lobbyists involved in this matter?
YES [ |NO

(a) Name, title, business address and telephone number of lobbyist(s):

(b) Describe lobbying activity of each lobbyist. See below for a complete description of lobbying activities.

(c) List whether and where the person/organization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau County, New
York State):

r

8. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or Vendor authorized as a
signatory of the firm for the purpose of executing Contracts.

The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they are, to
his/her knowledge, true and accurate.

- Electronically signhed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Robert Kennedy-Jensen [ROB.KENNEDY-JENSEN@TYLERTECH.COM]

Dated: 02/28{2022 06:07:45 PM

Title: Group General Counsel
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The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County
Legislature, or any member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local
legislation or resolution; any determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove any
local legislation or resolution, whether or not such legislation has been introduced in the County Legislature; any
determination by an elected County official or an officer or employee of the County with respect to the procurement of
goods, services or construction, including the preparation of contract specifications, including by not limited to the
preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or administration of a contract or with respect fo the
solicitation, award or administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving the disbursement of public monies; any
determination made by the County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies, boards,
commissions, department heads or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory
Committee, the Planning Commission, with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real property
subject to County regulation, or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to
requests for proposals, bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an
elected county official or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition
by the county of any interest in real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the
county, or with respect to a franchise, concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or
rejection by an agency of any rule having the force and effect of law; the decision fo hold, timing or outcome of any
rate making proceeding before an agency; the agenda or any determination of a board or commission; any
determination regarding the calendaring or scope of any legislature oversight hearing; the issuance, repeal,
modification or substance of a County Executive Order; or any determination made by an elected county official or an
officer or employee of the county to support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or regulation, including any
determination made to support or oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation, rule or regulation,
whether or not such legislation has been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or regulation has been
formally proposed.
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGION, D.C. 20549

FORM10-K
X ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TQ SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECTIRITIES AND EXCHANGEACT OF 1934
For the Fiscal Year Ended Decensher 31, 20621
OR

1 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THESECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Comndssivn Tile Number 1-10485
TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Fxact name of reglstrant as specifled in its charter)
Delanare 73-2303920
(State or other jurisdetion of Incorporation ‘(II.R.S. employer
or organization) Jdentification no.)
5101 Tennysen Parkway
Plano, Texas 5024
(Adiress of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

Ropistrant’s telephone nuteher, includicg avea codes (972) 713-3700

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(h) of the Act:

Nam¢ of each exchange
Die of ench class Tending sumbol on which TEXiELE!I&é
COMMON STOCK, $0.01 PAR VALUE TYL Mew York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12{g) of the Aet:
NONE

Tcicate by check mark if the registrant 15 o well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Secwitios Act,  Yes T Mo X

Tndicats by check mark if the registrant is not reqeired fo file reports purnt to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act. Yes 1 Mo X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) bas filed all reports requined to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Seovrities Exchange Act of 1934 diwing the preceding 12 months (ot for swch
shorter perdod that the registrant wes requived o file such reports), and (2) has been silifect to such filing vequirements for the past 90 days, Yes X No

Indicate by check mak if discloame of delinquent filer purswant to ltem 405 of Reglation 5K is not contained herein, nnd will not be contnined, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in
definitive proxy or information staternents incorporated by refience in Part 111 of the Form 10-K or any anwendment to the Fann 10 Yes [ Ne X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on ite corporate Web site, if any, cvery Interastive Data file required to e subrnitted and posted presuant to
Rule 405 of Regrlation ST diring the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant wes required to subnit ond post sch files). Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large acoelerated filor, an sccelerated filer, 2 non-accelernted filer, smaller reporting compamy, or an emerging growth company. Sce the definitions of
"large accelerated filer", "uccelerated filer”, "smaller reporting company”, and "emerping growth company™ in Rulg 1252 of the Exchange Act, (Check one}:

Large accelerated fler X Acvelerafed Filer O

Non-accelerated Filer (Do not check i svaller reporting company) O Smaller Reporting Conpany 0
Emerging Growth Company O

I{an emerging growth cornpany, indicate by ehecle mark if the registrant has elected not 10 1we the sxtended transition pericd for conplying with any new or revised

financial aocom%ﬁ:g staml.’gfds ;);rovidcd pt?s’mni to Setion lS(a)g;?‘Ithe Bxchange Act. b Teng d O

Tudicate by check niark whether the registrant is a sicll company (23 defined in Fale 12b-2 of the Act.)  Yes O m X
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its menagement’s assessnent of the effectiveness of its internal control aver financiat repartingunder Section 404(5) of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 USC. 7262(h)) by the registered piblic pecowting firm thet prepared or issued its andit report Yes X No [C]

The aggregnte market value of the voting stock heldby non-affiliates of the registrant wes $18,292,141,436 lesed on the reported last sale price of common stock on June 36, 2021, which Is the Jagt
business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quavter,

The number of shares of commen stock of the registrant outstanding on Febyvary 22, 2022 was 41,348,517
BOCUMENTS INCORPORATH} BY REFERENCE
Certain informatior: required by Part [IT of this anmnl repatt is mcorporated by referenes from the registrants definitive proxy statement for its annal meeting of stockhalders to be held on May 12, 2022,




Ttem 1.
Ttem 1A
Tte 1B.
Rem 2,
Ttem 3.
Trem 4,

Item 5.
Ttem 6.
Ttan'7.
Ttem 7A.
Ttem 8.
Ttem 9,
Ttem 9A,
Ttem 9B.

Ttem 10,
Ttem 11,
Ttem 12.
Ttem 13,
Ttem 14,

Ttem 15,

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
FORM10-K
TABLEOF CONTENTS

BEEBiEh BERERBRER BEREER.

BB




PARTI

1TEM I. BUSIMESS.
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Tyler Technologies, Bxc. ("Tyler") is a rajor provider of integrated infornmtion managemaent solutions and services for the public sector, We partner with clients to nmke
government wore accessible to the public, more msponsive ta the needs of citizens and more efficlent in its operations, We have 2 beoad ling of software solntions and sarvices to
address the information technology ("1T”) needs of mmjor areas of operations for cities, counties, schools and other government entities. We offer our chients on-premises software
solutions and for clients who preter not fo physiczlly acquirs the software and hardware, most of our seftware applications ean be deliversd as sofiware as 2 service ("8aus"). We
provide professionel IT services to our clients, including software and bardware installation, data conversion, training and, at tives, product modifications. fn addition, we are the
nation’s largest provider of outsourced property appraisal services for taxing jurisdictions. We also provide continuing client support services to ensure pioduct perfomance and
reliability, which ptovides us with long-term client rehtionships and a significant base ofresuring nuintenance revenne, We provide electronic document filin g {"e-filing™)
solutions, which sinplify the filing and management of court docaments. In addition, we provide digital government services and payment soltions.

MARKET OVERVIEW

The state aid loval govemment market is one of the largest and most docontalized 1T rarkets in the country, consisting af all 50 atates, approxinately 3,000 counties, 36,000 cities
and towns and 12,900 school districts, This market is also comprised ofapproadiately 38,000 specinl distriets and other agenciss, each with specialized delegated responsibilitics
atd unique information nanagersent equirements,

Traditionally, local government bodies and agencies performed stats-randeted duties, inchuding property assessment, tecord keeping, road maintenance, law enforcement,
sdministmtion of election and judicial functions, and the provision of welfhve assistance. Today, a host of eroerging and vrgent issues are confronting local governients, each of
which denands a seivice response. These areas include erlminal justice and corsections, administration and finance, public safety, health and human services, planning, repulatosy
and maintenance and records and docuent management, Transfers of responsibility fromthe federal and state govemments to county and nmnicipal gavernments and agencies
in. thes and other arees also place additional service and financial requirements on these local government ynils. In addition, constituents of local govemments are increasingly
demanding improved service and better access to infonmation from public entities, As a result, loeal govemments recognize the increasing vahie of infonyation managenkent
systems and services to, among other things, inprove revesiue collection, provide incesased scress to infomution, and streamiline delivery of services to their constipuents. Local
government bodies are now recogaizing that "s-gavernmeni™ is an additional responsibility for commmity development. From integrated tax 3ysterns to integrated eivil and
criminal justice information systens, wany counties and eities have benefited significantly from the irplemeniation of furisdiction-wide systems that allow difierent sgencies or
government offices to share data and provide a more conprehensive approach to information nanugemsnt. Many city and county govermmental agencies also have unique
individuel information management requirements, which most be faiored to the specific fianctions of each particnlar office,

Many local govemments also have difficulties attracting and retaining the staffnecessary to support their IT funotions. As a result, they seek to establich long-termrelationships
with reliable providers of high quality IT products and services such as Tyler,

Although local gavermnments often fitve budgetary consizeints in their operations, their pritmaty tevenue sources are usually propetty tixes, and fo a lesser extent, utility billings
and other feas, which histozically tend to be relatively stable, In addition, the acquisition of new technology typically enables local governments to opetate more efficiently, more
securely, and often provides a measurzble retuin on vestment that justifies the purchase of software and related services.

Gartner, Inc., a leading informiion technology research and advisory company, estisates that state and focal gevemment spplication and vertical apecific softwere spending witl
grow from$23.6 bilkon in 2022 to $32.3 biliion in 2025, The professional services and support segments ofthe market are expected to expand fom $32.0 billion fn 2022 o $38.4
biflien in 2025, Appiication and vertical specific sofiwure saes i the primary and secondary education segments of the magket & expected to expand from $4.9 billion n 2022 to $6.0
bitlien in 2025 while professional services and support are expasted o grow from$5.1 billion in 2022 to $5.3 billion in 2025. For the national and international govemment mutkets,
application and vestical specific software sales is expected to expand from $38.5 billion in 2022 to $53.8 billion in 2025 whiks professional services imd suppatrt are expected to grow
from $63.1 billion in 2022 to $74.4 billion [ 2025,




PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

We provids 4 comprehensive and flexble suite of products and services that addresses the information technology needs of cities, counties, states, schools, fedessl agencies, and
other govemment entities.

We desiyn, develop, market and support a broad range of software soiutions to serve mission-critical “hack-office” functions of the public sestor, Many of our softwars
applications inchide Ilemet-acceasible sohuifons that atlow for real-thne public access to a variety of infonration or that allow the public to transact business with governnents
online. Qur software solutions and services are generally grouped in nine major areas:

Pinancial Management and Bducation
Courts and Justice

Public Safaty

Property Apprajsal and Tax

Planning, Regulatory and Meaintenance
Land and Vital Records Managenent
Txata and Insights

Plyiforn Technologies

WIC Digital Government Services
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Tach of aur core software systems consists of seveml flly integrmted applications. For elients who acquire software for vse on premises, we gencrally lioense our systems under
standard perpetual license agreements that provide the chent with a fully paid, nonexclusive, nontrans ferable vight to uss the software. In some of the produet areas, such ag
financial nunagerrent and education and property appraisal and tax, we offer multiple solutions designed to meet the needs of different sized govermnments.

W glso offer Sau8 amangements for clisuts wha de not wish to mrintafn, update and operste these systens orto make up-front capital expenditures to implemant these advanced
technologics. For these clients, the software and client data are bosted at our data ceuters orat third-party locations, mad clients typicelly sign metlti-year contracts for these
subscription~based services.

A description of our suites of products and services follows:
Financial Management and Education

Our financial renagement and edueation solutions are enterprise resouwrce planning systens for the public secor, which integrate infoxmation across all fagets of s clent
organization, Our finaticial menagenent solutions inckide modular fand aceounting sysiens that can be tailored to meet the needs of vittually any government agaucy or not-for-
profit entity, Our fmancial memagement systens inclnde modules for general fedgor, budget proparation, fixed agaets, requisitions, purchase orders, bid management, acrounts
payable, contract management, accounts receivable, nvestment management, inventory contral, projeet and grant accounting, wotk orders, job costing, GASE reporting, payroll
and huan reswarces. All of our fnancizl mmnagenent systems are iteaded to conformie govemtment auditing and financial reporting requireinents and genemlly accepied
accounting principles.

We gsll utifity billing systems that support the billing and collestion of ietered and non-metered sexvices, along with muiltiple billing eyeles. Our Web-enabled utility billing
golutinns allow clients to access infernation online surh as average consumption and fansaction history, In addition, our systens can accept secnred Internet payments via credit
gands and checks.

We also offer specilized products that automate numeros city and county functions, including mamicipsl courts, partdng tickets, squipment and project costing, animal licenses,
tusiness licenses, pernits and mspactions, cede enforcement, citizen cotrplaint tracking, ambulance billing, float maintenance, and ceneetary meonds mEnageroent.

In whlition to providing financial nenagenent systens to K17 schools, we gell student information systers for K12 schools, witich manage such activities a5 schodulng, grades
and attendance. We also offar student izanspertation solutions to manage school bus wouting optiization, fiert managenent, field trips and other related functions.

Tyler's {iancial menagement and education solutions include Web components that enhance govemments’ service cupubilities by faollitating online acoess to mformation for
both exployees and citizens and enabling online transactions.

Coirrts and Justice

We offer a complete, fully integrated suite of judicial solutions designed to handle complex, rulti-ubsdicsional connty o statewide impleneniations as well as single county
systems, Our solitions hiefp eliminate duplicate data eniry, proote mors effective business procedures, and improve efficieney across the entire juslice pwocess.



Qurunified court case management systemis designed to automate the tracking and nanagement of information invelved in all case types, mcluding ctiinal, traffie, civil, family,
probate and juvenile courts. It also tmcks the status ofcnses, processes fines and foes and generates the specialized judgment and sentenoing documents, notices and fors
required in the court process. Docunents recetved by the court can be scanned into the electronic case file and easily retrieved for viewing, Documents generated by the court can
be clectronically signed and automatically attached to the electronic case file. Additional modules automate the management of court calendars, coordinate jndges' schedules and
genenate court dockets, Qut targeted courtroom technologies allow courts to rapidly review calendars, cases and view documents in the courtroom Courts may also take
advantage of ourrelated jury management system, We also affer a solution for onling dispute resolution that autonmtes the flow and resolution of cormmon and historicaily tiue-
consuming disputes including debt, landlord, tenant, small clains, child custody and other case types.

COur coutt and faw enforcenent systens allow the public to aceess, via the Internet, a variety of information, including nan~confidential crimial and efvil coutt records, jail booking
and relense information, band and bondsmen informetion, and conrt calendars and dockets, In addition, our systems allow cities and counties to sccept payments for traffic and
parking tickets over the Internot, with a scamleas and autonutic interface to back-office justice and financial systems.

Our prosscutor systemenables state attomey offices to track and manage criminal cages, ncluding detailed vietiminfornation and private case notes. Investigaiive reports and
charging instrument documeats can be generated and stoxed for later viewing, Prosecutors can schedule and record the ontsone of grand jury hearings. When integrated with the
court gysterm, prosecutors can view the electronic case file and related docurments, as well as manage witness lists and subpoenas needed for court hearings.

Qur supervision system alows pre-trial and probation offices to manage offender caseloads. Supervision officers can track contact schedules, niskineeds assessments and
reassessments, detailed drug test results, employment histocies, compliance with conditions and payments of fees and restitution. Documents and forms, like pre-sentence
investigations or revocation orders, ¢at be generated and stored for easy viewing, When integrated with the jail and court systerns, supervision officers obtain casy accesy and
quick nefification of offenders that have court heatings scheduied, are amested locally, and have new warrants issned.

We also offer a court case ianagement solution that autormies and tracks all aspects of runicipel courts and officss. It is a fully tegrated, graphical application that provides
effective case nanagenent, document processing and cash/bond managenent, This system conplies with all state reperting and conviction reports and includes electronic
reporting and also integrates with certain of our financial management solitiony and public safety solutions.

Also vurproduoct solutions provide a suite of financizl and corotmmications applications ranging from deposit technologies for conmuissary, erdering, and warehouse techbology
to a host of nformational, electronic commminications, security, accounting, and financial trust axnagement components for comrectional fGcilities,

Public Safety

Our public safety softwere is a fully unified and comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911/ computer aided dispatch ("CAD™, records managemsnt,
mobile conputing, cotrections matagervent, Web-based infornwtion shering and decision support. The modules are fully integrated, uiilizing & common database and providing
full finetionality between modules, reducing data entry. The software provides fast, efficient dispatching, and quick access to recomds, reporis and actionable information Gom an
agency's database,

Qur 911/ CAD sehutions provide real-tims, eritical response dispaich finctions in either single- or rulti-urisdivtional environments. When integrated with our records mwanagement
software, a vital link exists between dispatch and the most comprehensive records database available, Within seconds, the dispatch operator and the officer in the field cen access
ctitical inforrmtion, such as priorincidents and outstanding warrants, increasing officer knowledge and safety. The selutions offer strong geographic information systems
infegration to help dispatchers quickly locate and send the best response during an emergency. Our 311/ CAD solutions dramatically improve performance, response time and unit
safoty,

Our records management selutions for law enforcement and fire track statistical, operational, investigative and management data for inquiry and reporting, The systens create ab
efficient case processing workflow and help solve orimes with an accessible database that maintaing central files on people, places, property, vehicles and criming! activity, Qur
pubtic safety records nmnagement selutions cnable easy access Lo informmtion and sivplify reporting,

Curmobile computing solutions for faw enforcement and fire provide ingtant access to Jocal, state, regional and federal databuses vin mobile devices. Officets and frefighters can
experience the benefits of obtaining critical, zeal-time information in the field, while saving time by preparing reports directly in their vehicles,




Cur jail management systems documeni and manage information that meets the requirements ofa modem jail facility. This includes the beoking and housing of persons in custody,
supervising defendants on a pre-tsial release, npintaining offendess sentenced to looal incarceration and billing other agenicies for housing inmates. Searching, reporting end
tracking featnres ate infegrated, allowing reliable, up-to-date eccesy to current amest and incarceration data, including digital nag shots. Cur systers also provide wamant checks
fior vigitors ar baokins, inmate classification nnd risk ass essment, cotnmissary, property and medical processing, autormtion of statistics, and state and federal reporting.

Qut ¢ivil processing solutions wenage civil process needs from docwwent teceipt through setvice, payment process and final closgout, We alsa have a mobile clectronic citation
salution shrough which lew enforcement vfficers can easily enter citation mRsmmeation in a mobile device, which is sutomntieally uploaded into the court or public safety reconds
menagement systems, rather than hand-writhag eitations that nust be re-eatered into the systems.

Property Appraisal and Tax

We provide systems and software that autorrets the appmisal and assessment of resl and personal property, inwluding record keeping, mass appraisal, nguiry and protest tracking,
appraizal and taxroll genention, taxstatement processing, aud sievtronic state-level reportings, Theso systems are imnge and video-enabled to facilitate the storage of and scvess
to the many property-related documents und for the anline stotage ofdigital photographs of properties for use in defending values in protest situations. Other related tax
applioations are available for agencies that bill and collect kiwes, ieluding clties, counties, school tax offices, and special taxing and collection agencies. These systens support
billing, collections, lock box operations, mortgage company electronic payments, and various reposting requirements.

Planning, Regnlatory and Maintenance

Our planning, regulaiory and maintenance software solutions are designed for publiz sector agencies such as eomnmily developivent, planning, buitding, code enforcement, tax
and revenues, public works, transportation, land control, environwental, five safety, storm water management, regulatory gontrols and enginesring,. These solutions help public
sector agencies better smanage their day-to-day business functicns while streamfining and autonwting the many sspects oftheir land mnagenent, petmitting and planning
sysiems, Qur mobile solutions extend automation to the ficld and Web access brings online serviess to cltizens 24 hours 2 day, 365 days a year.

Land and Vital Records Managenent

We also offer & mamber of specialized software applications designed to help local governments enhange and antonmte operations invelving records and dectment nunagerment.
These systemms feeosd, sean and index information for the many documents nuintained by Jocal govements, such ag deeds, mortgages, fiens, VEC financing staterrenis and vital
records (birih, death and nmuriage certificates). These applications include fully integruted inmging systems with baich and scan processing capabilities and filly infegrated
receipting and cashiering systens, ag woll #8 Web-enzbled public access.

Cur content senagement solutions allow stats and locel govemments and school districts to capture, deliver, meaage andf archive elestronic information. These solutions
strearrline the flow of digital information throughout the organization to merease efficiency by tansfonwing paper forms and documents inte electronic images that drive key
busingss processes.

Data and Insights

Cur data and insights solutions nake existing govemnent data discoverable, usable, and actionable far government workers end the people they serve. The data and insighis
solution ieludes a deta-as-a-service phtformand cloud applications for open data and citizen engagencent, exclusively for city, county, state, and federal government
organizations, Our data and insights solutions allow governnent to analyze, visualize, and securely share data across puliple departivents and programs, These solutions deliver
data-driven inovation and cost-savings by bringing together disparate systens and leveraging the cloud to dramatically enhance the effectiveness of government progmus, to
iprove quality of lift forresidents, to positively impact local economies, and 10 achieve excellence in govemnent oyerations,

Platform Techmologies )
We offer a low-code application developren( platfisrmsolution for case manageent end business process management. Whether based on premises or in the cloud, its Data-

Firs¢™ approach allows the application to be implerented immediately and configured continuously, enabling clienis to get to work quickly while kesping costs low. Out low cade
application platformallows governent agencies the ability to track, collaborate, and report on the data that drives activities forward.




NIC Digital Government Services

Cn April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, Inc. ("NIC”), NIC delivers user-friendly digital services that mnke it ensier and more sfficient for citizens and businesses to mferact with
govemnment providing valuable convenicnces like applying for unemployment insurance, submitiing business flings, renewing licenses, accessing information and maXing secure
payments without visiting a government office. NIC digital govemment services designs, builds, and operates digital govemnent services on an enterprise-wide basiz on behalfof
state and local governuents desiring te provide access {o gevemment nformation and to conplete secure govemment-based transactions thiough nasltiple digital channels. These
digital govemment services consist of websites and applications NIC hag built that allow consumers, such as businesses and citizens, o access govemment mformation, complate
transactions and make electronic payments, NIC also provides payment processing services, seftware development and digital government services, other than those services
provided under state enterprise contracts, to fedeml agencies as well as state and local govemments.

We derive ourrevenues fromfive primary sources:

Software licenses and royalties
Subscription-based services
Software services
Maintenance and support
Appraisal services

ses and Rowalties

Many of our software amangements involve "off-the-shelf” sofiware. We recognize the revenue allocable to "off-the-shalf” software licenses and specified upgrades at 4 point in
time when control of the sofiware license transfers to the customer, unless the software is not considered distinct, We consider "off-the-shelf” software to be distinet when it can
be added to an arrangerment with minor changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the custorrer for the customer's purpose upon installation, and remmining services such
83 Iraining are not considered highly interdependent or interrclated to the product's functionality.

For armangerents that involve significant production, modification or customization of the saftware, or where software services are otherwise not consklered distinct, we recognize
revenue over time by measuring progress-to-conmpletion. We treasure progress-to-completion pritarily using labor hours ineurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the
custorer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracis. These amangements are often inplemented over an extended petiod and occasionally require us to revise total cost
estinates. Amounts recegnized in revenue are caleulated using the progress-to-conpletion measurement after giving effect (o any changes In our cost estimates, Changes to total
estimated contract costs, ifany, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompletad contracts are recorded in the period in which we first detennine
that a loss is apparent.

Software license fees are billed in accordance with the contmet terms, Typically, 2 mejority of the fee is due when access to the software license is made available to the customer
and the renninder of the fee due over a passage of tine stipulated by the contract. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferrsd revenue or
revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition oritetia have been met.

We recognize royalfy reverme when the sale oceuts under the terms ofonr third-party royalty anangenents. Curently, our third-party royaliies are recognized on an estimated
basis and adjusted if needed, when we receive notice of amounts we are entitled to receive. We typically receive notice of royalty revenues we are entiiled to 2nd billed on a
quartetly basis in the quarter immediztely following the royalty reporting period and adjustrents have not been significant.

Subscription-based revenue is primarily derived fiomour Saa8 arrangements, which generally utilize the Tyler private cloud, as well as our transaction-based offerings such as e-
filing solulions, online dispute resolution selutions, and online payment services.

We are able to provide the majority of our software products through our Saa8 model. The clients who choose this model typically do net wish to maintain, update and eperate
these systems or make up-front capital expenditures to irplement these advanced technologies. The contract terms for these arrangenents rango from one to 1 yeas but are
typically contracted for mitial periods of thres to five years. The najority of our SaaS or hosting armngements include additional professional services as well as maintenance and
support services. In cextain arrangements, the client may also sequire a license to the soflware,

As part of our subscription-based services, we provide e-filing solutions that sirplify the filing and managenent of court related documents for courts and law offices. Revenues
for e~filing are inchided in subscription-based revenues and are derived from trans action fees and in soms cases, fived fee arangenents. Other transaction-based fees primarily
relate to digital govemment services and online payment gervices, which are sometimes offered with the assistance of third-party vendoss, and online dispute resohstion solnticns.




Softwars Serviess

We provide a variety of professional services to clients who utitize cur software products, Virtually all of eur clients contract with us for installation, truining, and data conversien
services i connection with their ioplementation of Tyler's software soluiions. The complete fmplenentation process for a typical systemincludes planning, design, dala
conversion, set-up and testing, At the culmination of the inplementation process, a data nplementation teamis generally onsite at the client’s facility or available via remote video

conferancing to ensure the sanoth go-five with the new system Inplermentation fros are charged separsiely o clients on either a fizpd-foe or hourly charge basis, depending on
the contraet, .
Both in connection with the installation of new systarss and on an ongoing basis, we provide extensive training serviees and prograns related to curproducts and services,
Training ¢an be provided in our training centers, onsite at clients” locations, at neetings and conferences, or rermotely, and can be customized to meet clients’ requirements. The
vast majority of eur clients contract with us for training services, both to inprove thelr srployess’ proficiency and produetivity and to fally utilize the functionality of sur systens,
Trining services are generally billed on s hourly or daily basis, along with travel and ather expenses.
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Following the tmplementation af our software systens, We provide ongeing software support services fo assist ur clients in opetating the systems and to periodically update the
software, Support is provided to elients over the phone orvia the Web through help desks staffed by our client support representatives. For more complicated issues, our staff,
with the clients' permission, can Iog on to clients’ systems remotely, We raintain our clients’ software largely through releases that contain inprovements and mnerermental
additions of features and functionality, aloag with updates necessary beeause of legislntive or regnlatory changes.

Virmally afl of var software cliznts comtract with ug for maintenance and support, which provides us with a significant sonree of recurtng revenue, We genenlly provide
maintenance and support for our on-pratiises chients uoder annual, or in sonw cases, mlti-year contracts, with a typical foe based on a percentags of the software product’s
ficense fee. These fees can genetally be incrazsed on renewsl and may also increase as new livense fees norease. Maintenance and support fees are gonesally paid annually
advance. Most nmintenance contracts astonetically renew unfess the cent or Tyler gives natice of temination prior o expitstion, Similar support is provided to cur SeaS cliants
and i frchded i their subsexiption flees, which are clssiiied as subscription-based revenues.

Appraisal Services
We are the nation’s lnrmest provider of property appraissl outsourcing services for local government taxing authorities. These services inchide:

The physical inspection of commercial snd resideniial properties
Data collection and processing

Sophisticated computer analyses for property vuluation
Preparation of tazrolls

Coscaity education regarding the assessment process
Arbitration between taspayers and tho assessing jursdiction
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Local govemment taxing suthorities nermally reappraise properties from tne 1o time to update values for taxassessment puposes and to maintain equity in the taxing process. In
some jutsdictions, law mandates reassessment eycles; in others, they are discretionary, Whils some taxing jurisdictions performreeppmisals in-honse, many local govemnenis
outsource this fonction because of its eyclioal nature and because of the specialized knowledge and expertise requirements associated with it, Our eppraisal services business unit
has opemted i this busiess singe 1938,

In som: instances, we also provide property tax and / ot appmisal soflware produets in conngetion with uppraisal putsourcing projects, while other clients sway only engage us to
provide appraisal services. Appraisal outsourcing services are somewhat seasonal in natwre to the exent that winter weather conditions reduce the productivity of data collection
activities in connection with those projects,

STRATEGY
Our phiective is to grow our revenus and eamnings organically, supplemrenied by focused strategie acquisitions. The key components of our business stiategy ate to:
+ Provide bigh giali pe—pdded oty andd services (o oy elisats. We compete on the basis of, among other things, delivering to clfents owr deep donmin expertise

fa govenmment opemtions through the highest valne products and services i the madet, We befieve we ave achieved a repuiation as a premium product and sefvice provider to
the government market. '




. Contimue to expenid purproduct and seyvige offerings, While we sleady have what we bsleve to be the broadest line af software products for local govemments, we
continually upgrade our core sofiware applications and expand our conplementazy product and sesvice offerings to respond to technological advancements and the changing
needs of our clients, We regularly add new products and setvices to out portiolio throngh mtemal product development as well as acquisitions. We believe that the addition of
new features and applications enbiances the market appeal of our core products. We have also broadened our offerings of consulting and business process reengineering services.

. Accelemte our move to the cloud, We hava offerad most of out core produets in both an on-premises license modeland a clond-based subscription model for several
years and have seen a steady increase in the percertage of new software clients choosing our clond model in recent years, Beginning in late 2019, we moved our approach to sales
from"cloud-neutral” fo "cloud-fitst,” vith an increasing prefarence to provide our solutions in the clond. We are making significant investments in optimizing our products to be
deployed efficiently in the public cloud and over a multi-year period are transitioning from hosting clients in Tyler’s ewn data centers to utilizing Anmzon Web Services ("AWS™)
for cloud hosting.

. Egand.ow ghentbage, We seek to establish long-term relationships with new clients prinarily throuph our sales and nmrketing efforts, While we currently have clients in
oll 50 states, Coneda, the Caribbean, the United Kingdom, Ausiralia, and otirer international locations, some of onr solations have not fully achieved nationwide geographic
penetration, We intend Lo continge to expand fnto new geographic matkets by adding sales staff and targefing marketing efforts by solutions in those areas. We also intend te
continne to expand our customer base to include lerger juris dictions. While our traditional market focus has primarily been on sall and mid-sized governments, our inereased size
and mmarket presence, together with the technelagical advances and improved scalability of certain of our solutions, ate allowing vs to achicve increasing success in selling to
latger clients. We also expect to expand aur presence in intenational warkets by leveraging our leadership position in the United States thiough the disciplined pursuit of selected
opportunities in other countries.

. Expand our existing clignt relationships. Our sxdsting custorar bass offers significant opportunities for additional sales of sohtions and services that we currently offer,
but that existing clients do not fially utilize. Add-on sales to existing elients typically involve lower sales and marketing expenses than gales to newclisnts, In particolar, wo beiieve
that the acquisition of NIC in Apsil 2021 provides us with significant opportnities to sell Tylersoftwate products inio NICs client base and ta provide NIC's payment services 1o
Tyler’s client base,

. Grow recuning revenues, We have a lage recurring revenue base from maintenance and support and subscription-based services, which generated revenues of $1,3
billion, or 79% of total revenues, in 2021. We have histarically experiencad very low customer turnover (approximmtely 2% anmually) and reenrriing tevonucs continue to Brow as the
installed customer base increases. Subscription-based reventes have been our fastest growing revenne categoty over the past five years, increasing from$173,5 million in 2017 ta
$784.4 million in 2001,

antage of fnencial leverave in our busingss. We seekto build and maintain a larger client base to create economies of scale,
enabling us to provide value-added products and services to our cliety whilo expanding our operating matgins. In addition, we believe that we have a narketing and
administrative infiastructurs in place thut can ba levernged to accommodate significant long-term growth without proportionately increasing selling, general and administrative

eypenses.

. Il Hi facale ang ';:.=

. Attract apd retain hishly qualified enwloyess. We believe that the depth and quality of our management and staff is one of our significant sttengths, and that the ability to
tetain such employees is crucial to our continved growth end suceess, We believe that our stable management tearn, financial strength and growth opportunities, as well as our
leadership position in the public sector mnrket, enhatice our atinctiveness as an enployer for highly skilled enployees.

. Pursue strategic acouisitions. We selectively pursuae strategio acguisitions that provide us with one or more of the following:

v Newproducts and services to complement our existing offerings
*  Eniry inte new matkets related to the public sector
*  Mew clients and/or geographic expansion

. Estabilish strategic alliances. In October 2019, we announced a stmtegic collaboration agreement with Amazon Web Services ("AWS") for cloud hosting services. This
agroement brings together Tyler, the nation's ligest software company exclusively focused on fhe public sector, and AWS, the broadest and deepest cloud platform, Specifically,
the agreamment with AWS provides the famework for development, tmining and cellaboration i order to support next-generation applications that have the scalability, resilioncy,
and seeunity AWS offers. AWS is assisting us in accelerating imovation and the development of steategie initiatives. Thesc initiatives will bring the most advanced cloud-native
services to Tyler elients, improving the flow of information and providing a better experience for state, local, and federal governments.




SALES, MARKETING AND CLIENTS

We market our poducts and services primarily through direct seles and maseting personnel focated throughout the United States, Cther in-house safes staff focus on add-on
sales, professional services and suppati, For certain prodncts we also utilize a partner network for both sales and professional services, primarily in the state and federal markets.

Sales of new systens ate typically genarated from teforrals from other govemmsat offices or departments within a county or municipality, referrals fromother local govemnents,
telotionships astablished between sales ropresentatives and county ot local officials, contucts at ttade shows, direct mailings, and direct contact riomprospects alveady faniliar
withus. We ars active in numerous niational, stave, county, and local govemment associations and participate it annnal meetings, trade shows, md educational events,

Clients cogsist primarily of fedetal, state, county and mumnicipal ageneiss, school districts and other local government offices. In counties, clisnts molude the anditor, freawurer, tax
asssssor/eolicctor, county clerk, district slerk, county and district court udges, probation offivers, sheniff, and connty appraiser. At namiclpal govemment sites, clients inchide
directors fomvarious departmenis, neluding adninistration, finance, ntilities, public works, code enforcement, persennel, purchasing, taxation, nunicipal court and police, At the
state and federn] levels, clients nelude Chjef Information Officers and agensy hesds. Contracts for sofiware products and services are generally inplenented aver periods of thres
months to one yea, although some complex implenentations mey span multiple years, with anrally renewing waintenance and suppor update agreemants therenfier. Although
cither the client or we can terminate these agreements, historically almost all support and meintenance agreements are antonwutically enewed asnually, Dusing 2021, approximately
30% of our revene was atiributable to ongoing suppon and naintenance agreements.

COMPETTTICN

We compets with numerous local, regional, and natiowal firms that provide or offer some ot tamy of the same solutions and services that we provide, Many of these conpotitors
aro smaller sonpanies that mry offer less expensive solutions than ours. Meny of these firmw operate within a specific geogrphic area and / or in 2 narrow product or service
niche. We also commpete with national firns, some of which have greater financial and technical resources than we do, inchiding Oracle Comporation, Infor, BAP AG, Woeikday, Tnc,
Central®yguare Technologies, Thomson Reuters Corporation, Motorola Solutions, Ine., Azon Enterprise, nc., and Comnstebation Sofiware, Inc. In addition, we sometimes compete
with consulting and systems integration firme, which develop customsystens, pritmrily for larger govemments. We also eccasionally conpets with central intemal information
service departments of govemments, wiich requires us to persuade the end-user deparment to discontinue service by its owm petsonnel and cutsource the service to us,

Wa cowpete on a variety of factors, inchuding price, servics, naire recognition, reputation, technological capabilities, and the ability to modify existing products and sarvices to
accommodate the individual requirements of the elient. Gur ability to offer an integrated systemof apylications for severa] offives or departments is often a conpetitive advantage.
Govemnmental units often are required (o seck competitive propossls through a tequast for propasal process and some prospeciive clients use consultants to assist them with the
proposal and vendor selection process.

SUPPLIERS

Substansially all of the computers, pesipheraly, printers, scanners, opemting systemyoltwars, office automntion software, and uthet eguipment necessary for the inmplementation
and provision of our sofbware systens and services are pregently available frone several third-party sources. Hardware is puhased on original equipment manufactarer or
digteibuior tenms at discouats fromretail. We have not experienced any significant supply problens.

BACKLOG

Al Decenber 31, 2021, our revanue backlog was approximately S1.80 billion, compared to $1.59 billion at Decenber 31, 2020, The backlog generally represents signed contracty
wnder which the tevenue has not been recognizd. Approximately 340 million, or 47%, of the backley is expected to be recognized during 2022,

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, PROPRIET ARY RIGHTS, AND LICENSES

We regerd certain featyres of ouy internal opesations, suflwaze, and docamentation as confidential mmd propristary and rely on a conbination of contractual restrictions, trade
seoret laws and othier measurey to protect cur propristary mtellectoal property, We generally do niot rely on patents, We belicve that, due to the rapid rate of technological change
i the sormputer software industry, trade secrets and copyright protection sre less significant than factors such as knowledge, ability and experience of our amployees, frequent
product enbancements, and timetiness and quality of support services, We typically ficense our sofiwaie products nnder non-exslisive license agreensents, which are generally
non-trans ferable and have # perpetual iemm
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HUMAN CAPITAL RESOURCES
Hiuman Copital

Our experienced, collaborative team s one of the most significant contributors to our success i empowering the public secter to create smartex, safer, and stronger commumities.
Ovr effectiveness in attiacting and developing talented teammenders, meny of whomspend the majorivy of their carsers at Tyler serving our publiv sectot clionts, demonstrates
our commitnint to providing a welcoming and safe warkplace, with 2 culture, benefits, and opportunities for our teammenbers to continually grow and develop their careers within

Tyler.

As of December 31, 2021, we had apprexitmiely 6,800 teammembers. Approximately 280 of thess teammembers are [ocated in Canada and the Philippines; the remainder work
remotely in the U.S. or are based in ane of our nearly 90 U8, offices. No Tyler employecs are represented by unions. We believe our efforts in menaging and supporting our
wotkforce are effective, as evidenced by ourrent levels of applivants, tesmmember tenure, and high levels of engagement reported through continuous survey feedback from Tyler
team merbers. The majority of Tyler teammentbers worked remotely for most of 2021 until we efficially retumed to our offices on Janvary 24, 2022, Our feamcontinues to work
collaboratively with and for our clients and partners acrogs multiple work wrmungements: fully office-based, fully remote and a blended approach of office-based and remote work

each week which we refer to as flex-work. Regardless of where teammembers work, we do so together to develop for, sell to, implement and support our public sectoz clionts.

At the end of 2021, Tyler’s U.S. warkforee was 63% male and 37% fenmle, and women. represented 31% of Tylets lzadership. In the U.S. our workforce was cotprised as follows:
75% Whito, 8% Asian, 4% Hispanic or Latine, 5% Black or Afiican American, and 8% Other. For our (1.8, leadership, the breakdown was 7% White, 1% Asian, (% Hispanic or
Latino, 1% Black or Afiican American, and 1% Other. We define leadership as positions which are one or two levels removed fromour CEO with management responsibility. Race
and gender reporting are kased on information provided by tenmmembezs, Voluntary workforce tumover (rolling 12-month attition) wos 12.5% pg of Deccwber 31, 2021, This
represents an increase over 202(Huttiover which decreased during the pandemic. The average tenure of our teammenbers I3 approximately seven years and approximately 26% of
out employees have been employed by Tyler for more than ten yeass, The most frequent factor cited by teamumerthers leaving Tyler in 2021 was carcer change with 4 hotable
nunber of teammenbers returning to roles i the public sector or taking roles i the education or healthcare sector, Conpensation was also cited as a factor, Job offer
cormpensation levels forroles in the tech sector continued fo increase in the last half of 2021 at levels we have not experienced in well over s decade,

Investments in Talent

We are comiitted to providing Tyler teammeibers with career growth epportunities and the training and resources necessaty to contirmally strengthen their skills. Cur talent
asseasment and development programe provide managers and enployees with the resources needed to achieve carcer goals, build management skills and lead their teams,

For example, in 2021

. n?,lbOTylcrteammeni)ers participated in over 16,600 hours of AWS cloud centification tmining and achieved over 90 certifications and 600 accreditations as we continue
to invest in developing the cloud skills of our teamendiers.

*  Ower 200 Tyler managers participated in our 9-month New Manager Developmment program which inclades targeted content and sessions focused on the core aspects of
menaging a team, 360-degree feedback, teamand individval coaching, and & dedicated mentor.

+  Division Presidents and Corporate Function Bxecutives conducted annnal leadership ssses sirent and talent reviews with their HR leaders and leadership teams and
identified talent developiment priorities within their teass.

*  Our TylesU online training platform was utilized by over §,400 team memdbers who took advantage of content ta suppert continuous leamning, professional training and
developrrent.

Cversight enrd Management

Our Homan Resources teamis tasked with leading and suppoiting our erganizntion in nenaging enployment-related matters, including recruiting and hiring, onboarding and
iraining, conpensation planning, talent ranagement and developioent. Our executive team s rosponsible for periodically reviewing teammentber prograns and initiatives,
including healthcare and other benefifs, as well as cur management development and succession planning practices and owr Diversity, Equity and Inclusion ("DEF") efforts.
Managenent periodically reports (o the Board and its conrnittees human capital measures and results thai goide how we attract, retain and develop a workforoe to enable our
business strategies,
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Health & Safety

We invest in the well-being of Tykr team menbers and their failios. We provide a mage of offeriigs in support ofental and emotions], financial, and physical bealth and
wellness not only for onr teammerrbers, but also for the family menbers who depend on then The prolonged stressors of the COVID-19 patdentc continued in 2021, and we
extended the new benefits introduced in 2020, mchiding enhanced mental health and telehealth benefits, unlindted poid tire offand full coverage for COVID illness and
vaccinationd.

Diversity and Incltision

We belisve that 5 diverse workforce is critical to our success, and we continue to monitor and irprove the application of our hiring, retention, compensation and advancemsnt
processes for women and underrepresented populations across cur warldoree, including out team members of color, veterans and newbers of our LOBTQ comprmity, Our
‘Women's Leadership Network, Veteran’s Firployee Rusousce group (BRG), and loaa! office diversity councils, smong other progrars, serve Lo enhange ourinclusive and diverse
cliure.

INTERNE! WEBSITE AND AVATLABILITY OF PUBLIC FILINGS

We file annual, quarterly, cusrent and other reports, proxy staterents and other information with the Securities and Exchange Conmission, ox SEC, pursuant to the Securities
Fachange Ast. You may read and copy any materfals we fils with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Roomby calling the SEC at 1-800-732-0330. The SECmaititaing an Intemet
site that coniains reports, proxy and other inforation statements, and other inforrmtion regarding issuers, including us, that Sl electronioally with the 8BC. The address ofthis
site is http://vww.sec.gov.

We also nminiain a website at www.iylestech.com We rrake available fiee of chatge througl: this site our Annual Repott on Forin 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Forms 4
and 5, Carrent Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports fied or nished pusuent to Section 13(a) or 15(d)y of the Bxchange Act as soon a5 reasonably practiesble
after we clecironically fila such material with, or foraish & to the SEC. In addition, copies of our annual raport will be nude available, fee of charge, upon written request.

Cur "Code of Buainess Conduet and Ethics” is also available oo our website, W intend to satis fy the disclosnre reguirernents regarding amendments o, or waivers from, a
provision of our Code of Basiness Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on our website,

TTEM 1A, RISEFACTORS.

At investuent in our common stock invelves a high degree of risk. Investors evaluating aur compary sheuld carefully cousider the fectors described below and all other
infosmation combained in this Annual Report, Any of the following factors could materially harm our business, opemting results, and finaneial condition. Additional factors and
uncertainties not cumrently knowa to us or that we cumently consider imiraterial could also bammour business, operating fesuifs, and financial condition. This section should be
read in conjunclivn with the Financial Statements and relsted Notes sad Manzgement's Discussion ard Analysis of Financial Condition and Besults of Qperations inelirded in this
Annual Repart, We naty rake forward-looking statements fortite to tineg, both written and oml. We undestake no obligation to revise er publicly release the results of any
revisions to these forward-looking statements. Our zotual results mey differ materially from those projected in any such forward-looking staterents due to a nunber of factors,
including those set forth below and elsewhere in this Annual Repert.

Rishs Associated with Our Busiuess, Tncfading Our Sofiware Produets
Cvber-atiacks and secirity vulnerabilities can disript our business and harm our competitive positton,

Threats {o I secnsity can take a vatisty of forms, Individuals and groups of hackers, and sophisticated organimtions including state-sponsered organizations, way take stepy that
pose threats ko our clienss and oerIT, They may, for exmnple, develop and deploy malicions software to attack our products and services andfor gain access to our networks and
data centers pract i a coprdinated manner to launch distributed dendal of service or other coardinated attacks, Cyber threats ars constantly evolving, thereby incrensing the
difficalty of detecting and successfully defending against them Cyber theeats can have cascading inpacts that unfold with iicreasing speed across our internal networks and
systems and those of our partners and clients. Breaches of our network or data secwtity could disrupt the secutlty ofgur intemal systens and business applications, ivpair cur
abifity to provide services to onr clients and protect the privany of their data, result in produet developient delays, compromise confidential or technical business kformation
harming our competitive position, result in thefl ormisuse of ooy intelleptuz] property or other assets, requiro us 10 alipeate move resourmes to improve technologies, or otherwise
adversely aflest our business. Our business policies and intemal security controls tmy not keep pace with thess evolving threats. Despite the nebwork and application security,
intepnal control measures, and physical security procedures we enploy ta safeguard our systens, wa ray s1ill be vulnerable to a security breach, intrusion, loss ortheft of
confidential client data and transaction data or propristary company inforwation, which nay hem our business, reputation and fiture financial resnlts. The lost revenus and
containment, remediation, investigation, legal and other costs

12



could be significant and rmy excesd our insurance pelicy limits or may nat be covered by insurance at all. Further, we may be subject to regulatory enforcement actions and
litigation that could result in financial judgments or the payment of seitlement amounts, and disputes with insurance catriers concening coverage:.

In Septemiber 2020, we filed 2 Current Report on Form 8K reporting 2 security incident (the "Incident”) involving sansomware dismapting access to some of our intemal IT systens
and telephone systems. We promptly notified cur clients of the Incident and provided timely updates to our glients through direct commmnications and updates to owr website.
There is ne evidence that the environments where we host client applications were affected, and ourhosting services to those elients were ot intermupted. There was also no
evidencs of malicious activity on client networles associated with the Incident. We contained the ncident and recoversd fromit, tesuming 11ormal operations with our clients. We
deployed supplemental remediation efforts as necessary and cooperated with aw enforcement’s investigation.

" Although we conpleted our investigation into the Incident and believe wa contained and recovered fromthe Ineident, we are subject to risk and uncertainties as a result of the
Ineident. There can be no agsurance as to what the ongeing impact of the Incident will be, if any, We nintain cybersecurity insurance coverage in #n amount that we belleve is
adequate.

Diselostwe of personally identifiable infosmation and/or other sensitive olient data could resuit in Hiability and hari our reputation.

We store and process increasingly large amounts of personally identifinble informtion end other confidential information of our clients. The continued occumence of high-profile
data breaches provides evidence of an extemel environment inereasingly hostile to information security. Despite our efforts to inprove security controls, it is possible our secusity
controls over petsonal data, our fraining of enployees on data secutity, and other practices we follow may wot prevent the improper disclosure of sensitive client data that we store
and manage. Disclosure of personally identifinble infonmation and/or other sensitive client data could result in liability and harm our reprutation,

Wi depend on third parties with whem we engage or collabarate for certain projects, deliverables, and/or fi tal tr fion pro I these parties fail to satisfy their
obligations to us or we are unable to maintain fhese relationships, ovr operating resilts and business prospects could be adversely affected.

To satisfy our obligations under olient contracts, we often engage third parties to provide ceriain deliverables or fulfill certain requirements. We may also use thind parties to
ensurs that our services and solutions integrats with the software, systems, ot infrastrcture requirements of other vendors and service providers. Our ability to serve our clienta
and deliver our solutions in a timely manmer depends on our ability to retain and naintain relationships with third-party vendors and service providers and the ability of these third
parties to meet their obligations i a tively manner, as well as on our effective oversight of their perfornunce. If any third party fails to performon a timely basis the agreed-upon
seriices, our ability to fulfill sur obligations may bo jeopardized. Thitd-party performance deficiencies conld result in breaches of our obligations with respect to, or the temvination
for default of, one or more of otwr client contracts, A breach or termination for defsult could expose ng to liability for danmges and have an adverse effect on our business
prospects, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and oyr ability to compete for fiture contmets and orders. A global sconotmic slowdown, the COVID-19
pandetic, or similar circutistances could also adversely affect the businesses of our thind-perty providets, hindering their abifity to provide the services on which we rely. Our
agreements with third parties typically are non-exclusive and do not prohibit them from warlding with our competitors. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our
relationships with these third parties, our ability to compete in the metketplege ot to grew our revennes could be impaired and our business, opesating results or finangial condition
could be adversely affzcted.

In addition, we may act as subcontractor o & third-panty prine cotttacter to secure new projects. Subcontracting anwngenents where we are not the prime contractor pose unfgue
risks to 15 because wo may not have contrel over the custoner relationship, and our ability to generate revenue under such subcontracts may depend on the prime contractor, its
perforomnee and refationship with the customer, and its relationship with us, We eould suffer losses in the event a prine contract under which we serve as a subcontractor i
tetiinated, whether for non-performancs by the pritie conlractor or otherwise. Upon a termination of the prime contract, our subcontract would similarly tetminate, and the
resulting contract loss could have un ndverse effect on our business prospeuts, results of operations, cash flaws, and financial condition and our ability to compete for firture
contracts and orders.




Ve vely on thivd-party providers—including Amazon Web Services-—jor hosting services and other techrologe-related servicey needed fo deliver certain of eur cloud solutions,
Any disruption in the services provided by such thirdparty providers could adversely agiect our Insiness and subject us to liability,

A waterial portion of our business is provided through sofiware hosting services, which are somstines hosted from md use conmputing infragtructure provided by third parties,
inclnding Anuzon Web Services. These hosting services depend on the vnintertupted opetation of data centors anv the ability to protect conputer equipient and iformation
stored in these data centers against dazeage that may be cansed by natural disaster, fire, power loss, teieconmmmications or Internet failure, acts of terrorismo, inauthorized
intrugion, computer viruses, and other sirlar danaging events. Ifany of cur data centers were to beeoms inopemble foran extended period, we tnight be unable to fulfill our
contractual conmiitments, Although we take what we believe to be reasonable precautions againat such socumrentis, we can give no assuiance that damaging events such as
thess will not result in a prolonged intenuption of our services, which could result in client dissatisfaetion, loss of ravenue, and damage to ourbusiness.

Third-party hosting serviee providers have no obligation to reniew their agreements with us on cormmeicially reasonable tenm or at all. If we arc unable to renew fliese agreenents
on commerially reasonable tenys, we may be required to tramsition to & new provider and we may ncur significant costa end possible service interruption in connection with doing
s0. In addition, such service providers could decids to alose their Bicilities or change or suspend their servics offerings without adeguate notice 1o us. Moreover, any financial
difficulties, such as bankruptey, faced by such service pravilen may have negative effects on ourbusivess, the nature and extent nfwhich are difficult to predict, Because we
connot easily switch thitd-party hosting service providers, any dismuption with respect to our einrent providers would {mpact our operntions and our business conld be adversely
impacted, Proltens faced by our hosting seTvive providers could adversely affeot the experience of our customers. Far exingle, Amazon Web Seevices has experienced significant

service outages in the past and may do 8¢ again I the future. In addition, thes ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has disrapted and may continue (o disrupt the supply chain of
hardware needed to rmintain these chird-pasty systoms or o mn our business,

Muterial portions of our business require vhe Internel infasiructure lo be rellable.

Part of our fatute success continues to depend on the use of the Internet as 1 means to acress public information and perform transactions electzonically, incliding, for exanyple,
eleotronic fling of coust documents, This in part requires engoing maintenance of the Intemmet infrastructure, sspecially to prevent intesuptions in service, as woll as additional
developrent of that infrastructare. This requires a Tellable network backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity, secnrity, and tinely developrent of complementary
products for providing reliable Intemed sceegs and services, If this nfiastructure fails fo be sufficiently developed or be adequately muintained, our business would be harmed
because users may not be able to access our govemment portals.

We emplay thivd-party leensed software and sofiware conponents jor nse in or with our soluiions, and the ingbility to maintain these licenses ar the presence of ervors or
securily vulnerabilities n the saftware we lieense could limif the fimctlonalily of our products and result in Increased costs ov reduced service levels, which would adversely
affect our busiiess.

We incosporate and includs third-party software into and with certain of our products and solutions, We alse use third-pasly software and tools in certain arsas ofthe
development provess for our selutions, We anticipate that we will continue to rely on such third-party sofiware and developsent tools in the fiture. In addition, there can be no
assurance 1t thesa third parties will continne to make thelr softwars or tools available to us on acceptabls tenms, ot af all, not taake their products svailable to our sompetitors on
more favorahle terms, invest the appropyiate lavels of resources i their products and services to naintain and ehanse the capabilities of their software, or renmin i business, Any
mpainment in our relutions hip with these third parties or our ability to license or otherwisz use their software or tools could have a naterinl adverse effect on our business, resuits
of operations, cash flow, and financial condition. Aftheugh we believe that there are vonmercially reasonable aliernatives ta the third-party software and fools we cutrently license,
this may not always be the case, or they nay be difficuk, time-consuning, or costly to replace. In addition, although we nmintain a supplier seeurily evahwation process, if the third-
party software ortaols we use has or bave enors, security vulnerabilities, or otherwise malfunctions, the functionality of our solutions may be negatively impacted, gur customers
nwy experience reduced service levels, and our business may suffer.

Certain af our solutions utllize open source soffware, and iy failure to comply with the tarins af one or more of these opes sonree Heenses could adversely affect our business.

Cestain of our solutions meinde software covered by open souree licenses. The tenvs of various open sonwe licenses have not been intarpreted by ULS, courts, and there is a risk
ihat such licenses could be conatrued in 2 manner that imposes unantivipated conditions orrestrictions on our ability to matiet our solutions. It s possible under the terms of
cettain open souree ficenses, if we cotbine our propristary sofiware with open source soflware in a certain memaer, that we couid be required to releage the source code of our
propristary softwars and ke our proprietary software available undar open soutce Ticenses. In the event that pertions of our proprictary software are detenvined fo be subject to
an open sousce license, we could be required to publicly release the affoeted portions of our spuree code, re-engineer all o1 a pogtion of our solitions, of atherwise be limiled in the
licensing of our solutions, each of which could reduce or efminate the valus of our sohztions. In sddition to risks related to license requireirents, use of open souce
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software can lead to greaterrigks than use of third-party commercial software, 25 open source Hcensors generally do not provide warmanties or cantrols on the origin of the
goftware. Many of the tisks associnted with the use cf open source software cannot be elininated and could adversely affect our business,

We run the visk of errors or defects with new products or enhancenents to existing products.

Our software products are complexand may contain errors or defects, especially when first Introduced or when new versions or enhancements are released, Any such defeols
could result in a loss ofrevenues or delay matket acceptanse. Our license agreements typically contain provisions designed te limit our exposure to potential liability. However, it is
possible we may not always successfully negotiate such provisions in our client contracts or the lingitation of lability provisions may not be effective due to existing or future
fedeml, state, or local laws, ondinances, or judicial decisions, Although we meintain etrors and emissions and general hability insurance, and we try to strecture contracty to limit
linbility, we cannot assute you that a successiul claimcould vot be made er would net have a material adverse effect on our firture opersting results,

We must timely respond fo technologieal changes te be competitive,

The warket for our products is characterized by technological change, evolving industry standards in software tachnology, changes. in client requirements, and fiequent new
product introductions and enhancements, The intraduction of produets enbodying new technologies and the emergence ofnew industry standards can render existing products
obsolete and unnwrietable. As a result, our famre success will depend, in part, upon our ability to enhance existing products and develop and introduce new products that keep
pace with technological developments, satisfy increasingly sophisticated client requiremients, and achieve market acceptance. We cannot assure you that we will suceassfully
identify new product opponunities and develop and bring new products to market in a timely and cost-effective manner, The products, capabilities, or technologies developed by
others could also render our products or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive. Our business nay be adversely affected if we are unable to develop or acquire new software
products ordevelop enhancements to existing produsts on a timely and cosi-effective basis, orif such new products or enbancements de not achieve merket acceptance,

We may be unable ta protect our propriciary rights.

Many of our product and service offerings mcorporats proprietary information, trade secrets, know-how, and other intelleatual property rights. We rely on a combination of
contracts, copyrights, and trade secret laws to establish and protect our proprietary ights in our technology, We catinot be certain that we have taken ail apptoptiate steps to
deter misuppropriation of our intellectual property. These has also been an apparent evolutior: in the legal standards and regulations courts and the U8, patent office mmy apply in
favorably evaluating software patent rights. We are not curtently involved in any rmeterial intellectual property litigation; however, we may be a party to such litigation in the fiture
o protect ourproprietery information, frade secrets, inow-how, and other intellectual propetty rights. We eannat assure you that third parties will not assent inflingement or
misappropristion claitvs ageinst vs with respect to current or future products, Any elaims or litigation, with or without merit, could ba tine-consuming, costly, and a diversion to
nunagement. Any such cleims and litigation could also canse product shipment delays orrequire us to enter into reyalty or licensing amangements. Such royalty or licensing
arrangements, if required, may not be available on terns acceptahle to ug, i at all, Therefore, litigation to defend and enforce our intellectual property rights could have a material
adversa effect on ourbusiness, regardless of the final outcome of such litigatien,

Clients may elect to terminate otrmaintenance contracts and manage operations interaally.

It iz pessible that our clients may elect to hot renow nmittenance contmcts for our software, trying instead to maintain and opcrate the software themsetves using their perpetual
license rights (exchiding sofiware spplications that we provide on a hosted of cloud basis). Akematively, clients may elect to drop maintenance on certain modules that they
nltimately decide not to use, This could adversely affect our revenues and profits. Additionally, they may inadvertently allow our intellectual ptoperty or other information to fall
into the hands of third partiss, including our competitors, which could adversely affect our business,

Rists Assoctared with Sefling Products and Services into the Public Sector Mariesplace

Selling products and services info the puiblic sector poses unigue chollenges.

We derive substantially alt of ourrevenues fromsales of software and serviees to state, county, and city governments, other federal or monicipal agencies, and otherpublic
entities, We expect that sales to public sector clienis will continue to aceount for substantially all of our revenues in the fiture, We face many risks and challenges associated with
contracting with governmental entities, inelading:

*  Resource limitations caused by budgetary constmuints, which muy provide fora termination of executed contracts due to a Jack of future funding
»  Long and complex sales cycles
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Contract payments at tines being subject to achieving implementation milestones, and we may hiave differences with clients ag to whether milestones have been achieved
Political resistance to the concept of contracting with third parties to provide IT solutions

Legislative changes afizcting a local govemmuent's authosity to contract with third parties

Varying bid proceduses and intemnal processes forbid accepiance

Various other poitical factors, including changes in govemreental administrations and personnel

* % v a =

Fach ofthese risks is outside our conteol, If we fail to adequately adapt te these risks and ancertainties, our financial performance could be adversely affacted,
CQVID-19 may adversely affect owr business and resulls af operations.

We expect that the continued global spread of COVID-19 mmay negatively impact our business and fnancial results in fiscal year 2022, As the virus continues to spread, it hes
resulted i autheitics implementing ongoing messures to contain the virs, neluding travel bans and restictions, quarantines, and business livitations and shutdowns. Whils we
are unable to aceurately predict the full ingpact that COVID-19 will continue to have on our results fiom operations, financial condiion, liquidity and cash flows due to numerous
unecestainties, inchiding the duration and severity of the panderric and containment neasures snd assoriated compliance, we do expect the pandemic may negatively impact our
revenues sod other financlal resulis,

Recause an increasing portion ofour revenues are recurring, ihe effact of COVID-19 on ouresults of operations niay also not be fally reflected for some time, We may see some
more imenediate ipact on our business shoukd thers be new delays in govemment procurement processes and uncertainty around public sector budgets, ornew delays in
fmplementations cansed by travel reatriciions, closed offives, or clients shifting focus 1o more pressing isaues.

Appraisal and software implerentations srojects may be delayed if clents put projects on hold ar slow projects by extending go-live dates. While we have the ability to deliver
moat of cur professional services remotely, some of our professional services, inoluding appraisal asessments, are more effective when performed on-gite, and certain clients may
continge o insizt on on-site services m any event, In addition, cut delivery of sotme professional services requires the availability of client personnel, Thers may be a negative
irmpact on out revenues if we are unable to deliver these services. Also, wa expect sollware licenses and subscriptions revenues to be negatively affected if there are delays in
procumsment processes. Some clisms could request changes to payment tenms, negatively impacting the timing of eollections of accounts receivables in fiture periods. For the
twelve months ended Decerber 31, 2021, 79% of our total revenue and camings are relstively predictable as a result of our subscription and mintenance revenue, which is
recurring in nature; thus the effect of the COVID-19 pandermic nmy not be lully reficcted in our results of operations and overall fnancial petfatnance untll fitture periads.

We have historically svaiuated goodwill for ipairment ammually as of April 1, or more freguently if impaimrent indicators arose. During the second quarier 2021, ws voluntarily
changed the dats of out annual assessment of goodwill to Oetober 1 for all reporting units. The change in testing date for goodwill inpairment & a change in accounting principle,
which smnagenent belioves is profirable as the new date of the assessment better aligna with our annual planning process. Subsequent to our annual goodwill impaioment
analysis, we monitor for any events or changes in circumstances, such as significant adverse changes in business climate or opemting results, changes in nwnagement’s business
strategy, an inability fo successfully introdnce new products in the marketplace, an Inabdlity to successfiully achieve internal forecasts of significant declines in our stock price,
which may represent an indicator of irpnirment, The occurence of any of these events, which could be ceused or impacted by the OOVID-1% pandentic, may regquire us to record
flature goodwill impaiment charges.

A prolonged econonic slowdown could harst our operations,

A prolonged economic slowdown or recession could reduce derand for our software products and services. Govemments ey face financial pressures that could in tum affect our
growih rate and profitability in the future, There #5 00 assurance that govemment spending levels will be unaffected by declining or stagnant gencral economic canditions, and i
budget shortfalls occur, they may negatively impact governmeni IT spending and could adversely affect ourbusiness.

The open bidding process creates unceriainly in predicting fiture coniract awards.

Many govemmental agenciss purchase prrducts and services through an open bidding process. Generlly, 2 governmental entity will publish an established list of requiremznts
resquesting potential vendors to propose solutions for the established requirements. To respond successfully to thess requesis for proposais, we nast aceurately estimate our cost
structure for servicing a proposed contract, the time required to establish operations for the proposed olient, and the likely terms of any other third-parly proposals submdtted, We
cannot guacantee that we will win any bids in the future through the request for proposal pracess, or that any winning bids will ultinntely result in conteacts on favorable tetms.
Ouir failure to secure contracts through the open bidding process, or to secure such contricts on favoruble terms, may adversely affect our revenuo and gross margins.



We face significant compelltion from other vendots and patential new entrants inio onr markets,

We believe we are a leading provider of integrated solutions for the public sector. However, we face competition froma variety of software vendors that offer products and
services similer to those offered by us, as well as fromconpanies offeting to devslop custom software. We cotmpete based on a number of factors, including:

The atiractiveness of our “evergreen” business model

The breadth, depth, and quality of our produst and service offerings

The ability to modity our offerings to accommodate particular clients’ needs
Technologival innovation

Nane recognition, eputation and references

Price

Our financial strength and stability

Our mecket is highly fmgmented with a large nurmber of competitors that very in size, product platform and product scope. Cur conpetitors include consulting firms, publicly held
companies that focus on selected segments ofthe public sectormarket, and o significent nuimber of snualler, privately held companies. Certain competitors have greater technical,
tatketing, and financial resources than we do. We canmnot assure you that such competitors will not develop products or offer services that are supetior to our produets or
services or that achieve greater rmarket acceptance.

We also compete with intemal, centralized IT departiments of governmental entities, which requires us to persnade the end-user to stop the intemal service and outgource ta us, In
addition, our clients and prospective clients could elect to provide information management services intemally through new or existing departments, which could reduce the market
for onr services.

We could face additional competition as other establighed and emerging companies enter the public sector software market and new products and tachnologies are introduced,
Increased competition could resull in pricing pressure, fewer client orders, reduced gross nargins, and loss of market share. Corrent and potential competitors may make stntegic
acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships srong themselves or with third parties, thersby increasing the ability of their products to address the needs of our prospective
clients. It is possible that new competitors or alliances way emerge and rapidly gain significant matket share. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully
against current and future conpetitors, and the failure to do so would have a material advarse effect upon ourbusiness.

Fixed-price contracts may afect our projits.
Sorne of our contracts arg structored on a fixed-price hasis, which cen Jead to varions risks, including:

+  The failure to accurately estimate the rescurces and tine required for an engagement
+  The failure to effcchively manage our clients ' expectations regarding the scope of services delivered for a fixed fee
+  The failure to timely and satisfactorily complete fixed-price engagements within budget

Ifwe do not adequately assess and nanage these and ofher risks, we may be subject to cost overrans and penalties, which may harmour financial performence,
Changes in the inswrance marfcets may affect our business,

Some of our clients, primarity those for our property appralsal services, require that we secure perfornance bonds before they will select us as their vendor, In addition, we have in
the past been required to provide letters of credit as securily for the issuance of a performance bond, We cannot guatantee that we will be able to secure such performence bonds
in the foture on terns that are fhvorable to us, if at all. Cur insbitity to obtain performmance bonds on favorable torme or af all couk] impact our future ability to win some contract
awards, particularly large property appraisal services contracts, which could negatively fmpact revenues. In addition, the general insurnce marlets may experience volatility and/or
restrictive coverage trends, which may lead to future incrcascs in cur general and adminigtrative expenses and negatively impact our eperating results.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Servicing our indebiedness requires a sigrifican amount of cash. We may not have sufficlent cash flow from our business 10 pay eur indebtedness, and we may noi otherwise
hurve the ubility to raise the fimds necessary to settle for cash conversions of the Convertible Sentor Notes or to repurchase the Convertible Senior Notes upon o findamental
change, or to repay our indebtedness obligations undey our 2021 Credit Agreement, each of which couid adversely affect oty business and resuits of aperations.

As of December 31, 2021, we hud cutstanding an aggregate principal amount of'$600 miltion of our Cotivertible Senior Notes and $755 million under our 2021 Credit Agreenent, In
April 2021, we entered into the 2021 Credit Agreement with significantly increased bomewing capuacity of up to $1.4 billion and on the closing of the acquisition of NIC on April 21,
2021, we borrowed indtial loans in




the aggregate principal amount af $1.15 billion, The 2021 Credit Agreerrent also has an option to increase the amount available up to an additional $300 million subject fo our
leverage and other factors. The proceeds fromthe sswance of our Convertible Senior Notes and from loans under the 2021 Credit A greetsent were naed as sources of fanding for
the acquisition of WEC. Gur indebiedness may incresse our vitherability to any gencrally adverse aconormic and industry conditions, end we and our subsidiaries nay, subject to
the liitations in the terms of pur existing and future indebtedness, ineur additions] debt, secire existing or fature debt or recapitalize onr debt. T we incur additional indebredneys,
the risks melated to our business would increase and our ahility to service or repay our indebtedness ruy be adversely itupasted.

Perstant to their tesms, holders wmy convert their Convertible Sonior Notes at their option prior to the scheduled matuxities of their Convestible Senior Notes under certain
vircunstances. Upon conversion of the Convertible Senior Notes, unless we elect fo deliver solely shares of our comnion stock to settle such conversion (other than paying cash
in lisw of deliverng any fiactional share), we will be obligated to wake cash payments. Tn addition, holders of our Convertible Sentor Notes will have the dght to require us to
rspurchase their Convertible Senior Notes upon the ocourrencs of 2 fandanentsl change (s defined in the Indentare, dated as of March 9, 2021, between the Company and US.
Pank National Association, as trustes (the "Truster™) (the “Indenture®, at a repurchase pries equel ta 160% of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Motes to be
repurchased, plus acerned and unpaid interest, ifany. Although it is our intention, and we eutrently expect to havs the ability, to seitl the Coavertible Senior Notes i cash, there
is a risk that we may not bave encugh available cash er lye able 10 obtain financing at the tine we are required €0 male repumhases of Convertible Senior Notes surrendered or
Convertible Senior Motes being converted, In addition, vur nbility to make payients nmy be limfted by law, by regulatory suthority, or by agreenents govering our future
indebtedness. Our filure 1o repurchase Convertible Sanior Notes at a ting when (he repurchase is required by the Indentare or to pay any cash paysble on future eonversions of
the Convertible Senior Notes as required by the Indenture would constitute & defoult vnder the Indenture. A defoult under the Indenture o the fundamental change iiself could
also lead to 2 defuull under agreements governing our other existing or fature indebtediiess. If the repayment of other indebtedness were o be accelerated afler any appBeable
natice or grmoe periods, we may siot have sufficient funds to repay the other indebtedness and repurchase the Convertible Senior Motes or make cash paywents upon conversions
thereof,

Ous ability to make scheduled payments of the principal and interest on our indebtedness when due of to make payments upon conversion or repurchaae demends with respect to
e Convertible Senior Notes, ot to refinance our indebledness as we may need of desire, depends on owr fisture performance, which is subject (o econoic, financial, competitive,
and other factors beyond our control. Onr bugineds may not contimas 1o genarate cash flow fom operations in the future sufficient to satlsfy onr obligations under our existing
jndebiedness, and eny future ndebtedness we may ineu, and to make necessary capital expenditures, iwe are unahie to genernte such cash flow, we may be required to adopt
ane or mare aliematives, such as reducing or delaying investments or capital expenditures, selling assets, refinancing, of obtaining additional equity capital on terns that may be
onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability fo Tefinance existing or future indebtedness will depend on the capital markets and our fimancial condition at such time. We may not be able
to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desimble tenws, which could resull in a default on our existing or future indebtedness and have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financixl condition.

Clovenant restrictions under onr indebtedness may Himit our ability to operate our business and may adversely gifect our finanelal condition, results of operations, and
earnings per share.

The Indenture govemning the Notes and the 2021 Credit Agreerent do, and our future indebtedness apreements may, contain covenants that may restrict our ability 1o firance
fisture operations or capital needs orto engage in other business activities, Subject 1o custormry surve-outs, thresholds and baskets, the 2021 Credit Agreement (and the Indenture
by teeans of 1 eross-default) restricts, absent consent of the agent and lenders underthe 2021 Credit Agrestrant, our abifity and the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to, among
other things:

fmeur additional indebtedness,

Permit liens on oor asgets,

Male cettain nvestents, scquisitions and dispositions,
Make certain specified fandamental changes, and

Make oertain restricted payments,

s % * w2

In addition, the 2021 Credit Agreement {and the Indenimre by means of a cross-default) contains other custorary affirroative and negative covenants, and events ofdefalt, The
2091 Credit Agreeent i unsecured but requires us to nwintain certain financial ratios regarding our total leverage and intexest coverage and other finaneial conditions in addition
to the restrictions deserlbed abave. Bvents beyond our conteol, incliding changes in genesal economic and business conditions, may result i a breach of sy of these covenants
and result in a defirult under the 2021 Credit Agreament (hat oy, in i, result in a default under the Indenture. i an event of defiukt under the 2021 Credit Agreoment ocours, the
lenders couid tenvinate all corertroents o kend and clect to deckre all amounts outstanding thermunder, together with acerved interest, to be immedistely due and payable, T we
were unable to pay such aramnts, the lenders could proceed against the guarantess by our direct and mdirect material domestic subgidiarles. Should the lenders procecd
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against the puatantees, we cannot give assurance that we would have sufficient assets to pay amounts due on the 2021 Cradit Agreernent and the Convertible Senior Notes,
Vewiable rate indebledness subjects the Company ta interest vale risk, which could cause owr debt service obligations to increase significantly.

Ouor borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement are, and are espected to continue to be, at variable rates of interest and expose Tyler to Interest rate risk: if intersst rates increase,
our debt service obligations on the variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed remained the same, and cur net ficome wonld decrease,
Revolving credit facility loans and Term A-1 Loans under the 2021 Credit Agroement bear interest at a per annumrate equal to, at our option, efther (1) the administative agent’s
prime cotrercial lending rate (subject ta certain higher rate detenminations) (the *Base Rate”) plus a margin of 0,125% ta 0.75% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to approval
by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.125% to 1.75%. Our Term A-2 Loans bear interest, ai our option, at a per annumrate of either (1 the Base Rate plus a
margin of 0.00% to 0.50% or {2} the one-, thres-, six, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-ronth LIBOR mic plus a margin of 8.875% to 1.50%. The margin in each cage is
based upon onr total net leverage ratio, as determined pursuant to the 2021 Credit Agresment. Based on the debi under the 2021 Credit Agreement, the aggregate principal
cutstanding balance as of December 31, 2021 is $755.0 million, and each quarter point change in interest rates would result in » $1.9 million change in annual interest expense,

The conditional conversion feature of the Convertible Senior Notes, if friggered, may adversely affect ovr ffnancial condition and vesults afoperations.

In the event the conditional conversion feature of the notes is triggered, holders of our Convertible Senior Notes will be entitled to convert the Converiible Senior Notes at any
time: during speeified periods at their option. If one or more holdess elect to conver! their Convertible Senior Notes, unless we elect to satisty our conversion obligation by
delivering solely shares of our conmoon stock {other than paying cash in lien of delivering any fiactional share), we would be required to gettle a portion or all of our conversion
obligation through the payment of cash, which could adversely affect our liquidity. In addition, even ifholders do niot elect to convert their Convertible Senjor Notes, we conld be
required under applicable accounting yules to reclhssiy all or a portion of the putstanding principal of the notes as a current miher than long-term Kability, which would result in a
nuatenial reduction of our net warking capital.

Transactions relating to eur Convertible Sanior Notes may affect the vale af our common stock.

QOur Convertible Senior Notes may become convertible in the future at the option of their holders under certain circumstances. Ifholders of our Convertible Senior Notes elect to
convert their notes, we ey settle our conversion obligation by delivering to thema significant nunber of shares of our cemimen stock, whick would cause dilution to our existing
sharcholders.

Risks Assaciated with Our Periodic Results awd Stock Price
Fluctuations in guarterly revenue could adversely impact our operating results and steck price.
Cur revenues and operating results are difficult to predict and way fluctiate substantially from quarter to quarter for a vardety of reasons, nchiding:

+  The size oflicense transactions can vary significantly

+  Clients may unexpectedly postpone or cancel procurement processes due fo changes in strategic priorities, preject objectives, budget, or pemsonnel

+  Client purchasing processes vary significantly and a clisnt's internal approval, expenditure anthorization, and contract negotiation pracesses can be difficult and time
consuming to complets, even after selostion of s vendor

+  The numiber, timing, and significance of software product enhancements and new software product announcements by us and our corrpetitors may affect purchase decislons

*  Wenny have to defer reventies vinder our revenus recognition policies and GAAP

*  Clients moy eleot subsoription-based mrangements, which result in lower sofiware license revenues in the initial year as compared {0 traditional, on-premise software license
armangerenés, but generale higher recurring revenues over the termof the contract

In each fiscal quarter, our expense levels, operating costs, and hiring plans me based to some extent on projections of fiture revenues and are relatively fixed. ¥ our actual
revenues fall below expectations, we could experience 2 redwetion in operating results. Also, if actunl 1evenues or catnings for any given quarter fall below expectations, it may lead
o a decling i our siock price.
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Inereases in fnvesiment In veseavch and development could decrease pveroll margins,

An important element of our corporate strategy is to continue to dedicate  significant amoutit of sesources 10 reseamh and developtient and related product and service
opportunities both throngh internal investments and the acquisition of intellectual property fromcompanizs that we have acquired. We belleve that we imust continue to dedicale a
significant amount of resouress to our research and development efforts to nwintain our competitive position and research and development expenses could advemsely affiect
operating rearging.

Our stock price may be volatila.
The murket price of our comman stock way be volatile. Exsaples offuctors that may significantly impact our stock price inchuds:

«  Actnal oranticipated fluctaations i our operating msully

- Asnnouncements of technological innovations, new products, or new contracts by us or our cormpetitors
+  Developoents with respect to patents, copyrights, ot other proprictary rights

«  Conditions and trends in the softwate and other technology mdustries

= Changes in financial estimmtes by securities avalysts

o Ceneral murket conditiong and other factors

I addition, the stock market has fiom tive to te experienced significant price and volame tictuations that have particulatly affected thae market prices of technology company
gtacks and ey in the funre adversely affoct the madet price of our stock. Saxwines, securities class action litigation is filed followng petiods of volatility n the marlet price ofa
particular company’s securities, We eannot assure you that simlar litigation will not oceut in the firture with reapeet to vs, Such Eigation could regult In substantial costs and a
diversion of management’s attention and resvurces, which could have 3 material sdverse effect upon our financial perfornance.

Our financial owtloak may not ba realized,

From tims to time, in preas releases and otherwise, we may publish forecasis or other forwerd-looking statements regarding ovrresuls, including estireatad revennes or eamings.
Aay forecast ofour fature performance reflects vatious assumptions, These assumptions are subject to significant ancertainties, and as A watter of course, any nunber of them
may prove to be incorrect, Further, the achicvement of any forceast depends of ninerous risks and other factors {ircluding those described in this discussion), mewy of which are
beyond our control. As a result, we cannoi be certain that onr perforrance wil be cangistent with any menagersnt forecasta or that the variation fromsuch forseasts wil not be
nuterial and advetse. Current and potential stockhokders ate cautioned net to base their entire analysis ofour huainess and prospects upon isolated predictions, but istead are
encouraged to utiliz: our entirs publicly availabls mixof historteal and forwerd-luoking information, as well as other uvailable infonmation regarding s, our products and services,
and the software industry when evaluating our prospective resulls of operations.

Risky Associnted with Our Growth Strategy and Otfwer Gereral Corporare Rishs
We mery expertence difficnlties in execitting our acguisltion strafegy.

A materia] portion of ourhistorical growth has resulted fiomstmicgic acquisitions. Although our focus is on internal growth, we will continue to identify and pursue strategic
acquisitions with suitgble candidates. These transactions involve significant challenges and risks, neluding risks that a transaction does not advance ourbusiness strategy; that
we do not achieve the epected retumn on onr fivestment; that we have difficulty integrating business systons and technology; that we have difficulty retainitig or infegtating new
enployees; that the transactions distraet remagerrent fromour other husinesses; that we aeeite nnfores ean tzbilities; and ofher unandicipated events. Our future success will
depend, in part, on our abiity te suecessfully integrate future ecquisitions iito ouropemtions, it may take longer than expected fo ronlizs the full benefits of these tfrangactions,
such a5 increased revenue, enhanced efficiencies, or incrensed nwrket share, or the benefits nay be ultimately lesa than we expected, Although we corduet due diligence reviews
of potentia] scquisition candidates, we may not identify all materinl labilities or risks related to acquisition condidates, There can be no assurance that any such strategic
acgnisitions will be accomphished on fsvarable terms or will vesult in profitable operations.

Onr fiture to properly manage growth could adversely affect our bustuess.
We continue to expand our opetations by pursulng existing and potential market appottunitiss. This growth places significant deirands on munagement and opetational resourees.

In order to mmnage growih effectively, we must impleert and inprove our operational systens, procedures, and controls oo a tingly basis, Ifwe fail to nplenwat these systems,
ouybusingss mway be materially adversely nffected.



We may be unable to kire, Integrate, and retein qualified personnel,

Qur continued success will depend upen the availability and performance of oux key menagement, sales, morketing, chient support, and product development personnel, Ths loss
ofkey management or technical persennel could adversely affect us. We belisve that our continued success will depend in large part upon our ability to attract, mtegrate, and
retain such personnel We have at times experierced and eontinule to experience challenges, in recruiting qualified personnel Competition for qualified sofiware developiment,
sales, and other personnel is intense, and we cannot assure you that we will be success fol in attracting and retaining such personnel, In addition, competitive jol markets may
increase our costs relating to corpensation packages due to highet salaty expectations end preasures,

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate gevernance may result in additional expenses.

Chenging laws, regulations, and standards refating to corporate govemanee, compliance, and public disclosure con create uncertainty for public companies. The costs required to
comply with such evolving laws acrosy the various states and at the foderal level are difficult to predict and/or harmonize. Ta maintain high stendards of corporate govemance,
compliance, and public disclosure, we intend to invest allreasonably necessary resources to comply with evolving standards. This investment sy result in an unforeseen
increase in general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s tine and attention from revenue-genermting activities, which nny harmour opemting results,

We don't foresee paying dividends on aur common steck.

We have not deciared nor paid a cash dividend since we entered the business of providing software solutiong and services to the public sector in 1998, We intend to retein
earnings for use in the operation and expansion of sur business. We do rot anticipate paying any cash dividends on onr common stock in the foreseeable fiture,

Provistans in our carfificate of incorporation, bylaws, and Delaware law could deter takeover attempis.

Our boand of directors may issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock and may determine the price, rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions, including veting and
conversion rights, of these prefered shares. These determinations nay be nade without any further vote or action by our stockholders. The rights of the holders of our common
stock will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holdets ofany preferred stock that may be issued in the future. The issuanee of preferred stock may
1oke it more difficult for a third-party to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting stock. In addition, some provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, and the
Delaware General Corporation Law could also delay, prevent, or make more difficnlt 2 mexger, tender offer, or proxy contest involving us.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS,

Mot applicable.

ITEM 2,  PROPERTIES,

We occupy a total of approximately 1.4 million square feet of office space, of which approzinately 746,000 squate feet is in vatious office facilities we own, We own or lease offices
for ourmajor operations in the states of Arizona, Arkansas, Californis, Colorado, Connecticut, Ceorgia, Illinois, lows, Kansas, Maine, Massachusetts, Michigan, Missouri,
Montana, New Hanpshire, New York, North Carolina, Ohie, Tennessce, Texas, Virginia, Washington, Washington D.C., Wisconsin, Ontario and Eritish Colunbia, Canada, the
Philippines and the Baharws.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

Gther than routiue Etigation incidentalto our business, there are na material legal proceedings pending to which we are party or to which any of our properties are subject,

ITEM 4. SUBMISSICN OF MATTERS TC A VOTEOF SECURITY HOLDERS.
Not applicable.




PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES,

Our cominon stock is traded on fhe New York Stock Echange under the symbol "TYL”, At December 31, 2021, we had approximately 1,090 stockholders of record. Most of our
gtockholders hold their sharés in strest nare; tharefore, there are substantially more than 1,030 beneficial owners of our cormon stock.

We did not pay any cash dividends fn 2021 or 2020. Our bank credit agreement conizins restrictions on the payirent ofcash dividends. We intend to retain eamings for nse in the
operation and eapansion ofour business and do not anticipse paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable fnture.

The following table summmarizes cerfain information telated to our stock maentive plan, restricted stock units and onr employee stock purchase plan. There am no wamants or fghts
related to our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2021,

Number of seourities 1o Nurnber of secigities reranining
b ismed wpon exerdise X avgilable for
of outstanding options, wemrants, Weighted average fiture issuance ungder
. : 5 . exercise price of catstanding compensation.
and vesiing of restricted stork its as options plans (exchyfing seciritics reflocted in
o and wivested restricted stock mitial colurm
Deceraber 31, 2021 mits

. as of December 31, 2021):
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As ofDecendber 31, 2021, we had authoriztion 1o repurchase up to approxinately 2.4 million additional shates of Tyler common stock During 2021, we purchased approsinmiely
33,000 shares of our conznon stock for an aggregate purchuse price of $12.0 miltion,

A summary of the epurchase activity during 2021 is as follows:

X Maioan munber of
Additional manher of . shares {hat may be
. Total nuvter of shares  shares sthorizedthat  Awerageprice  repurchased wder ourvent
Period ) Toptchased may be pipurchased paldpergxare authorization
mcmums d Mk i T P e e R e R Y
Three montha ended oo 30
T hree nonthe cided Septetaber 30 e ) R R )
Cotober I through October 3] - e . A48T
Fbatber | thoigh Noveineer 30 L TR, §89. 0 24iasm
Devernder 1 throngh December 31 . — — 2,414,579

DR T3 603 o gh 30801

The repunchose program, which was approved by our board of directors, was annsunced i Ootober 2002, and was amended at various times from2003 theough 2019, There is no
expiration date specified for the authoxization, and we intend to repurchase stock under the progmm fromtine to tims.

A5 of February 23, 2022, we had renining suthorization to repurchase up to 24 miflion additional shares of our corrmon steck.



Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed "soliciting material " or 1o be "fled” with the Securities and Excharnge Conmtission, nor shall
such information be incorporated by reference Into any filure fiing under the Securisies Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act af 1934, each as amended, excep! to the extent
that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The following table conpares total shareholder retoms for Tyler over the last five years to the Standard and Poor’s 500 Stock Index and the Standard and Poor’s 600 Infomation
Technology Indexassuming a $100 mvestment made on Decenber 31, 2016, Each of the three mensares of cummlative fotal return assames roinvestment of dividends. The stock
performance shown on the graph below is not necessarly indicative of future price performance,

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN
$450
E
5315 e
r""ﬂ'ﬂ
o
J"”ﬂ)'
H &
_ 3300 o
'/,f'fl,( .
$225 MM,M“ MMM
‘,m’”;'; N .
5150 . o s T
so 5 - ) ¥ B i
1231116 12431117 1231418 123119 12/31/20 12731121
e Tyler Technolopies, Ing,  ~=<f@~ S&P 500 Stock Index &  S&P 600 Information Techuology Index
Convany [ Indes, 12734416 123317 123118 123119 123100 12n121
Tyler Technologies, Ins.+ < 3 T L |+ Bt FAB0ES LTINS BT 305,75 T 31679
SEP 500 Stock Index 100 . 116.49 153.17 181,35 233.41
SEFEOG hiformation Technolopy udex - e e e 028 T e 10048, P LI S 13 - B2128

ITEM 6.

This section hus been eliminated us a result of adopting the Noverrber 19, 2020 amendment {o Hem 301 of Regulation S-K.

il




ITEM 7. MANACGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYEIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following dizcussion and analysis shoulkd e read in conjunction with our consalidated fnancial statetnents and related notes incloded in Mem 8 of this Annual Repest on Form
10K, For a comparizon of our Resalts of Cperations forthe years ended December 31, 2020, and 2019, and our Cash Flow discussion for the yesr ended Decembar 2020, see "Part
1, Rtem 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis ofFinancial Conditions and Results of Opemtions” of out Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ended Decenber 31, 2020, as
ed with the SEC on Febimary 19, 2021,

FORW ARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document confais *orwasd-looking staterents™ within the meaning of Section 27A of the Seourities Act 0£1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Brchange Act of 1934 that
are not historieal in nature and typically address fisture ov saticipated events, trends, sxpectations or beliofs with respect to our finaneial condition, results of operations or
business. Forwarddooking statemsnts ofien contain words such as "believes,” "expeots,” "anticipatss,” "foresees,” *orccasts,” "estimates,” "plans,” "intends,” "continues,”
“may,” "will,” "should,” "projects,” "night,” “could” or other similar words or phrases. Similarly, statements that describe our business strategy, outlool, objectives, plans,
intentions or goals aso are forwasd-looking statetvants, We believe there is a reasonubls basis for our forward-Jooking statements, but they are inherently subject to risks snd
ungertainties and actual results could differ materially from the expectations and beliefs roficcted in fhe Borward-looking statensents. We preseatly consider the following to be
among the impertant factors that could ceuse actual results to differ matetislly Somour expectations and beliefa; (1) the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandernic, including its
potential effects on the economic environment, aur customets and our opertions, a3 well as any changes to foders, stete or local government laws, regulations or orders in
connection with the pandenic; (2) changes i the budgets or regulatory environments of our clients, primmrily local and state govemments, that could negatively inpact
infomution technology spending; (3 dismption to ourbusiness and hams to our competitive position resulting fromcyber-attacks and secwrity valerabifities; (4) our ability to
protect client information from security breaches and provide uninterrupted aperations of data centers; (3jour ability to achieve growth oroperational synergies through the
integration of acquired businesges, while avoiding unanticipated costs and dismaptions to existing opestions; (5) material portions of our business requirs the Intemet
infrastructure to be adequataly matnizined; {7) our ability to achieve nur financial forceasts due to varions factors, including project delays by our clients, reductions in transaction
gize, fewer fransactions, delays in defivery of new producis oy seleases ot a decline iy onr reneval mtes for service agraements; {8) general sgononc, political ond market
conditions; (9) technelogical and rasket 1isks associated with the developnent of new products or services or of new versions af existing or acquired products or services; (10)
posrpetition in the industry in which we conduct business and the impact of competition on pricing, client retention and pressure for new producis or services; (11} the ability to
attract and tetain qualified personnel and dealing with the oss or retirement of key mewhess of management or other key persanne; and {12) costs of compliance and any failure 1o
oomply with government and stock exchange regulations. A detailed discussion of these factors end other risks that affset our buainess are deseribed in Rem 1A, "Risk Factors”,
We sxprassly disclaimany obligation to publicly update or revise our forward-looking siatenents.

OVERVIEW
Generl

Wa provide integrated information managemont sohutions and services for the public sector, We develop and market a broad line of software produsts and servioss o address the
IT needs of cities, counties, states, sehool, faderal agencics, and other govemment entitics. In addition, we provide professional IT services fo our clients, including sofiware and
hardware installation, deta conversion, tmining and for vertain clients, product modifications, along with continuing maintenance and support for clients using our systems. We
also provide subscription-based services such a8 software a5 4 service ('5aa8"), transaction and payment processing solutions, and electronic document filing solutions (e~
filing"}, which simpfify the filing and munagement of court related documents. We also provide propesty eppraizal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions.

O products generlly auntonste nive major Bimctional areas: (1) financial managensmt and edusation, (2) courts and justice, (3) public safsty, (4) propeny appraisal and tax, (5)
planaing, regulatory and maintenance, (6) land and vitu] recerds management, (7) data wnd ingights, (8) platfermtechnologies, and (%) NMIC digital govemment and paynents. We
tepott our resulis in thiee segments, The Enterprise Soltware ("ES”) segment provides public secior entities with sofiware systems and services o oeet their inforvation
technelogy and autermtion needs for mission-eritical "back-office™ functions such as: financial management; eouits and fustice processes; public safety; planming, regulatory and
meintenance; dafa analytics; and platform techmologies. The Appraisel and Trx (" A&T") segmant provides systens and scftware that avtonsts the appraisal and asgessment of
real and personal property, lnd and vital records managemsnt 23 well 2s provides property appraizal outaouncing aervices for local govemments and tadiag authorities, Property
appraisal outsourcing services include: the physical inspeetion of conmrercial and rasidential properties; data collection and processing; computer analysis for property valuation;
preparation of tax ralls; community education; and arbitration between tazpayers and the assessing uridiction. On Apil 21, 2621, the Corgpany acquired NIC, Ine, ("NIC™)
resulting a new reporiable segment, as ifs




operating results meet the criteria as a reportable segment. The operating resuits of NIC are mcluded with the operating results of the NIC segment fromthe date ofacquisition,

As of Janvary 1, 2021, certain administrative costs rolated to informetion technology, which were previously reported in the ES and A&T segments, were moved to the Corporate
segment to reflect changes in the way management makes opetating detisions, allocates resources, and menages the growth and profitability of the Corupany. Prior yeat amounts
for all segments have been adfusted to reflect the segment change. See Note 13, “Segment and Related Information,” i the notes to the censolidated financial statements for
additional informtion,

Recent dequisitions

On Septeinber 9, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Ultimate Information Systems, Inc. (fba And. Aris a cloud-based platform which creates accessiblz technology to
enable & modem-day police force that i fully transpatent, accountable, and a trusted resource te the community it serves, The total purchase price, net of cash acquired, was
approxinately $12.8 million, of which $12.4 nillion wes paid in cash and approximately $0.5 million was acerued for indemmity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing
adjustments.

On Septenber 1, 2021, we acquired VendBaging, Inc (VendEngine) as contenplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated Juns 3, 2021, As result of the merger, VendBngine
became a direct subsidiary of the Company. VendEupgine k a cloud-based software provider focused on financial technalogy for the corectinns market. The total purchase price,
net of cash acquired of$1.7 million, was approximetely $83.8 willion, consisting of $80.2 million paid in cash, and approximately $5.4 million related to indermity heldbacks, subject
to certain post-closing adjustments,

On April 21, 2021 ("the Closing Date™), we acquired NIC as contemplated by the Agneement and Plan of Merger dated February 9, 2021. As result of the merger, NIC becams a
direct subsidiary of the Company and NIC's subsidiaries becans indirect subaidiatics. NIC is a leading digital govemment sclutions and payient company that primarily serves
federal anid state govemment agencies. The total purchase prive, net of cash acquired of $331.8 million, was approxmately $2.0 billion, consistiag of cash paid of $2.3 billion and
$1.9 nillien of purchase consideration related to the conversion of unvested restricted stock awards, subject fo post-closing adjustments.

On March 31, 2021, we complated two acquisitions, Glass Aro, Inc, {dba ReadySub) and DataSpee, Inc. (DataSpec), for the combined purchase price of $12.1 million.
2021 Credit dgreement

In connection with the completion of the acquisition of NIC, on the Closing Date we, 2s berrower, entered into 2 new $1.4 billion Credit Agreement (the "2021 Credit Agreemeni™)
with the various lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Adwinistmtive Agent, Swingline Lender, and Issuing Lender, The 2021 Credit Agreenent
provides for (1) a senior unsecured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principr] amount of up to $500 nillion, including sub-facilities for standhy letters of credit and swingline
loans (the "Revolving Credit Facility”), (2} an amortizing five-year term loan in the aggregate amount of $600 million (the "TemnToan A-1"), and (3) 2 non-amortizing three-year tem1
loan in the aggregate awount of $300 million (the "TermLoan A-2") and, together (the “TermLoans ™). The 2021 Credit Agreement atures on April 20, 2026. The 2021 Credit
Agreement replaces and tenninates the Company’s previous $400million eredit faclity pursuant to the Credit Agreement dated as of Septenber 30, 2015 (the 2019 Credit
Agreement™). The Company’s previously announced conmitment from Goldman Sachs Bank USA for a $1.6 billion 364-dy senior unsecured btidge loan facility also temminated on
the Closing Date. The net proceeds from the borowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement were $1.1 billion, net of debt discounts of $7.2 million and debt issuance costs of $4.9
million and $6.4 million of conmitirent fees paid related to the teminated $1.6 billion unseeured bridge loan facility,

As of Decetnber 31, 2021, we had $755.0 million in outstanding prineipal and available borrewing capacity of $500 million under cur 2021 Credit Agreement,
0.23% Convertible Senlor Notes

On March 9, 2021, we issued $.25% Comvertible Senior Notes due 2026 in the 2ggregate principal amount of $600.0 miflion ("the Conventible Senior Nofes™ or "the Notes™), The
Convertible Senior Notes were issucd pursnant to, and are govemed by, an indenture {the "Indenture™), dated as of March 9, 2021, with U8, Bank National Association, as trostee.
The net proceeds fromthe msnance of the Convertible Senior Notes were $591.4 nmillion, net of initin] puichasers* discounts of $6.0 million and debt issuance costs of §2.6 million.




The Convertible Senior Notes are senior, unsecured obligations and are (j squal in sight of payment with our future senior, unsecured indebtedness; (H) senior in vight of payment
to our future indebtedness that is expressly subardinated to the Notes; (i) effectively subordinated to our fiture secured indebtedness, 1o the extent of the value ofthe collataral
securing that indebtedness; and (iv) structurally subordinated to all future indebtadness and other tiabilities, neiding trade payables, and (fo the extent we are not 2 holder
thereof) preferved equity, if any, of oursubsidiaries.

The Convertible Senior Notes accrue indersst at 2 rate 0f0.25% per anmu, payable semi-annually n arteats on Mazch 15 and Septerber 15 of each year, beginning on
Septenber 15, 2021. The Convertible Senjor Motes mature on March 15, 2026, unless eartier repurchased, redesmed or converted,

As of December 31, 2021, we had outstanding an aggregate prineipal avount of $500 million of our Convertible Senior Notes.
2021 Operating Results

Forthe twelve months ended Decersber 31, 2021, fotal revennes incrensed 42.8% compared to the prior year. Bwhiding the impact of acquisitions, total revenues increased 8.9%
compared to prior year, Revenes fromacquisitions sontributed 33.7% of growth for the twelve months ended Decerber 31, 2021,

Subserptions revenue grew 123.7% for the twelve nunths ended December 31, 2021, due to an engoing shift toward a cloud-bused, software as a service business wodel, as welk
a3 the iclusion of tensaction-based revenyes FomNIC's digital govemment and payments processing businesses, Excluding the impact of recent acquisitions, subscriptions
revenue nemased 23.4% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021,

Our backlog at Decervber 31, 2021 was 5180 hillion, 2 12.6% inerease fromlagt year.

We monitor and analyze several key performance indicators in order te nwnege our business and svainate our finaneizl and aperating performance, These indicators inelnde the
following;

Revenues —We derive our reventes fromnfive prinary sources: sak: of software leenses and royulties; subseription-based anangenents, software services, malntenance, and
appisal services. Subseriptions and maintenance are considervd recuiring revenue sousces and conptised spproximeiely 79.1% of our revenuie in 2021, The number of new
Saa3 clients and the nuvber of existing chents wha convert from pur fraditional sofiware arangenents to our Saa8 model are a significant driver of our rovenue growth,
together with new software ficense sales and maintenance rate increases, In sddition, we also wonitor our custormet base and turnover, which historieally is very low, During
2021, based on our nurber of customers, tumover was approxinately 2%.

Cost of Revenues and Cross Marging — Our prinery cost component is personnel expenses i connsction with providing software iimplensntation, subscription-based
services, maintenance and support, and sppraisal sevvices 1o our clients, We can improve gross axrging by controlling headeount and relsted costs and by expanding owr
revenue base, especially fromthose products and services that produce incremental revenue with rininal incrzmental cost, stich ag goltware Beenses and royalties,
subscription-based servicss, and rmintenance and support, Qur appraisal projests are syelical in natwe, and we often employ appraisal personnet on a short-termbasis to
coincide with the Hife ofa project. As of December 31, 2021, out total eoployee count increased to 6,778 from 5,536 at December 31, 2020, including 1,063 smployees whe joined
Tyler through scquisitions in 2021,

Selng, Ceneral and Administiative ("SG8A™ BExpenses — The prinary components of SG&A exponses ave admindstrative sid sales personnei salvries and commissions,
share-based compensation expense, mafketing expense, rent and professional fres. Salos conmissions typically fluctuate with revenues and share-based compensation
ewpense generally increases as the maket price of our stock increases. Ofher administrative expenses tend to grow at a slower mte than tevenues,

Liquidity sud Cash Flows — The primary driver of our cash flaws is net income. Uses af cash inclde acquisitions, capital investnents in property and equipment and
diseretionary purchases of treasyry stock. Our working capital nesds are fairly stable throughout the year with the significant coroponents of cash cutflows being payment of
personnel expenses offiet by cash inflows representing collestion of accounts receivable and cash receipts from clients in advance of ravenue being eamed. In recent years,
we have also received significant amounts of eash from erployees exercising stock options and contributing to our BEmgsloyes Stock Purchase Plan,

Balance Sheet — Cash, accounts nsceivable and days sales outatanding and deferred revente halances are important indicators of our business.




impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemlc

Although warket activity mproved throughout 2021 n rmost sectors of cur business and continues te trend to near or sbove pre-pandemic levels, the pandemic continues fo delay
sonE goventment procurement processes aud is sxpected to kmpact our ability to complete certain inplemenintions, negatively impacting our revenue, We continue to monitor
these trends in order to respond to the ever-changing inpact of COVID-19 on cur clients and Tyler's operations.

For the twelve months ended Decerber 31, 2021, exclnding the impact of 2021 acqisitions, the impact of the COVID-19 pandermic resulted i lower revenues fromsofware
services. Software services revenues have been affected by a decline in billable travel tevenue, a3 most services are now being delivered virtaily rather than on-site, Lowsr
revenues compared to prior periods were partisily offset by continued cost savings attributed to lower spend on travel and user conferences and trade show axpenses, As travel
testrictlons are relaxed, softwate services and appraisal services reventes are incrensing. Also, we have adapted the way we do business by encouraging web and video
conferencing, condueting virtual sales demonstrations and delivering professional services remotely, which result in increases in stafFutiization tetas and billable fime,

For the tweive mpnths ended Decentber 31, 2021, total revennes include OOVID-related subsetiptions revenue and sofiware services revenues of $75.0 million fomNIC's
TourHealth, pandemic wnemployment services, and Virginia rent relief offerings, We curendly sxpect that these low margin COVID-related revenues from TonrHealth and panderric
unemplayment will wind down in the first half of 2022, while revenmes fromihe Virginia rent telief program are expected to continue through 2022,

Revenues fromsubseriptions and maintenance, which we consider reciering in nature, comprised 79.1% of our total cons olidated revenue for the twelve tmonths ended

Decernber 31, 2021, and include transaction-based revenue sireams such as trausaction and payent processing, e-fiting, and digital govemment services. As of Decerbar 31,
2021, we had $407.8 million in cash and investnents and aveilable borrewing capacity 0£$500.0 willion under our 2621 Credit Agreerent. We had cutstanding an aggregate
princinal amount of $600 million of our Cenvertible Senfor Notes, atd $755 million outstanding vnder our 2021 Credit Agreament ag of Detesuber 31, 2021, Dusing the fourth quarter
of 2021, we conpleted ourannual assessiment of goodwill which did not result in an irpainvent charge. Therefare, we have recorded no impairment as of and for the period ended
December 31, 2021. We identified no indicators of impoitment to long-lived and other assets and therefore, no iimpaitinent was secorded as ofand for the petiod ended December 31,
2021, However, due ta significant uncertainty surrounding COVID-19 and matket cond#tions, there are no assurences conditions will not deteriorate in the future,

Recent adoption of new accounting pronouncamenis

In August 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2020-06 - Debs with Conversion and Other Options (Subtapic 4 70-20) and Deyivatives and Hedging —
Coniracisin Entity's Own Bquity (Sublopic 815-40): Accaunting jor Convertible Instyuments and Contracts in an Entity's Owst Bty (" ASU 2020-06™), which gimplifies the
accounting for convertible instraments by feroving the separation models for (1) convertible debt with 2 cash conversion feature and {2) sonvertible instrments with a beneficial
conrversion feature. As a result, 3 convertible debl mstrament will be accounted for as a single liability measured at its amortized cost. These changes will reduce reported inferest
enpense and increase reported net incoms forentitics that have issued a convertible instrument that was bifurcated according to previously existing rules. ASU 2020.06 also
requires the application ofthe if-converted nethod for caleulating dilated earnings per shave and the treesury stock method will be no longer avaitable. This standard will be
effective for the Company’s fiscal years beginning in the first quarter of 2022, with early adoption permited, The Corrpany has elected to eary adopt this stendard as of January 1,
2021, Our accounting and disclosures related to our Convertible Senjor Notes issued on March 9, 2021, reflect the requireinents of this standard. For farther information, please
referto Note 6, "Debt.”

In Decenber 2019, the PASB issued ASU 2019-12, Sinplifping the Accounting jor Incone Taxes, (" ASE 2019-127) which simplifies the accounting for income taxes, elinfnates
cettain exceptions within ASC 740, Jncowme Taxes, and clatifies certain aspscts of the current guidance to promote consistency among reporting entities, The new standard is
effctive for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, We adopted ASU 2019-12 as of January 1, 2021, The adoption of this standard did not have a mmters] irmpact on our
consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Guidance not yet Adopted

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 - Accounting for Coniract Assets and Coniract Liobilizies from Contracts with Customers (ASC §05)(" ASU 2021-087). ASU 2021-
08 requires an acquiter in a business combination {o recognize and measure contract assets and contract Habilities (deferred revenne) from acquired contrmcts nsing the Tevenue
recognition guidance in Topic 606. Under this "Topic 606 approach,” the acquirer applies the teverme model as i had originated the contracts, This is a departure fromthe
current requirement to measure contrevt ussels and contract Eabilities at fair vahie, ASU 2021-08 is effective for all public business entities in annval and interim periods starting
after Decetrber 15, 2022, and eardy adaption is penmitted. We early adopted as of Januaty 1, 2022, Adopting this standard could have 2 natetial impact on revenne associated with
an acguired business.




Ourlook

The Incal govemment software market continues to be active with sales activity trending at or near pre-pandewdc levels in most sectors of our business, and onrbacklog at
Decetrber 31, 2021 reached 31,80 billion, a 12.6% incrense from the prior year, We expest (0 continue to achieve solid growth in revenue and carnigs. With our syrong fnancial
position and sash flow, we plan to contimpe to make significant investments in product developrens and acoslerating our wove to the cloud to better position us to continue to
expand our addressable narket and strengthen our competitive position over the long tetn Fhe expenses associated with the cloud transition are expoeted 1o pressure opersting
marging i 2022 snd 2023,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICTES AND ESTIMATES

Qur digeussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations i3 based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared in acsondance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP”). The preperation of these financial statemenits requites ug to make estiredes and judgments that affoct the reported
amounts oFassets and Habilties at the date of the financial stnjemenis, the reperied amounts of revenues, cost of revenues and expenses during the reporting period, and related
disclosure of contingencies. The Notes to the Financial Staterents Ineluded as pant ofthis Anunat Report desetibe our signifioant accounting policies used in the preparation of
the fingneial staterents. Significant fhkers subject to such estimates and assunptions inchide the upplication of the progress toward completion methods ofrevenue recognition,
extimated standalone selling price ("SSP} for distinet pesforamnce ebligations, the camying amount and estimated psefii ives ofintangible assets, determination of share-based
compensetion expense and valuation allowance forreceivables, We buse our estimates on historioal experience and on various other assuptions that we beliove to be reasonuble
ynderthe cirenmstances, the results of which form the basis for saldng judgments about the cattying values of assets and liahilities that are not readily apparent frons other
sources, Actual results mmy differ bomthese sstimates under different sasumptions or conditions,

We belicve the following eritical accounting policies sequire s ignificant judgrments snd sstimates used in the preparation ofour finencial s tatements,

Revemue Recognition, Wi enrn revenus fromsoftware licenses, royalties, subscription-based servives, software aervices, post-contract clstoter support ("PCS™ ar :
"maintensnce’), hardware, snd sppraisal services. Revenue s recognized upon kensfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an awount that reflects the
considerntion we expect to receive in enchange forthose products or services, We deterning revenue reco gaition through the following steps:

»  identification of the contract, or contmets, with a custonsy

v Identifcation ofthe performance obligations in the comiract

«  Determination of the transaction price

+  Allscation of the trangaction price o the performnce obligations in the contract

s Recopnition of vevenne when, or as, we satis i a perfonmance abligation

Mozt of our software arrangements with customers contain multiple performmce obligations that 1ange from software licenses, ingtaliation, training, and consulting to software
modification and custorization to mect speetfic customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS, For these contiacts, we sccount for individual performence obligationa sepamtely
when they are distinet. We evaluate whether separate performence obligations can be distinet ot thould be accounted for as one performance obligation. Amangements that
inohide soflware services, such as training or installation, are evaluated to detemine whether the eustonxer can benefit fromthe services either on thelr own or together with other
resonrces readily available to the sustomer and whether the services are saparately identifiable fomother promizes in the conttact. Many of our soflware amangerenis involve

" offthe-s hall” sofiware. We recognizs the revenue allecable to “off-the-shel software lioenses and specified upgrades ata point in time when control of the softwars license
transfers to the customer, unless the software i not considered distingt. We consider offthe-shelf softwnre to be distinct when it can be added te an mmngement: with minor
changes in the underlying code, i van be used by the customer for the customer's purpese Lpon installation, and remmining services such as training are not considered highly
interdapendent or highly intervelated to the produet’s functionality,
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For azngenents that involve significant production, rwdification or customization of the software, or where software services are otherwise not considered distinct, we recognize
revenue over time by measuring progress-to-completion. We measure progress-to-completion primariy using labor hours inourred as it best depicts the fransfer of control to the
customer which oceurs az we incur costs on our contracts, These amangements are often implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total cost
estitmtes. Anounts recognized in revenue are caloulated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total
estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the peried they are detenmined. Estinated losses on umconpleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine
that a loss is apparent. When software servicey are distinet, the fee allocable to the service efement is recognized over the fime we performthe services and is killed on a time and
material or milestones basis.

Subsctiption-based services consist efrevenues derved from8aal eratigements, which primarily utilize the Tyler private cloud, transaction and payment processing, electroni
filing trangactions, and digital govermment servives. Revenue from subscription-based services is generally recognized ovet timo on a ratable basis over the contract term,
beginning on the date that our service is made available to the customer. For SaaS anangenients, we ¢valuate whether the customer hag the contractual right to take possesaion of
our software at any titne during the hosting period without significant penalty and whether the customer can feasibly maintain the softwar on the customer’s hardware or enter
into another amangement with a third-party to host the software. We allocate contract valug to each performance obligation of the atrangement that qualifies for freatment as a
distinct element based on estimated SSP. We recognize 528 anangements ratably over the tents of the amangeiments, which range fromone to ten years, but are typically for
perods of three to five years. For software services associated with cortain Saa$-amngements, we have concluded that the services are not distinet, and we recognize the revenue
tatably over the remaining contractual period once we have provided the customer access to the software. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts recefvable and
in deferred revenue orrevemes, depending on whether the revenne recognition oriteria have heen met,

For transaction and payments revenue and e-filing transaction fees, we have the right to charge the enstomer an amount that direcely comresponds with the value to the customer of
our performance to date. Therefore, we recognize revenue for these services over time basad on the amount billable to the customer in accordance with the 'as invoiced! practical
expedient in ASC 606-10-55-18, In some cases, we are paid on a fixed foe basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual period, Typically, the structure of our
amangements does not give rise to verinble considerntion, However, in those instances whereby variable consideration exists, we include in our estimates, additional revenue for
variable consideration when we believe we have an enforozable right, the amount can be esiimated reliably and its realization is probable,

‘The teangaction price is altocated ta the sepamte performance obligations on a relative SSP besis. We determine the SSP based on our overall priving objectives, taking into
consideration market conditions and other factors, incliding the value of our contracis, the applications sold, customes demogmphics, and the nurmber and types ofusers within
our contracts. We us¢ a mnge of amounis lo sstimate SSP when we sell each of the products and services separaiely and need to determine whether there is a discount to be
allecated based on the relative SSP of the various products and services. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the praduct or service
separately, we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus mergin approach, Revenve is recognized net of allowances forsales adjustients and any tazes collested fom
omstomers, which are subsequently renstted to govemmental authorities,

We rmaintain allowances for losses and sales adjustments, which losses are racorded against revenus at the tiree the loss is incumed, Since most of our clients are domestic
governmental entities, we mrely incura oredit loss resulting fromthe inability ofa client to make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carying
amount for the allowances for logses and sales adfustments may require revision, include, but ere nol lindted to, managing our client’s expectations regarding the scope ofthe
services to be delivered and defocts or strors in new versions of enbeaneenenis of our software products, Cur allowsnee for bosses and sales adjustments of $12.1 million and $9.3
million at Decenber 31, 2021, and Decenber 31, 2020, reapectively, does not inelude provigions for eredit losses. As of January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial
Instruments - Creclft Losses, and primarily evaluated our historical experience with credit Jos ses relatsd to trade and other receivables. Becanse we rarely experience credit losses
with our clients, we have not recorded a material reserve for credit losses,

In cotmeetion with certain of our confracts, we hove recorded refentions receivable or unbilied receivables consisting of costs and estimated profit in excess ofbillings as ofthe
balance sheet date. Many ofthe conttacts which give rise to unbilled receivables ot a given balance sheet date are subiect 1o billings in the subsequent accounting perivd, We
review unbilled receivables and related contract provisions to engure we are justificd in recognizing revenue prior to billing the eustorr and that we have objective evidence
which allows us to recognize such revenue. In addition, we have a sizable amount of defesred revenue, which represents billings in excess of revenue eamed, The majority of this
Tiability consists of subsctiptions and traintenance billings for which paynents are made in advance and the revenue s ratably camed over the subscription or imintenance period,
generally one year. We also have deferred revenue for those contracts in which we receive a deposif and the conditions in which to record revenue for the service or product have
not been met, On a pesiodic basis, we review by eostomer the detail components of our deferred revenue 1o ensure our accounting remains sppropriate,




Businass Combinativas. Accounting for the scquisition of a business requires the aflocation of the purchase price fo the various asseta acquiced and liabilities assuned at their
respective fir values, The detersiination of fair value requires the use of significant estirrates und assunptions, and in making these determinations, navagement uses all available
information.

For tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired i a business combination, management estimates the fair value ofassets acquired and liabilities ws sumed based on guoted
wenket prices, the carnying vaine ofthe nequired assets and widely accepted vaination techniques, including discounted cash flows and market muliiple analyses. The assunptions
yrade in performing these valations include, but are not lmited to, discount rates, future revenues and operating costs, projections of capital costs, and other assumplions
believed to be consistent with those nsed by principal mmurket participants.

Due to the specialized nature of these caloulations, we engage third-paity specialists to agsist management in evaluating owrassunpiions as well as appropristely measuring the
fhir value of 1356ts sequired and Habififics assumed, We adjust the prefiminary purchase price allocation, a3 necessary, wp to one year afler the sequisition elosing date as we
obtain new nformation about facts and circunstanses that existed as of the closing date. I actual results ane matesially different than the assumptions we uged fo dotermine fair
value of the assets acquired and liabilities ns3umed through a business combination as well as the estimated nseful Hives of the acquired intangible assets, it is poasible that
adjustrments to the carying values of such asgets and linbilities will heve a material impact on eur financial position and results of operations.

Intungible Assets and Goodwill, Gur business acquisitions typically sesult in the crsation of goodwill and other intangible asset balances, and these balances affect the amount
and timing of firture period amwrtization expense, as well as expense we could possibly ieur as 3 resudt ofan impainment charge, The cost of acquired conypanies is allocated to
identifiable tangible and intangible assets based on estimated fir vale, with the excess allocated to goodwill. Accordingly, we have a signifieant balance of acquisition date
intangible assets, mcluding software, custoner related mnfangibles, trade nowe, leases and goodwill. These itangible agsets (other than goodwill) are amortized over thelr
estimated usefil lives. We currently have no intangble essets with indefinite lives other than goodwil

We assess goodwil for inpainment annvally, or imare frequently whenever events or changes in cimumstances Indicate its camying valae may not be rscoverable, Wa begin with
the qualiiative assessment of whether it is mose liely then not that o reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying value before applying the quantitative assessiment described
below. When testing goodwill for kmpairment quantitatively, we first cogare the fir value of each reporting unit with its carrying meount, H the carrying amount of reporting onit
goodwill emseeds the wplied fair value of that goodwil, an impuimaent loss is recognized. The fair values caloulated in our ivpainyent tests are determined using discounted cash
flow models prvolving several assurmptions (Level 3 inputs). The assumptions that are used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical marketplace participani would use in
estimating fair value. Wa base our fair value estimmbes on assumptions we beliove (o ba reasonabic but that are unpredictable und inherently uncesiain, We sveluaie the

reasonableness of the firvalue caloufations of our reporting units by comparing the total of the fair value of all af our reporting uniis to vur total market capitalization.

We have histarically performed our annual sssesement of goodsill impajrment as of April 1. During the second quarter of 2021, we voluntarily changed the date of our annual
assensmant of goodwill fo October 1 for all reporting units. The change in testing date for goodwill inpaittent s a change in accounting principle, which nanagemsnt believes is
preferable ag the new date of the sssessment better aligng with our annual planning process. The change in the sssessment date did not dolay or avoid a potentinl kvpaitent
charge nor did it change our requirement to assess goodwill on an Interim date between scheduled annual testing dates if triggering events ara presont. To ensure that oo lapse in
an agsessment oconmed sincs the prior period, we performed qualicative assessments as of April 1, for all reporting units except for the data and insights and platfonniechnologles
reporting units. As 4 result of these qualitative assessments, we detenmined that i was not mors likely thao not that an impainient existed; therefore, we did not perform Step 1
quantitative impsiament test. We did performa quantitative assesament for goodwill associated with our data and msights and platformicchnologics reporting unity as of April 1,
2021, As a result of our interimaualitative ant quentitative assessments, we concluded no inpaiment existed.

Turing the fourth quarter, as past of our annval impainwen: tost as of Cotober 1, we performed qualitative assessments for ad reporting unity exeept for recently acquired
businesses. As a result of thess qualitative assessments, we deterined that & was not more likely thannot that an impainrent existed; therefore, we did not perfoxma Step 1
quantifutive inpaiment test, We did performa quantitative essessment for goodwill associated with our secently acquired businesses, daia and insights, NIC, and platfonn
technologies reporting units, and conchuded no impainvent exisied as of our aniusl assessment date, The data and insights, NIC, and platformtechnologies business units
combined goodwill was $1.6 billion, or 68%, oftotal goodwill as of Decenber 31, 021, Our sxnwval goodwilt impairment analysis id not result in an impainrent charge. During 2621,
we have secarded ne impaitrnt to goodwill 2s no trggering events or changes in circunsiances indicating a potential iepairment have ocenrred a5 of period-end.




Determining the fair value of our seporting units invelves the uge of significant estimates and assurmtions and considerable menagenent judgment. We base our fair value
estimates on assumptions we belisve to be reasonable at the tuw, but such assunptions are subject to inherent uncertainty. Changes in market conditions or othet factors outside
of our contrel, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, could cause us ta change key assumptions and our judgment about a mporting unit's prospects, Similarly, in » specific period, 1
reporting unit could significantly underperformrelative to its historical or projected fiiture operating tesulls, Hither situation could result in a meaningflly different estimate of the
fair valne of our reporting units, and a consequent futurs impairment chagge.

Allintangible assets (other than goodwill) are reviewed for impaimment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying smount of ah asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of other intangible assets is measuzed by comparison of the carrying amount to estimuted undiscounted fatuze cash flows. The assessment of
recovemmbility or of the egtimated usafl life for amortization purposes will be affected if the timing or the amount of estimated futiire operating eash flows is not achieved. Such
Indicators may include, among others: a significant decline in expected future sash flows; a sustained, significant decline in stock price and warket capitalization; a significant
adverse change in legal fhctors of in the business climate; manticipated competition; and reductions in growth rates, In addition, produats, capabilities, or technologies developed
by others may render our software products obsolete ot non-conpetitive. Any adverse change in these factors could have a significant impact on the recoverability of goodwill or
other intangible assets, Doring 2021, we did not identify any trgpering events that would indicate that the catrying amount of our intongible assets may not be recoverabls,

Share-Based Compensation. We have a stock incentive plan that provides for the grant of stock aptions, restricted stock units and performance stock units to key employess,
directors and non-employee consultants, We estimate the fiir value of share-based awards on the dste of grant, Share-based compensation expense inclides the estimated effects
of forfsitures, which will be adjusted over the requisite service perind to the extent actusl forfsitures differ or are expected to differ fromsuch estimates, Chenges in estimated
forfeitmres are recognized in the period of change and will also impact the amount of expense to be recognized in future periods. Forfeiture rate assutsptions are derived from
historical data.

We estimate stock price volntility at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of our common stock. Bstitrated aption tife is determined using the weightad-average period
the stock options are expected to be outstanding based primarily on the options” vesting tenms, renwining contractual ife and the employees’ expected exercise based on historical
pattems. Determining the appropriate fair-value model and caleulating the fairvalue of share-based awards at the grant date requires considerable judgment, incliding estimating
stockprice volatilily, expected option life and forfeiture rates.
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ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER
The following discussion compares the histoticsl results of operations on a basis consistent with GAAP forthe years ended December 33, 2021, 2020 and 2019
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2021 Compared to 2020
Revenes
Acguisitions

On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC and a3 result of the merger, NIC hevame s direct subsidiary of the Company and NIC's subsidiaries becane mditect subsidiaries. NICis a
leading digital government solations and payment cotupany that serves fedeml, state and local govemment agencies,

'The following table details revenue (in thousands) for NIC for the period from scquisition through Decenber 31, 2021, which is included in our consolidated statements of income
fromthe date of acquisition. The msults 0f NIC are included with the operating results of the NIC segment from the date of acquisition,

2021

Revenues:
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Saftware licenses and rayalties.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our software licenses aod royalties revenue for the years ended December 31;
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Software licenses and royalties revenue increased 2% cormpared to the prior year, The growth is primmrily attributed to several large on-prenise sales of our courts and justice,
enterprise, and platform technologies solutions pastially offset by the shift in the mixof new software contracts towand more subscription-based agreements compared to the prior
year. Qur mix of new software contracts in 2021 was approximately-33% perpetual software livense arangements and approxitretely 67% subscription-based amangements
eompared to total new client mix in 2020 of approximately 38% perpetnal software license arrangements and approxinately 62% subscription-based amangenents.

Akhough the mixof new contracis hetween subscription-based and perpetual license arrangements nuy vary from querter to quarter and year ta year, we expect our longertemm

soflware license growth rate to be negatively impacted by a prowing number of customers choosing our subseription-based options, mther than purchaging the software undera
{raditional perpetual software license arrangement. Subscription-based amengenenis result in lower software license revenue in the initial yenr as conpared to perpetnal software
license atmngements but generate higher overall revenue over the tesm ofthe contract,

33




Subscriptions.

The followirg table sets forth a comparison of our subscriptions revenue for the years ended Decersber 31:
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Subscription-based revenue primarily consists of revenue derived from our 3asS ermngemenis. Ag part of our subseription-based services, we also provide electmnie docwment
fling solutions ("e-fling") that sitplify the filing and managerent of coutt related documents for courts and law offices, E-filing revenue i3 derived fromtransaction fees and fimd
fie arangements. Other sources of subsctiption-based services are derived fom tmnsaction.baged fees primarity related to digital govemment services and payment processing.

Subscription-based revenue ncreased 124% compared to 2020, primanly due to the inclusion of NIC's revenues frotm the date of zequisition. Bwhiding the impact ofrevenue from
2021 acquisitions of §351.7 million, subseriptions revenye increased 23.4%. New SaaS clents as wellas existing clents who converted te our SaaS moedel provided the majority of

the subscription tevenue increase. In 2021, we added 533 new Saal3 clients and 239 existing clients elected to convert to our SeaB model Also, ansaction-bused f&es contributed

$19.1 million 1o the increase in subscription revenus de to the increased volunes of online payments and slightly increased e-iifing services volumes in 2021

Software services.

The following table sets forth a corgparisen of our sofiware services revenue for the years énded December 31:
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Software aervices revenne primatly consists of professional services billed in connection with implementing our software, converting client data, traning client personnel, custom
developrent activitics and consulfing, New clients who puschase our proptietary software licenses orsubscriptions genenally algo centract with us to provide for the refated
software services. Existing clisnts also periodically purchase additional training, consulting and mnor programming serviees,

Software services revenue incransed 2% compared to the prior year period, primarily due to the inchision of NIC's revenues from the date of ‘acquisition, Ecluding the impact of
revenne from 2021 acquisiions of $23.8 million, software services revenne declined 0.5%, The decline in softwars serviess revenue is primorily atiributed to g deciine in billable
travel revente, as most sexvices are now behig delivered virtually rather than ofi-site. Also contributing to the decline is the increage of clients selecting our cloud sohations
ingtead of our on-premises license armngements which typieally require more professional services.



Maintenance.

The following table sets forth a conparizon of our maintenance revenue for the years ended Becember 310
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We provide nuintenance and support services for our software products and certain third-party software, Maintenance revonue was essentially flat and grew 1% compared to the
prior year, Maitenance revenue increased mainly due to contributions of hmintenance revenue fromrecent acquisitions and completing the recognition of the njority of
acquisition-related deférred naintenance revenue that was fair valued at rates below Tyler's average maintenance rate in prior periods, The remainder of the herense i attributed to
annual maintenance sate increases and growth in our mstalled customer base fromnew software license sales, offset by attrition, the inpact of customers selecting our Saas
solutions instead of on-premises solutions, and clisnts convesting fromon-premises license arrangements to subscriptions.

Appraisal services.
The following table sets forth a comparison of our appraisal services revenue for the year ended Decenber 31
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In 2021, appraisal services revenue increased 32% compared to the prior year primarily due fo relaxed travel restrictions allowing for the ramp-up of appmisal services for sevenal
new revaluation contracts which sterted in recent quarters. The appraisal services business is somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation cycles in varous
states.

Cost of Revenyes and Gross Megglps
The fbllowing table scts forth a comparison of the key components of our cost efrevenues for the years ended Decenber 31:

Chan
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The tollowing table sets forth a comparison of gross margia petventage by revenus type for the vears ended Decenber31:
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Software licenses, royalties and acguired software. Cost of software licenses, royaiies and acquired sofiwvars is primarly comprised of amorization expense for acquired software
und third-party software costs. We do not have any direct costs associated with royaltics, The gross mavgin decrease of 20.5% is due to the increased amnrtization expense related
1o acquired software flomacquisitions completed in 2021,

Subscriptions, saftware serviees and maintenance, Cost of subscriptions, software servives and maintenance primarily consists of pessonmel costs related to istallation ofour
software, conversion of client data, training client personnel and support activities and varicus other services such as customcliont developnient, on-going operation of Saas,
digital govemment, and other transaction-based services such as e-filing. Other costs included are interchange foey rerquired to process credit/debit card trzmsactions and bank
foes to process sutonnted clearinghouse transactions related to our payinents bosiness. In 2021, the subscriptions, software services and maintenance gross margin declined 3.6%
compared to the prior year primenily due to the inclusfon of NIC's revenues, which histarically have lower margins than Tyler, Bawcluding the impact fiom 2021 acquisitions, gross
frargin was 49.0% in 2021, a decrease of 0.2%, prirmrily due to higher eployee headcount, Cur itrplementation and support siaff grew by 125 employees sinee Decerber 31, 2020,
8 we increased hiring fo ensure that we are well-potitioned to defiver our current backlog and snticipated new business, The decline in margin i partially offset by improved
utilfzation of our professional services staffresulting fromthe shift to virnal delivery of most impletoentation services.

Appraisal services. Appraisal services revenue corprised approximately 1.7% of tetal revenus. The appraisal services gross margin increase of 6.9% conpared to 2020 & primarily
due to ramping of several new revaluation projects and cost savings attributed fo lower travel espenses associsted with nppmisal projects. The apprajsal services business is
somewhat eyclicaland driven in part by statutory revaluation cyeles in various states.

Gross Margin. Quy 2021 blended gross motggin decreased 4.0% compared to 2020, primarily due to the inclusion of NIC*s revenues, which historically have lower margins than
Tyler, Bchiding the impact from 2021 acquisitions, overall gross margin was 48.5% in the cument year period, The slight dectease of 0.1% in overall gross margin & atiributed to
increased amontiztion expense related to acquired softwore fromecent acquisitions, parially offset by aeduction in software services revenue from reindbursable travel that has
Title to no margin, as well as improved utilization of our professional services stafl resulting fromthe shift fo virluat delivery of most implenentation servives,

Selling, General and Administvative Expepses
Sefiing, general and adminbtrative (" SGEA") expenses consist prisarily of salaries, employee benefits, travel, share-based conmpensation expenae, commissions and related

overhiend costs for sdnsnistrative and seles and matketing employees, as well as, professional fees, trade show aetivities, advertising costs und other markating costs. The
following table gets forth # comparison of our $G&A expenses for he years ended December 31t
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SGRA 88 a perceniage ofrevenue was 24.5% in 2021 compared to 23.2% in 2020, SG&A expense increased approximately 50% compared 1o the prior yeat perdod, primarily dus to
the inclusion NIC's SGEA expenses. Fxchuding the fmpact of SG&A expense from 2021 scquisitions of $49.1 millien, SGEA increased 31.6% compared to prior year perods. The
increare in SGEA i atirbuted to tansaction costs related to recent acquisitions, higher stock cotmpengation expense, higher bonus and cotmission expense due to improved
operating results and other administrative expenses sonpared to prior periods. In 2021, SO&A inclndes $23.5 million of ransaction expenses related to acquisitions completed in
2031, We also incurred $1.6 million of expense related to a gepatation agveercent with NICs formet Chief Exscutive Officer. During 2021, stock conpensation expense jose 3318
willion compared o prior periods, primaly due to an increase in share-based awards issued in comection with our stock compensation plan coupled with the higher fair value of
each share-based award due to the ncrease in onr stock price. $G&A expense also included $3.2 million related to 2n accrual for Brigation,
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Besearch and Developnpent Expanse

Research and development expense consists primarily of salarics, enployes benefits and related overhead costs associated with new product development. The following table
sets forth a comparison of our research and developmient expense for the years anded December 31:

Changs-
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Research and development expense consists mainly of costs associsted with development of new products and technologies from which we do not currently genetate significant
revenue,

Research and development expense increased 6% 10 2021 compared to the prior year period, mainly due to a nundber of new Tyler product development initiatives across our
product suites, including increased investiwents in research and development at recently acquired businesses. To support these iitiatives, ourresearch and development staff
grew by 107 since Dacamber 31, 2020,

dmortization o, ame

Acquisition ntangibles are comprised of the excess of the purchase ptice over the fair value ofnet tangible assets scquirod that is allocated to acquired softwere, leases and
customer and trade name intangibles. The remining excess purchase price is allocated to gosdwill that i not subject to amottization, Amortization expense related to acquired
software is ineluded with cost of revenues, while amortization expense of custonkr and trade name intangibles is recorded as operating expense. The estimated useful lives ofboth
eustomer and trade name intangibles range fomifive to 25 years. The following table sets forth a comparison of amortization of custotrer and trade name intangibles for the years
ended Decembor 31:

{8 in th ) 2023 2020 3 %
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Amortization of costomer and trade name intangibles increased due ta the mpact of mtangibles added with seveml acquisitions conpleted i 2021.

Estimated annual smortization expense selating to custoimer, trade name, and lease acquisition intangibles, exchuding ncquired software for which the amoriization expense is
recorded as cost of revenues, for the next five years and thereafteris as follows (in thousands):

71 1 O 05 A S Pl R N SRS, "1 " §
223 54,971
1107 A SRR < SAADY:
2035 . 25180
: 5380
556,138
Interest Fxpense
The following table sets forth a comparson of interest expense for the years ended Decewber 31;
Changs:
{3 in thousmds) 2021 2020 B B
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Interest expense is prinarily conprised of interest expense and comitment and other fees associated with cur borrowings. The change in intarest expense conpared to the prier
period i attributable to higher levels of borrowings related to the 2021 Credit Agreerment and Convestihle Senior Notes, including $6.4 million related to the senior unsecured bridge
Ipan facility cornmitment fee in 2021,
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Cther Income, Nel
The following table sets forth a compatison of other lcoms, net for the years ended Decenber 31:

Changs
%s wihovndy 2021 , 2020 § ' %
A e T S T P FREEENE 5] 4 73,129 $ . = (1’535) e (5])% ) B
Other incotre s conprised of interest incom: frominvested cash. The decrease i other mcome, net coupared to the prier periad is attrbutable to the significant decrease in
interest rates on invested cash balances since March 2026, partially ofiset by higher levels of mvested cash.

0 ¥ Provis|

The following tabl sets forth a comparisen of our incens tax provision for the years ended Degember 31

Clranjy:
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The increase in the incons tax provision and fhe effective income taxrate in 2021 conpared to the priorysar is primarily due 1o z decrease in excess taxbenefits fiomshare-based
comgpensation in 2021, The share-based exercise and vesting activity in 2021 generated $47.7 million of excess tax benefits, while exercise and vesting activity in 2020 generated
$60.2 milfion of excess taxbenefits. Excluding the impact of the excess taxbenefits, our income taxprovision and effsctive taxsutz in 2021 would have been $45.2 mdllion and 28.4%
and in 2020, would have been $40.4 million and 23.1%, respectively,

The effsctive ncoms taxsates in both 2021 and 2020 differed fromthe United States federal statutory corporate iicorms tagrate of 21% primarily due to excess taxbenefits related to
gtoek incentive awards, the taxbenefit of research tax credits and the

release of reserves for unretognized income taxbenefits resulting fromexpirstion ofthe statutes of limitations for certain taxyears, offset by state income taxes and non-deductible
buainess expenses.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AMD LIQUIDITY

As of Decerber 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $309.2 million compared to $603.6 million at Decerber 31, 2020, We aiso hiad §58,7 million invested in nvestment
grude corporate bonds, monivipal bonds and asses-backed segurities as of December 31, 2021, conpared to $154.8 million at Decervber 31, 2020, These investiments mature from
3022 through 2027, During the fourth quarter, Management detertiEned that cur nvestment portflio wauld 1o longerbe held to waturty, The impact to the financial staterents in
fho current year is not naterial. Cash and cash equivalonts consigt of eash on deposit with several domestic banks and money market funds. As of Decendber 31, 2021, we had
$748,5 million outstanding borowings under our 2021 Credit Agreement and one outstanding letter of credit totaling $2.0 rillion in favor of a client contract. We belisve ourcash
on hand, cash fromaoperating activities, availability under out revolving line of credit, and access 1o the credit mankets provide us with sufficient flexibility to meet our long-tem
financial needs.

The fallowing tabls sets forth a sumoary of eash fows for the years ended Decenber 31:

(8 in thousends} 2021 2020

{Cach flows provided (wedhbyr. <2000 - B T R S B e R R E 0

Opersting nciivitics 2 371,753 % 355,089 §
Tvetingsctiv . U ONsY  RRy

Finsneing sctivitics

: - 1,424,730
ot (B sy G ] o epivalents :

14,172
IR et

Net cash provided by operaling activities continues to be our printary source of funds to finance operating needs and capital expenditures. Cther potential capital resources
inclade cash on hand, public and private Issuances of debit or equity securities, and bank bomowings. It is possible that our ability fo access the capital and credil iatkets in the
future may be limited by economic conditions 4r other factors, We currently believe that our cash on hand, cash provided by operating activities, mnd available credit are sufficient
to

38



find our working capital requirernents, capital expenditures, fneome tax obligations, and share repurchases for at least the nes twelve months.

In 2021, opetating activities provided cash of $371.8 milllon compared to $355.1 miltion in 2020, Opernting activities that provided cagh were primarily comprised ofnet mcone of
$161.5 million, non-cash depreciation and anoriization charges of $135.4 million, non-cash share-based compensation expense of $104.7 million and non-cash decrease in opemting
Tesse right-of-use assets of $10.2 million. Warking capital, exchuding cash, deoreased approximutely $43.1 miltion due to meinly due to tining of payments to and receipts fomour
povemment partners and end-user consumers, tinlng of prepaid expenses, timng of payments of payroll related taxcs and vendor invoices, and defemed tases associated with
atoek option activity duting the period. These increases were offset by the tiring of taxpayients and an increase in deferred revenue during the period. In genernl, changes in
deferred revenue are cyclical and pritmrdly driven by the timing of our maintenance renewal billings. Our tenewal dates occur throughout the year, but our largest mnewal billing
cycles oceur in the second and fourth quatters, In addition, subscription renewals are billed throughout the year.

Days salss outstanding in accounts receivable were 108 days at December 31, 2021, conpared to 121 days at Decentber 31, 2030, DSO is caloulated based on quarter-end accounts
teceivable divided by the quetient of ennualized quarterly revenues divided by 360 days. The decrease in DSO cotrpared to Decenber 31, 2020, is attributed to improved collection
efforts and a reduction i unbilled receivables related to contraeis under which revenus is being recognized on the percentage of completion basis,

Investing activities used cash of §2.1 billion It 2021 conpared fo $98.3 million in 2020, We invested $77.5 million and reccived $131.4 million in proceeds fiom investment grade
corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed secnrities with metutity dates ranging from 2022 through 2027. On March 31, 2021, we conpleted two acquivitions with the
total purchase price, net of cash acquired, 6£'$12,1 million paid in cash. On April 21, 2021, we completed the acquisition of NIC for the total purchase price of $2.0 billion, net of cash
acquired of $331.8 miillfon, itteluding cash paid of $2.2 billion and $1.9 million of purchase consideration rekated to the conversion of unvested restricted stock awards. On
Septercher 1, 2021, we acquired VendBrigine for the total purchase price, net ofcash acquired of $1.7 million, of approximately $83,8 million consisting of $30,2 million paid in ¢ash
and apprexingtely $5.4 million related to indermity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. On September 9, 2021, we aoquired all of the equity interest of Arxfor
the total purchase price, net of cash acquired, of approximately $12,8 million, of which $12.3 million wes paid in cash and approximately $0.5 million was accrued for inderanity
holdbacks. Approxioately §33.9 million wes invested in property and equipment, including $12.8 ruillion related to real estate. In addition, approximately S21.7 million of software
developroent was capitalized in 2021, The renining additions were for computer equipment and famiture and fixtures in support of interal growth, with the majority associated
with our data centers supporting growth in sur cloud-bas ed offerings. These expenditures wers funded fiom cash genemted fiom operations.

Tnvesting aetivities used cash of $98.3 million in 2020, We invested §156,6 million and received $82.7 million in proceeds fom investment gade corporate bonds, municpal bonds
and asset-backed securities. During 2020, we received $15.0 million in proceeds fromthe sale of the investment in tonvertible preferred stock representing a 2094 intereat in Record
Holdings to BETR, ILC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Bison Capital Partness V.L.P. During the same petiod, we purchased $10.0 million in common stock representing a 18%
interest in BETR, LLC, We paid $1.3 million in working cupital and indenmity holdbacks in connection with the 2019 acquisition of Courthouse Technologies, Ltd, Approxinately
$22.7 million was invested in property and equipment, ncluding $9.9 million related to real estate, kn addition, approxmately $5.8 million of software development was capitalized in
2020, The rennining additions were for conputer equiproent and famiture and fisares in support of internal growth, panticularly with respect to data centers supporting growth in
ourcloud-based offerings, These expenditures were funded fromoash generated from operations.

Pinaneing activities provided cash of $1.4 billion in 2021 compared to $114.2 miltien n 2020, Financing activities in 2021 were primarily comprised of proceeds fiomehe issnance of
the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Credit Agreenent. On Mamh 9, 2021, we issued $600 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes. The net proceeds
fromthe issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes were $391.4 nillion, net of initial purchasers” discounts of $6.0 imillion and debt lssuance costs of $2.6 million, On April 21, 2021,
in connection with the completion of the NIC acquisition, the Company, as botrower, entered into a new 2021 Credit Agreemeont with various lenders consisting of an unsecured
revelving credit facility ofup to $500 millien and unsecured tem loans totaling $500 million. The net proceeds fromthe borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement wera $1.1
billion, net of debt discounts of $7.2 million: and debt issuance costs of $4.5 million and $6.4 million of commitirent fees paid related to the terminated $1.6 billion nnsecured bridge
Ioan facility. Duging the twelve months ended Decender 31, 2021, we repaid $250.0 million of the unsecuted revolving credit facility and $145.0 million of the unsecured term laans,
The reminder of the financing activities comprised ofreceipts of $109.9 million fromsteck option exervises and employee stock purchase plan activity, We also purchased
approximately 33,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $13.0 million,

Finaneing activities provided eash of $114.2 million in 2020, Financing activities in 2020 were prinmarily conprised of receipts of $135.3 million from stock option exercises and
enployee stock purchase plan activity. We also purchased approsimately 59,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price 0£'$15.5 million.

Y




In February 2019, cur beard of directors authorized the repurchase ofm additional 1.5 million shates of Tyler cominon stock. The mpumhase program, which was approved by our
board of directors, was anneunced in October 2002, and wis amended at varous times Som 2003 throngh 2019, As of Pebruary 23, 2022, we had remaining muthorzmtion to
repurchase up to 2.4 million additional shares of cur coromon stock. Our share reputchase program allows ua to tepurchase sharss at our discretion. Matket conditions mfluence
the tiing of the buybacks and the number of shawms repurchased, 03 well a5 the volune of enployee stock option exercises, Share repurchases are genarally finded vsing ow
sxisting cagh balancss and barrowings under our credit facility and may oceur through open nurket purchases and teansactions structied throngh investment banking
institutions, pivately negotiated hansactions andfor other mechanisns, There is no expiration date specified for the authorization and we intend to mpurchase stock under the
plan fomtims to time.

As ofDecersber 31, 2021, we hadl $755.0 million in outstanding principal and availeble borrowing capacity of 3500 million under our 2021 Credit Agrecivent and an agpregate
principal ameunt of $600 million of our Convertible Senior Notes., We paid interest of $17.7 million, inchnding §6.4 million related to the senfor unsecared bridyge lon facility
conamitent fee in 2023, $0.6 million in 2020, and $1.8 million in 2019, See Note 6, "Debt,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussions of the Converible Senior Notes
and the 2021 Credit Agreeirent,

We paid ncome taxes, net of refunds received, of $2.2 million in 2021, $3.2 million in 2020, ind $21.3 million in 2019, In 2021, we experienced significant stock option exercize activity
that penerated net taxbenefies of $47.7 rillion and reduced taxpayments accordingly. In 2020 und 2019, excess taxbenafits were $60.2 million and $29.8 million, respectively,

We mticipate that 2022 capital spending will be between 565 mdlion and $70 nillion, nehading epproximately $7 miltion related to real estate and approximately $36 million of
capitalized software developrint, We expect the majority of the other capital spending will consist of corsputer equipment and software for infrastructare replacements and
expansion. Capital spending is expected to be fanded flomexisting cash balances and cash flows fromoperations.

Tromtine to time we engage i discussions with potentiul acquisition candidates, In erderto pursue such oppotunities, which could require significant conuitvents of capital, we
may ba required to incur debt or to issue additional potentially dilutive securities o the future. No assurmes can be given as to ont fiuture acquisition epportunitics and how such

opportunities will be financed. We lease office facilities foruse in cur operations, as well as fransportation and other squipment, Most of our Jesses are non-cancelabls operating
lease agreements and they expire fromone year to 10 years, Some of thess Jeases inchide options to exend forup to 10 yenys.

CAPITALIZATION
At Decercher 31, 2021, our capiaiization consisted of $1.3 bilion of outstanding debt and $2.3 billion ofsharcholders’ equity.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DESCLOSURES AROUT MARKET RISK.
Markes sisk represents the risk of loss that may affect-us due to adverse changes in financial matket prices and interest rates,

As of December 31, 2021, we had $755.0 rillion in outstanding principal under our 2021 Credit Agrecment and avuilable borrowiing cupacity nnder the 2021 Credit Agrestoant was
$500.0 trllBon,

Bomowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and the TermLoan A-1 will bear interest, at the Cormpany’s option, at 2 per annumszate of either (1) the Administrative Agent’s
prims commercial lending rate {subject to certain higher rate determinations) (the "Base Rate™) plus & margin of §,125% to 0.75% or (2} the one-, three., six or, subject to approval
by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.125% 1o 1.75%. The Term Loan A-2 wilt bearinterest, at the Cotpatry’s option, at a per annumrate of either (1) the Base
Rate phis o memgin of 0% to 0.5% o (2) the ona-, three-, or i, or, swhject to approval by all kenders, twelve-month LTBOR rate plus o mrgin of 0.875% to 1.5%.

During the year ended Decemiver 31, 2021 our etfertive average interest rale for ourhorowings wes 1.84%. As of Decerrbet 31, 2021, our interest rate was 1.55% for our
outstanding borowings. Rased on the debt undar the 2021 Credit Agreeneni, the aggregate outstanding principal as of Decernber 31, 2021 is $755.0 million, and aach quarter point
change in interest ratos would regult in a $1.8 million change in ammal interest expense.

TTEM 8, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

The reports of our independent registered public accounting firmand our financial statenents, refated notes, and supplerentary data are incloded as part of this Annuel Report
begiming on page P-1,



ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTTMG AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. QONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evafuartion af Disclosire Controls and Procediires — We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15{e) of the Securities Exchange Act) designed to
provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we filo or submit under the Exchange Act is secorded, processed, summarized and
teported within the Hime periods specified in the SEC's rulss and forms. These include controls and procedures designed to ensuxe that this information is accumulated and
conmumicated to our menagement, includig our chief executive offiver and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow fimely decisions regarding required

disclosures. Management, with the pariicipation of the chief sxseutive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our diselosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2021, Based on this evaluation, the chief exgcutive sfficer and ohief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective a5 of
December 31, 2021,

Management's Report on Internal Conirol Over Financial Reporiing ——Tyler's management is responsible for establishing and naintaining effective mtemal control over
financinl reporting as defined in Seeurities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Tyler's internal control over financial repotting s designed to provide reasonable assurance to Tyler's
nanagement and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.

Because ofits inherent limitations, juternal contrel over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstateirents. Therefore, even those systems detesmined 1o be effective can
provide only reasonable assurance with tespect to financial stafement preparation and presentation,

Management assessed the effectiveness of Tyler's imtemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, In making this assessment, management used the criteria set
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiztions of the Treadway Conmnigsion (2012 framewerk) {the COSO criteria}. Based on ourassessment, we concluded that, as of
Deceniber 31, 2021, Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those critexia,

Tyler's intemal control over financial reporting as of Deceber 31, 2021 has been audited by Emst & Young ELP, the independent registered public ac¢ounting firmwho alse
andited Tylet’s financial statements. Bmst & Young's attestation report on Tyler's intemnal coniroel over financial reporting appears on page F-1 hereof.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting — During the quarter ended December 31, 2021, there wers no changes in our intemal control over financial reporting, as
defined in Securities Fxchange Act Rule 132-15(f), that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our intemal control over financial reponting.

ITEM 9B, OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
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PART I

See the information under the following captions in Tyler's definitive Proxy Statement, which i incorporated hevein by referencs. Only those seetions of the Froxy Statement that
specifically address the items set forth herein are incorporated by reference. Such incorpomtion by reforence does not include the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the
Cotopenigation Comvittee Report or the Audit Commrittee Report, which are included in the Proxy Statemant.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPCRATE GOVERNANCE.

ITEM11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

MM 12, SECURITY OWNERSEIP OR CHRT ATN BENFICIAL QWNERS AMD MANAGEMENT ANDY
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

ITEM £3. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTCR,
INDEPEMEENCTL

ITEM 14, PRINCIEAE ACCCUNT INGFEES AND SERMCES

Beadings in Proxy Statement

"Tyler Managenent” and "Corporate Governance Principles and Board Metters”

"Execttive Cornpengation™

"Saermity Orwnership of Certoin Beneficial Owners and Management™

. “Bxecutive Compensation” md
"Certain Relationships aned Related Tronaactions”

The information recquired wekr this ivem may be found mder the seetion captionsd "Proposals For Consideration — Proposal Two - Ratification of Our Inckpendent Awditors for Fiscal Year 2021" iz vur

Proxy Slatemeni when filed
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PARTIV
TTEM 15, EXFIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES,
.Tha following docuienis are filed as part ofthis Annual Report:
® (1) The financial statements are filed as part of this Anmual Report,
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(2) Financial statement schediles:
There are no financial statement sohedules filed as part of this Anmual s the information is inclded in the financial statenwnts, includng th:
thereto, crthemrcmnstanoesmqmngluulmunotpm schedﬂwmn%@m regired s “ enents, lnchuding the notes
(3) Exhilits .
Chrtain of the exhibits to this Armual Repert are hereby incorporatad by reference, as specified:
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Exhibit
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inhneXBRLInﬁmoeDmmm: thnh:amceDoummduesmt mth interactive data file becavse its BRI tags, Including Cover Page XBRL tags, are ambedded withi

MOLES e uitne XBRL Document. Tpperin e e, Thuang Tover Toge TS T —
*101.8CH Inline XBRIL Taxononsy Extension Schera Docvooent.

*1{1.CAL Infine XBRI, Taonoziy Extengdon Calolation Linldbase Domment,
*101.LAR Inline XBRL Extension Labels Linkbase Dacnment,
*101.LEF Tnline XBIL Faxononty Extension Definition Linktnse Document.
*13.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linklase Docuoent,
104 Cover Pags Interzetive Data File (formatted ng Inline XBRL and contained in Bxhibit 11).

* ~Filed hercwith.

A copy of sach sshibit may be cbinined at 2 price of 15 cents pet page, With a $10.00 rrinimum order, by writing Investor Relations, 3101 Tennysen Parkway, Plano, Texs, 75024,
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Report of Indeperdent Registered Puliic Acconnting Hrm

Ta the Shareholkders and the Board of Directoss of Tyler Technologies, Tne.
Crinion on the Hmwmelal Statements

We have audited the actnspanying consolidated hulance sheets of Tyler Technologies, Ine. {the Commpany} zs of Decersber 33, 2021 and 2020, the reloted cons olideted statenents
of comprehicasive mcone, sharchoklers’ equity and cash flows for cach of thy three years in the period ended Deceniber 31, 2021, and the related notes {polleciively refbired to a8
the "congolidated financial statenents™). In cur opinion, the consolidated fnancial statements present fairly, in all nuterial respects, the finamcial position afthe Conpany at
Diecember 31, 2021 and 2030, und the results of its operations and ite cash flows for sach of the three years in the petiod ended Decenber 31, 2021, in conformity with U3, generally
scceplied accounting principles.

We also have andited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Conpany Ascounting Oversight Board (United States) {PCAOH), the Conmpany's inferpal contyol over
financial reposting as ofDerenberdi, 2021, based on criterls estublished Tntemal Contralntegrated Framework issued by the Conmuittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commmasion {2013 framewotk) and our report deted February 23, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Bagle for Opinfon

These financial stalerments ars the responsibility of the Company's management, Cur responsibility is to express an apinion om the Cenpany’s financial staterients based on our
audits. We are 2 public aceounting frmaegisrerad with the FUACH snd are required to be independent with respect to the Conpany i accordance with the 118, federal securities
taws and the applicable riles and regulations of the Seewities and Bhange Conmnission and the PCAOR,

We conducted our audits  accardancs with the standards of the PCACB. Those standards require thai we plan and performithe andit to obtain reasonabie assursnee about
whather the financial statements ave Fea of naterial risstatanent, whether due ko envor or fiaud. Qur nudits inehuded performuing provedures to agsess the dsks of material
misstaizment of the fnancial staterments, whether dus fo etror or faud, sud perfnming procedures that respond to thess risks. Such procedares inchded cxmining, on a test
basis, evidence regorditiy The atnounts and dizclosures in the fnancial slatensais, Our audits olso inclnded evaluating the accounting principles used and significant esthveies
made by nunagenent, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We belicve that our audits provids a reasenable basis for our opinion.

Cridcal Andlt Matiers

“The eritical audil rstters commnicated below zre matters asising Fomiks cunent period sudit of the financial staterments that wers comumnicated orwavired to be conynicatad
to the audit comnittes and that: {1} relate 1o sccounts or discloswres fhat ave nnterial to the financial statements and {2) invelved curespecially challenging, subjective, orcorplex
fudgments, The communication of critical audit matters does net alier i any way our apinion ¢ the consolidated financial statements, taken ag a whole, and we ave not, by
communicating the critical audit nutters below, providing separate opinions on the critinnt andit matiers or on the gecovnts or diselosares to which they relate.

Gondwitd ingairment tes (s
Description of Ag of Decentser 31, 2621, the Company's goudwill asset halanes of $2.4 hillion was atirfhuiable to ymltiple reporting units. As disciosed in
the Matter Motu 1 1o he consolidated financial statements, goodwill i assessed annually for ivpairment, oF more frequently it an event ocours ar

cisenstanees change that would more llkely than not reduce the flr value of 2 reporiing it Lelow its eatrying valie, The Companry pedforms
a quolitative assessment ofwhether it is more kaly than not that & reporing unit’s fair value is less than its camying vakue, Ifit is detormined
through the evaluation of events or cirewmsiances that the canying value may not be recoverable, the Conpany pesfortng & quantitative
anslysis comparing an cstisated falr velue of the reporting unit bo s canying value.

Audiing vinagenent's quantitative analyses fior goodwill inpaiment was complexand highly judgmental due to the significant judgement
roquirtd 10 deterine the fair valae of these roporting units, n patticulas, the Company’s falr vabue estinmtcs for these reporting units were
sensitive to significant assumptions, such o3 weighted average cost of capital and revenue growih wies. which are forward Jooking and
affected by expectations about fisture market or econonic conditions.
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How We Addvressed the Matter We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effactiveness of controls over the Company’s revisw process

in Cur Aindit

Description of
the Matter

for quantitative goodwill impairoent assessments, inchiding contrels over management’s review of the significant azswimptions described
above,

To test the estimatod fair vaiue of the applicable reporting units, we perforned audit timcme-:hmz-.s that mcluded, among others, agsessing the
methodelogies and testing the significant assunptions discussed above and the underlying data used by the Company in its analyses. We
svaluated management’s forecasted revenue to X emi?z, understand and evaluate changes as compared to histotical résults and performed
sensitivity analyses of signifieant assumptions o svaluate the changes in the fair value ofthe reporting units that would result from changes in
the assumptions, We also invalved internal vatuation specialists to assist in evaluating nanagement’s methodologies and significant
assurmptions applied in developing the fair value estinates.

Valuation of Acquired Intangille Assets in 4 Business Combination

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company aequired NIC, Ine. (NIC) during 2021 for a total purchase price,
net of cash aequired of $2.0 billion. The transaction was acoounted for a4 a business combination,

Auditing the Conpany's accounting for its acquizition of NIC was complex due to the significant size ofthe transaction and the estination
ungartamty in the Company’s delermination of the fir vafue of identified intangible assels related to customer relationshipe and developed
technology which sggregated to $777 million. The significant estimation uncerfainty was primarily due to the sensitivity ofthe respective fair
values to the significant imderlying assumptions required in the valuation nodels used to value the intangible assets and the sensitivity ofthe
respective fair vahues to underlying assunptions about the fiture performance of the scquired buginess. The Company valued custormer
relationships nsing a discounted cash flow model. The significant assunptions used in this wodel meluded the customer attntion rate,
weighted average cost of eapital, existing custower revenue growth and operating marging, The Company valued the developed technology
usinithe relief-fromroyalty method. The si%niﬁcant assunptions used in this method inelnded the royaily rate, obsolescence rate and
weigdlt_t_ed average cost of capital. These are forward looking assumptions which are affected by expecintions about fiuture mariet or economic
conditions.

How We Addressed the Matter We obtained an understonding, evaluated the design ond tested the opemating effectiveness of the Company’s intemal controls over its

trr Chr Audit

/s/ ERNST & YOUNGLLP

accounting for the valuation of these intangihle assets. For exanple, ws tested confrols over the Con@any’s process to identify and value
acguired intangible 2ssets as well a8 controls over management's Teview of the valuation models and the aignificant agsumptions described
above used to develop such estimates,

To test the estimzted foir values of the acquired customer relationships and deve]osyed_ technology, we performed audit procedures that
wcluded, among others, evaluating the Conmpany's selection of the valiation nethodologies, evaluating the significant assunmptions used in
the Compony’s valuation caleulations and testing the completeness and accuracy of the underdying data su&urﬁugnﬁw significant
agsumptions. We involved our valuation specialists to assist with our eyalustion of the methodelogies used by the Cormpany and significant
assumptions included in the fair value esfimates, Additionally, we performed sensitivity analyses and compared significant assunptions to
forecasts and to historical financial results afboth the Conpany and the acquires, among other procedures,

We have served ag the Company’s auditor sinee 1966,

Dallas, Texas
February 23, 2022




Regort of independent Reglsjored Pullic Accounting Frm
To the Shareholders and ¢he Boerd of Directors of Tylr Technologies, fne.
Opinicn on Internal Contral over Finpncial Reporting

We have audited Tyler Technologiss, Inc.’s interal control over financial reporing s of December 31, 2621, based on criteria established in Mtermal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Cotnmittee of Sponsoting Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 famework) (the CO30 criteria). In our opinion, Tylor Technologies, Inc. (the Company}
ralitaingd, in all paterial respects, effective intomal contm] aver financla] seporting as of Decercher 31, 2021, based on the COSO critetia,

We also have audited, in accordanes with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boand {United States) (PCAOB), the conselidated baiance sheets of the
Cospany as of Decertber 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statentnts of comprehensive income, shareholders” equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2021, and the refated notes and owrreport dated February 23, 2022 expressed an wnqualified opinion thereen.

Basis for Opinfon

Tha Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective mtemal control over financial reporiing and for its assessient of the effectiveness of internal control over
finencial reporting mcluded in the accompanying Management's Report va Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Gur responsibility 18 to express an opindon on the
Company’s intomal sontrol over fivancial eporting based on our audit. We ate a public accounting frmregistered with the PCAOB and are requited {o be ndependent with
respect to the Compagy in accordance with the U.S. fderal securities laws and the applicable mules and regulations of the Securities and Exhange Cormission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our nudit in accordanes with the standaids of the PCACB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the sudit to obtaln reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal conrol over fnancial reporting was maintained in all materi] vespects.

Our sudit included obtaining an undersianding of intemal control over financial reporiing, assessing the risk that o naterial weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and
opesating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and perforning such other procedures s we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our adit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion,

Definition and Lindtations of Iaternal Control drer Financial Reporiing

A company’s internal control over financial reporting it a process designed to provide reasciable agsurance regarding the retiability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial staterments for external purposes in acvordmce with generally accepted accountiing principles. A company’s internal control over financinl reporting includes those
policies and procedutes that (1) pertain ta the maintenanes of zeeords that, in reasanable detall, accurstely and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
cotrpany; (Z) provide reasonable aasurancs that imnsactions are recovded as necegsary to pernit prepasation of financial stptements in accordence with generally accepted
accounting prineiples, snd that receipts and expenditues of the cormpany are being made only fn aceordance with authorizations of management and directors of the cormpary; and
(3) provide reasanable assurance regarding prevention or thwwly detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposiion of the company’s assets that could have & material effect
on the financial staternents.

Tecause of its inherent limitations, mtemnal controf over financial reporting sy not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections ofany evalnetion of effectiveness to foturs

periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequats becanse of changes in conditions, or that the degree of conpliance with the policles or procedures ney
deterigrate,

/5/ FRNST & YOUNGLLI

Dallas, Texs
February 23, 2022
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Tyler Technologies, Inc,

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Forthe years ended December 31

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
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Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

{In thousands, except par value and share amounts)
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Tyler Technologies, Inc,

Censolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the vears ended December 31

{In thousands)
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Tyler Technologios, e,
Consolidated Staternents of Sharcholders’ Bquity
Forthe years ended Deceniber 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019

(In thousands)
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Tyler Technologivs, Ine,
MNotes to Conselidated Financial Statements
(Tablks in thousends, sxcept per share data)

(3] SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

We provide integrated sofiware systers and relaied services for the public sector. We develop and market a broad line of softwars solutions and services to address the
mformation teclmology ("IT") needs privarily of oities, counties, states, schools, federal agencies, and other goveryment entities. I addition, we provide professional IT services,
ncluding software and hardware instalistion, data convemsion, {mining, and for certain customers, product modifications, along with continuing muintenance and support for
customers using our systens. We also provide subsaription-based services such as sofiware as & service ("SaaS") arrangernents, digital government services, payment
pracessing, and electronic document filing ("e-tiling") solutions. In addition, we provide property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing pnisdictions.

On April 21, 2021, we aceguired NIC, Inc, ("NIC") as contenplated by the Agreoment and Plan of Merger dated Febmary 9, 2021, NIC delivers user-fifendly digital services that make
it easter and mare efficient for citizens and buginesses to iteract with govemment providing valuable conveniences like applying for unenployment insutanse, subsitting
business flings, renewing loenses, accessing information and auking secure payments without visiting a government office. NIC digital governmment setvices designa, builds, and
opemates digital government services on an enterprise-wide basis on behalf of state and local governments desiting to provide access to govermment information and to complete
secure govemment-based transactions through muitiple digital channels. These digital govemment services consist of websiles and applications NIChas built thet allow
consumers, such as businesses and citizans, to access government information, complete transactions and niake electronic payments, NIC also provides paynant processing
services, software development and digital povernment services, other than those services provided under state enterprise contracts, to federal agencies #s well as state and lecal
governments, The results of NIC are include in consolidated fimancial statements since the date of scquisition. See Note 2, "Acquisitions,” for further information,

Bapacis of the COVID-18 Pandemic

Aﬁhough market aetivity improved throughout 2021 in most sectors of our business and continues to trend to near or above pre-pandeivic levels, the pandemic continues to delay
some government procurenent processes and is expected Lo impaet our ability to conplete certain impletentations, negatively inpacting our revenue. We continue to monitor
these trends in order to respond to the cver-changing itpact of COVED-19 on our clients and Tyler’s operations.

For the twelve months ended Decersber 31, 2021, excluding the impzet of 2021 acquisitions, the inpact ofthe OCVID-19 panderic resulted in lower revenues fromsoftware
services. Softwame services revenues have been affected by a decline in billable travel revenue, as most services are now being delivered virally rather than on-site. Lower
revenues comrpared to prior periods were pactially offset by continued cost savings atirbuted to lower spend on travel and user conferences and trade show expenses. As travel
restrictions are relaxed, software services and appraisal services revenues are inereasing. Also, we have adapted the way we do business by encouraging web and video
conferencing, conducting virtual sales demonstrations and defivering professional services remotely, which msnlt in increases in staff utilization rates and billable time,

For the twelye months ended December 31, 2021, totalravenues inclide COVID-related subseriptions revenue and soltware services revenues of $75.0 million from NIC's
TourHealth, pandemic unemployment services, and Virginda rent 1elief offerings, We currently expect that these low margin COVID-related revenues fhom TourHealth and pandenic
unerployment will wind down in the fist halt of 2022, while revenues from the Virginia rent relief programare expected to continue through 2022,

Revenues fomevbseriptions and maintenance, which we consider recuning in nature, comprised 79% of our total congolidated revenue for the twelve months snded Decenber 31,
2021, and include mnsaction-based revenue streans such as digital government sarvices, payment processing, and e-filing. As of December 31, 2021, we had $4¢7.8 million in cash
and investments and available bortowing cepacity o $500.0 million under our 2021 Credit Agreement. We hed an aggregate principal amount of $600 million of our Convertible
Senior Notes outstanding, and $755 million under cur 2021 Credit Agreement as of Decenber 31, 2021, During the fourth quaiter 02021, we comypleted our annual assessment of
goodwill which did net result in an irpaitment charge. Further, we identified no indicators of impaitment to long-lived and other assets and therefore, no mpairment was recorded
as of and for the peried ended Decemrber 31, 2021. However, due to significant uneertainty sumounding COVID-1% and matket conditions, there are no assurances conditions will
not deteriorate in the futurs,
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PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

‘Phe consolidated financial statements include our parent company and 60 subsidieries, which ate wholly-owned, All significant intercarpany balances and tnsactions have been
sliminated & conselidation. Cotnprehensive incowme is defined as the change in equity of 2 business enterprise duting a perdod fomtrmsactions, snd ofher events and
circunstences fommen-owner sources and mclndes all compenents of'net meowre snd other comprehiensive income. We did not fieve nuteriaf fens of other corprelientsive
inconms during ths years ended Decersher 33, 2021, 2020, and 2019,

CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash in exosss of that necessary for operating requivernents is invested in short-term, highly Hquid, income-producing nvestnents, Investments with odpinal saturities of three
months arless are classified as cash and cash equivalents, which primarily consist of cash on deposit with severalbanks and money warket funds, Cash and cash equivalents are
siated at cost, which approximates market valus.

REVENUE RBCOGNITION
Nature of Products and Services

We eam revenus fromsoftware licenses, royalties, subscription-based services, software services, posi-contract qustomer support ("PCS” or "maintenanes”), hatdware and
appraisal servives. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of contw] of promised products or services to enstomers in an awmount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive
in exchange for those preducts ot services, We determine revenue pecagnition through the foilowing steps:

s Idemyification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

o Identification of the performance obligations & the contmet

«  Defermination ofthe fmnsaction price

+  Allscation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contraet
+  Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satlsfy a performance obligation

Most of our software afringenents with customets contain muliple perfomence obligations that range fromsofiware licenses, instellation, trmining, and consulting to software
modification and customiztion to meet apecific customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS. For these contiacts, we account for individual performance obiigations separately
when they are distinet, We evelnate whether sepamte performance obligations con be distinet orshould be accounted for 25 one performance obligation. Atrangenents that
include software pervices, such as training or Instaliation, axe evaluated to detenmine whether those services are highly interdependent or interrelated to the product’s
functionality. The transaction price is allocated to the distinet performmance obligations on g relative standelone selling price ("SSP”) basis. We determive the S8F based on ovr
ovenalt priving objestives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, inchiding the vaine of our contmets, the applications sold, custormer dereographies, and
the nember and types of users within our sontracts. Revenus is recognized net of ullowances for sales adjustients and any taxes collected fomcustomers, which are
subsequently renitted to governmental authorities,

Snfiwere Anangements.
Saftware Licenses and Royalties

Meny of our softwars anangenents ivolve "o fithe-shelf” software. We tecognize the revenue allocable to *offthe-shelf” software licenses and specified upgrades at 2 point in
time when control of the softwars license fmsfers to the customer, inless the sofiware is not considersd distinot, We consider "off-the shelf" software to be distinet when it can
be added 1o 20 airangsment with minor changes in the undexlying code, # can be used by the customer for the customer’s porpose upon installation, and remaining services such
a5 training are not considered highly interdependent or fnfarrelated to the product’s funclionality.

For amangements shat involve significant production, modification or eustomization of the software, or where soflware services are otherwise not considered distinet, we recognine
revenue over time by measuring progress-to-complotion. We mensurs progress-to-completion prvadly using lbor hours fncurmed as it beat depicts the transfer of contiel to the
customer which ooonrs as we incur costs on our contgacts, These airangements are ofien inplemented over an extended poried and eccasionally reguire us to revise total cost
estitates. Amounts recognized m revenue ave valeulated nsing the progreas-to-completion neasurement after giving effect ta any changes in our cost estirates. Changes to tofal
estimated contract costs, ifany, sre reconded fn the perlod they are determined. Estimated losses nn uncompleted contmets are recorded in the pesiod in which we first determine
that & loss is apparent,
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Software license fies s billed in accordance with the conttact tenims, Typically, 2 majority of the fee is due when acoess to the software Ticense is made available to the customer
and the remainder of the fee due over a passoge of e stipulated by the contract. We record amoynts that have been invoicsd in accounts recelvable and in defered reverue or
ravenuas, depending on whether the revenue recogaition critetia have been met,

We recognize royalty revenne when the sale ccours under the terms of our third-party royalty amangements, Cumrently, our third-party royalties are recognized on an ctinated
basis and adjusted ifneeded, when we reseive notice of smounts we are antitled to receive. We typically receive notice of royalty revenues we are entitled to and billed ona
quartexly basis fn the quarter immedistely following the royalty repoiting period.

Satwere Services

As noted above, sone of onr software armangements inchide setvicss considered highly interdependent or highly interrelzted or require significant custordzation to mest the
customer’s desired finctionality. For these software amangements, both the software licenses end related software serviees revenue are not distinet and are tecognized over time
using the progress-to-completion method, We measure progress-to-cotnpletion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control fo the enstomer which
OCCUIS a4 We Beur costs on wur conttacts, Conttact fees are typically billed on a milestone basis as defined within contract tems, We record amounts that have been nvoiced in
accounts receivable and in deferred revenue orrevenues, depending on whether the revenue tecognition criteria have been net. When software services ate distinet, the fee
allocable to the service element Is recognized over the time we performthe services and is billed on a time and meterial basis,

Posi-Contract Customer Suppor!

Our oustomers generly enter into PCS agreements when they puichese our software licenses. PCS includes telephone suppon, bug fws, and dghts to upzrades on a when-and-f
available basiy, PCS is eongidered distinet when purchaged with ovr software licenges, Our PCS agreements are typically renewabie annually, POCS i recognized over time on'a
siraight-line basis over the period the PCS is provided. All significant costs and eapenses associated with PCS are expensed ag incurred.

Cotnpurer Hardware Eguipment
Revenue allocable to computer haidware equipment is recognized at a point in time when control of the equipment Is trans ferred to the customer.
Subsqiption:Based Serviees:

Subseription-based services consist prinarily of revenues detived fior SaaS arrangements, typleally vtilizing the Tyler private cloud, digital goverment services, payment
processing, and e-filing.

For Saa5 amangements, we evaluate whether the customer hes the contractual tight to take possession of ouz softwate at any time during the hosting petiod without significani
penalty and whether the customer can feasibly finintain the softwars o1t the cugtomar’s hardware or enter into ancther amangement with a third-party {0 host the software, We
allocate contract value to each performmnce obligation of the atrangement that qualifies for treatment as a distinet element based on estimated SSP. We recognize Sea8 services
ratably over the {ermofthe axsmgement, which rmge fom one to ten yeas, but are typically for a period of three to five years. For sofiware services associated with certain SaaS
arrangements, we have coneluded that the services are not distinet, and we recognize the revenue ratably over the remaining contractual peried once we have provided the
customer access to the softwam, Werecond amounts that have besn inveiced in accounts reveivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue
recognition criteria have been met,

Transaetion-based foes primarily relate to digital govemment services and online payment serviced, Which ate sometimes offered with the assistance of third-party vendors. In
peneral, when we are the principal in a transaction, we record the revenue and related costa on & gross basis, Otherwise, we net the cost of revenue associated with the service
against the gross revenue (mmount billed fo the customer) anid record the net smount a8 evenue.

Pfiling transaction fees primarily pertain to documents fled with the courts by attomeays and other thivd-parties via cvr eiling services and reteieval of filed documents via our
access services, For epeh document filed with a conxt, the fifer generally pays a transaction fee and a cout tiling fie to us and we rendit a portion ofthe transaction fee and the filing
fee to the contt, We record as revenue the transaction fee, while the portion of the transaction fee remitted to the courts is recorded 23 cost of ievenues as we are acting s a
principal in the amangewent. Court filing fees collected on behalt of the courts and remitted to the courts are tecorded on anet basis and thus do net affect the statement of
somprchensive income,




For e-filing transaction fos and trenssction-based revenues fomdigital goverment services and online payments, we have the right to charge the costomer an ampunt that
directly corresponds with the value to the cuszomer of owur perforusmes Lo date, Therefore, we recognize ravenus for these services aver time based on the amount bitlble to the
customer, In gome cases, we are paid on a fred Feebasls and recognize the revenue mtably overthe contractual perlod. Typically, the structure of our armngenents does not give
15t to variable consideration. Howsver, in those instances whershy varisble consideration exists, we iclede in our estinntes, additional revenue for vaziable consideration when
wa believe we have an enforceable right, the arount ean be estimated reliably and its realization Is probable,

Costs of perforning services under subscription-based ammgements are expensed as mourred, eseepl for certain direct and inciemental contract origination and set-up costs
associated with Saa8 arrangerrents, Sucls dirset and incremental costs ate capitalized and amertized ratably vver the veeful life.,

aigal L

For our property appraisal prajects, we recogniz revenus using the progress-to-conpletion method since many of these projects are executed over one fo thee-year periods and
ponsist of various unique activities, Appraisal services require a significant level of integration and interndependency with various individual service conponents; therefore, the
service camponents ave not considered distinet. Appraisal services are resognized over tive by measuring progress-to-completion prinarily nsing labor houre incuted as it best
depicts the transfer of control to the oustoner which oceurs as we incur costs on our cantracts. These amangements are ofien executed over an extended period and occasionally
require 1s to revise total cost egtimates, Amounts recognized in revenue are caloulated using the progress-tu-conpletion measimement after giving effect to any changes in our
rost estimates, Changes 10 fotal estimatéd conteact costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determinesd. Estimated Iosses on uncemplated contracts are vecorded in the
period i which we firs¢ detenming that a loss is apparent. Contract fees are typically billed on a nilestone bagis as defined within contract tems, We record smounts that have been
invoired W secounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenus recognition criteria have been met.

Sipnificant Fndgients:

Our contraets with custoners often include multiple perforomnee obligations fo a eustomer, When a so fiware arangenent (ficense or subsorintion) inchudes bath sofiwara Eeenses
and software services, udgment is required to determine whether the software ficense is considered distinet and accounted for separutely, vrnot distinct and accounted for
together with the software services and recognized over tire,

The transaction price i allocated ta the separate performance obligations on a mhitive SSP basis. We deternine the S5P based on our overal pricing objsctives, taking into
consideration narket conditions and pther factors, including the value of cur conitacts, the applications sold, customer demographios, and the nunber and types of users within
our contracts. We usa & tatge of atounts to estimate SSP when we sell each of the products and services separately and need to detenmine whether there is a discount to be
allocated based on the relative 8P of the various products and services, In instances where 8P is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the product or service
sepamately, we detenrne 55P using the sxpected cost-plus margin approach.

For amangetments that involve significant production, modification or cnstomization of the sofiware, or where software services otherwise cannot be considered distinet, we
teeognize tevenue as control is transferred to the custonsr over thre using progress-to-completion methods. Depending on the contract, we measure progress-io-conpletion
pritarily using lebor honrs fneurmed, ar valus added, The progress-to-compltion method genetally results in the recognition ofeasonably consistent profit merging over the life of
1 contract because we can provide reazonably dependable catimates of contrct billings and eontract costs. We use the level of profit margin that is most likely to occuron &
contract, Ifthe moal leely profit margin cannot be precisely determmined, the lowest probable level of profit margin in the range of estimates is used until ths results can be
estinmted more precisely. These ammngements are often finplemented over an exended time perlod and cccasionally requirs us to revise total cost estinates, Amouats reooghized
in revenue are calculated using the progiess-to-conpletion measurement after giving effeut to any changes i our cost estinmtes. Changes to total egtimied contract costs, if any,
gre recorded in the period they are detenyined, Estimated losses on unconpleted coniracts are recorded in the peried in which we first detemdne that a Joss is apparent.

Refer to Note 16 - " Disagaregation of Revenue™ for firther information, inchding the econnnic factors that affect the natuie, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows of our vatious revenue categosies.
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Accounts receivable and allowance for losses and sales adfustments

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing tu custoners, We record an unbilled receivable when revenne is recognized prior to invoicing, or deferred
revenue when revenue i recognized subsequent to invoicing. For mnitisyear agteerents, we geoerally invoice custorners annually at the beginning of each anrual coverage
period. We record an unbilled receivable related to revenue recognized for on-premises licenses as we have an unconditional right fo inveice and receive payment in the firture
related to those licenses.

In conngction with our appraisal services contracts and ceitain software services coniracts, we may performwork prior to when the software and services are billable and/or
paynble pursuant to the contract, Unbilled revenue is not billable at the balance sheet date but is recoverable over the mmwining Iife of the contract through billings made in
accordance with conttactual agreements. The tervination clauses in most of our contracts provide for the paymend for the vahite of products delivered or services performed in the
event of early termination. We have histarically recorded such unbilled receivables (costs und estimated profit in excess of billings) in connection with (1) propetty appraisal
services contracts accounted forusing progress-to-completion method of revenue recognition using labor hours as a measure of progress towarde completion in which the
services are perfarmed in one accounting period but the billing nonmaily occurs subs equently and nuy span another accounting period; (2) software services contracts accounted
for nsing progress-te-completion method of revenue recognition s ing labor hours as » measure of progress towards conpletion in which the services are performed it one
aceounting period but the billing for the software clement of the arangenent may be based upon the specific phase of the implementation; (3) soRware revenue for which we have
recopnized revenue at the point in time when the software is made available to the customer but the billing has not yet been submitted to the customer; (4) some of our contracts
which provide for an amount to be withheld froma progress billing {generally between 5% and 15% retention) until final and satistactory project completion i achieved; and (5) m
a limited numher of cases, extended payment terms, which may be granted to custoress with whomwe generally have a long-termelationship and fhvorable collection history.

As of December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, total current and long-termaceounts receivable, net of allowsmce for logses and sales adjustments, was $535.0 million and $403.7
million, respectively. We have recorded unbilled receivables of $140.3 million and $140.8 million at Deceber 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, respectively, Included in unbilled
receivables are retention receivables of $7.7 willion and $13.1 million at Decerber 31, 2021, and Deceniber 31, 2020, respectivaly, which becoms payable upon the completion ofthe
contract or completion of our fieldwork and formal hearings, Unbilled receivables expected to be collected within one yearhave been ncinded with accounts receivable, current
portion in the accompanying consolidated balance shests. Unbilled receivables and retention receivables expected to be collzcted past one year have been inctuded with accounts
receivable, long-tem portion in the accormpanying consolidated balanee sheets.

Payment terrs and conditions vaiy by confract type, although tems generally inclnde a reguirement of payment within 30 to 90 days. In instances where the timing of revenue
recognition differs fromthe tindng of imvoicing, we have defermined our contracts generally do not inclode a significant financing component. The prinary purpose of cur
invoicing terms is to provide customers with simplified nnd predictable ways of purchasing our produets and services, not to receive financing fiom our custoners or to provide
customers with financing, Exancples include invoicing at the beginning of a2 subscription termwith revenue recognized ratably over the contract period, and mlti-vear on-premises
term licenses that ore nvoiced anmmally with revenue recognized upfront.

We smintain allowances for losses and sales adjustments, which losses are rezorded against revenue at the time the Joss is incumred, Since nwat of our chents are domestic
governmental entities, we sarely incura credit loss resulting from the inability of'a elient to make required payments, Events or changes in circuirstences that indicate the camrying
anount for the allowanees for losses snd sales adjustments may require revision, inchide, but ore not linited to, menaging our client’s expectations regarding the scope ofthe
services lo be delivered and defects or errors in new versions or enhancements of our software produets. Qur sliowance for losses and sales adjustments of $12.1 nillion and $9.3
million at Decerrber 31, 2021, and Decendber 31, 2020, respectively, does not include provisions for eredit Iosses. As of kanuary 1, 2020, we edopted ASU 2016-13, Financial
Instrumenis - Credit Lagses, and prinerily evaliated our historical experience with credit losses related to trade and other receivahles, Because wa mrely experience credit losses
with our clients, we have not recorded o matedn] res erve for cradit logses,

The following table sunmarizes the changes in the allowance forlosses and sales adjustments:

Belance at begiibg ofyear = © L 7 T ne T
Provisions forlosses and sales adjustaenis - accounts receivable
Colléctions of accounts previowsly waiflesi fF | -

Balance at end of year 3




Deferred Revenne

The majority of defemed revenue consists of defiared subseription-based getvices revenue that has been billed based on contractual tens in the vnderlying erangement, with the
remmining balance consisting of payments received in advance of revetiue heing earved under maintenance, software licensing, sofiware and appraisal services, and hardware
ipstaliation. Referto Note 17 - "Deferred Bevenue and Performance Ohligations” for further inforpmtion, including defermad revenue by segment and changes in defemed revenue
during the peried.

Deferred Commissions

Sales comerissions eanned by our sales force ate considered incremental and yecoverable costs of ebtaining a coniraet with a castemer. Sales commssions for initial contracts are
defered and then smortized commensurate with the recognition of assockied revenme over a period of benefit that we have dotermined to be three to seven yeors, We uiilized the
*porifolio approach™ practical expedient, which allows entities to apply the guidance to a portfolic of contracts with sitilar characteristics beeause the effects on the financial
staterents of this approach would et differ materially fromapplying the guidance to individual contracts. Using the "portfolio approach”, we detenmined the peried of bensfit by
taking into considecation our customer contracts, our technology lifecycle and other factors, Sales comudssions fox waewal contracts are genetally not paid in conneotion with the
renewal ofa contract, T the ameli number of instancss whese 8 copmission s paid on a renewal, it is not conmensurate with the comzission paid on the injtial sale and is
recognized over the termof renewal, which s generally one year, Anoitization sxpense related to deferred comgnissions is included o selling, general and adiministrative expetises
in the aceotpanying consolidated statements of incorne, Refer to Note i8 - "Defirred Commissions” for forther information,

Propaid expenses and other current assets nchide direct and incrementsl costs such as connissions associsted with arangements for which revenue recognition has been
defened. Sucl: costs are expensed at the tine the related revenue is meognized,

USEOF ESTIMATES

The prepamation ofour financial statements in conformity with accounting prineiples genarally accepted in the United States ("GAAP”) requires us to make estimates and
aasunpliens that affect the teported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the fmancial statements and the reported
amounts ot revenues end expenses during the reperiing period. Significant ftems subject to guch sstimates and assumptions melde revenue recognition, determining the nature
and timing of satisfastion of performmnee obligations, deterrdning the 58P of perfbumance obligations, variable consideration, and other abligations such as retums and refunds;
loss eontingencies; the estimated usedu] life of deforred commissions; the carryimg amount and estimated useful lives of intangible assets; the camying amount of aperating lease
right-oftase assets and operating lease liabilities; determiving sharg-based cotpensation expenss; the allownnce forlosses and safes adjustments; and deternining the potentiat
cutcome of future tax consequenves of avents that have been recognized on our consolidated fnancial statements o1 taxretuma. Actual results could differ from cstimates.

PROPERTY AND BQUIPMENT, NET

Property, equiprment and purchased soflware are recorded at original cost and increased by the cost of any significant improvements alter purchase. We expense naintenance and
repairs when fncumed. Depresiation and amoortization is caloulnied uging the straight-iine method over the sharter of the assct’s estimated vaeful lifo or the tern of the kease in the
cise of leasohold improvesents. For income tax purposes, we use socslerated deprecistion nethods as alfowed by tax faws.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOEMENT COSTS
We expensed research and development expense of $93.5 millior in 2021, $88.4 million i 2020, and $81.3 willion in 2019,
INCOME TAXES

Tneome taxes are accounted for under the asset and linbility method, Deferred taves srise because of different treativent between financial staterent accounting and tax accounting,
known as “temporary differences”. We record Uie tax effect ofthese torcporary differences as *deferred taxassels” (generally #ens that can be used as a taxdeduction or credit ia
the fiture periods) and "deferred tax Uabilities” {genemlly et that we received 4 tax deduction for, which have not yet been recorded in the incorms statersent), The deferred tax
gssets and lgbifities are measured using snacted taxsules and liws that are expected 10 be in affee) when the fempomry differences are expecied to be recovered or settled. A
valuation allownace is established fo reduce defarred taxassets it Is more tikely than not that a defemred tax asset will not be "realized".
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We do not recognize a taxbenefit for uncertain tax positions unless nenagenent’s assessnent concludes 1hat it is "more likely than not™ that the position is sustainable based on
its technical merits, I the recognition threshold is met, we recognize a taxbenefit based upon the largest amount of the taxbenefit that is more likely than not probable, determined
by curmlative probability, of being realized upon seftlement with the tazing snthority, We recognize mterest and penaltiea, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits i income tax
expense m the consolidated statements of income.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

We have a share-based award plan that provides for the grant of stock optivus, restricted stock units, and performancs share units to key employees, directors and non-employee
consultants. Stock options generally vest after three to sixyears of continuous servics fromthe date of grant and have a contractual termof 10 years. Restricted atock unit grants
generally vest mtahly over three to five years of continugus service fromthe date of grant, Bach performance share unit represents the right ko eceive one share of our common
steck based on our achisvement of certain financial performance targets during applicable performance periods, which generally oliff vest in one or three years. We account for
share-based compensation utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Steck Compensation, See Note 10, "Share-Based Compensation,” for farther information,

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Accounting for the sequisition of s business requires the allocation of the purchase price to the various assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective fait values. The
determination of fair valie requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, and in making these determinations, management uses all available mformation.

For tangible and identiffable intangible assets acquired in & business combination, management estimates the fair valne of assets acquired and lisbilities assumed based en quoted
narket prices, the carrying value of the acquired assets and widely accepied valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses. The assumptions
made in perfonning these valuations include, but are not limited to, discount rates, fibure revenues and operating costs, projections of capital costs, and other assumptions
belicved ta be congistent with those used by principal market participants.

Due to the specialized nature of these calculations, we engage third-party specialists to assist management in evaluating onr assumptions as well as appropriately measuring the
fair valae of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, We adjust the preliminary purchase price allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition closing date as we
obtain new imformation about facts and cireumstances that existed as of the closing date. If actual resulis are materially different than the assumptions we used to determing fair
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed through a business combination as well as the estinated useful lives of the acquired intangible agsets, it s possible that
adjustinents to the carrying values of such assets and lizbilities will have a material inpact on our financial position and results of operations, See Note 2, "Acquisitions,” to our
consolidated financial staterments for farther details.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodswill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assefs acquired, inclnding identifiable intangible assets, in conmection with our business
combinations. Upon acquisition, goodwill is assigned to the reporting unit that is expecied to benefit fromthe synergies of the business combination, which is the reporting nnit to
which the related acquired technology I assigned. A reporting unit is the operting segment, or 2 business unit one level below that operating segment, for which discrete
financial mformation is prepared and regularly reviewed by executive management.

We assess goodwill for iimpgirment axmually, or more frequently whenever events or changes in eircurmtances indicate its ¢amrying value may not be recoverable. We begin with
the qualitative assessmont of whother it iz more likely than not that a seporting unit’s fiir value'is less than its carrying value before applying the quantitative assessment described
below. When testing goodwill for impairment quantitatively, we first compare the fair vakie of cuch reposting unit with its carrying amount. Ifthe carrying amount of reporting unit
goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impainsent Joss 8 recognized. The fairvalnes caloulated in our inpajment tests are determined using discounted cash
flow modsls involving several asaunptions {Level 3 iputs). The assumptions that are used are based upon what we belisve a hypothetical maketplace participant would use in
cstitrating faie value, We base our fair value estiates on assurgptions we belicve to be reasanable bat that are unpredictable and inherently uncertain. We evaluate the
reasonableness of the fair value caleulations of ourreporting wnits by cowparing the total of the fair vahie of all of our reporting units to our total saarket capitalization
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We have historically performed eur anmual assessment of goodwill impaitnent as of April 1, During the second quarterof of 2021, we voluntarlly changed the date of our annual
assessment of goodwill to Ootober | for all reporting wsits. The change in testing date for goodwill impairment is # change in secounting prineiple, which managenment believes is
prefarabls as the new date of the assessment better aligns with our ennyal planning process. The change in the assessmont dats did not delay ot aveid a potential impaittent
charge nor did it change our requirement to assess gondwill on en interim date between scheduled annual testing dates i triggering events ase preseut. To engure that no Iapse In
an assessment eecurred since the priot period, we performed qualitative assessments in the second of 2021, for all reporting units except for the data and insights and piatfonn
technologies reporting vnits. As a result of these qualitative sssessnients, we deterivined that it s not more fkely that an &rpairment existed; therefore, we did not performa Step
1 quantitative impainment test. We did perfomn a quantitative assessment for gnodwill for our data and insights and platformtechnologies veporting units as of April 1, 2021 Asa
result of our inferim qualitative and quantitative assessments, wo concluded no impairrent existed.

During the fourth guarter, as part of our annusl impaimnent test g of Octeber 1, we performed qualitative assessments for all repotting unils except for recently acquired
businesses. As a result of these qualitative assessments, we deternined that it was not more likely than not thet an krpaiment existed; therefors, we did not performa Step 1
quantitative impainzent test, We did performa quentitative assessoent for goodwill sssociated with our revently acquired businesses, data end Insights, NIC, and platform
technologies reporting units, and concladed no impairment existed a9 of our annual assessment date, For mwat of eur reporting units, goodwill relates to a conhination of legacy
and aoquired businesses and ag a cesult those units have fair values that swhstantially exceed theirunderlying catrying values. For other seporting wnits, in particular our datu end
insights, NIC, and platformtechnologies business units, goadwill entiredy refates to recently acquited busitessss, and as a result those meporting units do not have significant
exvess fuir values over canying valnes, The data and insights, NIC, and platformtechnologies business uniis conbined goodwill was 81.6 bilkon, or 68%, of total goodwill as of
Decenber 31, 2001, Qur sanual goodwill inpaitment anelysis did not result i an impairment charge. Daring 2021, we have recorded no impaitment to goodwill a4 no triggering
events o changes in circunstances idicating a potentizl inpaitnymt have occurred as of pariod-end.

Deternining the fair value of our reporling nnits involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions and considerable rmtiagement judgment, We base our thir value
estiiates on agzumptions we belisve to be reasonabla at the tie, but such assumytions are subject to inherent uncerininty. Changes in market conditions or other factots outside
of curcontrol, such as a worsening of expected impaet of OOVID-19, could cavse s to chenge key assunptions and our jodgment about a reporting onit's prospects. Similasly, in
2 specific period, o repotting wnit could significantly underperform relative to its historical or projected future operating results. Bither situation could result v a meaningiully
diffrent estimate of the fair value of var reporting units, and a consequent fiture impaiment charge.

Thete have been no impainments to goodwill in any of the periods presented. Sa¢ Note 4, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” for additional infornation.
Other Iniangible Assets

We troke judgments about the recoverability of purchased intangible asacts othet than goodwill whenever events or changes in eircumstances indicate that an itepafment may
exist. Custoter base and asquired software eacl: conprise approxinately half of our purchased intangible assets other than goodwill, We review our customer tumnover cach year
for indications of mpairment. Cur customer tumover has istoreally been very low. I ndications of impaitent are detenmined to exist, we measure the recoverability ofassets by
& comparison of the carrying amownt of the usset Lo the estimsted undiseoumted fisture cash flows expected to be genemted by the asset. Ifthe carrying amount of the assots
suosads their estimated frture cash flows, an impairment charge is recognizzd for the amount by which the carrying smount of the pssets exceeds the fair valug of the assets. There
have bsen no impainrents ofintangible assets in any ofthe periods presented.

IMPAIRMENT (3F LONG-LIVED ASSETS

We periodically evahate whether current ficts ot cireumstances indicate that the camymg value of our property and equipment or other long-lived assets to be held and used may
ot be recoverable, IFsuch eitoumstances are determined to exist, we measure the reeoverability of assets (o be held und used by a comparison of the carying amount of the asset
o upproprinte grouping of assets and the extivated undiscounted future cash flows expested to b generated by the assets. Ifthe camying stount of the assets exseeds their
estimated fisture cash flows, an impaiorent charge i recognized for the amount by which the canrying amount of the assets exeeeds the fair value ofthe assets. There was no
irpainnent of long-lived assets m any ofthe periods presented.

COSTS OF COMPUTER SOFTWARE

We capitalize software development costs wpon the estsblishneni of lechnelogical feasibility and prior to the availability of the product for genenl release to cnstemers for
software sold to third parties and for application development ¢osts of sofiware developed for istematuse. Software development costs primarily consist of personnel eosta and
tent for related offive epace, Duriag the twelve wonths period ended Decetber 21, 2021 and 2020, respectively, wa capitalized approxitately $21,7 multion and 53.8 mittion of
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sofiware developnent costs, We begin to amortize capitalized costs when a product is available for general relense to custormers and intemal use software is ready for its intended
use, Amortimtion expense is detemmined on a product-by-product basis at o mte not less than straight-line basis over the software's remaining estinated economic life of,
generally, five years., Amortization of sofiware development costa was approximetely $2.3 million in 2021, $1.2 rrdlion in 2020, and $0.3 million in 2019, and is included in cost of
goftware livense revenue in the acoonpanying consolidated stoternents of comprehensive income.

CONTINGENT PURCHASE QONSIDERATION

Contingent fitnre cash payments related to acquisitions are recognized at falr value as ofthe aequisition date and inchid=d in the determination of the acquisition date purchase
price, Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent fature cash payments are recognized in eamings in the perind that the change ccours. Wa have no contingent
congideration outstanding as of Decenber 31, 2021,

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Pinancial instraments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principelly of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable fom trade
cugtomers, and investments in marketable securities. Our cash and cash equivalents primavily consist of eperating account balances and monsy tiarket fands, which are nuintained
at several nnjor domestic fmaneial institutions and the balances often exceed insured anwunts. As of Decender 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $309.2 million. We
petform perlodic evaluations of the credit standing ofthese financial institutions,

Concentrations of credit tisk with respect to receivables are imited dus to the size and geographical diversity of our customer bage, Historically, our credit losses have not been
significant, As a result, we do not believe we have any significant concentrations of credit risk as of Decender 31, 2021,

We maintain allowances forlosses and sales adiustments, which Jasses are recorded against revenue at the time the Joss is Incurred. Sioe most of our costomers are domestic
govemental entities, we mrely incur 4 loss resulting fom the inability of n customer to make required psymenis, Events or changes in circumrstances that indicate the carrying
amount for the allowances for losses and sales adjustments may require revision mclude, but are not Lirited to, failure to manags our customer's expectations regarding the scope
ofthe services Lo be delivered, and defects or errors in new vemsions or enhancewents of our software products.

LEASES

We detenmine if an arrangenent is a lease at inception, Operating leases ore inclnded i operating lease right-of-use ("ROU™) assets, und operating lease linbilities, cutrent and
long-term, on our consolidated balance sheets. We currently do not have any finance lease atangenents.

Qpemting lease ROU assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the fiuture minimum lcase payments over the lease temat comnencement
date. As most of our leases do not provide an fmplicit rate, we use our increnental borrowing rate based on the information available af commencement date of the lease in
determining the prepent value of future payments . The operating lease ROU asset also includes 2ny lease payments made and exclndes lease incentives and initial direct costs
mourred, Ourlease terms may include options to extend orterminate the Jease when it is reasonably certain that we will exorcise that option, Lease expense for mininmm lease
payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the Jease tenm. Leages with an initial tenm of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet; we recopnize lease
expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are generally accounted for as a single
leass component,

INDEMNIFICATION

Most of our software license agreements indenmify our customers in the avent that the software sold mfiinges upon the intellactual property rights of a third-paty. These
agreements typically provide that in such event we will ither modify or replace the software so that it becomes non-infringing or procure for the customer the right to nge the
software, We havs recorded no lability associated with these indernifications, as we are not aware of any peading or threatened inflingervent actions that are possible losses. We
belisve the estimated fair value of these intellectnal property indermification clauses is raininal

We have also agreed to indetmify our officers and board menibers if they ate named ot threatenied to be pamed as a party to any proceeding by eason of the fack that they acted in
such capacity. We maintain directors” and officers’ liability msusance coverage to pretect against any such losses, We have recorded no linbility associated with these
indenmifications. Because of our insurance coverge, we believe the egtimated fair value ofthese indemmification agreements is minjmal.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conformto the cumrent year presentation.
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RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCCRINTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In August 2020, the FASB ksued Accounting Standards Update (" ASU") 2020-06 - Dbt with Conversion and Other Cptions {Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging —
Centracts in Bntity 's Own Eguity (Subtopic 815-40): Acconnting for Convertible Instruments and Contracis in an Earity's Own Equity (' ASU 2020-06™), which simplifics the
acconting for convertible instrumzmis by rewoving the sepuration mwodels for (1) convertible delyt with a cash conversion feature and {2) convertible mstruments with u beneficia)
sonvetsion fature. As a result, 2 convertible debt inatrusment will be accoumnted fir a5 & single lishility measured at 9 amortized cost. These changes will reduce tepotted interest
expense and nerease reported net incotne for entities that have issued a convertible instrumeni that was bifircated according te previously exitting s, ASU 2020-06 also
seqquires the application ofthe H-converted methad for calonlating diluted eamings per shave and the treasury stock method will be 110 longer available, This standard wiltbe
effective for the Cormeany’s fiscal years beginning in the firat quarter 0f 2022, with eazly adoption permitted, The Conpany has slected to sarly adopt this standard as of January 1,
2021. Our accounting and disclosaes related to our Convertible Senior Notes issned on Maxoh 9, 2021, reflect the raquirements of this standard, For further informmtion, please
refer to Nots 6, "Debt”

I Decerrber 2019, the FASE issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifving the Acoounting jor Invome Taxes, (' ASU2019-127) which sinplifics the accounting for income taxes, elnsoates
certain exceptions within ASC 740, Jncowne Taxes, and clarifies certnin aspects of the cursnt guidance to promote consistency among reporting entities, The new standard i
effective for Aiscal years beginning after Decenmber 15, 2020, We adopted ASU 2019.12 us of Janoary 1, 2021. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our
consolidated finaneial statements,

NEW ACOCUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

e October 2021, the FASE issued ASU 2021.08 - Aecownting for Confract dssats and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers (AST 805)(" ASU 2021-08"). ASU 2021
D8 requires an acquher in 2 business combination to recognize and measure contract usyets and contiact liabilities {detered revenue) fomacquired contracts using the revenve
Tecoghition guidance in Topic 606. Undet this "Topic 605 approach,” the acquirer appliss the ravenue modelas if it had originated the contizcts. This is a departure fomthe
cumrent requirement to teasure contract assets and contract lisbilities at fair value, ASU 202108 is effective for all public business entities in annual and Hserimperiods staring
afier Decendber 15, 2022, and early adoption is permitted. We early adopted ag of Jannary 1, 2022, Adopiing this standard could hava u meterial #npact on revenye assoclated with
ah acquired basiness.

¢ ACQUISITIONS
2L

On September 9, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Ultinate Infornmtion Systoms, Inc. (dba A, Azxis a cloud-baged platform which creates accessible teehnology to
enable & modern—day police furce that f» fily transparent, accountable, and a trusted resource to the commmnity it serves, The total purchase price, net of cash acquired, was
approximately $12.8 million, of which $12.4 million was paid in cagh and approximately $0.5 wmiltion was acerued for indenmity holdbacka, subject to certain post-closing
adjustnents.

O September 1, 2021, we nequired VendEngine, Ine. (VendFagine) as contenplated by the Agreement and Plon of Merger dated June 3, 2021. As result of the merger, VendBagine
bocane a direct subskbary of the Company. VendEngine is 2 cloud-based sofiware provider focused on financis! techaology for the coections market. The total purchase price,
net ofcash acquired of $1,7 nillion, was approximately $43.8 million, consisting of $80.2 million paid in cash, and approximately §5.4 million related to indenmity holdbacks, subject
to certain post-closing admstnents. :

Tn connection with this transaction, we sequired total tangidle assets of 5.8 milion and assumed lisbiities of approxinately §3.0 million. We secorded goodwill of approximately
$54.5 million, nene of which is expected to be dednetible for taxpurposes, and other identifinble intangible assets of approxmately $37.9 nillion. The 5379 nallion of intangibls
assets ans attributsble to customer reletionships, acquinsd software, and trade nesre and will be amortized over 2 weighted average period of approximately 16 years, We recorded
not deferred tax Babilitics of §9.5 nilion related to the tax effect of our estinmted fair valne allocations. In the twelve months ended Decensber 31, we recorded adjustments to the
preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to & decrease 10 accounts receivable, accounts payable, deferred income taxes, and an adjus traend to the acerasl for indemnity
fioldbacks and increases in identifabl intangible assets and acorued expenses resulting in & uet decrease to goodwill of approximately $4.2 million,

VendEngine provides a suite of financial and cormumications applications mngiag fom deposit technologies for comrissary, ordering, and warchouse technology 1o a host of
informationa), electronic commmmnications, seeurity, sccounting, und fnancial st management corponents for mote than 300 comsctional facilities across 32 states and the
Carhhean, Therefore, the goodwill of approsarataly $54.5 willlion axising fromthis acquisition is prinesly attdbuted to our ability to generate mcreased revenues, cardngs and cash
flow by expanding our addressabje market and client base.
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On Apnil 21, 2021 (the "Closing Date™), we acquired NICas eontemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated Febmary 9, 2021, As result of the merger, NIChecame a
direct subsidiary of the Company and NIC's subsidiaries becate inditect subsidiaries. NIC iz a leading digital govemment sohitions and payment company thet primarily serves
federal and state govemment agetcies. The fotal purchase price, net of cash acquired of $33 1.8 willion, was approximately 52,0 billion, eonsisting of cash paid of $2.3 billien and
$1.9million of purchase consideration related fo the conversion of unvested resirioted stock awards.

We have performed a preliminary velnation analysis of the falr market value of NEC's assets and liabilities. The following fable surmmarizzs the preliminary allocation of the
putchase price as of the acquisition date:

a7

L4686
(150,099)
DR (o k)
{11,103}

In conneetion with this transaetion, we acquired totsl tangible assets of $515.3 million and assumed Yabilties of approximately $228.0 million, We recorded goodwill of
approximately $1.4 billion, none ofwhich i expected to be deductible for tax purposes, and other identiflable intangible assets of approximately $777.0 million, The $777.0 milion of
intengible assets sre attributabls to customer relationships, acquired sofiware, and trade nate and will be amortized over a weighted averge period ofapproximately 17 yeam. We
recorded net deferred tax liabifitics of $190.6 million related to the tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations. In the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we recorded
adjostments to the preliminary opening balance sheet attributed 10 a decrease to accounis receivable and increases in identifiable infangible assets, deferred revenue ond roloted
defened faxes resulting in 2 net decrease to goadwill of approsimeiely $17.2 million,

NICdelivers user-friendly digital services that make it easierand more efficient for citizens and businesses to interact with govemment providing valuable conveniences like
applying for unemployment insusance, submitting businesa filings, renewing licenses, aocessing information and raking secure payments without visiting a government office, Tn
addition, NIC kas extensive expertise and scale in the government payrents erena which will accelerate our strategic payments initiatives, Therefore, the goodwill of approximmtely
$1.4 billion arising fromthis acquisition is primerily attributed to our abilify to generate increased revennes, camings and cash flow by expanding our addressable maret and client
base.
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The following unaudited pro forma consolidsted aperating results information has been prepared as if the acquisition ofNIC had occurred on January f, 2020, after giving effect to
certain adjustments, nchiding amortization of intangibles, interest, transaction cvsta, and taxefects.

Years Ended Decenrber 31,
1 3030
Seveniar ; T 148,802 8 e L STRELT
MNetineome =~ $ 161448 %
Blsic cotinigs per dire. :: 8 i L
Diluted sarningg per share 3 332

The pro forma information sbove does not inchide acquisitions that are not considered material to our resulis of aperations, The pro forrs informtion does not purport to
represent what our tesults of operations actually would have been had such tranaaction occurred on the date specified orto project ovrresults ol operations for any fature period.

On March 31, 2021, we zequired all the equity interest of (Iass Are, Tnc. (dba ReadySub). ReadySub s a cloud-based platform that nssists school disiriets with absence tracking,
filling substitute teacher assignments, and automating sssential payroll proces ses. The total cash price was approxipately $6.2 million, net of cash acquired.

On March 31, 2021, we acquired substantially a8 asaets of DataSper, Inc, (DataSpec), a provider of a SaaS solution that allows for secure electronic clims submission to the federal
Department of Veterans Affuirs and reporting capabiliies, in addition to scheduling, culendaring, and payments. The total cash purchase price was approximately §5.8 million.

The operating resalts of Arx, DataSpec, ReadySub, and VendEnging are mcluded with the operting results ofthe Enterprise Software segment since their date of acquisition. The
inpact of the Ars, DataSpec, ReadySub, and VendEnging acquisitions, individually and in the aggregate, on our opemting resulis, assets and Babilities & not material The
opemting results of NIC arc disclosed separately as a reporteble segnent. Revenues fromMNIC ichided in Tylers resulis of operations totaled approxinately $368.9 willion and net
incoms was approsirately $37.2 ndllion fromthe date of acquisition through December 31, 2021, In 2021, we incurced fees of approximately $23.3 million for fmancial advisory, kegal,
accounting, due dilizence, valuation and other various services necessary to complete these acquisitions, The Company also menrred 51,6 million of expense related to a
separation agreement with NICs former Chief Bxecutive Offier. These costs wete expensed in 2021 and are inchyded in sefting, general and adminlstmtive expenses in the
accompanying condenged eonsolidated statenents of incoure.

As of Decenber 31, 2021, the purchase price allocations for DaiaSpec and Ready Sub ave conmpiete, while the purchass price aliocations for Arx, NIC, and VendEngine are
substantially complete; therefore, certain preliminary valuation estimates of fair value assunsd at the sequisition date for miangible assets, seceivables, defermed revenue and
related deferred taxes are subject to change as valuations are finelized. Our balence sheet a5 of Decerber 31, 2021, reflects the allocation of the purchase price to the net assels
aoguired basad on their estimated fafr value at the date ofeach acquisition, The fiuir value of the assets and liabilities acquired are based on valoations using Level 3, unobservable
inputs that are supported by Httle orna market activity and thet are significant to the far value of the assots ar liabilities.

2020

No acquisitions ocentred in 2020,



)} PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET AND SOFTW ARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS, NET

Property and equipment, net consists of the following at Deoender 31:

Buldiug anr.l]ﬂmhnl nnprovemmts
cegipt

Pmpensr andequpmmt.

Depreciation expense wag $20.4 million in 2021, $25.5 million in 2020, and $23.4 million in 2019.
We paid $12.8 million and $9.9 million for real estate and the expansion of existing buildings in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Software development costs, net consists of the following at Decencher 31:

Usefld
Lives
(years) 202} 2020
..... SEUELAEEERLG T N A ST 0,58
(3.785) {1460)
""" 489 121

Amotization expense for capitalized software development costy is recorded fo cost ofrevenues, Amortization expense for sofiware davelopment costs was $2.3 million in 2021,

$1.2 million in 2020, and $296,000 in 2019,

Bstirmted annual amontization expense related to capitatized sofitware development costs:

2022
2023
b2 BN
2025

Th;i"?“ﬂi’”

g 3442
3,285

2,501

14,710

a2z




@ GOODWILL AND OTHFR INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the two yeats ended Decerher 31, 2021 aee as follows:

Enkerprise praisal
.............. ) Sofivare 'lgdrnx
Balance a4 6f12/31/2019° SR e85 TTREE P
-{1,680% —
TR 14,168
$4456 Tl s
19922 -
§9R638 '8 o :
Total other intangibles, net b 1052493 § 322,088

Amnttization expense for acquired softwase is recorded to cast of ravenues, Amortkation sxpanse for customer relationships and trade names are recorded to selling, general and
adiinistrative expenses. Amostizition expense related o acquired leases 3 recorded as a reduction to hardware and other revenue. Total amostization expense for other intangbles
was $90.8 million n 202, $53.9-miltion in 2020, and 352.5 milkon in 2019,

The amortiztion periods of other intangible assets s sunuvagized in the following table:

Decernber 31, 2021 December 31, 2620
'Vxeimad \Xeigﬂbd
VerH, virage
Anmrhzagizmn Amortization
eriod Period
$ 235067 — — % mea28
ifitdngibles - F, : i R i T W A E N PRI M e S i TR SO
_Cistomet related intanpfbles 949,844 21 years 3 157,077 % 322,619
. Abgdrdd software 0 433,800 | TYEL. E 11X L) URRERERE T o ' S
Trude Temes 45,353 16 years L 130et 22,905
o Lemsesaegaired T 0 S -1 Dyears ©U 2049 5037
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Estimated annual amortization expense related to other infangibles incladed in the table below:

&) ACCRUED LYABIITIFES
Acorued labilities consist of the following at Decenther 31:

6) Debt
2021 Credit Agreement

In connection with the conpletion of the acquisition of NI, on the Closing Date the Company, as bomower, entered into a new $1.4 billion Credit A greement (the "2021 Credit
Agreement”) with the varlous lenders party thereto and Welly Fargo Bank, Natlonat Associntion, s Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender, and Issuing Lender. The 2021 Credit
Agreement provides for (1) n senior unsecured revolving credit facility in o0 aggregate principal amount ofup to $500 nillior, including sub-facilities for standby letters of eredit
and swingline loans {the "Revalving Credit Pacility”), (2) an amortizing five-year termioan in the aggregate amount of 3600 nillion (the "TermLoan A-17), and (3) a noti-amortizing
three-year tetmloa in the aggregate amount of $300 million (the "TermLoan A-2") and, together (the "Term Loans™), The 2021 Credit Agroement matures on Apel 20, 2026, and
the louns may be prepaid at any time, without premium or penalty, subject to certain mnimmamounts and payment of any LIBOR breakage costs. In addition to the required
amnrtization payments on the Term Loan A-1 of 5% annually, certain mandatory quatterly prepayments of the Term Loans and the Revolving Crediz Facility will be required (i)
upon the issuanca or incurtence of additional debt not otherwise permitted under the 2021 Credit Agreement and (i) upon the occumrence of cettain asset sales and hsurance and
condemmation meoveries, subject to certsin thresholds, baskets, and reinvestment provisions a3 provided in the 2021 Credit Agreement,

Bowowings under the Revolving Credit Pacility and the TermLoan A-1 bear inferest, at the Conpaity's option, at a per annurarate of either (1) the Administrative Agont’s prime
commercial lending rate {subject to certain higher mte deterndnations) (the "Base Rate™) plus a margin of 0,125% 10 0.75% or (2) the otte-, three-, ai%, or, subject to approval by alt
lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plue & margin of 1.125% ta 1.75%. The TenmLoan A-2 boars interest, at the Company®s option, at  per annumate of either {1) the Base Rate
plus a margin of 0% to 0.5% or (2) the one-, three-, or six,, o1, subject to appravai by nll lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 0.875% to 1.5%. The moargin in each case
is based upon the Conpany’s fofal net leverage vativ, as determined pursnant to the 2021 Credit Agreenent. The 2021 Credit Agreenent has custonmry benchmark replacement
language with respect to the replacement of LIBOR once LIBOR becomes unavailable. In addition to paying inferest on the cutstanding principal of loans under the Revolving
Credit Facility, the Company is required to pay a commilment fee on the average daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility, initially 0.25% per atmum, ranging from
0.15% to 0.3% bas ed upon the Company s tota] net leverape mtio,
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The net proceeds from fhe boriowings under the 2021 Cradit Agreenment were $1.1 billion, net of debt discounts of 7.2 million and debt issuance costs of 4.8 million and 5.4
million of commitment fees prid related to the terminated §1.6bilkan unsecured bridge loan facility, On the Clostng Date, the Company paid approximately $2.3 billion in cash for the
purchese of KIC. The Term Loans of $500 million and a portion ofthe proceeds of the Revolving Credit Facility, in the amouint of $250 million, together with cash available to the
Compeny of $609 million and the net proceeds of its Convertible Senior Notes of 2504 million, were used to corplete the acquisition and pay fees and expenses in conmection with
the acquisition and the 2021 Credit Agreement. The temaining pertion ofthe Revolving Credit Facility may be used for working capital requiremments, acquisitions, and capital
expenditures ofthe Company and fis subsidiaries.

The 2021 Credit Agreement requites us to maintein certain financial mtios and other financial conditions and prohibits us fromrmking cestain investments, advances, cash
dividends or loans, end limits incurrence of additional indebtedness and liens. Ay of Decomrber 31, 2021, we were in compliance with those covenants,

The following table sumnmrizes the Conpany's tofal outstanding borowings related to the 2021 Credit Agreement (in thousands):

ReoNing Gt Bty T R e e
‘Tetm Loan Al
i Lo AZs el T

‘otal borrowings wnder the 2021 Credit Agreement

s ot izt et dsootnt i b smsnce costé elatol o termi by 1

The canrying atoount e the par value of the Revolving Credit Facility and TermLoans less the debt discount and debt lssuance costs that are amortized to inferest expense using
the effective nterest method aver the terms of the Fenn Loans. Interest expense is inchudad it the acconpanying condensed congolidated statements of income.

The effective interest rate for the bormowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement is 1.84% as of Devertber 31, 2021 The following sets forth the interest expense recognized related to
the bomrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement included in inferest expenss in the accotnpanying condensed consolidated statements of income (in thousands).

For the vear ended
o . 2021
it S expense £ Revolving (redit Fatility Tt 6L
Contractual inferest expense - Term Loans (3,341)
epchizaniin ot b Wscou dnd debr sdlendivegs T T N Sprdnioeia e (0BA0Y
Total 5 ) (12,301}

As of December 31, 2021, we had no outstanding bomowings under the 2021 Revolving Credit Faeility, and our availsble borrowing capacity was $500.0 million. Tn addition, as of
Decenber 31, 2021, we had one outstanding standalone lefter of credit totaling $2.0 rallion. The letter of credit, which guarantees our perfommance under p client contmet, renews
antontically annually unless cancelod in weiting, and expires in the third quarter of2026.
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Terninated Debt Agreements

The 2021 Credit Agreement replaces and temuinates the Company's previous $44(.0 million credit facility pursuant to the Credit Agreement dated as of Septender 30, 2019 (the
"2019 Credit Agreement”). The Company's previonsly announced commitment from Goldrman Sachs Bank USA fora $1.6 billion 364-day senior ungecured bridge loan facility alio
tencinated on the Closing Date. The following summarizes the interest expense and telated amortization of debt issuance costs associated with the terminated debt agreements
incurred throngh the Closing Date, included in interest expense in the accorpanying condensed consolidated staterments of mcone (in thousands),

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 ) 2019

Convertible Senior Notes due 2026

On March 9, 2021, we issmed 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 in the aggregate principal amount of $600.0 million (*the Convertible Senior Notes” or “the Notes”), The
Convertible Senior Notes were issued puisuant to, and ate govemed by, an indenture (the "Indenture™), dated as of March 9, 2021, with U.S. Bank National Assaciation, as trustes,
The net proceeds ffomthe ssuance of the Convertible Senior Notes were $391.4 million, net of initiol purchasers’ discounts of $6.0 milion and debt issnance eosts of $2.6 million.

The Convertible Senior Notes are senior, unsecured obligations and are (i) equal in dght of paynent with our fsture senior, unsecured indebledness; (i) senior in right of payment
to our fitture indebtedness that is expressly subortinated to the Notes: (jii) effectively suboydinated to our fisture secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the collateral
securing that indebtedness; and {iv) strueturally subordinated 4o all fature indebtedness and other linbilities, including frade payables, and {to the extent we erc not a holder
thereaf) preferred equity, if any, of our subsidiaries.

Tha Convertible Senior Notes accrue interest at a rate of 0.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arvears on March 15 and September 15 of each year, beginning on
September 15, 2023, The Convertible Senior Notes mature on March 15, 2026, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted.

Before September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Seror Notes have the sght ta convett their Convertible Senior Notes only upon the occurrence of certain events, Underthe
tems of indenture, the Convertible Senior Notes are convertble into coromon stock of Tyler Technologies, Ine. (refered to as "our common stock” herein) at the following tirnes or
circutsstances:

«  during any calendar quarter conwicencing after tha calendar quarter ended June 30, 2021, if the last reported pale price per share of our common stock exceeds 130% ofthe
conversion piice for cach of at keast 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and inchiding, the last ading day of
the knmediately preceding cakendar quarter;

+  duzing the five consecutive bugiress days immediately after any five consecutive trading day period (such five consecniive trading day perind, the "Measurement
Periad™) if the teading price per $1,000 principal amount of Convertitle Senfor Notes, as determined following a request by their holder in accordance with the procedures
in the indenture, for each tmding day of the Measurerent Period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price per share of our common stock on such
trading day and the conversion rate en such trading day;

+  upon the occurrence of certain cotporate evenis or distributions on our cominen stock, neluding but not limited to a "Fundamental Change” (25 defined in the Indenture);
+  upon the cceurrence of specified corporate events; or
+  on orafier Septerber 15, 2025, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, March 15, 2026,

With certain eeptions, upon a change of control or other findamental change (both as defined in the indenture poveming the Convertible Senior Motes), the holders ofthe
Convertible Senior Notes nuy require us to repurchase all or part of the principal ameunt of the Convertible Senior Notes a1 a repurchase price equalto 100% of the principal
amount of the Convertible Seaior Notes, plus any accmied and unpaid interest to, but exchading, the redemption date,

As of December 31, 2021, none of the conditions allowing holders of the Convertible Senior Notes to cenvert have been met,
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Fromund fncluding September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes may convert their Convertible Senior Notes at any time at their slection wntil the closs of business
an the second scheduled trading day inmediately before the maturity date. We will saftls any conversions of the Convertible Senlos Notes either entirely fa cash orina
combination of cash and shares of common stoek, at our election. However, upon conversion of any Converible Senior Notes, the conversion value, which will be determined over
an "Observation Period” (a5 defined in the Indenture) consisting of 20 trading days, will be paid in cash up to at least the prineipal amount of the Notes being converted.

The initial conversion rate iz 2.0266 shazes of common stock per $1,000 prineipal amount of Convertible Senior Notes, which represents an initial conversion prico of approxinutely
$493.44 per share of corron stock. The conversion rafe and conversion price will bie subject to adjustment upon the occnmrence of certain evonts, I addition, if cortain comporate
events that conatiute a "Make-Whole Fandamental Change" (as defined in the Indeature) occur, then the conversion rate will, in eertain cireumsiances, be increased fora
specified period oftime.

The Convestible Semior Nutes are redeernable, it whole or in part, at our option at any time, and fom time to time, on or after March 13, 2026 and on or before the 30th scheduled
trading day immediately befors the meturity date, at a cash redetrption price equal to the princips] amount of the MNotes to be redesmed, plus acerred and unpaid interest, if any, up
to, but exchuding, the redemption date, but only if the It reported sale price per share of out carmmon stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price of the Notes on (i) each of at
\east 20 trading days, whether or ot consesutive, during the 3¢ consecutive trading days ending on, and inelnding, the trading day immediately before the date we send the
related redemption notice; and () the trading day inmedistely before the date we send such notice. n addition, calling sny Note for redenption constitutes 3 Make-Whole
Fundamental Change with respect to thal Note, in which case the convarsion rate applicable to the conversion of that Note will be increased in certain eirennstances if'it is
converted after # is called for redemption.

The net catrying valne of the Convertible Senior Notes, net ot unanmrtized debi discoumnt and unamortized debt issuance costs were as follows (in thousands):

Decernber 31, 2021
T GO0

{1357

392705

The camying amount is the par value of the Convertitle Senior Notes less the debit discount and debt lssuance costs that ate aroizd to interest expense using the effective

interest method overthe tenmofthe Convertible Senjor Notes. Interest expense is inchuded in the socconpanying condensed consolidated statements of aeore, The fair value of
the Convertihle Senjor Notes is determined based on quoted markst prices for a similar Bability when traded as an asaet in an actjve nmarkat, a Level 2 input.

As of Decerdier 31, 2001, the effective interest rate as for the Convertible Senior Notes is 0.53%, The following sets forth the interest expense recognized related to the Convertible
Senior Notes {in thouaands):

For the year ended
2021
A
{1,382}
(S90E

We paid interest of $17.7 nillion in 2021, inchding $6.4 million related to the senior unsecured bridge loan facility cyimmitnent fees, 30,6 million i 2020, and $1.8 million in 2012,
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As of December 31, 2021, the requived annual matutities telated to the 202¢ Credit Agreement and the Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 were as follows (in thousands);

Year

2027 A
B

28

Total requived maturitics 3

M FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defmed o5 the price that would be received to scll an asset crpaid to tmnsfer a liability in an orderly transaction between markst participants at the measurement date
in the principal or most advantageous market for that agset or liability, Cuidance on fir value measurements and disclosures establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of
inputs used in imeasuring fair value defined as follows:

*  Level I—inputs are unadjnsted quoted prices that are nvailable in active markets for identical 2ssets or linbilities.

*  Level 2—Inputs include quated prices for sindlar assets and liabilities in active markets and quoted prices in non-active markets, inputs other then quoted prices that are
observable, and inputs that are not divectly observable, but aws comoborated by ebservable mmket data.

*  Level 3—Inputs that are umebservable and ate supported by little or no market activity and reflect the use of signifisant management judgment,

The clssification of a tinencial asset or Hability within the hierarchy is detenmined based on the least reliable level of input that is significant to the fair valas measurement, Tn
determining fair volue, we wiilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable mputs to the extent possible. We also
consider the counierparty and our own non-performunce risk in our assessment of fir vate,

Assets that ave Measured at Fair Falwe on a Recurving Basis

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts reccivables, accounts payables, shont-termobligations and certain otherazsets at cost approximate fair value because of the short matusity of
these instruments.

As of Decenter 31, 2021, we have $58.7 nillion in invesiment grade corpomte bonds, municipal bonds and assst-backed securities with meturity dates ranging from 2022 through
2027. We believe cost approximates fair value because of the relatively short duration of these lavestroents. The fair values of these securities are considered Level 2as they are
based on inputs fromquoted prices in matkess that are not active or other observable mearket data. These nvestoents are presented at amortized cost and are included in short-term
investments end non-cunent mvestments in the accotpanying condenged consolidated balance sheeta. As of Decensber 31, 2021, we have an accrued interest receivable balance
of approximately $467,000 which is included in accounts teceivable, net. We do not measure an allowance for credit losgzes for accrued interest receivables as such loss would not
be material. We record any lpsses within the maturity petiod of the investment and any write-offs to accrued interest receivables are meorded as a raduction to interest incoms in
the period of the Ioss. During the twelve months ended Decenber 31, 2021, we have recorded no credit lnsses. Interost ineome and amottizatinn of discounts and premiums are
incinded in ather income, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. During the fourth quarter, Managemeni determined that our investment portfolio would no
longer be held fo matutity, The impact to the fnancial statenents in the current year is not matesal.

Assets that are Measured at Foir Value on a Nenvectirring Basis

Assgets that are Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecuning Basis. In 2020, we purehasod $10.0 pillion in common stock representing a 18% intetest in BFTR, LEC. The investment in
common stock is accounted under the equity method becanse we do not have the ability to exercise significant inflnence over the mvestee and the securities do not have readity
deteminable fair values, Our investment is carmied at coat less any impaiment write-downs. Periodically, our equity method invesinents are assessed for impaiment, We do net
reassess the fair value of equity method investments if there are no identified events or changes in circumstances that may have a gignificant adverse effect on the faie vaiue of the
investments. No events orchanges I ¢ireninstances have oceurred during the period that require reassesament. There kas been no inpaimment of our cost method investment for
the
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periods presented. This imvestment s included in non-cutvent fvestments and other agsets b the nccompanying consolidated balance sheets.

We assess geodwill for impairment annually on October 1. In additlon, we review goodwill, property and equipment, and other intangibles for inpeitment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value rray not be recoverable. During the fourth quarter of 2021, we conpleted our annoal assessment of goodwill which did not
result in an impainrent charge, Fusther, we identified no indicators of impairmeont to long-lived and other assets and therafore, no impaimuent was recorded as of and for the period

ended Decerdber 31, 2021,
Financlal instriments measuved at firke value only for disclosure priposes

The Birvalue of our bomowing under our 2021 Credit Agreement would approsimate book vaine as of Decender 31, 2021, bevause our interest rates roset spproximately every 30
days orless.

The fair valze of our Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 1s detenmined based on quoted market prices for o similir liability when traded as an asset in an active market, a Level2
input. See Note 6, "Debt,” for further digeussion.

Tl':w following table presents the fair value and earrying value, net, of the 2021 Credit Agreerment and our Convertible Notes due 2026, a3 of Decendber 31, 2021, end 2020 (in
thousands):

Fair Value at Decembor 31, Carrvinn Value of Decewber 31,
) o ] 202X 2020 2021 ) -]
Revolving Credit Facility )
T L AL T T L e e S8 sa3ts.
Lom A2 167,597 167,996
s Motes de 20267 e I AP SIAGBEY TS LB0RT65 ek A
$ . 1485174 & 153415276 3 —

)] INCOMETAX.

Tnoome tax (benefit) provision on income fomoperations consists of the following:

Years Fuded December 35,
2021 . 2020 2019
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The tax effects of the mmjor items recorded as deferred taxassets aund liabilities as of December 31 are:

(255 BT v o (06,766)
(12,279 (8,918)
16869y,
83,353)
£40,507,

~(2E7.641)
ADIR ORSY G ki

As of Decerrber 31, 2021, we had federalnet operating loss carryforwards of approximately $39.1 million, after-tax state net operating loss camyforwerds of approximately $2.5
million, and tax credit caryforwards of approximately 39.8 million. The federalnet operating lesa carryforwaed will begin to expire in 2032, if not utilized, and a portion of the state
net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards begin expiting in 2022, if not utilized.

‘The acquired carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation bt are expected to be realized. The valiation allowance disclosed in the table above was released in the cument year
as we detenmincd that it is mexe likely than not that all deferred taxassets will be realized, However, the amount of the defored tax asset considercd realizable could be adjusted in
the firture if estimates of reversing taxable tenporary differences are revised.

The following fable provides a reconciliation of the gross unrecognized taxbenefits fromuncertain taxpositions for the years ended December 31:

2021

2049

Phlde ot beginntng of year, ;1 - 2
Additions for tax pusmcms of' prmr yws

iﬁﬁiwi

Ackinom for tax posit

As of Decencber 31, 2021, $1.9 million of the unrecognized tax benefits are reflected as a decrease in deferred incomme taxes and $2.7 million are included in other long-term lisbilities
in our consolidated balnee sheets. The tetal amount ofunrecognized taxbenefis, net of fedem] income tax benefit of state taxes, if recognized, that would affect the effective tax
rate s $4,3 million a8 of December 31, 2021 and $1.9 million a3 of Decewher 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. It is reasonably possible that events will ocour during the next 12
months that weuld cause the total amount ofunrecognized tax benefits to increase or decrease. However, we do not expect such hicreases or decresses 1o be material to the
financial condition or results of operations.

We arc subject to 1.8, federalincome tax, as well as income taxof nmftiple state, local and foreign jurisdictions, We are routinely subject to iteome taxexaminations by these laxng
furisdictions, but we do not have a history of; nor do we expect, any nmaterial adjustreents as a result of these exanénations. With few exceptions, major U8, federal, state, local and
foreign junsdictions are no longer subject to exammation for years before 2017, As of Febiuary 23, 2022, no significant adjustments have been proposed by any laxing juris diction.
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We tecopnize interest and penalties refated to uncertain taxpositions a8 a conponent of income tax expense in the consolidated statements ofinconme. Accrmed interest and
penalty amounts were not significant at Becember 31, 2021,

We pakl income taxes, net of refimds received, of $2.2 willion in 2021, $3.3 milion n 2020, and $21.3 nzllion i 2019,

® SHAREHOLDERS' BOUNTY

The following table details activity in out conmon stock:

Years Bnded Drecember 31,
TR ol
. . (12,977
i plangruechaes. T 0T e e A N1 G
Restricted stock wnits vested net of withbeld shates upon award
settlement 147 (25,158) k5 {12,923} 33 (5,361)

As of Februaty 23, 2022, we had authoriztion fromour heard of directors to yepurchase up to 24 million additional shares of our common stock,

(10)  SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Shem-Based Commpsnsation Plap

In May 2618, stockholdess approved the Tyler Technologios, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan ("the 2018 Plan™) which amended and restated the existing Tyler Technologies, Ine.
2010 Stack Option Plan ("the 2010 Plan™}. Upon stockholder appraval of the 2018 Plun, the rermining shares available for grant under the 2010 Plan were added to the shares

authorized for grant under the 2018 Plan, Additionally, any awurds previously granted under the 2010 Plan that expire unexercised or are forfaited are added to the shares
authorized for grant under the 2018 Plan.

During fscal year 2021, we granted stoek swards under the 2018 Plan in the form of stock options, restricted stock units and performance share units, Steck options generally vest
siler theee to sixyears of continuous service from the date of groat ond have a contracteal termof 10 years. Onoo options becoms exencisable, the employes con purchase shares of
our vommon etackat the market price on the date we granted the option. Restricted stock unit grants generally veat ratably over thvee to five years of continuoug service fromthe
date of grant. Each performanes share unit represents the right to receive e shars of our conmmon stock based on our achievemant of certaln financial performence targets during
applicable performmce periods, We account for share-based conpensation wiilizing the fair value recognition pumsuant to ASCT18, Sieck Compensation.

Ag of Decerber 31, 2021, there were 1.9 million shares available for fittare grants nnder the 2018 Pian fromthe 22.9 million shates previously approved by the sharcholders.

Valuation and Amortization Method, We estimate the fir value ofstock option awards granted using the Black-Scholes option vatuation mndel, For testricted stock unit and
perfornance stock unit awards, we amortize the fir valie of all awards on 2 siwight-line basis over the requisite sorvice periods, which are generally the vesting periods,

Bipested Life, The cxpacted life of awards granted represents the period of fime that they are expected to be outstanding. The axpected life represents the weighted-average period
the stockoptions ars expecied to be cutstanding based primarly on the options’ vesting ters, rernnining contmetial life and the enployees’ expected excreise based on histosical
patters.

Expecied Volatility. Using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, we estimate the volatility of our common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of our
cotnmon stock

Risk-Froi Interest Rate, We bage the nsk-fee interest mte nsed in the Black-Scholes option valuation model on the implied yield cumently available on U.8. Treasury zero-coupon
fasues with an equivalent remaining term equal to the sxpested ks of the award.
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Bpected Dividend Yield. We have not paid any cash dividends on our conimon stock in more then ten years and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the
foresceable future, Consequently, we usc an expected dividend yield of zero in the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

Expected Forfeitures, We nse historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures. We record share-based eompensation only for those awards that are expected to vest.

The following weighted average assumptions were used for options granted:

Years Ended December 31,
2020

Share-Ba:

The followng table surmmarizes restricted stock unit and perfonnance stock unit sctivity during the periods presented (shares in thousands):

Weighted Average
Crant Date Fair
Muher of Shares Vale per Share

Tiivested ar Décbet 31, 2021

Options pranted, exercised, forfeited and expired are sumnmrized as follows:

bz Dectubes 31,2070 7

L 83T 84T
429,336

it Decembér 31,2000

AR Deotiber 31,2001 g
Exercisable at December 31, 2001 5

$

We had unvested options to purchase approximately 445,000 sheres with a weighted avernge grant date exerclse price of $203.84 as of Decentber 31, 2021, and unvested options to
purchase approximately 752,000 shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $231.93 as of Decenber 34, 2020,

Other information pertaining to option activity was as follows during the twelve months ended December 31:

. 2019
Waighted average grant-thte fair-valoe of siock options granted &L “5s T g 98,698
Total intrinsic value of stock optiens exercised § 292394 %
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The following table sumiarizes share-bazsed compensation expense related fo share-bused pwards which is recoxded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive incoms;

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 3010
=¥ 23T05 0 § IS S
81,021 49,240
B IOATAETE E

476751
ZSTOSL

As of December 31, 2021, we had $187.7 million of total unsecognized corpensation cost related to unvested options and restricted stock units, net of expected forfeitures, which is
expected to be amoriizd overa weighted average anwrtization peried of 3.0 years.

Eaployee Stock Puicheae Plan
Under our Employee Stock Purchase Plar: ("ESPP") patticipants may contribute up to 15% of their annval compensation to purchase common shares of Tyler, The purchase price

ofthe shares is equal to 85% of the closing price of Tyler shares on the last day of each guarierdy offering period. As of Decenber 31, 2021, there were 629,000 shares available for
fisture issuances under the ESPP from the 2.0 rillion shaves previously approved by the stockholdes,

(11)  EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic camings and diluted samings pershare datn were computed as follows:

basic l:ommn shammp:st_smﬁng
ion of diftiv fegy e T

Share-based awands representing the right to purchase common stock of 117,000 shares in 2021, 132,000 shares i 2020, and 633,000 shares in 2019 weye not incheded in the
computation of diluted eamings per shawe becanse thefr inclusion would have bad an anti-dilntive effect,

We have used the Feonverted method for calnlating any potentizl ditative cifect of e Convertible Senior Notes on our diluted net income per share. Under the if-converted
method, the Notes are assumed to be converted ot the beginning of the period and the resulting common shoves are mchuded in the denostinator of the dilated eamings pershare
calculation for the eniie period being prosented and interest expense, net of 183, weorded in connection with the Convertible Senior Motes i5 not added back to the numeratos, enly
in the periods in which such effect is dilutive, The approsimately 1.2 nilion renmining connwn shares related to the Notes are not included in the dilutive weighted-avernge
cotnmon shames outstanding calulation for the tweive months ended Decorgber 31, 2021, 13 their ellbot would be anti-difutive given none of the conversion features have been
trigpered. See Note 6, "Debt,” for diseussion on the conversion featires related to the Convertible Senior Notes.
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(12) LEASES

We leage office facilities foruse in our operations, as well as tansporiation and other equipiment, Most of our leases are non-cancelable opemting lease agreenwnts and they expire
in one year to 10 years, Some of these kases include options to extend forup ta 10 years. We had no finsnce leases and no related party lease agreements as of December 31, 2021,
Opemting lease costs were approximately $15,1 million in 2021, $10.2 million in 2020, and $9.9 willion i 2019,

The canponents of opetating lease expense were as follows (in thousands):

: YemsendadDecemberS]

As of December 31, ROU lgase assets and lease labilitles for our operating leases were recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as follows (in thousands):

2021 2020

mg]m“ﬁdmms. $ B

c:peratingleases, shm-term
Cpidiithy Teass fonp zerin
Total lease liabilitieg

Supplemental inforration related to Jeases is as follows:

For thevear ended For the vear ended
2021 plixly

l'.hshpaxdanmts mdubdmthe mcasirenent uflcase ilahdmﬂ;

Sernbig Ba i s D . . T roIy 1 k) A
x, RightZofaiee diers cbamed iy é¥chiangs fof ledse oblipations (oteash)y ;| oo Tl L e GETTIL TR e e
Operating Jeases _ . 0140 § o S8

ing Jeaké termi (yesrs) <
mejxtedwm discount rule

328%
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As of Decemiber 31, 2001, maturities of lease Habilities were as fhllows (n thousandsk

Year ending December 31,

Rental income fFom thivd parties

We own offics buildings in Bangor, Falmouth and Yarmouth, Maine; Lubbock and Plano, Tesms; Troy, Michigan; Lathan, New York; and Moraine, Ohio. We lease space in some
of these buildings to third-party tenants, The property we lease to others under operating leages congists primerily of specific facilities where onc tenant obtaing substantially all of
the cconomic benefit fromthe asset and has the right to direct the use of the asset, These non-cancelable leases expire between 2022 and 2027, and some have options to extend
the lease forup to 10 years, We detenmine if an amangensent is a lease at inception. None of oue leases allow the lesseo to putchage the leased asset.

Rental incoms from third-party tenants was $1.2 million in 2021, $1.{ million i 2020, snd $1.1 willion in 2019, Rental income s inchaded in hordware and other revenue on the
conselidated statements of comprehensive incotne. Fubire nfnimum operating rental income based on contractual agroements is as follows (in thousends):

As of Decersber 31, 2021, we had no additional significant aperating or finance Jeazes that had not yet corenced.

(13)  FMPLOYEE BENEFIT FLANS

We provide a defined contribution plan for the majority of our employess meeting minimim service requbesments, Hligible employees can contribute up to 30% of their current
compensation to the plan subjeet to certain statutory lindtations, We cantribute up to a mexinumof 3% of an errployee’s conpensation to the plan, We made contributions to the
plon and charged operating resuits $15.6 million in 2621, $12.7 mllion in 2020, and $11,5 million in 2019,

(14} COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Security Incident

As previously disclosed, we experienced s security incident in September 2020 (the "Incident”) involving mnsonmware disnupting sccess to sone of our milemal infomation
technalogy (IT) systems and telephone systens, A¥hough we believe we have contained and reeovered from the Incident, and that we have taken and will continue to take

uppropriate remediation steps, we ate suliject to risk and uncertainties as a result of the Fncident. There can be no assurance as to whot the ongoing fimpact of the Incident will be, i
any. We traintain cybersecurity itsurance coverage in an amount that we believe is adequate.

F-33



Litigation
There are no raterial legal procecdings pending te which we are party orto which any of eur properties are subject,

(15) SEGMVENT AND RELATED INFORMATION
We provide integrated information nenagetment solutions and services for tha public sector.
We provide our software systens and services and appraisal services through seven business units, which focus on the fllowing produets:

+  financial management, education and planning, regulatory and neintenance software solutions;
+  financisl menagement, nmnicipal cowts, planning, regulstory sud nrintehance s oftware solutions;

+ couns and justice and public safty software solutions;

» data and insights solrtions;

«  platormtechnologies solutions including case nanagerent and buginess menagement processing;

»  NIC digital govenmoent and payments solutions; and

+  appraisal and taxsoftware solutions, land and vital records nunagement software solutions, and propertty anpraisal services.

In accordamce with ASC280-10, Segment Reporting, we report our results in thres segments. The financial management, cducation and planning, regulatory and maintenance
soitware solutions unil; financial nunagement, municipal courts, planning, regulatory and maintenance s oftware solutions unit; courts and justice and public safety software
aolntions unit; data and insights solutions; and platformtechnolegies solutions meet the criteria for nggregation and are presented in the Fnterprise Software ("ES"} reportable
segment. The ES'segment provides publis sector entities with software systens and services to meet their information technology and automation needs for mission-critical "back-
office” firnetions such as: financial managerent and education, courts and justice, public safety, planning, regulatory and maintenance, data and insights, and platform
technologles pracesses. The Appraisal and Tax ("A&T") segient provides systems and sofiware thet automate the appraisal and assessment ofreal and personal property, land
and vital records management as well es provides property appraisal outsourcing services for local governments and taxing authorities, Property appraisal outsourcing services
inclade: the physical inspection of commereial and residential properties; data collection and processing; computer analysis for property valuation; preparation of taxrolls;
conmymnity education; and arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing judsdiction, On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, resulting in the addition of a new reportable segment,
as its operating results meet the criteria of a reportabie segment. The operating results of NIC are included with the operating results of the NIC segment from the date of
acquisition,

We evaluate performance based on severl factors, of which the primery finemcial measure is business segment operating income. We define segment operating income for our
Insiness units as inconw befors non-cash amortization of intangible assets associnied with thelr acquisitions, interest expense and income taxes. Segment opemting incoms
inclndes intercompany transactions, The majority of intercompany transactions refate to contracts mvolving more than one unit and are vaed Based on the contractual
arangement. Corporate segment operating income primarily consisis of compensation costs for the executive management team, certain shared services staff, and share-based
compensation expense for the entire company. Corporate segment aperating ncore also includes revenues and expenses related to a company-wide user conference, The
accounting policies of the reportable segments ara the same as those described in Note 1, "Sunmary of Significant Accounting Policies™.

Segment assets primarily consist of net accouats receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets and net property and equipment, and capitalized sofiware development
costs. Corporate assets prinarily consist of cash and investments, prepaid inswrance, intangibles associated with acquisitions, deferred income taxes and net property and
equipment mainly related to unallocated information and technology assets.

The ES segment capital expenditursy included $12.8 million in 2021 and $6.6 million in 2020 for the expansion of existing buildings and puschases of buildings, The A&T segnent
had no capital expenditures in 2021 and $3.3 miflion in 2020 for the expznsion of existing buildings, The NIC segment had no capital expenditures m 2021 for the expansion of
existing buildings.

Ag of January 1, 2021, certain administrative costs related fo mformation technology, which were previously allacated and reported in the ES and A&T segments, were moved to

the Corporate segment to teflect changes in the way in which menagement makes operating decisions, allocates resources, and ronages the growth and profitability of the
Coirpany, Pror year amounts for all segments have been adjusted to reflect the segment change.
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Far the year ended December 31, 2019
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(16} DISAGSREGATION OF REVENUE

The tables below show disaggregation of revenue into categories that mfleet how economic factors affect the nature, amount, {iming, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows.

Timing gf Revenue Recognition

Timing of revenue recognition by revenue category during the period is as follows:

December 31, 2021

Softvare licenses and royaltics

year bl Decomnber 31, 2020

Sofwre foenscsandroyaltis

Fur the year cuded Decerrber 31, 2019

| ‘Bardvare andothes .
Total

Produsts and servicestransferred  Prodocts and services transferred
at a point i time oyer tire Total

Products and services transferred  Prodicts and seyvices transferred
- at a point in time over time
Ky

el A e R RS R L L s TR0
3 79,831 1036832 § k){lﬁ.ﬁé&l
Products and servives Prodixts and services
teansferved at a point in time trnnsfq_redwu' time Total
5:; e . 100305
i L v 06,358
213,061
IS
23479
i TR [T Cr B 0TT
3 7.2 3 1,086,427
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Recuring Revenue

The majority of our reverme is comprised of recuming revenues fiommaintenance and subscriptions. Virtually all of our on-premises software clients contmet with us for
mmintenance and support, which provides us with a significant source ¢f recuning revenue. We generally provide maintenance and support for our on-premises clients voder
annval, or in some cases, multi-yeer confracts. The contract tems for subscription amangements rnge from one to 10'years but are typically contracted for inftia periods ofthree
to five years. Non.reeunring revenues are derivad fromall other revenue categories.

Recurting revenues and non-recurring revenues recognized during the period are as follows:

—
Software

Appraisal and Tax NIC Corporate Totals

T EASSIG s T L R TR T B R 5 125%021
25353 52,941 23,665 3,027 333,566
Total revenes T Limen § 125258 § F6E97 § (10961 § 1503387

For the year ended Decerber 31, 2020 Corpomte
e A s

n
YR T
(19.120) §  L116.663

Total vevennes
Euterprisa
Forthe yeareudedDecauberSl 2019 Software AppralmlandTax NIC
o Pl e R BT X i . SR T 77 e 1 ;
287,225 66276 25
NS00 L 206 OIS A96) 5

Total sevemes ) o S § @Al {30345 3 3 G260 8 1086437

(17 DEFERRFD REVENUE AND PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
Total deferred revenus, including long-term, by segment is as follows:

DeoemherSl 2021 Dmmhn-?:l 2020
. BEREE ] s it 422’742

Changes in total deferred revenue, including long-torm, were as follows:

2021
Mawofm S : Lo . R AN T S 0 AGHATR
Deferral of revenue o LTI T44
ReSopition of defaed revemsz - - Gl L T e L P T e L 2R 558
Ealmceatendofyaar ¥ 510,567

Transaction Frice Alocated to the Renutining Performance Obligations

The aggtegate amount of transaction price allocated to the remmining performance obligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized ("Backlog™), which
inchrdes deferred revenue and amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenus in future periads, Backlog as of Decorober 31, 2021 was $1.80billion, of which we expect {0
reco gaize approxivately 47% as revenue over the next 12 months and the repminder thereafter,
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(18y DEFERRED COMMISSIONS

Sales comnissions eamed by our sales force are considered increnental and recaverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer, Sales conunissions for initial contracts ore
deferred and then amoriized comurensurate with the recognltion of aesocinted revenue overa period ofbensfit that we have determined to be generally thrse to seven years.
Deforred commissions were $38.1 million and $32.3 million as of December 31, 2021 und 2020, respectively, Amoriizution expense was $134 nillion, §11.%millien, and $11,5 million for
the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, 7020, and 2019, respectively. Thers were no indicators of impatimtent fa relation to the costs capilalized for the periods presented.
Defered sommissions have been inclnded with prepaid expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Awortizition exponse related to deferred commissions is
inciuded in selling, general and administrative expenses i the acconpanying sonsolidated statements of comprehensive income,

(i9) SUBSEQUENT BEVENTS

On February & 2022, we acquited US eDirect Ine., a medket-leading provider of technology s olutions for campground and eutdoor recreation management, The totat purchase price
was approximately $123.1 million, of wiich $117.6 wilflan was paid in cash and approximately $5.5 million was accrusd for tndermmity hokibacks, subject to certain post-<losing

adjustirents.
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIARIES OF TYLER TECENOLOGIES, INC.
As of Febeuary 23, 2022

Allcorpomtions are subsidiaries of Tyler Technalogies and, ifindented, subsidiaries of the company under which they are listed.

Subsidaries . __ Organized Under the Laws of:

'I‘yler Appralsal &Tax Semcas ULC

NahonnlOnImeReg:stnes LIC

GMCchmLu-C ,- BRSO T D Y R e : T SEAD 3 i
NIC Services, LLC Colorado
NICBolitions, TEC -~ il 5 L e T T RS
N]CUSA,lnc

A Intéractive, FLO o0 ol A0 e
) Ad{ansah lnformatwn Oonsomum, LLC

~ Montana Interactive, 1L .
Nebmska Interactive LLC

" Mew Mexic(; I;l‘t'e.mctwe, g ‘
i MCHethcamSo]nhons,LLC LT T L
NIC Iowa, I.].C(ﬂm Towa Intemc'hve, LI.C)

Oilshomn
Jregon il ST T T T U Oregane
Pennsylvanm Interachve, Lc Pennsyivania




Exhibit21.1

Rhiode Islnd Tteragtive, LLC -1+ 0 e E T 0 S LRt TR Rbode Teland
South Carofina Intemotive, LLC ) South Glmlma
',Souihl)akohln, craciive, LG ) T L T
Texas NICLISA, LIC
“Uieh Itelactive LLE . e L

Washmgton
":’Ksmsas i
Kansag
: i BRSO : iR LI o Delaware
Socmta UKImﬂed B ] United Kingdom
AndEnglne Ing: 5 AT T e L B Wiggsea -

The nares of certain subsidiaries are ormited, as such subsidiades in the aggregate would not constitute u significant subsidiary,



Erhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incotporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Staiement (Form S-8 No. 333-225011) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Ine, 2018 Stock Option Plan,
(@) Registiation Statement (Form 5-8 No. 333-182318) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc, Enyployes Stock Purchase Plan;

of our reponts dated February 23, 2022, with respect to the consalidated financial statements of Tyler Technologies, Inc., and the effectiveness ofinternal control aver financial
reporiing of Tyler Technologies, Ine,, mcluded in ¢his Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Tyler Technologies, Ing. for the year ended Decenber 31, 2021.
s/ FRNST & YOUNGLIP

Dallas, Texas
February 23, 2022




Fahibit 311

CRRITFICATIONS

1, H, Lynn Moore, Jr, certify that:

L

2

Thave reviewed this annuel teport on Fom 10K of Tyler Technologies, Ine.;

Based on 1y knowiedge, this report does not contain any untrue statement ofa rraterial Tack ot ommit to state a materal fact necessary to make the statements wade, in light of
the circutretences under which such stafements were masde, not misleading with respect o the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the fnancial statorments, and other financiel informtion inchuded in thi ropon, fairly present in all materia) espeets the finaneial condition, results of
operations and cash Bows of the registrant ap of, and for, the petiods presented in this report;

The registrant's ather certifiying officer and [ arc responsible for establishing and smitaining diselosure contrels and procedures {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-13(2)
and 15d-15(e)) and intemal control over our financial reporting (a3 defined in Txchange Act Rules 132-15(f) and 15d-15(1)) for Tylex and have:

B

Designed such disclosure controls and procedutes of caused such disclosure controls and procedurss to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
aterial mformution relating to the egistrant, mcluding its divisions, is made known to us by others within those enfities, particuluody during the period in which
this report iz being prepared;

Degigned auch internal zontwol over financiul reporting, or caused such infernal comlm] over finsncial reporting to be designed nnder our supervision, to provide

reasonable assumance regarding the reliability of fimancial repotting and the prepatation of Fnancinl siatements for external puposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting princiles;

Tvaluated the effsctiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented i this report ourconciusions about the sffectivenesy ofthe
dsclosure coutrols and procedures, as of the end ofthe period covered by this report based on such evajuation; and

Disclosed in flis report any change in the registzant's itemal contral over financial reporting that oceurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter
(The regiatrant’s fourth quarter in the rese of an annual reposs) that has aterally affected, ot is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intemal
control over financial reporting; and

5, 'The registrant’s other certifying oficer and Lhave disclosed, based on our most recent evalyation of internal congrol over financial reporting, to the regisirant’s auditors and
the audil enminittes ofthe registrant's board of dicectors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a. Allsignificant deficiencizs and nuterial weakneases in the design or operation of mtemal controls over financisl reporting which: are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the regisirant’s ablity 1 record, process, sunenariaz and report financial information; and

b. Any frand, whether or not mater], that invelves nunagenent or other enployees who have s significant role in the regisirant’s intemal controls over financis!
eporting.

Date: February 23, 2022 Ry: 4/ B Lynn Moore, Jr.

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
Pragident and Chief Pxecutive Officer



Eshibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
1, Brian K. Miller, centify that:

L Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10K of Tyler Technologies, nc.;

2 Based onmy dmowledge, this report does not confain any uatrus staterrent of o nuterial fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statenents made, n light of
the circunstances under which such statements were rade, not misleading with respect to the petlod covered by this report;

3. Based onmy knewledge, the financial stateents, and other financial informmation included in this repott, fairdy prezent in all materisl respects the fnancial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the petiods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are tesponsible for establishing and raitaming disclosuse controls and procedures (ns defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c)
and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over our financial teporting (as defined in Bxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(D) for Tyler and have:

a Designed such disclosure conttols and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensuze that
matetial information relating to the registrant, inchuding its divisions, is made lmown to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such intemnal conirel over financial ceporting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reesonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial staterents for extemal purposes in accordance with generally
accepled accounting principles;

L3 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclesure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions abonut the effectiveness of the
diselosure controls and procedutes, as of the end of the period covered by this report baged on such svaluation; and

d Disclosed in this repott any change In the registrant’s internal contral over fmancial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiseal quarter
{The registrant’s fourth quarter In the case of an annual report) that has materially affecled, or is reasonably likely lo materially affect, the registrant’s intermal
contiol over financial reporting; and )

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and L have disclosed, besed on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over finanelal reporting, fo the regisitant’s anditars and
the audit conmittee of the tegistrant’s board of directers (or persons performing the equivalent imetion):

a. Allsignificant deficiencics and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely ta
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any frand, whether or aot maieriol, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s intesnal controls over finanelal
meporting.
Date: February 23, 2022 By: s/ Brian K. Millex
Brian K. Miller

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CPERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 806 OF THE SARBANES-ORLEY ACT OF 2002

H. Lynn Moore, Jt., Pregident and Chief Breoutive Officer of Tyler Technolagies, Inc,, {the *Company™) and Brian K. Miller, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
the Compaty, each certify pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxdey Act of2002, 18 US.C. Scction 1350, that:

1 The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section, 13(a) ar 15(d) of the Zecurities Exchange Act of 1934 ad amended; and
2 The information contained in the Report fuirly presents, in all material respets, the financial condithon and results of wperations of the Corporation,
Tate: Fehruary 23,2022 By: s/ H. Lymin Moore, Jr.
H.Lynn Moore, Jr.

President and Chief Erecative Officer
By: 8/ Brign K. Miller
Bran . Miller
Executive Vice Preaident and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this wellten statement required by Section 906 bas been provided to Tylor Technologies, Inv., and will be retained by Tyler Teshnologies, Inc. and fmnished to
the Securitizs and Exchange Comnisaion upon request,




UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K

X ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021
OR

0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 1-10485

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 75-2303920

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation (LR.S. employer

or organization) identification no.)
5101 Tennyson Parkway '
Plano, Texas 75024
{Address of prineipal exceutive offices) (Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, Including area code: (972) 7133704

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Name of each exchange

Title of each class Trading symbol on which rgm"s;gred
COMMON STOCK, $0.01 PAR VALUE TYL New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. Yes O mNo X

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act.  Yes [L] No X
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) hag filed all reports required to be tiled by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securitics
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required fo file such repotts), and (2) has

been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes X no O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinguent filer pursuant to ¥em 403 of Regulation 5-K is not contained heretn, and will not be
contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part HI of the
Form 10-K or any amendment to the Form 10-K.  Yes [ No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has subtzitied electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive
Data file required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation $-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period

that the registrant was required to submit and pogt such files). Yes X n O




Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an acueleraied filer, a non-necelerated filer, smaller reporting company,
or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer™, *accelerated filer”, "smaller reporting company”, and "emerging
erowth company® in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchangs Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer X Acgelerated Fiter 1

Non-nceelerated Filer (Do not check if smaller reporting
company) 0 Smaller Reporting Company 0

Emerging Growih Company id

Fan emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition
period for coraplying with any new or revised finencial acoounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a} of the
Exchange Act. ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company {as defined in Fule 12b-2 of the Act.) Yes O we X

Tndicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed 2 report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its
internal control over finaneial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Crxley Act (15 U.8.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting

firm that prepared or issued its audit repart Yes X No |

The aggregate market valve of fhe voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was $18,292 141,436 based on the repovted last sale price
of common stock on June 30, 2021, which is the last business day of the registeant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter.

The mumber of dhares of common stock of the registrant owtstanding on February 22, 2022 wag 41,348,917
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Certain information requited by Part IIT of this annual report is incorporated by reference from the registrant’s definitive proxy statesnent for its
annual meeting of stockholders to be held on May 12, 2022,

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

FORM L0-K
TABLE OF CONTENTS
PAGE

PART I
Mem i, Busingss 3
Ttem 1A, Risk Faclors 12
item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Conunents 21
Trem 2. Properiies 2L
fem3.  Legsl Progeedings 21
Hom4.  Submissionof Matters to 8 Voto of Seourity Hlolders 2l

PART
Hem 3. Market for Registrant’s Conmnon Suuity, Belated Stockholder Matters and Tssner Purchuses of Eyuity Seourities 22
Trem 6. Selected Financial Dats 23
Kem 7. Mapagement’s Diseussion md Analygis of Finpneial Condition and Resulis of Onerations 24

Fem 7A.  {uantitative and Cmalitative Disclosures abouot Markei Risk 40



Item3.  Fisanvigl Statements and Supplementary Data 40
Tiem 9. Changes in and Disagresments with Accountants on Accouniing and Finansial Disclosyee 41
Item 2A.  Controls and Prosedures 41
Iem 9B,  Other fuformation 41
PARY ¥
Ttem 10.  Diregtors, Bxecative Officers and Corpomte Qoyernanes 42
Rem 11, Exeewiive Compsnsation 42
Tom 12, Beeurity Ownership of Certain Rensficial Qrvvners sod Masagement and Related Stockbolder Matters 2
Item 13.  Certain Relationshioy and Related Tronsactions, and Ditector Indepsndence 42
Ttem 14.  Principdl Agcounting Foos snd Sorvices 42
PART IV
e 15, Fixhibits, Financia] Statement Schedules 43
Signatures 45
2
PARTI

iM 1. BUSINESS.
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Tyler Technologies, Inc. ("Tyler*) is a major provider of integrated information management solutions and services
for the public sector. We partner with clients o make government more accessible to the public, more responsive to
the nesds of citizens and more efficient in its operations. We have a broad line of software solutions and services to
address the information technology ("IT”) needs of major areas of operations for cities, counties, schools and other
government entities. We offer our clients on-premises software solutions and for clients who prefer not to physically
acquire the software and hardware, most of our software applications can be delivered as software as a service
("Saa8”). We provide professional IT services to our clients, including software and hardware installation, data
conversion, training and, at times, product modifications. In addition, we are the nation’s largest provider of
outsourced property appraisal services for taxing jurisdictions, We also provide continuing client support services to
ensure product performance and reliability, which provides us with long-term client relationships and a sipnificant
base of recurring maintenance revenue, We provide electronic decument filing ("e-filing”) solutions, which simplify
the filing and management of court documents, In addition, we provide digital government services and payment
solutions.

MARKET OVERVIEW

The state and local government market is one of the largest and most deceniralized IT markets in the country,
consisting of all 50 states, approximately 3,000 counties, 36,000 cities and towns and 12,900 school districts. This
market is also comprised of approximately 38,000 special districts and other agencies, each with specialized
delegated responsibilities and unique information management requirements.

Traditionally, local government bodies and agencies performed state-mandated duties, including property
assessment, record keeping, road maintenance, law enforcement, administration of election and judicial functions,
and the provision of welfare assistance. Today, a host of emerging and urgent issues are confronting local
governments, each of which demands a service response. These areas include criminal justice and comrections,




administration and finance, public safety, health and huruan services, planning, regulatory and maintenance and
records and document management. Transfers of responsibility from the federal and state governments to county
and municipal governments and agencies in these and other areas also place additional service and financial
requirements on these local government units. In addition, constituents of local govemnments are increasingly
demanding improved service and better access to information from public entities. As a result, local governments
recognize the increasing value of information management systems and services to, among other things, improve
revenue collection, provide increased acoess to information, and streamline delivery of services to their constituents.
Local government bodies ate now recognizing that "e-government” is an edditional responsibility for community
development. From integrated tax systems to integrated civil and criminal justice information systems, many
counties and cities have benefited significantly frora the implementation of jurisdiction-wide systems that allow
different agencies or government offices to share data and provide a more comprehensive approach to information
management. Many city and county governmental agencies also have unique individual information management
requirements, which must be tailored to the specific functions of each particular office.

Many local governments also have difficulties atiracting and retaining the staff necessary to support their IT
functions. As a result, they seek to establish long-texm relationships with reliable providers of high quality IT
products and services such as Tyler. '

Although local governments often face budgetary constraints in their operations, their primary revetine sources are
usually property taxes, and to a lesser exteat, utility billings and other fees, which historically tend to be relatively
stable. In addition, the acquisition of new technotogy typically enables local governments to operate more
efficiently, more securely, and often provides a measurable return on investment that justifies the purchase of
software and related services.

Gartner, [ne., a leading information technology research and advisory company, estimates that state and local
government application and vertical specific software spending will grow from $23.6 billion in 2022 to $32.3 billion
in 2025. The professional services and support segments of the market are expected to expand from $32.0 billion in
2022 o $38.4 billion in 2025. Application and vertical specific software sales in the primary and secondary
education segments of the market is expected to expand from $4.9 billion in 2022 t0 $6.0 billion in 2025 while
professional services and support are expected to grow from $5.1 billion in 2022 to $6.3 billion in 2025, For the
national and international government markets, application and vertical specific software sales is expected to expand
from $38.5 billion in 2022 to $53.8 billion in 2025 while professional services and support are expected to grow
from $63.1 billion in 2022 to $74.4 billion in 2023,

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

We provide a comprehensive and flexible suite of products and services that addresses the information technology
needs of cities, connties, states, schools, faderal agencies, and other government entities.

We design, develop, market and support a broad range of soltware solutions to serve mission-critical "back-office”
functions of the public sector. Many of our software applications include Tntermet-accessible solutions that allow for
real-time public access to a variety of information or that allow the public to transact business with governments
online. Cur software solutions and services are generally grouped in nine major areas:

Financial Management and Education
+Courts and Justice

sPublic Safety

sProperty Appraisal and Tax

sPlanning, Regulatory and Maintenance
«Land and Vital Records Management
sData and Insights

*Platform Technologies

*NIC Digital Government Services



Each of our cote software systems consists of several fully integrated applications. For clients who acquire software
for use on premises, we generally lcense our systems under standard perpetual license agreements that provide the
client with a fully paid, nonexclusive, nontransferable right to use the software. In some of the product areas, such as
financial management and education: and property appralsal and tax, we offer multiple solutions designed to meet
the needs of different sized govemments,

We also offer Saa8 arrangements for clients who do not wish to maintain, update and operate these systems or to
make up-front capital expenditures to implement these advanced technologies, For these clients, the software and
client data are hosted at our data centers or at third-party locations, and clients typically sign mulii-vear contracts for
these subscription-based services.

A description of our suites of products and services follows;
Financial Management and Education

Our financial management and education solutions are enterprise resource planning systems for the public sector,
which integrate information across all facets of a client organization. Our financial management sohitions inchide
modular fund accounting systemns that can be tailored to meet the needs of virtually any government agency or not-
for-profit entity. Our financial management systems include modules for general ledger, budget preparation, fixed
assets, requisitions, purchase orders, bid management, accounts payable, contract management, accounis receivable,
investment management, inventory control, project and grant accounting, work orders, job costing, GASB reporting,
payroll and human resources. All of our financial management systoms are intended to conform to government
auditing and financial reporting requirements and generally accepted accounting principles.

We sell utility billing systems that support the billing and collection of metered and non-metered services, along
with multiple billing cycles. Our Web-enabled utility billing sclutions allow clients to access information online
such as average consumption and transaction history, In addition, our systems can accept secured Internet payments
via credit cards and checks.

We also offer specialized products that automate numerous city and county functions, including municipal courts,
parking tickets, equipment and project costing, animal licenses, business licenses, permits and inspections, code
enforcement, citizen complaint tracking, anbulance billing, fleet maintenance, and cemetery records management.

In addition to providing financial management systems to K-12 schools, we sell student information systems for K-
12 schools, which manage such activities as scheduling, grades and attendance. We also offer student transportation
solutions to manage school bus routing optimization, fleet management, field trips and other related fimctions,

Tyler"s financial management and education solutions include Web components that enhance governments’ service
capabilities by facilitating online access to information for both employees and citizens and enabling online
transactions,

Courts and Justice

We offer a complete, fully integrated suite of judicial solutions designed to handle complex, multi-jurisdictional
county or statewide implementations as well as single county systems. Our solutions help eliminate duplicate data
entry, promote more effective business procedures, and improve efficiency across the entire justice process.
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Our unified court case management system is designed to automate the tracking and management of mformation
involved in all case types, including criminal, traffic, civil, family, probate and juvenile courts. It also tracks the
status of cases, processes fines and fees and generates the specialized judgment and sentencing documents, notices
and forms required in the court process. Documents received by the court can be scanned into the electronic case file
and easily retrieved for viewing. Documents generated by the court can be electronically signed and antomatically
attached to the electronic case file, Additional modules automate the management of court calendars, coordinate
Jjudges' schedules and generate conri dockets. Our targeted courtroom technologies allow courts to rapidly review




calendars, cases and view documents in the courtroom. Courts may also take advantage of our related jury
management system. We also offer a solution for online dispute resolution that antomates the flow and resolution of
common and historically time-consuming disputes including debt, landlord, tenant, small claims, child custody and
other case types.

Our court and law enforcement systems allow the public to access, via the Internet, & variety of information,
including non-confidential criminal and civil court records, jail booking and release information, bond and
bondsmen information, and coutt calendars and dockets, In addition, our systems allow cities and counties to accept
payments for traffic and parking tickets over the Internet, with a seamless and antomatic interface to back-office
justice and financial systems.

Qur prosecutor system enables state attorney offices to track and manage criminal cases, including detailed victim
information and private case notes. Investigative reports and charging instrument docurnents can be generated and
stored for later viewing. Prosecutors can schedule and record the cutcome of grand jury hearings. When integrated
with the court system, prosecutors can view the electronic case file and related documents, as well 48 manage
witness lists and subpoenas needed for court hearings.

Our supervision system allows pre-trial and probation offices to manage offender caseloads. Supervision officers
can track contact schedules, risk/needs assessments and reassessments, detailed drog test results, employment
histoties, compliance with conditions and payments of fees and restitution. Documents and forms, like pre-sentence
investigations or revocation orders, can be generated and stored for easy viewing, When integrated with the jail and
court systems, supervision officers obtain easy access and quick notification of offenders that have const hearings
scheduled, are arrested locally, and have new warrants issued.

We also offer a court case management solution that autornates and tracks all aspects of municipal courts and
offices. It is a fully inlegrated, graphical application that provides effective case management, document processing
and cash/bond management. This system complies with all state reporting and conviction reports and includes
electronic reporting and also integrates with certain of our financial management solutions and public safety
solutions,

Also our product solutions provide a suite of financial and communications applications ranging from deposit
technologies for commissary, ordering, and warchouse technology o a host of informational, electronic
commuications, security, acconnting, and financial trust management components for correciional facilities.

Public Safety

Our public safety software ig a fully unified and comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS,
including 911 / computer aided dispatch ("CAD"), records management, mobile computing, corrections
management, Web-based information sharing and decision suppott, The modules are fully integrated, utilizing a
commion database and providing full functionality between modules, reducing data entry. The software provides
fast, efficient dispatching, and quick access to records, reports and actionable information from an agency’s
database,

Our 911 / CAD solutions provide real-time, critical response dispateh functions in either single- or multi-
jurisdictional environments. When integrated with our records management software, a vital link exists between
dispatch and the most comprehensive records database available. Within seconds, the dispatch operator and the
officer in the field can access critical information, such as prior incidents and outstanding warrants, increasing
officer knowledge and safety. The sotutions offer strong geographic information sysiems integration to help
dispatchers quickly locate and send the best response during an emergency. Qur 911 7/ CAD solutions dramaticalty
improve performance, response time and unit safety.

Our records management sclutions for law enforcement and fire track statistical, operational, investigative and
management data for inquiry and reporting. The systems create an efficient case processing workflow and help solve
crimes with an accessible database that maintains central files on people, places, property, vehicles and criminal
activity, Our public safety records management solutions enable easy access to information and simplify reporting.



Our mobile computing solutions for law enforcement and fire provide instant access to local, state, regional and
federal databases via mobile devices. Officers and firefighters can experience the benefits of obtaining critical, real-
time information in the field, while saving time by preparing reports directly in their vehicles,
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Our jail management systems document and manage information that meets the requirements of a modern jail
facility. This inclides the booking and housing of persons in custody, supervising defendanis on a pre-trial release,
maintaining offenders sentenced to local incarceration and billing other agencies for housing inmates. Searching,
reporting and tracking features are integrated, allowing reifable, up-to-date access to current arrest and incarceration
data, including digital mug shots. Qur systems also provide warrant checks for visitors or book-ins, inmate
classification and risk assessment, commissary, property and medical processing, automation of statistics, and state
and federal reporting.

Our civil processing solutions manage civil process needs from document receipt through service, payment process
and final closeout, We also have a mobile electronic citation solution through which law enforcement officers can
ensily enter cifation information in a mobile device, which is automatically uploaded into the court or public safety
records management systems, rather than hand-writing citations that must be re-entered into the systems.

Property Appraisal and Tax

We provide systems and software that automate the appraisal and assessment of real and personal property,
including record keeping, mass appraisal, inquiry and protest tracking, appraisal and tax roll generation, tax
statement processing, and electronic state-level reporting, These systems are image and video-enabled to facilitate
the storage of and access to the many property-related docurents and for the online storage of digital photographs
of properties for use in defending values in protest sitnations, Other related tax applications are available for
agencies that bill and collect taxes, including cities, counties, school tax offices, and special taxing and collection
agencies, These systems support billing, collections, lock box operations, mortgage company electronic payments,
and various reporting requirements.

Planning, Regulotory and Muaintenance

Cur planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions are designed for public sector agencies such as
community development, planning, building, code enforcement, tax and revenues, public works, transportation, land
control, environmental, fire safety, storm water management, regulatory controls and engineering. These solutions
help public sector agencies better manage their day-to-day business functions while streamlining and automating the
many aspects of their land management, permitting and planning systems. Our mobile solutions extend antomation
to the field and Web access brings online services to citizens 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.

Land and Vital Records Management

We also offer a number of specialized software applications designed to help local governments enhance and
auntomate operations involving records and document management. These systems recotd, scan and index
information for the many documents maintained by local governments, such as deeds, mortgages, liens, UCC
financing statements and vital records (birth, death and marriage certificates). These applications include fully
integrated imaging systems with batch and scan processing capabilities and fully integrated receipting and
cashiering systems, as well as Web-enabled public access.

Our content management solutions allow state and local governments and school districts to capture, deliver,
manage and archive electronic information, These solutions sireamline the flow of digital information throughout
the organization to increase efficiency by transforming paper forms and documents into electronic images that drive
key business processes,

Daia and Insights




Our data and insights solutions make existing government daia discoverable, usable, and actionable for government
workers and the people they serve. The data and insights solution includes a data-as-a-service platform and cloud
applications for open data and citizen engagement, exclusively for city, county, staie, and federal government
organizations. Our data and insights solutions allow government to analyze, visualize, and securely share data across
multiple departments and programs. These solutions deliver data-driven innovation and cost-savings by bringing
together disparate systems and leveraging the cloud to dramatically enhance the effectiveness of government
programs, to improve quality of life for residents, to positively impact local economies, and to achieve excellence in
governtnent operations,

Platform Technologies

We offer a low-code application development platform solution for case management and business process
management, Whether based on premises or in the cloud, its Data-First™ approach allows the application to be
implemented immediately and configured continuously, enabling clients to get to work quickly while keeping costs
low, Our low code application platform allows government agencies the ability to track, collaborate, and report on
the data that drives activities forward.

NIC Digital Government Services

On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, Inc. ("NIC”). NIC delivers user-friendly digital services that make it easier and
more efficient for citizens and businesses to interact with government providing valnable conveniences like applying
for unemployment insurance, submitting business filings, renewing licenses, accessing information and making
secure payments without visiting a government office. NIC digital government services designs, builds, and operates
digital government services on an enterprise-wide basis on behalf of state and local governments desiring to provide
access to government information end to complete secure government-based transactions throngh multiple digital
channels, These digital government services consist of websites and applications NIC has built that allow
consumers, such as businesses and citizens, to access government information, complete transactions and make
electronic payments, NIC also provides payment processing services, software development and digital government
services, other than those services provided under state enterprise contracts, to federal agencies as well as state and
local governments.

We derive our revenues from five primary sources:

+Software licenses and royalties
«Subscription-based services
«Boftware services
*Maintenance and support

= Appraisal services

Software Licenses and Rovaltics

Many of our software arrangements involve "off-the-shelf” software. We recognize the revenue allocable to "ot
the-shelf” software licenses and specified upgrades at a point in time when control of the software license transfers
fo the customer, imless the software is not considered distinet. We consider "off-the-shelf" software to be distinot
when it can be added to an arrangement with minor changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer
for the customer’s purpose upon installation, and remaining services such as training are not coasidered highly
interdependent or interrelated to the product's functionality.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where
software services are otherwise not considered distinet, we recognize revenue over time by measuring progress-to-
completion, We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer
of conirol to the customer which occurs as we inour costs on our contracts. These arrangsments are often
implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized
in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our



cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined.
Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are reéorded in the period in which we first deterrnine that a loss is
apparent.

Software license fees are billed in accordance with the contract terms. Typically, a majority of the fee is due when
access to the software license is made available to the customer and the remainder of the fee due over a passage of
time stipulated by the contract. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred
revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

We recopuize royalty revenue when the sale occurs under the terms of our third-party royalty arrangements,
Currently, our third-party royalties are recognized on an estimated basis and adjusted if needed, when we receive
notice of amounts we are entitled to receive. We typically receive notice of royalty revenues we are entitled to and
billed on a quarterly basis in the quarter immediately following the royalty reporting period and adjustments have
not been significant.

Subscription-Based Services

Subscription-based revenue is primarily derived from our 8aa8 arrangements, which generally utilize the Tyler
private cloud, as well as our iransaction-based offerings such as e-filing solutions, online dispute resolntion
solutions, and online payment services,

We are able to provide the majority of our sofiware products through our SaaS model. The clients who choose this
model typically do not wish to maintain, update and operate these systems or make up-front capital expenditures to
implement these advanced technologies. The contract terms for these arrangements range from one to 10 years but
are typically contracted for initial petiods of three to five years. The majority of our $aa$ or hesting arrangements
include additional professional services as well as maintenance and support services. In certain arrangements, the
client may also acquire a license 1o the software,

As part of our subscription-based services, we provide e-filing solutions that simplify the filing and management of
court related documents for courts and law offices, Revenues for e-filing are included in subscription-based
revenues and are derived from transaction fees and in some cases, fixed fee atrangements. Other transaction-based
fees primarily relate to digital government services and online payment services, which are sometimes offered with
the assistance of third-party vendors, and online dispute resolution solutions.
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Software Services

We provide a variety of professional services to clients who utilize our software produets, Virtually all of our clients
contract with us for installation, training, and data conversion services in connection with their implementation of
Tyler’s sofiware solutions, The complete implementation process for a typical system includes planning, design,
data conversion, set-up and testing. At the culmination of the implementation process, a data implementation team is
generally onsite at the client’s facility or available via remote video conferencing to ensure the smooth go-live with
the new system. Implementation fees are charged separately to clients on either a fixed-fee or hourly charge basis,
depending on the contract. '

Both in connection with the installation of new systems and on an ongoing basis, we provide extensive training
services and programs related to our products and services. Training can be provided in our training centers, onsite
at clients’ locations, at meetings and conferences, or remotely, and can be customized o meet clients’ requirements.
The vast majority of our clients contract with us for training services, both to improve their employees’ proficiency
and productivity and to fully utilize the functionality of our systems. Training services are generally billed on an
heurly or daily basis, along with travel and other expenses.

Maintenance and Support




Following the implementation of our software systems, we provide ongoing software support services to assist our
clients in operating the systems and to periodically update the software. Suppert is provided to clients over the
phone or via the Web through help desks staffed by our client support representatives, For more complicated issues,
our staff, with the clients’ permission, can log on to clients’ systems remotely. We maintain our clients” software
largely through releases that contain improvements and incremental additions of features and functionality, along
with updates necessary because of legislative or regulatory changes.

Virtually all of our software clients contract with us for maintenance and support, which provides us with a
significant source of recurring revenue. We generally provide maintenance and support for our on-premises clients
under annual, or in some cases, multi-year contracts, with a typical fee based on a percentage of the software
product’s license fee. These fees can generally be increased on renewal and may also increase as new license fees
increase. Maintenance and support fees are generally paid armually in advance. Most maintenance contracts
automatically renew unless the client or Tyler gives notice of termination prior to expiration, Bimilar sapport is
provided to our Saa$ clients and is included in their subscription fees, which are classified as subscription-based
revenues,

Appraisal Services

We are the nation’s largest provider of property appraisal outsourcing services for local government taxing
authorities. These services include:

«The physical inspection of commercial and residential properties
*Data collection and processing

+Sophisticated computer analyses for property valuation
*Preparation of tax rolis

»Community eduncation regarding the assessment process
«Arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction

Local government taxing authotities normally reappraise properties from time to time to update values for tax
assessment purposes and to maintain equity in the taxing process. In some jurisdictions, law mandates reassessment
cycles; in others, they are discretionary. While soms taxing jurisdictions perform reappraisals in-house, many local
governments ontsource this function because of its cyclical nature and because of the specialized knowledge and
expertise requirements associated with it. Our appraisal services business unit has operated in this business gince
1938.

In some instances, we also provide property tax and / or appraisal software products in connection with appraisal
outsourcing projects, while other clients may only engage us to provide appraisal services. Appraisal outsourcing
services are somewhat seasonal in nature to the extent that winter weather conditions reduce the produetivity of data
collection activities in connection with those projects.

STRATEGY

Our objective is to grow our revenue and earmnings organically, supplemented by focused strategic acquisitions. The
key components of our business strategy are to:

«Provide high quality. value-added preducts and services 1o our clients. We compete on the basis of, among other
things, delivering to clients our deep domain expertise in government operations through the highest value products
and services in the market, We believe we have achieved a reputation as a premium product and service provider to
the government market.

«Continue to expand our product and service offerings. While we already have what we believe to be the broadest
line of software products for local governments, we continually upgrade our core software applications and expand
our complementary product and service offerings to respond to technological advancements and the changing needs
of our clients. We regularly add new products and services to our portfolio through internal product development as



well as acquisitions, We believe that the addition of new features and applications enhances the market appeal of our
core products. We have also broadened our offerings of consulting and business process reengineering services,

*Accelerate our move to the cloud. We have offered most of our core products in both an on-premises license model
and a cloud-based subscription model for several years and have seen a steady increase in the percentage of new
software clienits choosing our cloud model in recent years. Beginning in late 2019, we moved our approach to sales
from "cloud-neatral” to "cloud-first,” with an increasing preference io provide our solutions in the clond. We are
malcing significant investments in optimizing our products to be deployed efficiently in the public eloud and over a
multi-year period are transitioning from hosting clients in Tyler’s own data centers to utilizing Amazon Web
Services ("AWS”) for cloud hosting,

*Expand our client base. We seek to establish long-term relationships with new clients primazily throngh our sales
and marketing efforts,. While we currently have clients in all 50 states, Canada, the Caribbean, the United Kingdom,
Australia, and other international locations, some of our solutions have not fully achieved nationwide geographic
penctration. We intend to continue to expand into new geographic markets by adding sales staff and targeting
marketing efforts by solutions in those areas. We also intend to continue to expand our customer base to include
larger jurisdictions. While our traditional market focus has primarily been on smali and mid-sized governments, our
increased size and market presence, together with the technological advances and improved scalability of certain of
our solutions, are allowing vs to achieve increasing success in selling to larper clients. We also expect to expand our
presence in international markets by leveraging our leadership position in the United States through the disciplined
pursuit of selected opportunities in other countries.

“Expand our existing client relationships. Our existing customer base offers significant opportunities for additional
sales of solutions and services that we currently offer, but that existing clients do not filly utilize. Add-on sales to
existing clients typically involve lower sales and marketing expenses than sales to new clients. In particular, we
believe that the acquisition of NIC in April 2021 provides us with significant opportunities to sell Tyler software
products into NIC’s ¢lient base and to provide NIC’s payment services to Tyler’s client base,

«Grow recnrring revenues. We have a large recurring revenue base from maintenance and support and sobscription-
based services, which generated revennes of $1.3 billion, or 79% of total revenues, in 2621, We have historically
experienced very low customer turnover (approximately 2% annually) and recurring revenues continue to grow as
the installed customer base increases, Subscription-based revenues have been our fastest growing reveme category
over the past five years, increasing from $173.5 million in 2017 to $784.4 million in 2021,

*Maximize ecomomies of scale and take advantage of financial leverage in our buginess. We seek to build and
maintain a larger client base to create economies of scale, enabling us to provide value-added products and services
to our clients while expanding our operating margins, In addition, we believe that we have a marketing and
administrative infrastructure in place that can be leveraged to accommodate significant long-term growth without
proportionately increasing selling, general and administrative expenses.

*Attract and retain highly qualified employees. We believe thal the depth and quality of our management and staff is
one of our significant strengths, and that the ability to retain such eruployses is crucial to our continued growth and
sucoess. We believe that our stable management team, financial strength and growth opporiunities, as well as our
leadership position in the public sector market, enhance our attractiveness as an employer for highly skilled
employees.

*Pursue strategic aceuisitions. We selectively pursue strategic acquisitions that provide us with one or more of the
following:

=New products and services to complement our existing offerings
«Entry into new markeis related to the public sector
*New clients and/or geographic expansion

«Establish stratefric alliances. In October 2019, we announced a strategic collaboration agreement with Amazon Web
Services ("AWS") for cloud hosting services. This agreement brings together Tyler, the nation's largest software
company exclusively focused on the public sector, and AWS, the broadest and deepest cloud platform. Specifically,
the agresment with AWS provides the framework for development, training and collaboration in order to support
next-generation applications thai have the scalability, resiliency, and security AWS offers. AWS is assisting us in




accelerating innovation and the developrent of strategic initiatives. These initiatives will bring the most advanced
cloud-native services to Tyler clients, improving the flow of information and providing a better experience for state,
local, and federal governments.

SALES, MARKETING AND CLIENTS

We market our products and services primarily through direct sales and marketing personnel located throughout the
United States. Other in-house sales staff focus on add-on sales, professional services and support. For certain
products we also utilize & partner network for both sales and professional services, primarily in the state and federal
markets,

Sales of new systems are typically generated from referrals from other government offices or departments within a
county or municipality, referrals from other local governments, relationships established between sales
representatives and county or local officials, contacts at trade shows, direct mailings, and direct contact from
prospects already familiar with us. We are active in numerous national, state, county, and local government
associations and participate in annual meetings, trade shows, and educational events.

Clients consist primarily of federal, state, county and municipal agencies, school districts and other local
government offices. In counties, clients include the auditor, treasurer, tax assessor/collector, county clerk, district
clerk, county and district court judges, probation officers, sheriff, and county appraiser. At mumnicipal government
sites, clients include directors from various departments, including administration, finance, utilities, public works,
code enforcement, personnel, purchasing, taxation, municipal court and police. At the state and federal levels, clients
include Chief Information Officers and agency heads. Coniracts for software products and services are generally
implemented over periods of three months to one year, although some complex tmplementations may span multiple
years, with anzmally renewing maintenance and support update agreements thereafter. Although either the client or
we can terminate these agreements, historically almost all support and maintenance agreements are antomatically
renewed annually. During 2021, approximately 30% of our revenue was attributable to ongoing support and
mamtenance agreements.

COMPETITION

We compete with numerous local, regional, and national firms that provide or offer some or many of the same
solutions and services that we provide, Many of these competitors arc smaller companies that may offer less
expensive solutions than ours. Many of these fioms operate within a specific geographic area and / or in a natrow
product or service niche, We also compete with national firms, some of which have greater financial and technical
resources than we do, including Oracle Corporation, Infor, SAP AG, Workday, Inc., CentralBquarc Technologics,
Thomson Reuters Corporation, Motorola Solutions, Inc., Axen Enterprise, Inc., and Constellation Software, Inc. In
addition, we sometimes compete with consulting and systems integration firms, which develop custom systems,
primarily for larger govemuents. We also occasionally compete with central internal infonnation service
departments of governments, which requires us to persuade the end-user department to discontinue service by its
own personnel and ouisource the service to us.

We compete on a variety of factors, including price, service, name recognition, reputation, technological
capabilities, and the ability to modify existing products and services to accommodate the individual requirements of
the client, Qur ability to offer an integrated system of applications for several offices or departments is often a
competitive advantage. Governmental units often are required to seek competitive proposals through a request for
proposal process and some prospective clients use consultants o assist them with the proposal and vendor selection
process.

SUPPLIERS

Substantially afl of the computers, peripherals, printers, scanners, operating system software, office antomation
software, and other equipment necessary for the implementation and provision of our software systems and services



are presently available from several third-pasty sources. Hardware is purchased on original equipment manvfactarer
or distributor terms at discounts from retail. We have not experienced any significant supply problems.

BACKLOG

At December 31, 2021, our revenue backlog was approximately $1.80 billion, compared to $1.59 billion at
December 31, 2020. The backlog generally represents signed contracts under which the revenue has not been
recognized. Approximately $840 million, or 47%, of the backlog is expected to be recognized during 2022.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, PROPRIETARY RIGHTS, AND LICENSES

We regard certain features of our internal operations, software, and documentation as confidential and proprietary
and rely on'a combination of contractual restrictions, trade secret laws and other measures to protect our proprietary
intellectual property. We generally do not rely on patonts, Wo belicve that, due to the rapid rate of technological
change in the computer software industry, trade searets and copyright protection are less significant than factors
such as knowledge, ability and experience of our employees, frequent ptoduct enhancements, and timeliness and
quality of support services. We typically license our software products under non-exclusive license agreements,
which are generally non-transferable and have a perpemal term.
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HUMAN CAPITAL RESOURCES
Human Capital

Our experienced, collaborative team is one of the most significant contributors to our success in empowering the
public sector to create smarter, safer, and stronger communities, Our effectiveness in attracting and developing
talented team members, many of whom spend the majority of their careers at Tyler serving our public secior clients,
demonstrates our commitment to providing a welcoming and safe workplace, with a culture, benefits, and
opportunities for our team members to continually grow and develop their careers within Tyler,

As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately 6,800 team members. Approximately 280 of these team members
are located in Canada and the Philippines; the remainder work remotely in the 1.8, or are based in one of our nearly
90 U.8. offices. No Tyler employees are represented by unions. We believe our efforts in managing and supporting
our workforce are effective, as evidenced by current levels of applicants, team member tenure, and high levels of
engagement reported through continuous survey feedback from Tyler team members. The majority of Tyler team
members worked remotely for most of 2021 until we officially returned to our offices on Jannary 24, 2022. Our
team continues to work collaboratively with and for our clients and partners across multiple work arrangements:
fally office-based, fully remote and a blended approach of office-based and remote work each week which we refer
to as flex-work. Regardless of where team members work, we do so together to develop for, sell to, implement and
support our public sector clients. '

At the end of 2021, Tyler's U.8. workforce was 63% male and 37% female, and women represented 31% of Tyler’s
leadership. In the U.S. our workforce was comprised as follows: 75% White, 8% Asian, 4% Hispanic or Latino, 5%
Black or African American, and 8% Other. For our 1.8, leadership, the breakdown was 97% White, 1% Asian, 0%
Hispanic or Latino, 1% Black or African American, and 1% Other. We define leadership as positions which are one
or two levels removed from our CEQ with management responsibility. Race and gender reporting are based on
information provided by team members. Voluntary workforce turnover (rolling 12-month attrition) was 12.5% as of
December 31, 2021, This represents an increase over 2020 turnover which decreased during the pandemic. The
average tenure of our team members is approximately seven years and approximately 26% of our employees have
been employed by Tyler for more than ten years. The most frequent factor cited by team members leaving Tyler in
2021 was career change with a notable number of team members returning to roles in the public sector or taking
roles in the education or healthcars sector. Compensation was also cited as a factor. Job offer compensation levels
for roles in the tech sector continned to increase in the last half of 2021 at levels we have not experienced in well
over a decade,




Investments in Talent

We are committed to providing Tyler team memnbers with career growth opportunities and the training and resources
necessary to continually strengthen their skills. Our talent assessment and development programs provide managers
and employees with the resources needed to achieve career goals, build management skills and lead their teams.

For example, in 2021:

+1,100 Tyler tearn mernbers participated in over 16,600 hours of AWS cloud certification training and achieved over 950
certifications and 600 accreditations as we continue to ittvest in developing the ¢loud skills of our team members.

«Over 200 Tyler managers participated in our 9-month New Manager Development program which includes targeted
content and sessions focused on the core aspects of managing a team, 360-degree feedback, team and individual
coaching, and a dedicated mentor.

“Division Presidents and Corporate Function Executives conducted annual leadership assessment and talent reviews with
their HR leaders and leadership teams and identified talent development priorities within their teams.

«Our Tylerl online training platform was utilized by over 6,400 team members who took advantage of content to
support continuous learning, professional training and development.

COwversight and Management

Our Human Resources team is tasked with leading and supporting our organization in managing employment-
related matters, including recruiting and hiring, onboarding and training, compensation planning, talent management
and development. Our executive team is responsible for periodically reviewing team member programs and
initiatives, including healthcare and other benefits, as well as our management development and succession planning
practices and our Diversity, Equity and Inclusion ("DEL") efforts, Management periodically reports to the Board and
its committees human capital measures and results that guide how we attract, retain and develop a workforce to
enable our business strategies,
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Health & Safery

We invest in the well-being of Tyler team members and their families, We provide a range of offerings in support of
mental and emotional, financial, and physical health and wellness not only for our team members, but also for the
family members who depend on them, The prolonged stressors of the COVID-19 pandemic continued in 2021, and
we exiended the new benefits introduced in 2020, including enbanced mental health and telehealth benefits,
unlimited paid time off and full coverage for COVID illness and vaccinations.

Diversity and Inclusion

We believe that a diverse workforce is critical to our success, and we caniinue to monitor and improve the
application of our hiring, retention, compensation and advancernent processcs for women and underrepresented
populations across our workforce, including our team members of color, veterans and members of our LGBTQ
community. Cur Women's Leadership Network, Veteran’s Employee Resource group (ERG), and local office
diversity councils, among other programs, serve to enhance our inclusive and diverse culture,

INTERNET WEBSITE AND AVAILABILITY OF PUBLIC FILINGS

We file annual, quarterly, current and other reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securiiies and
Exchange Commission, or SEC, pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act. You may read and copy any materials we
file with the SEC at the SEC?s Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-732-0330. The SEC maintaing
an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and other information statements, and other information regarding
issuers, including us, that file electronically with the SEC, The address of this site is http://www.sec.gov.

We also maintain a website at www.tylertech.com, We make available free of charge through this site our Anmual
Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-03, Forms 4 and 5, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13{a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as



reasonably practicable afier we electronically file such material with, or farnish it to the SEC. In addition, copies of
our annual report will be made available, free of charge, upon written request,

Our "Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” is also available on our website. We intend to satisfy the disclosure
requirements regarding amendments to, or waivers from, a provision of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by
posting such information on cur website.

M 1A. RISK FACTORS.

An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Investors evaluating our company should
carefully consider the factors described below and all other information contained in this Annual Report. Any of the
following factors could materialty harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. Additional factors
and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial could also harm our business,
operating results, and financial condition. This section should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements
and related Notes and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Qperations
included in this Annual Report. We may make forward-looking statements from time to time, both written and oral.
We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-looking
statements. Our actual results may differ materially from those projected in any such forward-looking statements
due to a number of factors, including those set forth below and elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Risks Associnted with Our Business, Including Our Software Products
Cyber-attacks and security vulnerabilities can disrupt our business and harm our competitive position.

Threats to IT security can take a variety of forms. Individuals and groups of hackers, and sophisticated organizations
including state-sponsored organizations, may take steps that pose threats to our clents and our IT. They may, for
example, develop and deploy malicious software to attack our products and services and/or gain access to our
networks and data centers or act in a coordinated manner to launch distributed denial of service or other coordinated
attacks. Cyber threats are constantly evolving, thereby increasing the difficulty of detecting and successfully
defending against them, Cyber threats can have cascading impacts that unfold with increasing speed across our
internal networks and systems and those of our partness and clients. Breaches of our network or data seourity could
disrupt the security of our internal systems and business applications, impair our ability to provide services to our
clients and protect the privacy of their data, result in product development delays, compromise confidential or
technical business information harming our competitive position, result in theft or misuse of cur intellectual property
or other assets, require us to allocate more resources to improve technologies, or otherwise adversely affect our
business, Our business policies and internal security controls may not keep pace with these evolving threats. Despite
the network and application sacurity, internal conirol measures, and physical security procedures we employ to
safoguard our systems, we may still be vulnerable to a security breach, intrusion, loss or theft of confidential client
data and transaction data or proprietary company information, which may hamm our business, reputation and future
financial results. The lost revenue and containment, remediation, investigation, legal and other costs
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could be significant and may exceed our insurance policy limits or may not be covered by insurance at all. Further,
we may be subject to regulatory enforcement actions and litigation that could result in financial jndgments or the
payment of settlement amounts, and disputes with insurance carriers conceming coverage.

In September 2020, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K reporting a security incident (the "Incident") involving
ransomware disrupting access to some of our internal IT systems and telephone systems. We promptly notified our
clients of the Incident and provided timely updates to our clients through direct communications and updates to our
wehsite. There is no evidence that the environments where we host client applications were affected, and our hosting
services to those clients wers not interrupted. There was also no evidence of malicions activity on client networks
associated with the Incident. We contained the Incident and recovered from it, resuming normal operations with our
clients. We deployed supplemental remediation efforts as necessary and cooperated with law enforcement’s
investigation.




Although we completed ous investigation into the Incident and believe we contained and recovered from the
Incident, we are subject to risk and uncertainties as a result of the Incident. There can be no assurance as to what the
ongoing impact of the Incident will be, if any. We maintain cybersecurity insurance coverage in an amount that we
believe is adequate.

Disclosure of personally identifiable information and/or other sensitive client data could result in liabifisy and harm
our repulation.

We store and process increasingly large amounts of personally identifiable information and other confidential
information of our clients. The contimued accurrence of high-profile data breaches provides evidence of an external
environment increasingly hostile to information security. Despite our efforts to improve security controls, it is
possible our security controls over personal data, our training of employees on data security, and other practices we
follow may not prevent the improper disclogure of sensitive client data that we store and manage. Disclosure of
personally identifiable information and/or other sensitive client data could result in liability and harm our reputation.

We depend on third parties with whom we engage or collaborate for certain projects, deliverables, and/or financial
transaction processes. If these parties fail to satisfy their obligations to us or we are unable to maintain these
relationships, our operating results and business prospects could be adversely affected.

To satisfy our obligations under client contracts, we often engage third parties to provide certain deliverables or
fulfill certain requirements. We may also use third parties to ensure that our services and solutions integrate with the
software, systems, or infrastructure requirements of other vendors and service providers. OQur ability to serve our
clients and deliver our solutions in a timely manner depends on our ability to retain and maintain relationships with
third-party vendors and service providers and the ability of these third parties to meet their obligations in a timely
manner, as well as on our effective oversight of their performance, If any third party fails to perform on a timely
basis the agreed-upon services, our ability to fulfill our obligations may be jeopardized. Third-party performance
deficiencies could result in. breaches of our obligations with respect to, or the termination for default of, one or more
of our clent contracts. A breach or termination for default could expose us to liability for damages and have an
adverse effect on our business prospects, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and our ability to
compete for future contracts and orders. A global economic slowdown, the COVID-19 pandemie, or similar
circumstances could also adversely affect the businesses of our third-party providers, hindering their ability to
provide the services on which we rely. Our agreements with third parties typically are non-exclusive and do not
prohibit them from working with our corepetitors. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our
relationships with these third parties, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenues could be
impuired and our businsss, operating resulis or financial condition could be adversely affected.

In addition, we may act as subcontractor to a third-party ptime contractor to secure new projects. Subcontracting
arrangements wWhere we are not the prime contractor pose unique risks to us because we may not have control over
the customer relationship, and our ability to generate revenue under such subcontracts may depend on the prime
contractor, its performance and relationship with the customer, and its relationship with us. We could suffer losses in
the event a prime coniract under which we serve as a subcontractor is terminated, whether for non-performance by
the prime contractor or otherwise. Upon a terinination of the prime contract, our yubcontract wonld similaly
terminate, and the resulting contract loss conld have an adverse effect on our business prospects, results of
operations, cash flows, and financial condition and our ability to compete for future ¢ontracts and orders.
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We rely on third-party providers—including Amazon Web Services—for hosting services and other technology-relaied
services needed to deliver ceriain of our cloud solutions. Any disruption in the services provided by such third-party
providers could adversely affect our business and subject us to lability.

A material portion of our business is provided through software hosting services, which are sometimes hosted from
and use computing infrastructure provided by third parties, including Amazon Web Services. These hosting services
depend on the uninterrupted operation of data centers and the ability to protect computer equiprmernt and information
stored in these data centers against damage that may be caused by natural disaster, fire, power loss,



telecommunications or Internet failure, acts of terrorism, unauthorized intrusion, computer viruses, and other similar
damaging events. If any of our data centers wete to become inoperable for an extended period, we might be unable
to fuHill our contractual commitments, Althongh we take what we believe to be reasonable precautions against such
accurrences, we can give no assurance that damaging events such as these will not result in a prolonged interruption
of our services, which could result in client dissatisfaction, loss of revemme, and damage to our business.

Third-party hosting service providers have no obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. If we are unable to renew these agreements on commercially reasonable terms, we may be
required to transition to a new provider and we may incur significant costs and possible service interruption in
connection with doing so. In addition, such service providers could decide to close their facilities or change or
suspend their service offerings without adeguate notice to us, Moreover, any financial difficulties, such as
bankruptey, faced by such service providers may have negative effects on cur business, the nature and extent of
which are difficult to predict. Because we cannot easily switch third-party hosting service providers, any disruption
with respect to our current providers would impact our operations and cur businesa could be adversely impacted.
Problems faced by our hosting service providers could adversely affect the experience of our customers. For
example, Amazon Web Services has experienced significant service outages in the past and may do so again in the
future. In addition, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted and may continue to disrupt the supply chain of
hardware needed to maintain these third-party systems or to run our business,

Muterial portions of our business require the Internet infeastructure to be religble,

Part of our future success continues to depend on the use of the Internet as a means to access public information and
perform transactions elsctronically, including, for example, electronic filing of court documents. This in part
requires ongoing maintenance of the Internet infrastructore, especially to prevent interruptions in service, as welt as
additional development of that infrastructure. This requires a reliable network backbone with the necessary speed,
data capacity, security, and timely development of complementary products for providing reliable Internet access
and services. If this infrastructure fails to be sufficiently developed or be adequately maintained, our business would
be harmed because nsers may not be able to access our government portals.

We employ third-pariy licensed sofiware and sofiware components for use in or with our solutions, and the inability
to maintain these licenses or the presence of errors or security vulnerabilities in the software we license could limit
the functionality of our products and result in Increased costs or reduced service levels, which would adversely affect
our business,

We incorporate and include third-party software into and with certain of our products and solutions, We also use
third-party software and tools in certain areas of the development process for our solutions. We anticipate that we
will continue to rely on such third-party software and development tools in the future, In addition, there can be no
assurance that these third parties will continue to make their software or tools available to us on acceptable terms, or
at all, not male their products available to cur competitors on more favorable terms, invest the appropriate levels of
resources in their products and services to maintain and enhance the capabilities of their software, or remain in
business. Any irapairment in our relationship with these third parties or our ability to license or otherwise use their
software or tools could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flow, and financial
condition. Although we believe that thers are commercially reasonable alternatives to the third-party software and
tools we currently license, this may not always be the case, or they may be difficult, ime-consuming, or costly o
replace. In addition, although we maintain a supplier security evaluation process, if the third-party software or tools
we use has or have errors, security vulnerabilities, or otherwise malfunctions, the functionality of our solutions may
be negatively impacted, our customers may experience reduced service levels, and our business may suffer.

Certain of our solutions utilize open source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of
these apen source licenses could adversely affect our business.

Certain of our selutions include software covered by open source licenses. The terms of various open source licenses
have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that
imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to market our solutions. It is possible under the terms
of certain open source licenses, if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain
manner, that we could be required to release the source code of our proprietary software and make our proprietary
software available under open source licenses. In the event that portions of our proprietary software are determined




to be subject to an open source license, we could be required to publicly release the affected portions of our source
code, re-cngineer all or a portion of our solutions, or otherwise be limited in the licensing of our solutions, each of
which could reduce or eliminate the value of our solutions. In addition to risks related to license requirements, use of
Open Sourcs
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software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do
not provide warrantics or controls on the origin of the software, Many of the risks associated with the use of open
source software cannot be eliminated and could adversely affect our business.

We run the risk of ervors or defects with new products or enhancements fo existing producis.

Our software products are complex and may contain errors or defects, especially when first introduced or when new
versions or enhancements are released. Any such defects could result in a loss of revenues or delay market
acceptance. Our license agresments typically contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential liability.
However, it is possible we may not always successfully negotiate such provisions in our client contracts or the
limitation of Hability provisions may not be effective due to existing or future federal, state, or local laws,
ordinances, or judicial decisions. Although we maintain errors snd omissions and general liability insurance, and we
iry to structare contracts to Himit liability, we cannot assure you that a successful ¢laim could not be made or would
not have a material adverse effect on our future operating results.

We must timely respond to technological changes fo be competitive.

The market for our products is characterized by technological change, evolving industry standards in software
technology, changes in client requirements, and frequent new product introductions and enhancements. The
introduction of products embodying new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards can render
existing produets obsolete and unmarketable. As a result, our fiture sucoess will depend, in part, upon our ability to
enhance existing products and develop and infroduce new products that keep pace with technological developments,
satisfy increasingly sophisticated client requirements, and achieve market acceptance. We cannot assure you that we
will successfully identify new product opportunities and develop and bring new products to market in a timely and
cost-effective manner. The products, capabilities, or technologies developed by others could also render our
products or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive. Our business may be adversely affected if we are unable to
develop or acquire new software products or develop enhancemenis to existing products o a timely and cost-
effective basis, or if such new products or enhancements do not achieve market acceptance.

We may be unable io protect our proprietary righis.

Many of our product and service offerings incorporate proprietary information, trade secrets, know-how, and other
intellectual property rights. We rely on a combination of contracts, copyrights, and trade secret laws to establish and
protect our proprietary rights in our technology. We cannot be certain that we have taken all appropriate steps to
deter misappropriation of cur intellectual property. There has also been an apparent evolution in the legal standards
and regulations courts and the U.8. patent office may apply in favorably evaluating software patent rights. We are
not currently involved in any material intellectual property litigation; however, we may be a party to such litigation
in the future to protect our propristary information, trade secrets, know-how, and other intellectual property rights.
We cannot assure you that third parties will not assert infringement or misappropriation claims against us with
respect to curtent or future products, Any claims or litig ation, with or without merit, could be time-consmning,
costly, and a diversion to management. Any such claims and litigation could also cause product shipment delays or
require us to enter into royalty or licensing arrangements. Such royalty or licensing arrangements, if required, may
not be available on terms acceptable to s, if at all. Therefore, litigation to defend and enforce our intellectual
property rights could have a material adverse effect on our business, regardless of the final outcome of such
litigation.

Clients may elect to terminate our maintenance contracts and manage operations internatly.



It is possible that our clients may elect to not renew maintenance contracts for our software, trying instead to
maintain and operate the software themselves using their perpetual license rights (excluding software applications
that we provide on a hosted or cloud basis), Alternatively, clients may elect to drop maintenance on certain modules
that they ultimately decide not to use. This could adversely affect our revenues and profits. Additionally, they may
inadvertently allow our intellectual property or other information to fall into the hands of third parties, including our
competitors, which could adversely affect our business.

Risks Associated with Selling Products and Services into the Public Sector Marketplace
Selling products and services into the public sector poses unique challenges.

We derive substantially all of our revenues from sales of software and services to state, county, and city
governments, other federal or municipal agencies, and other public entities, We expect that sales to public sector
clients will continue to account for substantiatly ali of our revermes in the future. We face many risks and challenges
associated with contracting with governmental entities, including:

*Resource limitations caused by budgetary constraints, which may provide for a termination of executed contracts due to
a lack of future funding
=Long and complex sales cycles
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*Contract payments at times being subject to achieving implementation milestones, and we may have differences with
clients as to whether milestones have been achieved

sPolitical resistance to the concept of contracting with third parties to provide IT solutions

+*Legislative changes affecting a local government’s authority to contract with third parties

*Varying bid procedures and intermal processes for bid acceptance

*Variouns other political factors, including changes in governmental administrations and personnel

Each of these risks is outside owr control. If we fail to adequately adapt to these risks and uncertainties, our financial
performance could be adversely affected. -

COVID-19 may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We expect that the continued global spread of COVID-19 may negatively impact our business and financial results
in fiscal year 2022, As the virs continnes to spread, it has resulted in authorities implementing ongoing measures to
contain the virus, including travel bans and resirictions, quaraniines, and business limitations and shutdowns. While
we are unable to accurately predict the full impact that COVID-19 will continue to have on our results from
operations, financial condition, liquidity and cash flows due to numerous uncertainties, including the duration and
severity of the pandemic and containment measures and associated compliance, we do expect the pandemic may
negatively impact our revenues and other financial results.

Because an increasing portion of our revenues are recurring, the effect of COVID-19 on our results of operations
may also not be fully reflected for some time. We may see some more itnmediate impact on our business should
there be new delays in government procurement processes and uncertainty around public sector budgets, or new
delays in implementations caused by travel restrictions, closed offices, or clients shifting focus to more pressing
issues.

Appraisal and software implementations projects may be delayed if clients put projects on hold or slow projects by
extending go-live dates. While we have the ability to deliver most of our professional services remotely, some of our
professional services, including appraisal assessments, are more effective when performed on-site, and certain
clients may continue 1o insist on on-site services in any event. In addition, our delivery of somme professional services
requires the availability of client personnel, There may be a negative impact on our revenues if we are unable to
deliver these services. Also, we expect software licenses and subscriplions revenues to be negatively affected if
there are delays in procurement processes. Some clients could request changes to payment terms, negatively
impacting the timing of collections of accounts receivables in future periods. For the twelve months ended
December 31, 2021, 79% of our total revenue and eamings are relatively predictable as a result of our subseription




and maintenance revenue, which is recurring in nature; thus the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic may not be fully
reflected in our results of operations and overall financial performance wntil fisture periods.

We have historically evaluated goodwill for impairment anmually as of April 1, or more frequently if impairment
indicators arose. During the second guarter 2021, we voluntarily changed the date of our annual assessment of
goodwill to October 1 for all reporting units. The change in testing date for goodwill impairment is a change in
accounting principle, which management belisves is preferable as the new date of the assessment better aligns with
our annual planning process. Subsequent to our anmial goodwill impairment analysis, we monitor for any events or
changes in circumstances, such as significant adverse changes in business climate or operating results, changes in
management’s business strategy, an inability to successfully introduce new products in the marketplace, an inability
to successfully achieve internal forecasts or significant declines in our stock price, which may represent an indicator
of impairment. The occutrence of any of these events, which could be caused or impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic, may require us to record future goodwill impairment charges.

A prolonged economic slowdown could harm our aperations.

A prolonged economic slowdown or recession could reduce demand for our software products and services.
Governments may face financial pressures that conld in turn affect our growth rate and profitability in the futore.
There is no assurance that governiment spending levels will be unaffected by declining or stagnant general economic
conditions, and if budget shorifalls occur, they may negatively impact government IT spending and could adversely
affect our business.

The open bidding process creates uncertainty in predicting fiture contract awards.

Many governmental agencies purchase products and services through an open bidding process. Generally, a
governmental entity wilt publish an established list of requirements requesting potential vendors to propose
solutions for the established requirements, To respond successfully to these requests for proposals, we must
accurately estimate our cost structure for servicing a proposed contract, the time required to establish operations for
the proposed client, and the likely terms of any other third-party proposals submitted, We cannot guarantee that we
will win any bids in the future through the request for proposal process, or that any winning bids will ultimately
result in contracts on favorable terms, Our failure to secure contracts through the open bidding process, or to secure
such contracts on faverable terms, may adversely affect our revenue and gross margins.
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We face significant competition from other vendors and potential new entrants into our markels.

We believe we are a leading provider of integrated solutions for the public sector. However, we face competition
from a variety of software vendors that offer products and services similar to those offered by us, as well as from
companies offering to develop custom software, We compete based on a number of factors, including:

*The attractiveness of our "evergreen” business model

+The breadth, depth, and quality of our prodact and service offerings

<The ability to modify our offerings to accommodate particular clients” needs
«Technological innovation

*Name recognition, reputation and references

*Price

*Qur financial strength and stability

Our market is highly fragmented with a large number of competitors that vary in size, product platform, and product

svape. Our competitors include consulting firms, publicly held companies that focus on selected segments of the
public sector market, and a significant number of smaller, privately held companies. Certain competitors have
greater technical, marketing, and financial resources than we do. We canoot assure you that such competitors will
not develop products or offer services that are superior to our products or services or that achieve greater market
acceplance.



We also compete with internal, centralized IT departments of governmental entities, which requires us to persuade
the end-user to stop the internal service and outsource to us. In addition, our clients and prospective clients could
elect to provide information management services internally through new or existing departments, which conld
reduce the market for our services.

We could face additional competition as other established and emerging companies enter the public sector software
market and new products and technologies are introduced. Increased competition could result in pricing pressurs,
fewer client orders, reduced gross margins, and loss of market share. Current and potential competitors may make
strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties, thereby
increasing the ability of their products to address the needs of our prospective clients. It is possible that new
competitors or alliznces may emerge and rapidly gain significant market share. We cannot assure you that we will be
able to compete successfully against current and future competitors, and the failure to do so would have a material
adverse effect upon our business.

Fixed-price contracts may affect our profits.
Some of our contracts are structured on a fixed-price basis, which can lead to various risks, including:

*The failure to accurately estimate the resources and time required for an engagement
+*The failure to effectively manage our clients’ expectations regarding the scope of services delivered for a fixed fee
*The failure to timely and satisfactorily complete fixed-price engagements within budget

If we do not adequately assess and manage these and other risks, we may be subject to cost overruns and penaltics,
which may harm our financial performance.

Changes in the insurance markets may affect our business.

Some of our clients, primarily those for our property appraisal services, require that we secure performance bonds
before they will select us as thelr vendor. In addition, we have in the past been required to provide letters of credit as
security for the issyance of a performance bond. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to secure such
performance bonds in the future on terms that are favorable to us, if at all. Our inability to obtain performance bonds
on favorable terms or at all could impact our fiture ability to win some contract awards, particularly large property
appraisal services contracts, which could negatively impact revenues. In addition, the general insurance markets may
experience volatility and/or restrictive coverage irends, which may lead to future increases in our general and
administrative expenses and negatively impact our operating results,

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Servicing our indebiedness requires a sigrificant amount of cash. We may not have sufficient cash flow from our
business to pay our indebtedness, and we may not otherwise have the ability fo raise the funds necessary to settle for
cash conversions of the Convertible Senior Notes or to repurchase the Convertible Senior Notes upon a fundamental
change, or to repay our indebtedness obligations under our 2021 Credit Agreement, each of which could adversely
affect our business and resulls of operations. )

As of December 31, 2021, we had outstanding an aggregate principal amount of $600 million of our Convertible
Senior Notes and $755 million under our 2021 Credit Agreement. In April 2021, we entered into the 2021 Credit
Agreement with significantly increased borrowing capacity of up to $1.4 billion and on the closing of the acquisition
of NIC on April 21, 2021, we borrowed initial loans in
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the aggregate principal amount of $1.15 billion, The 2021 Credit Agreement also hag an option to increase the
amount available up to an additional $500 million subject to our leverage and other factors. The proceeds from the
issuance of our Converifble Senior Notes and from loans under the 2021 Credit Agreement were used as sources of
funding for the acquisition of NIC. Our indebtedness may increase our vilnerability to any generally adverse
economic and industry conditions, and we and our subsidiaries may, subject to the limitations in the terms of our
existing and fiture indebtedness, incur additional debt, sacure existing or fisture debt or recapitalize our debt. I we




incur additional indebtedness, the risks related to our business would increase and our ability to service or repay our
indebtedness may be adversely impacted.

Pursuant to their terms, holders may convert their Convertible Senior Notes at their option prior to the scheduled
maturities of their Convertible Senior Notes under certain circumstances, Upon conversion of the Convertible Senior
Notes, unless we elect to deliver solely shares of our common stock to settle such conversion (other than paying
cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we will be obligated to maks cash payments. In addition, holders of
our Convertible Senior Notes will have the right to require us to repurchase their Convertible Senior Notes upon the
occurrence of a fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture, dated as of March 9, 2021, between the Company
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee™) (the "Indenture™), at a repurchase price equal to

100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if
any. Although it is our intention, and we currently expect to have the ability, o settle the Convertible Senior Notes
in cash, there is a risk that we may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain financing at the timne we are
required to malke repurchases of Convertible Senior Notes surrendered or Convertible Senior Notes being converted.
In addition, our ability to make payments tmay be limited by law, by regulatory authority, or by agreements
governing our future indebtedness. Our failure to repurchase Convertible Senior Notes at a time when the repurchase
is required by the Indentre or to pay any cash payable on future conversions of the Convertible Senior Notes as
required by the Indenture would constitute a defanlt under the Indenture. A default under the Indenture or the
fundamental change itseif could also fead to a default under agreements governing our other existing or future
indebtedness. If the repayment of other indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or grace
periods, we may not have sufficient funds to repay the other indebtedness and repurchase the Convertible Senior
Notes or make cash payments upon conversions thereof,

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal and interest on our indebtedness when due or to make
payments upon conversion or repurchase demands with respect to our Convertible Senior Notes, or to refinance our
indebtedness as we may need or desire, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial,
competitive, and other factors beyond our control. Our business may not continue to generate cash flow from
operations in the future sufficient to satisfy our obligations under our existing indebtedness, and any future
indebtedness we may incur, and to make necessary capital expenditares. If we are unable to generate such cash flow,
we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as teducing or delaying investments or capital
expenditures, selling assets, refinancing, or obtaining additionat equity capital on tetms that may be onerous or
highly dilutive, Qur ability to refinance existing or future indebtedness will depend on the capital tarkets and our
financial condition at such time., We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activitics
on desirable terms, which could result in a default on our existing or future indebtedness and have a material adverse
effsct on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Covenant restriciions under our indebtedness may limit our ability to operate our business and may adversely affect
our financial condition, results of operations, and earnings per share.

The Indenture governing the Notes and the 2021 Credit Agreement do, and our foture indebtedness agreements may,
contain covenanis that may restrict our ability to finance future operations or capital needs or to engage in other
business activities. Subject to customary carve-outs, thresholds and baskets, the 2021 Credit Agreement (and the
Indenture by means of a cross-default} restricts, absent consent of the agent and lenders under the 2021 Credit
Agreement, our ability and the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to, among other things:

«  Tncur additional indebtedness,

*  Permit liens on our assets,

» Make certain investments, acquisitions and dispositions,
= Make certain specified fundamental changes, and

»  Make certain restricted payments.

In addition, the 2021 Credit Agreement (and the Indenture by means of a cross-default) containg other enstomary
affirmative and negative covenants, and events of default. The 2021 Credit Agreement is unsecured but requires us
to maintain certain financial ratios regarding our total leverage and interest coverage and other financial conditions
in addition to the restrictions described above. Fivents beyond our control, including changes in general economic
and business conditions, may result in a breach of any of these covenants and result in a dofault under the 2021
Credit Agreement that may, in turn, result in a default under the Indentute, If an event of default under the 2021



Credit Agreement occurs, the lenders could terminate all commitments to lend and elect to declare all amounts
outstanding thereunder, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable. If we were unable to pay
such amounts, the lenders could proceed against the guarantees by our direct and indirect material domestic
subsidiaries. Should the lenders proceed
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against the guarantees, we cannot give assurance that we would have sufficient assets to pay amounts due on the
2021 Credit Agreement and the Convertible Senior Notes.

Variable rate indebtedness subjecis the Company to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service
obligations to increase significantly.

Our borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement are, and are expected to continue to be, at variable rates of interest
and expose Tyler to interest rafe risk. If interest rates increase, our debt setvice obligations on the variable rate
indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed remained the same, and our net income would
decrease. Revolving credit facility loans and Term A-1 Loans under the 2021 Credit Agreement bear interest at a per
anmum rate equal to, at our option, either (1) the administrative agent’s prime commercial lending rate (subject to
certain higher rate determinations) (the "Base Rate™) plus a margin of 0.125% to 0.75% or (2) the one-, three-, six-,
or, stbject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.125% to 1.75%. Our Term A-2
Loans bear interest, at our option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Base Rate plus a margin of 0.00% to 0.50% or
(2) the one-~, three-, six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 0.875% to
1.50%. The margin in each case is based upon our total net leverage ratio, as determined pursvant to the 2021 Credit
Agreement. Based on the debt under the 2021 Credit Agreement, the aggregate principal outstanding balance as of
December 31, 2021 is $755.0 million, and each quarter point change in interest rates would result in a $1.9 million
change in annnal intercst expense.

The conditional conversion feature of the Convertible Senior Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.

In the event the conditional conversion feature of the notes is triggered, holders of our Convertible Senior Notes will
be entitled to convert the Convertible Senicr Notes at any time during specified periods at their option, If one or
more holders elect to convert their Convertible Senior Notes, unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation by
delivering solely shares of our common stock (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we
would be required to settle a portion or all of our conversion cbligation through the pavment of cash, which could
adversely affect our liquidity. In addition, even if holders do not elect to convert their Convertible Senior Notes, we
could be required under applicable accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the
notes as a current rather than long-term liability, which would result in a material reduction of our net working
capital.

Transactions relating to our Convertible Senior Notes may affect the value of our common stock.

Our Convertible Senior Notes may become convertible in the foture at the option of their holders under certain
circumstances. If holders of our Convertible Senior Notes elect to convert their notes, we may settle our conversion
cbligation by delivering to them a significant number of shares of our common stock, which would cause dilution to
our existing shareholders.

Risks Associated with Our Periodic Resulis and Stock Price
Fluctuations in quarterly revenue could adversely impact our operating results and stock price.

Our revenues and operating results are difficult to predict and may fluctnate substantially from quarter to quarter for
a variety of reasons, including:

*The size of license transactions can vary significantly
*Clients may unexpectedly posipone or cancel procurement processes due to changes in strategu: priorities, project
objectives, budget, or personnel




«Client purchasing processes vary significantly and a client’s internal approval, expenditure authorization, and contract
negotiation processes can be difficult and time consuming to coruplete, even after selection of a vendor

«The number, timing, and significance of software product enhancements and new software product anmouncements by
us and our competitors may affect purchase decisions

*We may have to defer revenues under our revenue recognition policies and GAAF

«Clients may elect subscription-based arrangements, which result in lower software license revenues in the initial year as
compared to traditional, on-premise software license arrangements, but generate higher recurring revenues over the
term of the contract

In each fiscal quarter, our expense levels, operating costs, and hiring plans are based to some extent on projections
of futurs tevenues and are relatively fixed. If our actual revenues fall below expectations, we could experience a
reduction in operating results, Also, if actual revenues or earnings for any given quarter fall below expectations, it
may lead to a decline in our stock price.
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Increases in investment in research and development could decrease overall margins.

An important element of our corporate strategy is to continue to dedicate a significant amount of resources to
research and development and related product and service opportunities both through internal investments and the
acquisition of intellectual property from companies that we have acquired. We believe that we must continue to
dedicate a significant amount of resources to our research and development efforts to maintain our competitive
position and research and development expenses could adversely affect operating margins,

Our stock price may be volatile.

The market price of our common stock may be volatile. Examples of factors that may significantly impact our stock
price include:

*Actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results

«Annonncements of technological innovations, new products, or new contracts by us or our competitors
*Developments with respect to patents, copyrighis, or other proprictary rights

*Conditions and trends in the software and other technology industries

»Changes in financial estimates by securities analysts

»(veneral market conditions and other factors

In addition, the stock market has from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have
particularly affected the market prices of technology company stocks and may in the futare adverscly affect the
market price of our stock. Sometimes, secutities ¢lass action litigation is filed following periods of volatility in the
market price of a particular company’s securities. We cannot assure you that similar litigation will not occur in the
future with respect to us. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention
and resonrces, which could have 4 material adverse effect upon our financial performance.

Our finuncial eutlock may not be realized,

From time to time, in press releases and otherwise, we may publish forecasts or other forward-looking statements
regarding our results, including estimated revenues or eatnings, Any forecast of our future performance reflects
various assumptions. These assumptions are subject to significant uncertainties, and as a matter of course, any
number of them may prove to be incorrect, Further, the achievement of any forecast depends on numerous risks and
other factors (including those described in this discussion), many of which are beyond our control. As a result, we
cannot be certain that our performance will be consistent with any management forecasts or that the variation from
such forecasts will not be material and adverse, Current and potential stockholders are cantioned not to bass their
entire analysis of our business and prospects upon isolated predictions, but instead are encouraged to utilize our
entire publicly available mix of historical and forward-looking information, as well as other available information
regarding us, our products and services, and the software industry when evaluating onr prospective results of
operations.



Risks Associated with Our Growth Strategy and Other General Corporate Risks
We may experience difficulties in executing our acquisition strategy.

A material portion of cvr historical growth has resulted from strategic acquisitions. Although our focus is on internal
growth, we will continue to identify and pursue strategic acquisitions with suitable candidates. These transactions
involve significant challenges and risks, including risks that a transaction does not advance our business strategy;
that we do not achieve the expected retiim on our investment; that we have difficulty integrating business systems
and technology; that we have diffienlty retaining or integrating new employees; that the transactions distract
management from our other businesses; that we acquire unforeseen liabilities; and other wnanticipated events, Qur
future success will depend, in part, on our ability to successfully integrate future acquisitions into cur operations. It
may take longer than expected to realize the full benefits of these transactions, such as increased revenue, enhanced
efficiencies, or increased market share, ot the benefils may be ultimately less than we expected. Although we
conduct due diligence reviews of potential acquisition candidates, we may not identify all maierial liabilities or risks
related to acquisition candidates. There can be no assurance that any such strategic acquisitions will be
accomplished on favorable terms or will resuli in profitable operations,

Our failure to properly manage growth could adversely affect our business.

We continue to expand our operations by pursuing existing and potential market opportunities, This growth places
significant demands on management and operational resources. In order to manage growth effectively, we must
implement and improve our operational systems, procedures, and controls on a timely basis, If we fail to implement
these systems, our business may be materially adversely affected.
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We may be unable to hire, integrate, and ratain qualified personnel,

Qur continued success will depend upon the availability and performance of our key management, sales, marketing,
client suppott, and product development personnel. The loss of key management or technical personnel could
adversely affect us. We believe that our continued success will depend in large part upon our ability to attract,
integrate, and retain such personnel, We have at timaes experienced and continue to experience challenges, in
recruiting qualified personnel, Competition for qualified software development, sales, and other personnel is intense,
and we cannct assure you that we will be successful in attracting and retaining such personmel. In addition,
competitive job markets may increase our costs relating to compensation packages due to higher salary expectations
and pressures.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance may vesult in additional expenses.

Changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate governance, compliance, and public disclosure can
create mncertainty for public companies. The costs required to comply with such evolving laws across the various
states and at the faderal level are difficult to predict and/or harmonize., To maintain high standards of corporate
governance, compliance, and public disclosure, we intend to invest all reasonably necessary resources to comply
with evolving standards. This investment may result in an unforeseen increase in general and administrative
expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities, which may harm
onr operating resnlts,

We don’t foresee paying dividends on our common stock.

We have not declared nor paid a cash dividend since we entered the business of providing sofiware solutions and
services to the public sector in 1998, We intend to retain earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our
business. We do not anficipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, and Delaware faw could deter takeover attempts.




Our board of directors may issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock and may determine the price, rights,
preferences, privileges, and restrictions, including voting and conversion rights, of these preferred shares. These
determinations may be made without any further vote or action by our stockholders. The rights of the holders of our
common stock will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any preferred stock
that may be issued in the future, The issuance of preforred stock may make it more diffioult for a third-party to
acquire & majority of our outstanding voting stock. In addition, some provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation,
Bylaws, and the Delaware General Corporation Law could also delay, prevent, or make more difficult a merger,
tender offer, or proxy contest involving us,

M 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

Not applicable.

ivi 2. PROPERTIES.

We oceoupy & total of approximately 1.4 million square feet of office space, of which approximately 746,000 square
foet is in various office facilities we own. We own or lease offices for our major operations in the states of Arizona,
Arkansas, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Georgia, Illinois, lowa, Kansas, Maine, Massachusetis, Michigan,
Missouri, Montana, New Hampshire, New York, North Caroling, Ohio, Termessee, Texas, Virginia, Washington,
Washington D.C., Wisconsin, Ontario and British Columbia, Canada, the Philippines and the Bahamas.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

Other than routine litigation incidental to our business, thers are no material legal proceedings pending to which we
are party or to which any of our properties are subject.

iM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

Not applicable.
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PART I

M 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON BQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "TYL”, At December 31, 2021, we
had approximately 1,090 stockholders of record. Most of our stockholders hold heir shares in street name; therefore,
thete are substantiaily more than 1,090 beneficial owners of our common stock.

We did not pay any cash dividends in 2021 or 2020. Our bank credit agreement contains resirictions on the payment
of cash dividends. We intend to retain earnings for uss in the operation and expansion of our business and de not
anticipate paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable future,

The following table summarizes certain information related to our stock incentive plan, resiricted stock units and our
employee stock purchase plan. There are no warrants or rights related to our equity compensation plans as of
December 31, 2021,

Number of securities
Nuirber of secusities to  Weighted average  remaining available for
exercise price of

be ssned uj i . .
POn EXETCise outstanding options

fulure issuance under



of outstanding options, and unvested equity compensation
warrants, purchase rights  restricted stock units

plans {excluding
and vesting of restricted securities reflected in
gtock units ag of initial colomm
December 31, 2021 as of December 31,
2021)

Equity compensation plans

approved by securify

shareholders:

628,719

1,785,664 % 235.87 2,493,760

As of December 31, 2021, we had authorization to repurchase up to approximately 2.4 million additional shares of

Tyler common stock. During 2021, we purchased approximately 33,000 shares of our common stock for an
aggregate purchase price of $13.0 million.

A summary of the repurchase activity during 2021 is as follows:

. Maximum
Additional iumber of
nimber of shares that
shares may be
Total number authorized Average repirchased
of shareg that may be price paid  under current
Period repurchased repurchased pershare  authorization

Three months ended June 30 12,600 — 0800 2414576

2,414,576

2,414,579

The repurchase program, which was approved by our board of directors, was announced in Qctober 2002, and was
amended at various times from 2003 through 2019. There ie no expiration date specified for the authorization, and
we intend to repurchase stock under the program from time to time.

As of February 23, 2022, we had remaining authorization to repurchase up to 2,4 miilion additional shares of our
conmunon stock,
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Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed "soliciting material” or Yo be
"filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into
any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to
the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The following table compares total shareholder returns for Tyler over the last five years to the Standard and Poor’s
500 Stock Index and fhe Standard and Poor’s 600 Information Technology Index assuming a $100 investment made
on December 31, 2016. Each of the three measures of cumulative total return assumes reinvestment of dividends,
The stock performance shown on the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future price performance.
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IM 6.

is section has been eliminated as a result of adopting the November 19, 2020 amendment to Item 301 of Regulation 8-K.
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IM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and
telated notes included in Item & of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. For a comparison of our Results of Operations
for the years ended December 31, 2020, and 2019, and our Cash Flow discussion for the year ended December 2020,
see "Part II, Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Resnlts of Operations” of
our Anmmal Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the SEC on February 19,
2021. :

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This doczment contains "forward-locking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1932 and Section 21E of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934 that are not historical in nature and typically address
future or anticipated events, trends, expectations or beliefs with respect to our financial condition, results of
operations or business. Forward-Jooking statements often contain words such as "believes,” "expects,” "anticipates,”
"foresees,” "forecasts,” "estimates,” "plans,” "intends,” "continues,” "may,” "will,” "should,” "projects,” "might,”
"oould” or other similar words or phrases. Similarly, statements that describe our business strategy, outlook,
objectives, plans, intentions or geals also are forward-locking staternents, We believe there is a reagsonable basis for
our forward-looking stateraents, but they are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties and actual results could
differ materially from the expectations and beliefs reflected in the forward-looking staternents. We presently
consider the following to be among the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our
expectations and beliefs: (1) the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, including its potential effects on the
economic environment, our customers and our operations, as well as any changes to federal, state or local
government laws, regulations or orders in connection with the pandemic; (2) changes in the budgets or regulatory
environments of our clients, primarily local and state governments, that could negatively impact information
technology spending; (3) disruption to our business and harm to our competitive position resulting from cyber-
attacks and security vulnerabilities; (4) our ability to protect client information from security breaches and provide
uninterrupted operations of data centers; (5) onr ability to achieve growth or operational synergies through the
integration of acquired businesses, while avoiding unanticipated costs and disruptions to existing operations; (6)
material portions of our business require the Internet infrastcucture to be adequately maintained; (7) our ability to
achieve our financial forecasts due to vartous factors, including project delays by our clients, reductions in
transaction size, fewer transactions, delays in delivery of new products or releases or a decline in our renewal rates
for service agreements; (8) general economic, political and market conditions; (9) technological and market risks
associated with the development of new products or services or of new versions of existing or acquired products or
services; {10} competition in the industry in which we conduct business and the impact of competition on pricing,
client retention and pressure for new products or services; (11) the ability to attract and retain qualified persontiel
and dealing with the loss or retirement of key members of management or other key persontiel; and {12) costs of
compliance and any failure to comply with government and stock exchange regulations, A detailed discussion of



these factors and other risks that affect our business are described in Item 1A, "Risk Factors”, We expressly disclaim
any obligation to publicly update or revise our forward-looking statements,

OVERVIEW
General

We provide integrated information management solutions and services for the public sector. We develop and market
a broad line of sofiware products and services to address the IT needs of cities, counties, states, schools, federal
agencies, and other government entities. In addition, we provide professional IT services to our clients, including
software and hardware installation, data conversion, training and for certain clients, product modifications, along
with continuing maintenance and support for clients using our systems. We also provide subscription-based services
such as software as a service ("SaaS”), transaction and payment processing solutions, and electronic document filing
solutions ("e-filing™), which simplify the filing and management of court related documents. We also provide
property appraisal outsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions.

Our products generally automate nine major functional areas: (1) financial management and education, {2) courts
and justice, (3) public safety, (4) property appraisal and tax, (5) planning, regulatory and maintenance, (6) land and
vital records management, (7) data and insights, (8) platform technologies, and (9) NIC digital government and
payments. We report our results in three segments. The Enterprise Software ("ES") segment provides public sector
entities with software systems and services to meet their information technology and automation needs for mission-
critical "back-office’” functions such as: financial management; courts and justice processes; public safety; planning,
regulatory and maintenance; data analytics; and platform technologies. The Appraisal and Tax ("A&T”) segment
provides systems and software that automate the appraisal and assessment of real and personal property, land and
vital records management as well as provides property appraisal outsourcing services for local governments and
taxing authorities. Property appraisal outsourcing services include: the physical inspection of commercial and
residential properties; data collection and processing; computer enalysis for property valuation; preparation of tax
rolls; comimunity education; and arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction. On April 21, 2021, the
Company acquired NIC, Inc. ("NIC”) resulting a new reportable segment, gs its
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operating results meet the criteria as a reportable segment. The operating results of NIC are included with the
operating results of the NIC segment from the date of acquisition.

As of January 1, 2021, cettain administrative costs related to information technology, which were previously
reported in the ES and A&T segments, were moved to the Corporate segment to reflect changes in the way
management makes operating decisions, allocates resources, and manages the growth and profitability of the
Company. Prior year amounts for all segments have been adjusted to reflect the segment change. See Note 15,
"Segment and Related Information,” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information,

Recent Acquisitions

On September 9, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Ultimate Information Systems, Ine. (dba Arx). Arxisa
clond-based platform which creates accessible technology to enable a modern-day police force that is fully
transparent, accountable, and a trusted resource to the community it serves. The total purchase price, net of ¢ash
acquired, was approximately $12.8 million, of which $12.4 million was paid in cash and approximately $0.5 million
was accrued for indemnity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments.

On September 1, 2021, we acquired VendEngine, Inc (VendEngine) as contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of
Merger dated June 3, 2021. As result of the merger, VendEngine became a direct subsidiary of the Company.
VendBngine is a cloud-based sofiware provider focused on financial technology for the corrections market. The total
.purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1.7 million, was approximately $83.8 million, consisting of $80,2 million
paid in cash, and approximately $5.4 million related to indemnity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing
adjustments.




On April 21, 2021 ("the Closing Date™), we acquired NIC as contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger
dated February 9, 2021, As result of the merger, NIC became a direct subsidiary of the Company and NIC’s
qubsidiaries became indirect subsidiaries, NIC is a leading digital government solations and payment company that
primarily serves federal and state government agencies. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $331.8
million, was approximately $2.0 billion, consisting of cash paid of $2.3 billion and §1.9 million of purchase
consideration related to the conversion of unvested restricted stock awards, subject to post-closing adjusiments.

On March 31, 2021, we completed two acquisitions, Glass Arc, Inc. (dba ReadySub) and DataSpec, Inec. (DataSpec),
for the combined purchase price of $12.1 million.

2021 Credit Agreement

In cormection with the completion of the acquisition of NIC, on the Closing Date we, as borrower, entered into a
new $1.4 billion Credit Agreement {the "2021 Credi Agreement™) with the various lenders party thereto and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender, and Issaing Lender, The 2021 Credit
Agreement provides for (1) a senior unsecured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principel amount of up to
$500 million, including sub-facilities for standby letters of eredit and swingline loans (the "Revolving Credit
Facility™, (2) an amortizing five-year term loan in the aggregate amount of $600 million (the "Term Loan A-17),
and {3) a non-amortizing three-year term loan in the aggregate amount of $300 million (the "Term Loan A-2") and,
together (the "Term Loans™), The 2021 Credit Agreernent matures on April 20, 2026. The 2021 Credit Agreement
replaces and terminates the Company’s previous $400 million credit facility pursuant to the Credit Agreement dated
as of September 30, 2019 (the "2019 Credit Agreement”). The Company’s previously announced commitment from
Goldman Sachs Bank USA for a $1.6 billion 364-day senior unsecured bridge loan facility also terminated on the
Closing Date, The net proceeds from the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement were $1.1 billion, net of debt
disconnts of $7.2 million and debt issuance costs of $4.9 million and $6.4 millicn of commitment fees paid related
to the terminated $1.6 billion unsecured bridge loan facility.

As of December 31, 2021, we had $755.0 miflion in outstanding principal and available borrowing capacity of $500
million under our 2021 Credit Agreement.

0.25% Convertible Senior Notes

On Mazch 9, 2021, we issued 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 in the aggregate principal amount of $600.0
million ("the Convertible Senior Notes™ or "the Notes™). The Convertible Senjor Notes were issued pursuant to, and
are governed by, an indenturé {the "Indenture”), dated ag of March 9, 2021, with U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee. The net proceeds from the issuance of the Coavertible Senior Notes were $591.4 million, net of initial
purchasers’ discounts of $6.0 million and debt issuance costs of $2.6 million.
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The Convertible Senior Notes are senior, unsecured obligations and are (i) equal in right of payment with our future
senior, unsecured indebtedness; (ii) senior in right of payment to our futere indebtedness that is expressly
subordinated to the Notes; (iii} effectively subordinated to our future secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value
of the collateral securing that indebtedness; and (iv) structurally subordinated to all future indebtedness and other
liabilities, including trade payables, and (to the extent we are not a holder thereof) preferred equity, if any, of our
subsidiaries.

The Convertible Senior Notes accrue interest at a rate of 0.25% per annurm, payable semi-antmally in arrears on
March 15 and Septetnber 15 of each year, beginning on September 15, 2021, The Convertible Senior Notes mature
on March 15, 2026, unless earliet repurchased, redeemed or converted.

As of December 31, 2021, we had outstanding an aggregate principal amount of 600 million of our Convertible
Senior Notes.

2021 Operating Results



For the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, total revenues increased 42.6% compared to the prior
year. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, total revenues increased 8.9% compared to prior year. Reverues from
acquisitions contributed 33.7% of growth for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021.

Subscriptions revenue grew 123.7% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, due (o an ongoing shift
toward a cloud-based, software as a service business model, as well as the inclusion of transaction-based revenues’
from NIC’s digital government and payments processing businesses. Excluding the impact of recent acquisitions,
subscriptions revenue inereased 23 4% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021.

Our backlog at December 31, 2021 was $1.80 billion, a 12.6% increase from last year.

‘We monitor and analyze severat key performance indicators in order to manage our business and evaluate our
financial and operating performance. These indicatots include the following:

Revenues — We derive our revenues from five primary sources: sale of software licenses and royalties; subscription-
based anangements; software services; maintenance; and appraisal services. Subscriptions and maintenance are
cousidered recurring revenue sources and comprised approximately 79.1% of our revenue in 2021, The mumber of
new SaaS clients and the number of existing clients who convert from our fraditional sofiware arrangements to our
Saa8 model are a significant driver of our revenue growth, together with new software license sales and
maintenance rate increases. In addition, we also monitor our customer base and turnover, which historically is very
low, During 2021, based on our number of customers, tutnover was approximately 2%.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins — Our primary ¢ost component is personnel expenses in connection with
providing software implementation, subscription-based services, maintenance and support, and appraisal services to
our clients. We can improve gross margins by controlling headcount and related costs and by expanding our revenue
base, especially from those products and services that produce incremental revenue with minimal incremental cost,
such as sofiware licenses and royalties, subscription-based services, and maintenance and support. Our appraisal
projects are cyclical in nature, and we often employ appraisal personnel on a shori-term basis to coincide with the
life of a project. As of December 31, 2021, our total employee count increased to 6,778 from 5,536 at December 31,
2020, including 1,063 employees who joined Tyler through acquisitions in 2021,

Selling, General and Administrative ("SG&A™) Expenses — The primary components of SG&A expenses are
administrative and sales personnel salaries and commissions, share-based compensation expense, marketing
expense, rent and professional fees. Sales commissions typically flnctuate with revenues and share-based
compensation expense generally increases as the market price of our stock increases. Other administrative expenses
tend to grow at a slower rate than revenues,

Liquidity and Cash Flows — The primary driver of our cash flows is net income. Uses of cash include acquisitions,
capital investments in property and equipment and discretionary purchases of treasury stock, Our working capital
needs are fairly stable throughout the year with the significant components of cash outflows being payment of
personnel expenses offset by cash inflows representing collection of accounts receivable and cash receipts from
clients in advance of revenue being earned. In recent years, we have also received significant amounts of cash from
employees exercising stock options and contributing to our Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Balance Sheet — Cash, accounts receivable and days sales outstanding and deferred revenue balances are important
indicators of out business.
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Impacts of the COVID-19 Parndemic

Although market activity improved throughout 2021 in most sectors of our business and continues to trend to near or
above pre-pandemic levels, the pandemic continues to delay some government procurement processes and is
expected to impact our ability to complete certain implementations, negatively impacting our revenue, We continue
to monitor these trends in order to respond to the ever-changing impact of COVID-19 on our clients and Tyler’s
operations,




For the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, excluding the impact of 2021 acquisitions, the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic resulted in lower revenues from software services. Software services revenues have been
affected by a decline in billable travel revenue, s most services are now being delivered virtually rather than on-
site. Lower revenues compared to prior periods were partially offset by continued cost savings attributed to lower
spend on travel and user conferences and trade show expenses. As travel restrictions are relaxed, software services
and appraisal services revenues are increasing. Also, we have adapted the way we do business by encouraging web
and video conferencing, conducting virtual sales demonsirations and delivering professional services remotely,
which result in increases in staff utilization rates and billable time.

For the twelve mouths ended December 31, 2021, total revenues include COVID-related subscriptions revenue and
software services revenues of $75.0 million from NIC's TourHealth, pandemic unemployment services, and Vitginia
rent relief offerings. We currently expect that these low margin COVID-related revenues from TourHealth and
pandemic unemployment will wind down in the first half of 2022, while revenues from the Virginia rent relief
program are expecied to continve through 2022.

Revenues from subscriptions and maintenance, which we consider recurring in nature, comprised 79.1% of our total
consolidated revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, and include transaction-based revenue
streatns such as transaction and payment processing, e-filing, and digital government services. As of December 31,
2021, we had $407.8 million in cash and investments and available borrowing capacity of $300.0 million under our
2021 Credit Agreement. We had outstanding an aggregate principal amount of $600 million of our Convertible
Senior Notes, and $755 million outstanding under our 2021 Credit Agreement as of Decemnber 31, 2021, During the
fourth quarter of 2021, we completed our annual assessment of goodwill which did not result in an impairment
charge. Therefore, we have recorded no impairment as of and for the petiod ended December 31, 2021. We
identified no indicators of impairment to long-lived and other assets and therefore, no impairment was recorded as
of and for the period ended December 31, 2021. However, due to significant uncertainty surrounding COVID-19
and market conditions, there are no assurances conditions will not deteriorate in the future.

Recent gdoption of new accounting pronourcements

In August 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (*ASU™) 2020-06 - Debt with Conversion and
Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 8153~
40): dccounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracis in an Entity's Own Equity ("ASU 2020-06”), which
simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments by removing the separation models for (1) convertible debt
with a cash conversion feature and (2) convertible instruments with a beneficial conversion feature. As a result, a
convertible debi Instrument will be accounted for as a single liability measured at its amortized cost. These changes
will reduce reported interest expense and increase reported net income for entities that have issued & convertible
instrument that was bifurcated according to previously existing rules. ASU 2020-06 also requires the application of
the if-converted method for caleulating diluted earnings per share and the treasury stock method will be no longer
available, This standard will be effective for the Company’s fiscal years beginning in the first quarter of 2022, with
early adoption permitted. The Company has elecied to early adopt this standard as of January 1, 2021. Our
accounting and disclosures related to our Convertible Senior Notes issned on March 9, 2021, reflect the
requirements of this standard. For further information, please refer to Note 6, "Debt.”

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, ("ASU 2019-127)
which simplifies the accounting for income taxes, eliminates certain exceptions within ASC 740, Income Taxes, and
clarifies certain aspects of the current guidance to promote consistency among reporting entities, The new standard
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, We adopted ASU 2019-12 as of Janwary 1, 2021,
The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Guidance not yet Adopted

In Oclober 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 - dccounting for Coniract Assets and Contract Liabilities from
Contracts with Customers (ASC 805)("ASU 2021-08"). ASU 2021-08 requires an acquirer in a business
combination to recognize and measure contract assets and coniract liabilities (deferred revenue) from acquired
contracts using the revenue recognition guidance in Topic 606, Under this "Topic 606 approach,” the acquirer
applies the reverue model as if it had originated the conlracts. This is a departure from the current requirement to
measare contract assets and contract liabilities at fair value, ASU 2021-08 is effective for all public business entities



in annual and interim periods starting after December 15, 2022, and early adoption is permitted. We early adopted as
of January 1, 2022. Adopting this standard could have a material impact on revenue associated with an acquired
business.
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Outlook

The local government software market continues to be active with sales activity trending at or near pre-pandemic
levels in most sectors of our business, and our backlog at December 31, 2021 reached $1.80 billion, a 12.6%
increase from the pricr year. We expect to continue to achieve solid growth in revenue and earnings. With our strong
financial position and cash flow, we plan to continue to make significant investments in product development and
accelerating our move to the cloud to better position us to continue to expand our addressable market and strengthen
our competitive position over the long term. The expenses associated with the cloud transition ate expected to
pressure operating margins in 2022 and 2023,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
("GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, the reported amounts of revenues,
cost of revenues and expenses during the reporting period, and related disclosure of contingencies. The Notes to the
Financial Statements included as part of this Annual Report describe our significant accounting policies used in the
preparation of the financial statenients. Significant items subjéct to such estimates and assumptions include the
application of the progress toward completion methods of revenne recognition, estimated standalone selling price
("SSP") for distinct performance obligations, the carrying amount and estimated useful lives of intangible assefs,
determination of share-based compensation expense and valuation allowance for receivables. We base our estimates
on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions
or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies require significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition. We earn revenue from software licenses, royalties, subscription-based services, software
services, post-coniract customer support ("PCS™ or "maintenance™), hardware, and appraisal services. Revenue is
recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an areount that reflects the
consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services, We determine revenue recognition
through the following steps:

Identification of the contract, or ¢ontracts, with a customer

*Identification of the performance obligations in the confract

*Determination of the transaction price

»Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

*Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation

Most of our sofiware arrangements with customers contain multiple performance obligations that range from
software licenses, installation, training, and consulting to software modification and customization to meet specific
customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS. For these contracts, we account for individual performance obligations
separately when they are distinct. We evaluate whether separate performance obligations can be distinet or should be
accounted for as one performance obligation. Arrangements that include software services, such as training or




installation, are evaluated to determine whether the customer can benefit from the services either on their own or
together with other resources readily available to the customer and whether the services are separately identifiable
from other promises in the contract, Many of our software arrangements involve "offithe-shelf” software. We
recognize the revenue allocable to "off-the-shelf" software licenses and specified upgrades at a point in time when
control of the software license transfers to the customer, unless the software is not considered distinct. We consider
off-the-shelf software to be distinet when it can be added to an arrangement with minor changss in the underlying
code, it can be used by the customer for the customer’s purpose upon installation, and remaining services such as
training are not considered highly interdependent or highly interrelated to the product's functionality.
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For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where
software services are otherwise not considered distinet, we recognize revenue over time by measuring progress-to-
completion. We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer
of control to the customer which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. These arrangements are often
implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized
in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our
cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined.
Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period i which we first determine that a loss is
apparent, When software services are distingt, the fee allocable to the service element is recognized over the time we
petform the services and is billed on a time and material or milestones basis.

Subscription-based services consist of revenues derived from SaaS arrangements, which primarily wiilize the Tyler
private cloud, transaction and payment processing, electronic filing tramsactions, and digital government services.
Revenue from subscription-based scrvices is generally recognized over time ona ratable basis over the contract
term, beginning on the date that our service is made available to the customer. For 3aaS arangements, we evaluate
whether the customer has the contractual right to take possession of our software at any time duting the hosting
period without significant penaity and whether the customer can feasibly maintain the software on the customer’s
hardware or enter info another arrangement with a third-party to host the software. We allocate contract value to
each performance obligation of the arrangement that qualifies for treatment as a distinct element based on estimated
SSP. We recognize Saa$ arrangements ratably over the terms of the arrangements, which range from one to ten
years, but are typically for periods of three to five years. For software services associated with certain SaaS
arrangements, we have concluded that the services are not distinct, and we recognize the revenue ratably over the
remaining contractual period once we have provided the customer access to the software. We record amounts that
have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue
recognition criterfa have been met.

For transaction and payments revenue and e-filing transaction fees, we have the right to charge the customer an
amount that dircetly corresponds with the value to the customer of our performance to date. Therefore, we recognize
revenue for these services over time based on the amount hillable to the customer in accordance with the 'as
invoiced' practical expedient in ASC 606-10-55-18. In some cases, we are paid on a fixed fee basis and recognize
the revenue ratably over the contractual period, Typically, the structure of our arrangements does not give rise to
variable consideration. However, in those instances whereby variable consideration exists, we include in our
estimates, additional revenue for variable consideration when we believe we have an enforceable right, the amount
can be estimated reliably and its realization is probable.

The transaction price is allocated 1o the separate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis. We determine the
SSP based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including
the value of our contracts, the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types of users within
our contracts. We use a range of amounts to estimate SSP when we sell each of the products and services separately
and need to determine whether there is a discount to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the various products
and services. Tn instances where $SP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the product or service
separately, we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach. Revenue is recognized net of
allowances for sales adjustments and any taxes collected from custorers, which are subsequently remitted to
governmental authorities.



‘We maintain allowances for losses and sales adjusiments, which losses are recorded against revenue at the time the
loss is meurred. Since most of our olients are domestic governmental entities, we rarely incur a credit loss resulting
from the inability of a client to make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the
catrying amount for the allowances for losses and sales adjusiments may require revision, inclnde, but are not
limited to, managing our client’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered and defects or
errors in new versions or enhancements of our sofiware products. Our allowance for losses and sales adjustments of
$12.1 miltion and $9.3 million at December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, respectively, does not include
provisions for credit losses. As of January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit
Losses, and primarily evaluated our historical experience with credit losses related to trade and other receivables.
Because we rarcly exporionce credit losses with our clients, we have not recorded a material reserve for credit
losses.

In connection with certain of our contracts, we have recorded retentions receivable or unbilled receivables consisting
of costs and estimated profit in excess of billings as of the balance sheet date. Many of the contracts which give rise
to unbilled receivables at a given balance sheet date are subject to billings in the snbsequent accounting period, We
review unbilled receivables and related contract provisions to ensure we are justified in recognizing revenue prior to
billing the customer and that we have objective evidence which allows us to recognize such revenue, In addition, we
have a sizable amount of deferred revenmue, which represents billings in excess of revenue earned. The majority of
this liebility consists of subscriptions and maintenance billings for which payments are made in advance and the
revenue is ratably earned over the subscription or maintenance period, generally one year. We also have deferred
revenue for those contracts in which we receive a deposit and the conditions in which to record revenue for the
service or product have not been met. On a periodic basis, we review by customer the detail components of our
deferred revenue to ensure our accounting remains appropriate.
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Business Combinatiors. Accounting for the acquisition of a business requires the allocation of the purchase price to
the various assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective fair values. The determination of fair value
requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, and in making these determinations, management uses all
available information.

For tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination, management estimates the fair
value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on quoted market prices, the carrving value of the acquired
assets and widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses, The
assumptions made in performing these valuations include, but are not limited to, discount raies, fiture revenues and
operating costs, projections of capital costs, and other assumptions believed to be consistent with those used by
principal market participants.

Due to the specialized nature of these calculations, we engage third-party specialists to assist mansgement in
evaluating our assumptions as well as appropriately measuring the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, We adjust the preliminary purchase price allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acguisition
closing date as we obtain new information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the closing date. If actnal
results arc materially different than the assumptions we used to determine fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed through a business combination as well as the estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible
assets, it is possible that adjustments to the carrying valnes of such assets and liabilities will have a material impact
on our financial position and results of operations.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill. Our business acquisitions typically resuit in the creation of goodwill and other
intangible asset balancos, and these balances affect the amount and timing of future period amortization expense, as
well as expense we could possibly incur as a result of an impairment charge. The cost of acquired companies is
aliocated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets based on estimated fair vahue, with the excess allocated to
goodwill. Accordingly, we have a significant balance of acquisition date intangible assets, including software,
customer related intangibles, trade name, leases and goodwill. These intangible assets (other than goodwill) are
amortized over their estimated useful lives. We currently have no intangible assets with indefinite lives other than
goodwill.




Wo assess goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate its carrving value may not be recoverable, We begin with the qualitative assessment of whether it is more
likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying value before applying the quantitative
assessment described below. When testing goodwill for impairment quantitatively, we first compare the fair value of
gach reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied
fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. The fair values caloulated in our impairment tests are
determined using discounted cash flow models involving several agsumptions (Level 3 inputs). The assumptions that
are used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical markstplace participant would use in estimating fair value.
We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we balieve to be reasonable but that are unpredictable and
inherently uncertain. We evaluate the reasonableness of the fair value calculations of our reporting units by
compating the total of the fair value of all of our reporting units to our total market capitalization.

We have histotically performed our annual assesstnent of goodwill impairment as of April 1. During the second
quarter of 2021, we voluntarily changed the date of our annual assessment of goodwill to October 1 for all reporting
units. The change in testing date for goodwill impairment is a change in accounting principle, which management
believes is preferable as the new date of the assessment better aligns with our annual planning process. The change
in the assessment date did not defay or aveid a potendial impairment charge nor did it change our requirement to
asgess goodwill on an interim date between scheduled annmal testing dates if triggering events are present. To ensure
that no lapse in an assessment occurred since the prior period, we performed qualitative assessments as of April 1,
for all reporting units except for the data and insights and platform technologies reporting units. As a result of these
qualitative assessments, we determined that it was not more likely than not that an impairment existed; therefore, we
did not perform Step 1 quantitative impairment test. We did perform a quantitative assessment for goodwill
associated with our data and insights and platform technologies reporting units as of April 1, 2021, As a result of our
interim qualitative and quantitative assessments, we concluded no impairment existed.

During the fourth quarter, as part of our annmal impairment test as of October 1, we performed qualitative
assessments for all reporting units except for recently acquired businesses. As a result of these qualitative
assessments, we determined that it was not more Yikely than not that an impaimment existed; therefore, we did not
perform a Step 1 quantitative impairment test. We did perform a quantitative assessment for goodwill associated
with our recently acquired businesses, data and insights, NIC, and platform technologies reporting units, and
conchuded no impairment existed as of our annual assessment date. The data and insights, NIC, and platform
techuologies business units combined goodwill was §1.6 billion, or 68%, of total goodwill as of December 31, 2021.
Our annual goodwill impairment analysis did not result in an impairment charge. Duriug 2021, we have recorded no
impairment to goodwill as no triggering events or changes in circumstances indicating a potential impairment have
occurred as of period-end.
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Determining the fair value of our reporting units involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions and
considerable management judgment. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable at
the time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty, Changes in market conditions or other factors
outside of our control, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, could cause us to change key assomptions and onr
judgment about a reporting unit’s prospects. Similarly, in a specific period, a reporting unit could significantly
underperform relative to its historical or projected future operating results. Either situation could result in a
meaningfully different estimate of the fair value of our reporting units, and a consequent future impairment charge.

All intangible assets (other than goodwilt) are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumatances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of other
intangible assets is measured by comparison of the carrying amount to estimated undiscounted future cash flows.
The assessment of recoverability or of the estimated useful life for amortization purposes will be affected if the
timing or the amount of estimated future operating cash flows is not achieved. Such indicators may include, among
others: a significant decline in expected futnre cash flows; a sustained, significant decline in stock price and market
capitalization; a significant adverse change il legal factors or in the business climate; unanticipated competition; and
reductions in growth rates, In addition, products, capabilities, or technologies developed by others may render our
software products obsolete or non-competitive. Any adverse change in these factors could have a significant impact



on the recoverability of goodwill or other intangible assets. During 2021, we did not identify any triggering events
that would indicate that the carrying amount of our intangible assets may not be recoverable.

Share-Based Compensation. We have a stock incentive plan that provides for the grant of stock options, restricted
stock units and performance stock units to key employees, directors and non-employee consultants. We estimate the
fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant. Share-based compensation expense includes the estimated
effects of forfeitures, which will be adjusted over the requisite service period to the extent actual forfeitures differ or
are expected to differ from such estimates. Changes in estimated forfeitures are recognized in the period of change
and will also impact the amount of expense to be recognized in future periods. Forfeiture rate assumptions are
derived from historical data,

We estimate stock price volaiility at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of our common

stock. Estirnated option life is determined using the weighted-average period the stock options are expected to be
outstanding based primarily on the options’ vesting terms, remaining contractual life and the employees’ expected
exercise based on historical patterns, Determining the appropriate fair-value model and calculating the fair value of
share-based awards at the grant date requires considerable judgment, including estimating stock price volatility,
expected option life and forfeiture rates.
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ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER

The following discussion compares the historical results of operations on a basis consistent with GAAP for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,

Percentage of Total Revenues
Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Revenues!

Software licenses and royalties 46% 6.5% 92%

: 2314

* Subseriptions -

Software sarvices 16.7 19.6

"Total revenues 100.0 1000

Cost of software licenses, royalties and
acquired software

Coist of subscriptions, software services at
: itcnan




Amortization of customer and rade nams

intangibles 238 19 20

Net income 10.1 % 17.5% 13.5%
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2021 Compared fo 2020
Reveryes
Acquisitions

On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC and as result of the merger, NIC became a direct subsidiary of the Company
and NIC’s subsidiaries became indirect subsidiaries. NIC is a leading digital government solutions and payment
company that serves federal, state and ocal government agencies,

The following table dstails revemye (in thonsands) for NIC for the period from acqmisition through Desember 31,
2021, which is included in our consolidated statements of income from the date of acquisition. The results of NIC
are included with the operating resnlts of the NIC segment from the date of acquisition.

2021

Revenues:

Subscriptions . 344,602

Maintenance 560

Hardware and cther i

Software licenses and royalties.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our software licenses and royalties revenue for the years ended
December 31:

Change

($ in thousands) 2021 200 S %

- - '$ 68101 § 64200 § 3,901 6%



Software licenses and royalties revenue increased 2% compared to the prior year. The growth is primarily attributed
to several large on-premise sales of our courts and justice, enterprise, and platform technologies solutions partially
offset by the shift in the mix of new sofiware contracts toward more subscription-based agreements compared to the
prior year. Our mix of new software contracts in 2021 was approximately 33% petpetual software license
arrangements and approximately 67% subscription-based arrangements compared to total new client mix in 2020 of
approximately 38% perpetual software license arrangements and approximately 62% subscription-based
arrangements,

Although the mix of new contracts between subscription-based and perpetual license arrangements may vary from
quarter to quarter and year to year, we expect our longer-term sofiware license growth rate to be negatively impacted
by a growing number of customers choosing our subscription-based options, rather than purchasing the software
under a traditional perpetnal software license arrangement. Subscription-based arrangements result in lower software
license revenue in the initial year as compared to perpetual software license arrangements but generate higher
overall revenue over the term of the contract.
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Subscriptions.

The following table sets forth & comparison of our subscriptions revenue for the years ended December 31

Change

($ in thousands) 2021 2020 $ %

ES $ 406494 $ 326284 % 80,210 25%

NIC 344,602 — 344,692 100

Subscription-based revenue primarily consists of revemme derived from our SaaS arrangements. As part of our
subscription-based services, we also provide electronic document filing solutions ("e-filing") that simplify the filing
and management of court related documents for courts and law offices. E-filing revenue is derived from transaction
fees and fixed fee arrangements. Other sources of subseription-based services are detived from transaction-based
fees primarily related to digital government services and payment processing.

Subscription-based revenue increased 124% compared to 2020, primarily due to the inclusion of NIC’s revenues
from the date of acquisition. Excluding the impact of revenue from 2021 acquisitions of $351.7 million,
subscriptions revesue increased 23.4%. New SaaS clients as well as existing clients who converted to onr SaaS
model provided the majority of the subscription revenue increase, In 2021, we added 533 new Saa$S clients and 239
existing clients elected to convert to our S8aaS model. Also, transaction-based fees contributed $19.1 million to the
increase in subscription revenue due to the increased volumes of online payments and slightly increased e~filing
services volumes in 2021,

Saftware services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our software services revenue for the years ended Decembey 31:




Change

{$ in thousands}) 2021 2020 E %

$ 167065 § 154520 § 2,545 2%
NIC o 23,665 — 23,665 100

Software services revenue primarily consists of professional services billed in cotmection with implementing our
software, converting client data, training client persormel, custom development activities and consulting, New
clienis who purchase our proprietary software licenses or subscriptions generally also comtract with vs to provide for
the related softwars services, Existing clients also periodically purchase additional training, consulting and minor
programming services.

Software services revenue increased 12% compared to the priot year period, primarily due to the inclusion of NIC's
revenues from the date of acquisition. Fxcluding the impact of revenue from 2021 acquisitions of $23.8 million,
software services revente declined 0.5%. The decline in software services revenue is primarily atiributed to a
decline in billable travel revenue, as most services are now being delivered virtually rather than on-site. Also
contributing to the decline is the increase of clients selecting our cloud solutions instead of our on-premises license
arrangements which typically require more professional services.
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Muinfenance.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our maintenance revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change

{(§ in thonsands) 2021 2020 k3 %

§ 438726 § 429224 § 9,502 2%

We provide maintenance and sapport services for our software products and certain third-party software.
Maintenance revenue was essentially flat and gprew 1% compared to the prior year. Mainienance revenue increased
mainly due to contributions of maintenance revenue from recent acquisitions and completing the recognition of the
majority of acquisition-related deferred maintenance revenue that was fair valued at rates below Tyler's average
maintenance rate in prier periods. The remainder of the increass is attributed to anfual maintenance rate increases
and growth in our installed customer base from new software license sales, offset by attrition, the impact of
customers selecting our Szal solutions instead of on-premises solutions, and clients converting from on-premises
license arrangements to subscriptions,

Appraisal services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our appraisal services revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change



{($ i thousands) 2021 2020 3 %

ES

In 2021, appraisal services revenue increased 32% compared to the prior year primarily due to relaxed travel
restrictions allowing for the ramp-up of appraisal services for several new revaluation contracts which started in
recent quarters. The appraisal setrvices business is somewhat cyclical and driven in part by statutory revaluation
cycles in various states,

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margins

The following tabie sets forth a comparison of the key components of our cost of revenues for the years ended
December 31:

($ in thousands) 2021 2020 5 %

Software licenses and royaltios $ 3R77 % 3339 § 2,538 76 %

Subs.cﬁp.tim;é; softwars servioes and maintenance 7 ?994158

510,504

Hardware atd other

. Total

The following table sets forth a comparison of gross margin percentage by revenue type for the years ended
December 31:

Gross margin percentage 2021 2020 Change

Software licenses, royalties and acquired soflware 30.9% 51.8% (20.9)%

-Appraisal services . 24,5 6.9

Oferéli él.'os“s ﬁ]ﬁrgu{ 446% 43.6% (4.0)%
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Software licenses, royalties and acquired software. Cost of software licenses, royalties and acquired software is
primarily comprised of amortization expense for acquired software and third-party softwate costs. We do not have
any direct costs associated with royalties. The gross margin decrease of 20.9% is due to the increased amortization
expense related to acquired software from acquisitions completed in 2021,




Subscriptions, software services and maintenance. Cost of subscriptions, software services and maintenance
primarily consists of personnel costs related to installation of our software, conversion of client data, training client
personnel and support activities and varicus other services such as custom client development, on-going operation of
Saa$, digital government, and other transaction-based services such as e-filing. Other costs included are interchange
fees required to process credit/debit card transactions and bank fees to process automated clearinghouse transactions
related to our payments business. In 2021, the subscriptions, software services and maintenance gross margin
declined 3.6% compared to the prior year primarily due to the inclusion of NIC’s revenues, which historically have
lower margins than Tyler. Excluding the impact from 2021 acquisitions, gross margin was 45.0% in 2021, a
decrease of 0.2%, primarily due to higher emplovee headcount. Our implementation and support staff grew by 125
employees since December 31, 2020, as we increased hiring to ensure that we are well-positioned to deliver our
current backlog and anticipated new business. The decline in margin is partially offset by improved utilization of our
professional services staff resulting from the shift to virtual delivery of most implementation services.

Appraisal services. Appraisal services revenue comprised approximately 1.7% of total revenue. The appraisal
services gross margin increase of 6.9% compared to 2020 is primarily dve to ramping of several new revaluation
projects and cost savings attributed to lower travel expenses associated with appraisal projects. The appraisal
services business is somewhat cyelical and driven in part by statutory revaination ¢ycles in various states,

Gross Margin. Qur 2021 blended gross margin decreased 4.0% compared to 2020, primarily due to the inclusion of
NIC’s revennes, which historically have lower margins than Tyler. Excluding the impact from 2021 acquisitions,
overall gross margin was 48.5% in the current year period. The slight decrease of 0.1% in overall gross margin is
attributed to increased amortization expense related to acquired sofiware from recent acquisitions, partially offset by
a reduction in software services revenue from reimbursable travel that has little to no margin, 2s well as improved
utilization of onr professional services staff resulting from the shift to virtual delivery of most implementation
services.

Selline, General gand Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A”) expenses consist primarily of salaries, employee benefits, travel,
share-based compensation expense, commissions and related overhead costs for administrative and sales and
marketing employees, as well as, professional fees, trade show activities, advertising costs and other marketing
costs. The following table sets forth a comparison of our SG&A expenses for the years ended December 31;

Change
($ in thousands) 2021 2020 5 %

SG&A as a percentage of revenue was 24.5% in 2021 compared to 23.2% in 2020. SG&A expense increased
approximately 50% compared to the prior year period, primarily due to the inclusion NIC's SG&A expenses.
Bxeluding the impact of SG&A expense from 2021 acquisitions of $49.1 million, SG&A increased 31.6% compared
to prior year periods. The increase in SG&A is attributed to transaction costs related to recent acquisitions, higher
stock compensation expense, higher bonus and commission expense due to improved operating results and other
administrative expenses compared {o prior periods. In 2021, SG&A includes $23.5 million of transaction expenses
related to acquisitions completed in 2021. We also incurred $1.6 miliion of expense related to a separation
agreement with NIC's former Chisf Executive Officer. During 2021, stock compensation expense rose $31.8 million
compared to prior periods, primarily due to an increase in share-based awards issued in connection with our stock
compensation plan coupled with the higher fair value of each share-based award due to the increase in our stock
price. SG&A expense also included $3.2 million related to an accrual for litigation.
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Research and Develégment Expiense



Research and development expense consists primarily of salaries, employee benefits and related overhead costs
associated with new product development. The following table sets forth a comparison of owr research and
development expense for the years ended December 31:

Change

(3 in thousands}) 2021 2020 $ %

Research and development expense consists mainly of costs associated with development of new products and
technologies from which we do not currently generate significant revenue.

Research and development expense increased 6% in 2021 compared to the prior year period, mainly due to a number
of new Tyler product development initiatives across our product suites, including increased investments in research
and development at recently acquired businesses. To support these initiatives, our research and development staff
grew by 107 since December 31, 2020.

Amortization of Customer and Trade Name Intangibles

Acquisition intangibles are comprised of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets
acquired that is allocated to acquired software, leases and custorner and trade name intangibles, The remaining
excess purchase price is allocated to goodwill that is not subject to amortization, Amortization expense related to
acquired software is included with cost of revenues, while amortization expense of customer and trade name
intangibles is recorded as operating expense. The estimated useful lives of both customer and trade name intangibles
range from five to 25 years. The following table sets forth a comparison of amortization of customer and trade name
intangibles for the years ended December 31:

(8 in thousands) 2021 w0 § %

Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles increased due to the impact of intangibles added with several
acquisitions completed in 2021.

Estimated annual amortization expense relating to customer, trade name, and lease acquisition intangibles, excluding
acquired software for which the amortization expense is recorded as cost of revenues, for the next five years and
thereafter is as follows (in thousands):

54,971“.

53,769
i s2g01

556,138

Interest Expense

The following table sets forth a comparison of interest expense for the years ended December 31:




Change

{3 in thowsands) 2021 2020 $ %

nterest cxpense T 08) 'S 3) 0
Interest expense is pr imarily nonipriséd of interest expense and commitment and other foes associated with our
borrowings. The change in interest expense compared to the prior period is attributable to higher levels of

borrowings related to the 2021 Credit Agreement and Convertible Senior Notes, including $6.4 million related to the
senior unsecured bridge loan facility commitment fee in 2021.
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Other Income, Net

The following table sets forth a comparison of other income, net for the years ended December 31:

Change

($ in thousands) 2021 2020 3 Y%

prior period is attributable to the significant decrease in interest rates on invested cash balances since March 2020,
partially offset by higher levels of invested cash.

Income Tax Provision

The following table sets forth a comparison of our income tax provision for the years ended December 31:

Change

(% in thousands) 2021 2020 $ %

The increase in the income tax provision and the effective income tax rate in 2021 corapared to the prior year is
primarily due to a decrease in excess tax benefits from share-based compensation in 2021. The share-based exercise
and vesting activity in 2021 generated $47.7 million of excess tax benefits, while exercise and vesting activity in
2020 generated $60.2 million of excess tax benefits. Excluding the impact of the excess tax benefits, our income tax
provision and effective tax rate in 2021 would have been $45.2 million and 28.4% and in 2020, would have been
$40.4 million and 23.1%, respectively.

The effective income tax rates in both 2021 and 2020 differed from the United States federal statutory corporate
income tax rate of 21% primarily due to excess tax benefits related to stock incentive awards, the tax benefit of
research tax credits and the

roloaso of reserves for unrecognized income tax benefits resulting from expiration of the statutes of limitations for
certain tax years, offset by state income taxes and non-deduectible business expenses.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY



As of December 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $309.2 million compared to $603.6 million at
December 31, 2020, We also had $98.7 million invested in investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and
asset-backed securities as of December 31, 2021, compared to $154.8 million at December 31, 2020, These
investments mature trom 2022 through 2027. During the fourth quarter, Management determined that onr
investment portfolio would no longer be held to maturity, The impact to the financial statements in the current year
is not material. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit with several domestic banks and money market
funds. As of December 31, 2021, we had $748.5 miilion outstanding borrowings under our 2021 Credit Agreement
and one outstanding letter of credit totaling $2.0 million in favor of a client contract. We believe our cash on hand,
cash from operating activities, availability under our revolving line of credit, and zccess to the credit markets
provide us with sufficient flexibility to meet our long-term financial needs.

The following table sets forth a summary of cash flows for the years ended Decernber 31;

(3 in thousands) 2021 2020 2019

Operating activities 3 371,753 § 3585089 & 254,720

Financing activities . 1,424,730 114,172 28,698

e

RS SR R

Net cash provided by operating activities continues to be our primary source of funds to finance operating needs and
capital expenditures. Other potential capital resources include cash on hand, public and private issuances of debt or
equity securities, and bank borrowings. 1t is possible that our ability to access the capital and credit markets in the
future may be limited by economic conditions or other factors. We currently believe that onr cash on hand, cash
provided by operating activities, and available credit are sufficient to
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fund our working capital requirements, capital expenditures, income tax obligations, and share repurchases for at
least the next twelve months.

In 2021, operating activities provided cash of $371.8 million compared to $355.1 million in 2020, Operating
activities that provided cash were primarily comprised of net income of $161.5 million, non-cash depreciation and
amortization charges of $135.6 million, non-cash share-based compensation expense of $104.7 million and non-cash
decrease in operating lease right-of-use assets of $10.2 million. Working capitel, excludiag cash, decreased
approximately $43.1 million due to mainly due to timing of payments to and receipts from our government partners
and end-nser conswmers, (iming of prepaid expenses, timing of payments of payroll related taxes and vendor
invoices, and deferred taxes associated with stock option activity during the period. These increases were offset by
the timing of tax payments and an increase in deferred revenue during the period. In general, changes in deferred
revenue are cyclical and primarily driven by the timing of our maintenance renewal billings, Our renewal dates
occur throughout the year, but our largest renewal billing eycles occur in the second and fourth quarters. In addition,
subscription renewals are billed throughout the year.

Days sales outstanding in accounts receivable were 108 days at December 31, 2021, compared to 121 days at
December 31, 2020. D3O is calculated based on quarter-end accounis receivable divided by the quotient of
annualized quarterly rovenues divided by 360 days. The decrease in DSO compared to December 31, 2020, is
attributed to improved collection efforts and a reduction in unbilled receivables related to contracts under which
revemue is being recognized on the percentage of completion basis, )

Investing activities used cash of $2.1 billion in 2021 compared to $98.3 million in 2020, We invested $77.5 million
and received $131.4 million in proceeds from investment prade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed




securities with maturity dates ranging from 2022 through 2027. On March 31, 2021, we completed two acquisitions
with the total purchase price, net of cash acquired, of $12.1 million paid in cash. On April 21, 2021, we completed
the acquisition of NIC for the total purchase price of $2.0 billion, net of cash acquired of $331.8 million, including
cash paid of $2.3 billion and $1.9 million of purchase consideration related to the conversion of unvested restricted
stock awards, On September 1, 2021, we acquired VendEngine for the total purchase price, net of cash acquired of
$1.7 million, of approximately $83.8 million consisting of $80.2 million paid in cash and approximately $5.4
miltion related to indemmity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments, On September 2, 2021, we
acquired all of the equity interest of Arx for the total purchase price, nef of cash acquired, of approximately $12.8
million, of which $12.3 million was paid in cash and approximately $0.5 million was accrued for indemnity
holdbacks, Approximately $33.9 million was invested in property and equipment, inclrding $12.8 million related to
real estate. In addition, approximately $21.7 million of software development was capitalized in 2021. The
remaining additions were for computer equipment and fumiture and fixtures in support of internal growth, with the
majority associated with our data centers supporting growth in our clond-based offerings. These expenditures were
funded from cash generated from operations.

Investing activities used cash of $98.3 million in 2020, We invested $156.6 million and received $82.7 million in
proceeds from investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-backed securitiés. During 2020, we
received $15.0 million in proceeds from the sale of the investment in convertible preferred stock representing a 20%
interest in Record Holdings to BFTR, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Bison Capital Partners V.L.P. During the
same period, we purchased $10.0 million in common stock representing a 18% interest in BETR, LLC. We paid $1.3
million in working capital and indemnity holdbacks in connection with the 2019 acquisition of Courthouse
Technologies, Ltd, Approximately $22.7 million was invested in property and equipment, inchiding $9.9 million
related to real estate. Tn addition, approximately $5.8 million of sofiware development was capitalized in 2020, The
remaining additions were for computer equipraent and furniture and fixtures in support of internal growth,
particularly with respect to data centers supporting growth in ont clond-based offerings. These expenditures were
funded from cash generated from operations. .

Financing activities provided cash of $1.4 billion in 2021 compared to $114.2 million in 2020. Financing activities
in 2021 were primarily comptised of proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021
Credit Agreement. On March 9, 2021, we issued $600 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Senior
Notes. The net proceeds from the issnance of the Convertible Senior Notes were $591.4 million, net of initial
purchasers’ discounts of $6.0 million and debt issuance costs of $2.6 million. On Apeil 21, 2021, in connection with
the completion of the NIC acquisition, the Company, as borrower, entered into a new 2021 Credit Agreement with
various lenders consisting of an umsecured revolving credit facility of up to $500 million and unsecured term loans
totaling $900 million. The net proceeds from the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement were $1.1 billion, net
of debt discounts of $7.2 million and debt issuance costs of $4.9 million and $5.4 million of cornmitment fees paid
related to the terminated $1.6 billion unsecured bridge loan facility, During the twelve months ended December 31,
2021, we repaid $250.0 million of the unsecured revolving credit facility and $145.0 million of the unsecured term
loans. The remainder of the financing activities comprised of receipts of $109.% million from stock option exercises
and employee stock purchase plan activity. We also purchased approximately 33,000 shares of our common stock
for an aggregate purchase price of $13.0 million,

Financing activities provided cash of $114.2 million in 2020, Financing activities in 2020 wete ptimarily comprised
of receipts of $135.3 million from stock option exercises and employes stock purchase plan activity. We also
purchased approximately 59,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $15.5 million.
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In February 2019, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of an additional 1.5 millicn shares of Tyler
common stock, The repurchase program, which was approved by our board of directors, was announced in Oetober
2002, and was amended at various times from 2003 through 2019, As of February 23, 2022, we had remaining
authorization to repurchase up to 2.4 million additional shares of our common stock. Qur share repurchase program
allows us to repurchase shares at our discretion, Market conditions influence the timing of the buybacks and the
nurmber of shares repurchased, as well as the volume of employee stock option exercises. Share repurchases are
generally funded using our existing cash balances and borrowings under our credit facility and may ocour through



open market purchases and fransactions structured through investment banking institutions, privately negotiated
transactions and/or other mechanisms, There is no expiration date specified for the authorization and we itend to
repurchase stock under the plan from time to time.

As of December 31, 2021, we had $755.0 million in cutstanding principal and available borrowing capacity of $500
miltion under cur 2021 Credit Agreement and an aggregate principal amount of $600 million of cur Convertible
Senior Notes. We paid interest of $17.7 million, including $6.4 million related to the senior unsecured bridge loan
facility commitment fee in 2021, $0.6 million in 2020, and $1.8 million in 2019. See Note 6, "Debt,” to the
Consolidated Financial Staiements for discussions of the Convertible Senior Notes and the 2021 Credit Agreement,

We paid income taxes, net of refunds received, of $2.2 million in 2021, $3.3 million in 2020, and $21.3 million in
2019. In 2021, we experienced significant stock option exercise activity that generated net tax benefits of $47.7
million and reduced tax payments accordingly. In 2020 and 2019, excess tax benefits were $60.2 million and $29.8
million, respectively.

We anticipate that 2022 capital spending will be between $635 million and $70 million, inclnding approximately $7
million related to real estate and approximately $36 million of capitalized software development. We expect the
majority of the other capital spending will consist of computer equipment and software for infrastrocture
replacements and expansion. Capital spending is expected to be funded from existing cash balances and cash flows
from operations.

Prom time to time we engage in discussions with potential acquisition candidates. In order to pursue such
opportunities, which could require significant commitments of capital, we may be required to incur debt or to issue
additional potentially dilutive securities in the future. No assurance can be given as to our fiuture acquisition
opportunities and how such opportunities will be financed. We lease office facilities for use in our operations, as
well as transportation and other equipment. Most of our leases ate non-cancelable operating lease agreements and
they expire from one year to 10 years. Some of these leases include options to extend for up to 10 years.

CAPITALIZATION

At December 31, 2021, our capitalization consisted of $1.3 billion of outstanding debt and $2.3 billion of
sharcholders’ equity.

IM7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may affect us due to adverse changes in financial market prices and
interest rates.

As of December 31, 2021, we had $755.0 million in outstanding principal under our 2021 Credit Agreement and
available borrowing capacity under the 2021 Credit Agreement was $500.0 million,

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A-1 will bear interest, at the Company’s option,
at a per anmum rate of either (1} the Administrative Agent’s prime commercial lending rate (subject to certain higher
rate delerminations) {the "Base Rate”) plus a margin of 0.125% t0 0.75% or (2} the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to
approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.125% to 1,75%. The Term Loan A-2 will bear
interest, at the Company’s option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Base Rate plus a margin of 0% to 0.5% or (2)
the one-, three-, or six-, or, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 0.875% to
1.5%.

During the year ended December 31, 2021 our effective average interest rate for our borrowings was 1.84%. As of
December 31, 2021, our interest rate was 1.55% for our outstanding borrowings, Based on the debt under the 2021
Credit Agreement, the aggregate outstanding principal as of December 31, 2021 is $755.0 million, and each quarter
point change in interest rates would result in a $1.9 million change in anmmal interest expense,

M 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.,




The reports of our independent registered public accounting firm and our financial statements, related notes, and
supplementary data are included as part of this Annual Report beginning on page F-1,
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IM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

Mone.

M GA. CONTROLS ANI PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures — We maintain disclosure controls and procednres {as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act) designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summatized and reported within the time periods speoified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Thess include controls and
procedures designed to ensure that this information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including .
our chief execalive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosures. Management, with the participation of the chief executive officer and chief fimancial officer, evaluated
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2021, Based on this evaluation, the
chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosnre controls and procedures were
effective as of December 31, 2021,

Management's Report on Internal Control Qver Financial Reporting --— Tyler’s management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting as defined in Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15(D). Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to
Tylet’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial
statements,

Becanse of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements, Therefore, even those systems detsrmined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with
respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effvctiveness of Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2021. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 frameworlk) {the COSO criteriz). Based on our assessment, we
concluded that, as of Docember 31, 2021, Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting was effective based on
those criteria.

Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 has been avdited by Ernst & Young LLP,
the independent registered public accounting firm who also andited Tyler’s financial staternents, Brnst & Young’s
attesiation report on Tyler’s internal control over financial reporting appears on page F-1 hersof.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporiing -— During the quarter ended December 31, 2021, there were
no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-13(f),
that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

IM 9B, OTHER INFORMATION,
None.
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PART I

See the information under the following captions in Tyler’s definitive Proxy Staterment, which is incorporated herein
by reference. Only those sections of the Proxy Statement that specifically address the items set forth herein are
incorporated by reference. Such incorporation by reference does not include the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis, the Compensation Committee Report or the Audit Committee Report, which are included in the Proxy
Statement.

Headings in Proxy Stateraent

ECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE "Tyler Management” and "Corporate Governance Principles and
GOVERMNANCE. Board Matters”

ICUTIVE COMPENSATION. “Executive Compensation”

URITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND “Security Ownership of Cettain Beneficial Owners and
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS. Management™

TAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND "Executive Compensation” and

DIRECTOR. INDEPENDENCE, "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions”

NCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required ueder this item may be found under the section captionéd "Proposals For Consideration — Proposal Two — Ratification
of Our Independent Anditors for Fiscal Year 2021 in our Proxy Statement when filed.
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PART IV
ITEM 15, EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

The following documents are filed ag part of this Annual Report:

(a) {1) The financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report,

Page
Repous of lndepedent Regigtered Public Acoounting Fiem (PCAOB ID: 42) Pl
Conzolidated Statements of Comgprehensive oome for the vears anteld December 31, 2021, 2070, and 2010 F4
Censolidated Balance Sheets as of Decemnber 31, 20721 and 2020 7
Congolidaied Strtements of Cash Flows for the vears ended Decomber 31, 2021, 2026, and 2019 ]
Consolidated Staternents of Sharchodders’ Pty for fhe-vomy snded Docember 31, 2021, 2020 snd 2019 fied
DMotes 1o Consolidaied Fingncial Staterents B8

(2) Financial statemsnt schedules:




There are no firancial statement schedules filed as patt of this Annual Report, since the required information is ineluded
in the finanoial statements, including the notes thereto, or the circumstances requiring inclusion of such schedules are not
present.

{3) Exhibits
Certain of the exhibitd to this Annuoal Report are hereby incorporated by reference, as specified:
Exhibit
Mumber Descrlption
Restated Certificats of Incotporation of Tyler Three, as amended through May 14, 1990, and Certificate of Designation of Series A
3.1 Junior Participating Preferred Stouk {filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1990, and incorperated
by reference herein),
17 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Cartificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 8-X, dated February 19,
" 1998, and incorporated by reference herein).
33 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Tyler Technolouiss Jnc., dated Februry 1, 2022 (filed gp Exbibit 3.1 to our Form 8-K duted
* Febrmmey 7, 2022, and incorparnied by roforance heveing,
14 Certificate of Amendment dated May {3, 1999 1o the Resated Certifivate of Ineotnotation tfiled as Hxhibit 3.4 10 ow Form 10-X
== for iho vear ended December 31, 2000, and incormuried by reference hersin),
4l Specimen of Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our registration statement no. 33-33505 and incorporated by
) reference heren).
44 Crodit Asreemment dated Aprii 21,2021, among Tylor Technologies, Ine. and Wells Frpo Baok, 14, A as Administrative Asent and
i oftiet Jenders pariy_hereto (Hled as Exhibit 10,1 fo our Form 8K duted April 21, 2021, snd incosporatod bv reference hercing,
43 Aprepment and Plan of Merser, daied Esbuiny 9, 2021 by and among Tyler Tmimgmggmomgﬁmm;&mmémmc
: Fagd filad as Fxlibit 2.1 to our Form $-K., dated Febouaes 19, 2021, and incorpoiated by reference herefny,
10.1 ﬁgg;lweﬁ Stock Purchase Plan filed as Fichibit 10,1 to our yewiatration staternent 333-182318 dated June 23, 2012 and
T Imnorporated by refrsoce herein),
18, Emylovimant snd Non-Compstition Agrsement between Tvler Techaologies. Ing. and Jobn 8. Marr Jr, effegtive Fobagery 26 2018
B ifiled as Brhibi 10,1 s our Form 844 dated March 9, 2018 and § netrnorated iag reference hemmh
43
Exhibit
Number Deseription
10.3 Ewgm;m__@_ﬂ;}gﬁm kit g e fwreen Tyler Teohnolopies. Ino, and Brian K, Miller efeetive Tabruayy 26, 2018
"’“ {filed as Exhibie | lemalimw ik 5h 9, 2018 3 st meorperaied iy reference harelnk
18 Ergislovment and Non-Comnetition Agteemant betwean Tyler Techmologics, Ing. and H, Lyoe Moors, Jr effective Felwpary 26,
- wmmmym 10.2.30 our Form 8- dated March 9, 2018 and incomosated by referance herein),
10.5 Auresment and plan of merzer by and among, Tyler Technokedes. o, TMP B Subsidinee., Ing. MP Holdine Pagent, Ine. {iled ax
— Exhibit 10.7 to oer Form 10-K dated Pebigiey 20, 2019 s0d incoipeimsted b reference hereind,
06 Tyler Technolowios, Ine, 2018 Stwek € Bl mi’f@ctwe ag of Ma: QMIM ag Apendix A fo fhe registrent's Proxy
- Starement Filed with the Commingsion on Maroh 28, 2018 and Inegeporat Qy yeferencs herein,
211 Sybsidiaries of Tyler Technologies, Ing.
23 Lonsent of Independstt Reelstered Public Accomnging Firm.
*31.1 Rule 13a-14¢03 CertiBication by Privcingl Bxecutive Gffieer fus Cortification by Principal Executive Officer.
Rulg 13a-141a3 Certification by Principal Finaneisl Officer,

*31.2



Hication of Princinal Bxsontive Oficer and Principal Finansial Qfficer,

Section 1330 Cer

*+101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the Instance Documntent does not appear in the interactive data file becanse its XBRL tags,
: including Cover Page XBRL tags, are embedded within the Inline XBRL, Document,

¥161.5CH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document,
*101.CAL  nline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
#*101.LAB Inline XBRL Extension Labels Linkhase Document,
*101L.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurnent.
*101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document,
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRI. and contained in Exhibit 101).

* — Filed herewith,

A copy of each exhibit may be obtained at a price of 15 cents per page, with a $10.00 minimum order, by writing
Investor Relations, 5101 Tennyson Partkway, Plano, Texas, 75024,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requitetnents of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Date: Febrpary 23, 2022 By: /s/ H. Lynn Moore, Ir,

H. Lyon Moore, Ir,
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated have signed this report below.

Date; February 23, 2022 By: s/ Johm S. Marr, Jr,
‘ John 8. Man, Jr,

Executive Chairman of the Board

Director

Date: February 23, 2022 By: 3/ H. Lynn Mooze, Jr,

H. Lynn Moore, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Qfficer

(principal executive officer)

Date: February 23, 2022 By: /s/ Brian K., Miller

Brian K. Miller




Date: February 23, 2622

Date: Febroary 23, 2022

Date: February 23, 2022

Date: February 23, 2022

Date: February 23, 2022

Diate: February 23, 2022

Date: Febroary 23, 2022

By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

By

By

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Qfficer

(principal financial officer)

/s/ W, Michael Simith

W. Michael Smith
Chisf Accounting Officer

(principal accounting officer)

s/ Glenn A. Carter

Glenn A, Carter

Director

/s/ Brenda A. Cline

Brenda A. Cline

Director

/s/ Ronnie D. Hawkins, JR.

Ronnie D. Hawkins, Jr.

Director

/uf Mary Landrien

Mary Landrien

Director

/! Daniel M, Pope

Daniel M, Pops

Director

18/ Dustin R.Womble

Duastin R, Wonble

Director
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Repert of Independent Registered Public Aceounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Direvtors of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Opinion on the Finaneial Staterents

We have andited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tyler Technologies, Inc. (the Company) as of
Diecember 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, sharcholders’ equity
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes {collectively
referred to as the "consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all materiai respects, the financial position of the Company at Trecember 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results



of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United
States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal ¢contrel over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Frameworlk issued by the Committee of Sponsm'mg Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 23, 2022 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Corapany’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a prblic accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. These standards require that we plan and
perform the andit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether dus to error or frand, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluaiing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements,
We believe that cur audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical andit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current peried audit of the financial
statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to
accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) invelved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of ctitical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion
on the consolidated fmancial statemenis, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit
maiters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit maiters or on the accounts or disclosures to which
they relate,

Goodwill impairment tests

Description of  As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s goodwill asset balance of $2.4 billion was

the Muiter attributable to multiple reporting vnits. As disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidaied financial
statements, goodwill is assessed annually for impaiiment, or more frequently if an event cccurs
or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting
unit below ity carrying value. The Company performs a qualitative assessment of whether it is
more likely than not that & reporting wnit’s fair valne is less than its carrying value. If it is
determined through the evaluation of events or circumstances that the carrying value may not
be recoverable, the Company performs a quantitative analysis comparing an estimated fair
value of the reporting unit to ifs carrying value,

Auditing management’s quantitative analyses for goodwill impairment was complex and highly
judgmental due to the significant judgement required to determine the fair value of these
reporting units. In particular, the Company’s fair value estimates for these reporting units wete
sensitive to significant assnmptions, such as weighted average cost of capital and revenve
growth rates, which are forward looking and affected by expectations about foture market or
economic conditions.




F-1

How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Aundit

Description of
the Matter

How e
Addressed the
Matter in Cur
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of
comirols over the Company’s review process for quantitative goodwill impairment assessments,
including comtrols over management’s review of the significant assumprtions described above.

To test the estimated fair value of the applicable reporting units, we performed audit procedures
that included, among others, assessing the methodologics and testing the significant
assumptions discussed above and the undertying data used by the Company in its analyses, We
evaluated management’s forecasted revenue to identify, understand and evaluate changes as
compared to historical results and performed sensitivity analyses of significant assumptions to
evaluate the changes in the fair value of the reporting units that would result from changes in
the sssumptions. We also involved interna! valuation specialists to assist in evaluating
management’s methodologies and significant assumptions applied in developing the fair value
estimates.

Valaation of Acquired Intangible Assets in a Business Combination

As deseribed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial staternents, the Company acquired NIC, Ine, (NIC)
during 2021 for a total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $2.0 billion. The transaction was
accounted for as a business combination.

Auditing the Company's accounting for its acquisition of NIC was complex due to the significant
slze of the transaction and the estimation uncertainty in the Company’s determination of the fair
value of identified intangible assets related to customer relationships and developed technology
which aggregated to $777 millior. The significant estimation uncertainty was primarily due to the
sensitivity of the respective fair values to the significant imderlying assumptions required in the
vahiation models used to value the intangible assets and the sensitivity of the respective fair values
to underlying assumptions about the future performance of the acquired business, The Company
vahied customer relationships using a discounted cash flow model. The significant assumptions used
in this model included the customer atirition rate, weighted average cost of capital, existing customer
revent growth and operating matging, The Company valued the daveloped technelogy using the
relief-from-royalty method, The significant assumptions used in this method included the royalty
rate, obsolescence rate and weighted average cost of capital. These are forward looking assumptions
which are affected by expeotations about future market or economic conditions.

We obfained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of the
Company’s internal controls over its accounting for the valuation of these intangible assets. For
exarmnple, we tested controls over the Company’s process to identify and value acquired imangible
assets as well as controls over management's review of the valuation models and the sipnificant
assumptions described shove used to develop such estimates.

To test the estimated fair values of the acquired customer relationships and developed technology,
we performed audit procedures that included, among others, evaluating the Company’s selection
of the valuation methodelogies, evaluating the significant assumptions used in the Company’s
valuation calculations and testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data
supporting the significant assumptions. We involved our valuation specialists to assist with our
evaluation of the methodologies used by the Company and significant asstnptions included in
the fair value estimates. Additionally, we performed sensitivity analyses and compared



significant assumptions to forecasts and to historical financial results of both the Company and
the acquiree, among other procedures.

s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1966.
Dallas, Texas

February 23, 2022
F-2

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Sharcholders and the Beard of Directors of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Controel over Financial Reporting

We have audited Tyler Technologies, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based
on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Tyler
Technologies, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, shareholders” equity and cash flows for each of the three vears in
the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes and our report dated February 23, 2022 exprossed an
unqualified opinion therson.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s managetnent is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our andit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U8, federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance aboul whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Coutrol Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporiing is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting




includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
aceurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with anthorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivencss to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurcs may
deteriorate.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 23, 2022

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2021 2020 2019

Software Hoenses and royalties $ 74452 S 7164 § 100,205
st s - RGE s
S'oﬁwarerserrvicas 209,391 - .213,061

430318
23479

27,788 21,127

1,592,287 1,116,663 1,086,427

4sg01 siger

ind mairienance: s

799,138 02,138,
19061 15,945 15,337
, i

569,527

Total cost of revenues 882,643 574,151

Gross profit . .709,644 S42,5ﬁ . 16,.90.0




Selling, general and administrative expenses 190,579 259,561 257,746

Amortization of customer and trade name intangibles

Operating income ' 180,735 172,926 156,367

Interest expense (23,298) {1,013} (2,027

Income before income faxes 158,981 175,042 159,838

Net income S 161458 $ 194820 S 146527

Earnings per common share:

See accompanying hotes.
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Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
{(In thousands, except par value and share amounts)

12/3172021 12/31/2020

Cuorrent agsets:

382,319

39,720 18,734

168004
6therassets: . o

\t G03(s; il

S LAb




Goodwill 2,359,674 838,428

" Non-curent investmeats 46,353 82,640

$ 4732161 § 2,607,274

$ 119988 § 1401l

10,560

Term loans, net 718,511 —

1,075,650 005,332

1,273,614 1,112,156

Total shareholders' equity 2,324,032 1,986,111

See accompanying notes.




Tyler Technologies, Inc,

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31

(In thousands)

2021 2020 2019

194,820 146,527

161,458

135,624

81,657 76,672

Provision for losses and sales adjustments - accounts receivable

. Opesating Tease right-ofu

Deferred incorme tax benefit (13271

Accounts receivable 17,608 (65738)

)
' Prepaid expenses and other cutrent assets (23.863) (8,976)

(6.113)

(6,952)
' Cste
44,442

371,753 254720

(156,618)

Purchase of investment in coinmon shares h — (10,000) —

Invesiment in software (5,776) (4,804}

Net borrowings on revelving credit facility — — —_—

Ty +(145,000)




900,000 —_ —

Proceeds from term loans

600,000

Coniesn 0 — .

Payment of debt issuance costs

urchase of treasury shares -~

603,623 232,682 134,279

See accompanying notes.
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Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Sharcholders’ Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019

(In thousands)
‘ Accummlated %
Common Stock 4 gttonal Othor Treasury Stock o
Paid-in  Comprehensive  Retained Shareholders’
Shares  Amount Capital Imcome {£L.033) Eamings  Shares  Amount Equity
@6y S TS O8] ST Anis
_ ' 146,527

— 146,527

Net income

;;xance of sharcs purs.t.mn.t .t.o. Stéck
compensation plan (52,833) — — 1,075 149,741 26,908

Employee taxes paid for withheld
shares upon equity award
settlentent — — 38 (12,923 (12,923



wance of shares pursuant to employee
stock purchase plan -— -~ 7,853 — — 40 3,059 10,912

Treastiry stock purchases - -

L12,156 (7,609) (31,812) 1986111

Balance at December 31, 2020 48,148 481 905,332 (46)

:ercise of stock options and vesting of
restricted stock units B . 50,831 -_ — 832 45,883 96,714

104,726 104726

Treasury stock purchases — — — — — (33) (12,977 {12,977}

Balance at December 31, 202i

43,148 § 481 S1075.650 § (46) SIL2T3614 (6833) § (35.66T)  2,324032
See accompanying notes.
B-7
Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tables in thousands, except per share data)

(DSUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

We provide integrated software systems and related services for the public sector. We develop and market a broad
line of software solutions and services to address the information technology ("IT™) needs primarily of cities,
counties, states, schools, federal agencies, and other govenment entities. In addition, we provide professional 1T
services, including software and hardware installation, data conversion, training, and for certain customers, product
modifications, along with continuing maintenance and support for customers using our systems. We also provide
subscription-based services such as software as a service ("SaaS”) arrangements, digital government services,

payment processing, and electronic document filing ("e-filing”) solutions, In addition, we provide property appraisal
outsoureing services for taxing jurisdictions.

On April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, Inc. ("NIC”) as contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated
Febrnary 9, 2021. NIC delivers user-friendly digital services that make it easier and more efficient for citizens and
businesses to interact with government providing valuable conveniences like applying for unemployment insurance,
submitting business filings, renewing licenses, accessing information and making secure payments without visiting a
government office. NIC digital government sarvices designs, builds, and operates digital government services on an
enterprise-wide basis on behalf of state and local governments desiring to provide access to government information
and to complete secure government-based transactions through multiple digital channels. These digital government
services consist of websites and applications NIC has built that allow consumers, such as businesses and citizens, to
access government information, complete transactions and make electronic payments, NIC also provides payment
processing services, software development and digital government services, other than those services provided under
state enterprise contracts, to federal agencies as well as state and local govermments. The results of NIC are include




in consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. See Note 2, "Acquisitions,” for further
information.

Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic

Although market activity improved throughout 2021 in most sectors of our business and continues to trend to near or
above pre-pandemic levels, the pandemic continues to delay some government procurement progesses and is
expected to impact our ability to complete certain implementations, negatively impacting our revesue. We continue
to monitor these trends in order to respond to the ever-changing impact of COVID-19 on our clients and Tyler’s
operations.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, excluding the impact of 2021 acquisitions, the impact of the
COVID- 19 pandemic resulted in lower revenues from software services, Software services revenues have been
affacted by a decline in billable travel revenue, as most services are now being deliverad virtually rather than on-
site. Lower revenues compared to prior periods were partially offset by continued cost savings aftributed to lower
spend on travel and user conferences and trade show expenses. As travel restrictions are relaxed, software services
and appraisal services revenues are increasing. Also, we have adapted the way we do business by encouraging web
and video conferencing, conducting virtual sales demonstrations and delivering professional services remotely,
which result in increases in staff utilization rates and billable time.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, total revenues inchide COVID-related subscriptions revenue and
software services revenues of $75.0 million from NIC's TourHealth, pandemic unemployment services, and Virginia
rent relief offerings. We currently expect that these low margin COVID-related revenues from TourHealth and
pandemic unemployment will wind down in the first half of 2022, while revenues from the Virginia rent relief
program are expected to continne through 2022,

Revenues from subscriptions and maintenance, which we consider recurring in nature, comprised 79% of our total
consolidated revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, and include transaction-based revenue
streams such as digital government services, payment processing, and e-filing, As of December 31, 2021, we had
$407.8 million in cash and investments and available borrowing capacity of $500.0 million under our 2021 Credit
Agreement, We had an aggregate principal amount of $600 million of our Convertible Senior Notes outstanding,
and $755 million under our 2021 Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2021, During the fourth quarter of 2021, we
completed our annual assessment of goodwill which did not result in an impairment charge. Further, we identified
no indicators of impairment to long-lived and other assets and therefore, no impaimment was recorded as of and for
the period ended December 31, 2021, However, due to significant uncertainty surrounding COVID-19 and market
conditions, there are no assurances conditions wifl not deteriorate in the future.
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PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include our parent company and 60 subsidiaries, which are wholly-owned. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Comprehensive income is
defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions, and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources and includes all components of net income and other comprehensive income,
We did not have material items of other comprehensive income during (he years ended December 31, 2021, 2020,
and 2019.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash in excess of that necessary for operating requirements is invested in short-term, highly liquid, income-
producing investments. Investments with original maturities of three months or less are classified as cash and cash
squivalents, which primarily consist of cash on deposit with several banks and money market funds. Cash and cash
equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value.

REVENUE RECOGNITION



Nature of Products and Services

We earn revenue from software licenses, royalties, subscription-based services, software services, post-contract
customer support ("PCS” or "maintenance”), hardware and appraisal services. Revenue is recognized upon transfer
of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to
receive in exchange for those products or services. We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

+Identification of the contract, or cotifracts, with a customer

+Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

*Determination of the transaction price

*Allocation of the transaction price to the petrformance obligations in the contract

*Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a perfermance obligation

Most of our software arrangernents with customers contain multiple performance obligations that range from
software licenses, installation, training, and consulting to software modification and customization to meet specific
customer needs (services), hosting, and PCS. For these contracts, we account for mdividual performance obligations
separately when they are distinct. We evaluate whether separate performance obligations can be distinct or should be
accounted for as one performance obligation, Arrangements that include software services, such as training or
installation, are evaluated to determine whether those services are highly interdependent or interrelated to the
product’s functionality. The transaction price is allocated to the distinct performance obligations on a relative
standalone selling price ("SSP”) basis. We determine the SSP based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into
consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of our contracts, the applications sold,
customer demographics, and the number and types of users within our contracts. Revenue is recognized net of
allowances for sales adjustments and any taxes collected from custormers, which are subsequently remitted to
governmental authorities,

Software Licenses and Royalties

Many of our software arrangements involve "off-the-shell” software. We recognize the revenue allocable to "off-
the-shelf” software licenses and specified upgrades at a point in time when control of the software license transfers
to the customer, unless the software is not considered distinct. We consider "off-the-shelf" software to be distinet
when it can be added to an arrangement with minor changes in the underlying code, it can be used by the customer
for the customer’s purpose upon installation, and remaining services such as training are not considered highly
interdependent or interrelated to the product's functionality.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the softwaro, or where
software services are otherwise not considered distinct, we recognize revenue over time by measuring progress-to-
completion. We measure progress-to-completion primarily using [abor hours incurred as it best depicis the transfer
of control to the customer which ocours as we incur costs on our contracts, These arrangemenis are often
implemented over an extended period and occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates, Amounts recognized
in revenue are calculated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our
cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined.
Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is
apparent,
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Software license fees are billed in accordance with the contract terms. Typically, a majority of the fee is due when
accoess to the software license is made available to the customer and the remainder of the fee due over a passage of




time stipulated by the contract. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred
revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met,

‘We recognize royalty revenue when the sale oceurs under the terms of our third-party royalty arrangements.
Currently, our third-party royalties are recognized on an estimated basis and adjusted if needed, when we receive
nolice of amounis we are entitled to receive. We typically receive notice of royalty revenues we are entitled to and
billed on a quarterly basis in the quarter immediately following the royalty reporting period.

Saeftware Services

As nioted above, some of our software arrangements include services considered highly interdependent or highly

. interrelated or require significant customization to meet the customer's desired functionality. For these software
arrangements, both the software licenses and related software services revenue are not distinet and are recognized
over time using the progress-to-completion method. We measure progress-ta~completion primarily using labor hours
incorred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer which occors as we incur costs on our contracts,
Contract fees are typically billed on a milestone basis as defined within contract terms, We record amounts that have
been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue
recognition criteria have been met. When software services are distinet, the fee allocable to the service element is
recognized over the time we perform the services and is billed on a time and material basis.

Post-Contract Customer Support

Our customers generally enter into PCS agreements when they purchase our softwars licenses. PCS includes telephone
support, bug fixes, and rights to upgrades on a when-and-if available basis. PCS is considered distinct when purchased
with our software licenses. Qur PCS agreements are typically renewable annually, PCS is recognized over time on a
straight-line basis over the period the PCS is provided. All significant costs and expenses associated with PCS are
expensed as incurred.

Computer Hardware Equipment

Revenue allocable to computer hardware equipment is recognized at a point in timne when control of the equipment
is transferred to the customet.

Subscription-Based Services:

Subscription-based services consist pnmanly of revenues derlved from Saa$ arrangements, typically ut1hzmg the
Tyler private cloud, digital government services, payment processing, and e-filing,

For Saa8 arrangements, we evaluate whether the customer has the contractual right to take possession of our
software at any time during the hosting period without significant penalty and whether the customer can feasibly
maintain the software on the customer’s hardware or enter into another arrangement with a third-party to host the
software. We allocate contract value to cach performance obligation of the arrangement that qualifies for treatment
as a distinet element based on estimated SSP, We recognize Saal services ratably over the term of the arrangement,
which range from one to fen years, but are typically for a period of three to five years. For softwate services
associated with certain 8aa8S arrangements, we have concluded that the services are not distinet, and we recognize
the revenue ratably over the remaining contractual pericd once we have provided the customer aceess to the
software. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenues,
depending on whether the revenne recognition eriteria have been met.

Transaction-based fees primarily relate to digital government services and online payment services, which are
sometimes offered with the assistance of third-party vendors. In general, when we are the principal in a transaction,
we record the revenue and related costs on a gross basis. Otherwise, we net the cost of revenue associated with the
service against the gross revenue (amount billed to the customer) and record the net amount as revenue.

E-filing transaction fees primarily pertain to documenis filed with the courts by attorneys and other third-parties via
our e-filing services and retrieval of filed documents via our access services. For cach document filed with & court,

the filer generally pays a transaction fee and a court filing fee to us and we remit a portion of the transaction fee and
the filing fee to the coutt. We record as reverue the transaction fee, while the portion of the transaction fee remitted



to the courts is recorded as cost of revenues as we are acting as a principal in the arrangement, Court filing fees
collected on behalf of the courts and remitted to the courts are recorded on a net basis and thus do not affect the
statement of comprehensive income,
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For e-filing transaction fees and transaction-based revenues from digital government services and online payments,
we have the right to charge the customer an amount that directly corresponds with the value to the customer of our
performance to date. Therefore, we recognize revenue for these services over time based on the amount billable to
the customer. In some cases, we are paid on a fixed fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual
period. Typically, the structure of our arrangements does not give rise to variable consideration. However, in those
instances whereby variable consideration exists, we inchude in our estimates, additional revenue for variable
consideration when we believe we have an enforceable right, the amount can be estimated reliably and its realization
is probable.

Costs of performing services under subscription-based arrangements are expensed as incurred, except for certain
direct and incremental contract origination and set-up costs associated with Saa$ arrangements. Such direct and
incremental costs are capitalized and amortized ratably over the nseful life.

Appraisal Services:

For our property appraisal projects, we recognize revenue using the progress-to-completion method since many of
these projects are executed over one to three-year periods and consist of various unique activities. Appraisal services
require a significant level of integration and interdependency with various individual service components; therefore,
the service components are not considered distinct. Appraisal services are recognized over time by measuring
progress-to-completion primarily wsing labor hours incurred as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer
which occurs as we incur costs on our contracts. These arrangements are often executed over an extended period and
occasionally require us to revise total cost estimates. Amounts recognized in revenue are caleulated using the
progross-to-completion measurement after giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates, Changes to total
estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted
contracts are recorded in the period in which we first determine that a loss is apparent. Contract fees are typically
billed on a milestone basis as defined within contract terms. We record amounts that have been invoiced in accounts
receivable and in defarred revenue or revenues, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been
met,

Significant Ju ents:

Our contracts with customers often include muitiple performance obligations to a customer. When a software
arrangement (license or subscription) inchudes both software licenses and software services, judgment is required to
determine whether the software license is considered distinet and accounted for separately, or not distinct and
accounted for together with the software services and recognized over time.

The transaction price is allocated to tha separate performance obligations on a relative SSP basis. We determine the
SSP based on our overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including
the value of our contracts, the applications sold, customer demographics, and the number and types of users within
our contracts. We vse a range of amounts to estimate SSP when we sell each of the products and services separately
and need to determine whether there is a discount to be allocated based on the relative SSP of the various products
and services. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not sell the product ot service
separately, we determine SSP using the expected cost-plus margin approach.

For arrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the software, or where
software services otherwise cannot be considered distinct, we recopnize revenne as control is transferred to the
customer over time using progress-to-completion methods. Depending on the contract, we measure progress-to-
completion primarily using labor hours incutred, or value added. The progress-to-completion method generally
results in the recognition of reasonably consistent profit margins over the life of a contract because we can provide




reasonably dependable estimates of contract billings and coniract costs, We use the level of profit margin that is
most likely to ocenr on a contract. If the most likely profit margin cannot be precisely determined, the lowest
probable level of profit margin in the range of estimates is used until the results can be estimated more precisely.
These arrangements are often implemented over an extended time period and occasionally require us to revise total
cost estimates, Amounts recognized in revenue are caloulated using the progress-to-completion measurement after
giving effect to any changes in our cost estimates. Changes to total estimated contract costs, if any, are recorded in
the period they are determined. Estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which we
first determine that a loss is apparent.

Refer to Note 16 - "Disaggregation of Revenue” for further information, ingluding the economic factors that affect
the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows of our various revenne categories.
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Contract Balances:
Accounts receivable and allowance for losses and sales adjusiments

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. We record an unbilled
receivable when revenue is recognized prior o invoicing, or deferred revenue when revenue is recognized
subsequent to invoicing. For multi-year agreements, we generally invoice customers annually at the beginning of
each annnal coverage period. We record an unbilled receivable related to revenue recognized for on-premises
licenses as we have an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment in the future related to those licenses.

‘In connection with our appraisal services contracts and certain sofiware services contracts, we may perform work
prior to when the software and services are billable and/or payable pursuant to the contract. Unbilted revenue is not
billable at the balance sheet date but is recoverable over the remaining life of the contract through billings made in
accordance with contractual agreements. The termination clauses in most of cur contracts provide for the payment
for the value of products delivered or services performed in the event of early termination. We have historically
recorded such unbilled receivables (costs and estimated profit in excess of billings) in connection with (1) propexty
appraisal services contracts accounted for nsing progress-to-completion method of revenue recognition using labor
hours as a measure of progress towards completion in which the services are performed in one accounting period but
the billing normally occurs subsequently and may span another accounting period; (2) software services coniracts
accounted for using progress-to~completion method of revenue recognition using labor hours as a measure of
progress towards completion in which the services are performed in one accounting period but the billing for the
software element of the arrangement may be based upon the specific phase of the implementation; (3) software
revenue for which we have recognized revenue at the point in time when the software is made available to the
customer but the billing has not yeot been submitted to the customer; (4) some of our contracts which provide for an
amount to be withheld from a progress billing (generally between 5% and 15% retention) until final and satisfactory
project completion is achieved; and (5) in a limited number of cases, extended payment terms, which may be
granted to customers with whom we generally have a long-term relationship and favorable collection history,

As of December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, tofal current and long-term accounts receivable, net of
allowance for losses and sales adjustments, was $535.0 million and §403.7 million, respectively. We have recorded
unbilled receivables of $140.3 million and $140.8 million at December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020,
respectively. Included in unbilled receivalbles are retention receivables of $7.7 million and $13.1 million at
December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, respectively, which become payable upon the completion of the
cantracl or completion of our fieldwork and formal hearings. Unbilled receivables expected to be collected within
oue year have been included with accounts receivable, current portion in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets, Unbilled receivables and retention receivables expected to be collected past one year have been inclnded
with aceounts receivable, long-term portion in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Payment terms and conditions vary by coniract type, although terms generally inclade a requirement of payment
within 30 to 90 days. In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, we
have determined our contracts generally do not include a signiticant finencing component. The primary purpose of



our invoicing terms is to provide customers with simplified and predictable ways of purchasing our products and
services, not to receive financing from our customers or to provide customers with financing, Examples include
invoicing at the beginning of a subscription term with revenue recognized ratably over the contract period, and
multi-year on-premises term licenses that are invoiced annvally with revenne recognized upfront.

We maintain allowances for losses and sales adjustments, which losses are recorded against revenue at the time the
loss i3 incurred. Since most of our clients are domestic governmental entities, we rarely incur a credit loss resulting
from the inability of a client to make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the
carrying amount for the allowances for losses and sales adjustments may require revision, include, but are not
limited to, managing our client’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered and defects or
etrors in new versions or enhancements of our software products. Our allowance for losses and sales adjustments of
$12.1 million and $9.3 million at December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, respectively, does not include
provisions for credit losses. As of January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments -, Credit
Losses, and primarily evaluated our historical experience with credit losses related to trade and other receivables.
Because we rarely experience credit losses with our clients, we have not recorded a material reserve for credit
losses.

The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for losses and sales adjustments:

Yaars ended December 31,

2621 2020

P£0v1310ns for losses and salessadjustments - "ecounts recéivéble 2,831 3,517

12,086 § 9,255

Balance at end of year

Deferred Reverue

The majority of deferred revenue consists of deferred subscription-based services revenue that has been billed based
on contractual terms in the underlying arrangement, with the remaining balance consisting of payments received in
advance of revenue being earned under maintenance, software licensing, software and appraisal services, and
hardware installation. Refer to Note 17 - "Deferred Revenne and Performance Obligations" for further information,
including deferred revenue by segment and changes in deferred revenue during the period.

Deferred Commissions

Sales commissions camed by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a
coniract with a customer. Sales commissions for initial contracts are deferred and then amortized commensurate
with the recognition of associated revenue over a period of benefit that we have determined to be thres to seven
years. We utilized the "portfolio approach” practical expedient, which allows entities to apply the guidance to a
portfolio of contracts with similar characteristics becanse the effects on the financial statements of this approach
would ot differ materially from applying the guidance to individual contracts. Using the "portfolio approach®, we
determined the period of benefit by taking into consideration our customer contracts, our technology life-cycle and
other factors. Sales commissions for renewal coniracts are generally not paid in connection with the renewal of 2
contract. In the small number of instances where a commission is paid on a renewsl, it is not commensurate with the
commission paid on the initial sale and is recognized over the term of renewal, which is generally one year.
Amortization expense related to deferred commissions is included in selling, general and administrative expenses ifn




the accompanying consolidated statermenis of income, Refer to Note 18 - "Deferred Commissions™ for further
information.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets include Girect and incremental costs such as commissions associated with
arrangements for which revenue recognition has been deferred. Such costs are expensed at the time the related
revenue is recognized.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States ("GAAP™) requires us to make estiroates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statetnents and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject to such estimates
and assumptions include revenue recognition, determining the nature and timing of satisfaction of performance
obligations, determining the SSP of performance obligations, variable consideration, and other obligations such as
returns and refunds; loss contingencies; the estimated useful life of deferred commissions; the carrying amount and
estimated useful lives of intangible assets; the carrying amount of operating lease right-of-use assets and operating
lease ligbilities; determining share-based compensation expense; the allowance for losses and sales adjustments; and
determining the potential outcome of future tax consequences of events that have been recognized on our
consolidated financial statementis or tax returns, Actual resulis could differ from estimates.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, equipment and purchased software are recorded at original cost and increased by the cost of any
significant itnprovements after purchase, We expense maintenance and repaiss when incured. Depreciation and
amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the asset’s estimated useful life or the
term of the lease in the case of leasehold improvements. For income tax purposes, we use accelerated depreciation
methods as allowed by tax laws.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

We expensed rescarch and development expense of $93,3 million in 2021, $88.4 million in 2020, and $81.2 million
in 2019,

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are acconnted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred taxes arise because of different
treatment between financial siatement accounting and tax accounting, known as "temporary differences”. We record
the tax effect of these temporary differences as "deferred tax assets” (generally items that can be used as a tax
deduction or credit in the future periods) and "deferred tax liabilities” (generally items that we received a tax
deduction for, which have not yet been recorded in the income statement). The deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rules and laws that are expected to be in effect when the temporary ditfsrences are
expected to be recovered or seitled. A valiation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets if it is more
likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be "'realized"”.
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We do not recognize a tax benefit for uncertain tax positions unless management’s assessment conchides that it is
*more likely than not” that the position is sustainable based on its technical merits, If the recognition threshold is
met, we recognize a tax benefit based upon the largest amount of the tax benefit that is more likely than not
probable, determined by cumulative probability, of being realized upon setflement with the taxing authority. We
recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense in the
consolidated statements of income.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION



We have a share-based award plan that provides for the grant of stock options, resiricted stock units, and
performance share units to key employees, directors and non-employee consultants. Stock options generally vest
aftet three to six years of continuous service from the date of grant and have a contractual term of 10 years.
Restricted stock unit grants generally vest ratably over three to five years of continuous service from the date of
grant, Each performance share unit represents the right o receive one share of our common stock based on our
achievement of ceriain financial performance targets during applicable performance periods, which generally cliff
vest in one or three years. We account for share-based compensation utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to
ASC 718, Steck Compensation. See Note 10, "Share-Based Compensation,” for further information.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Accounting for the acquisition of a business requires the allocation of the purchase price to the various assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective fair values. The determination of fair valne requires the use of
significant estimates and assurnptions, and in making these determinations, management uses all available
mformation.

For tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination, management estimates the fair
value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on quoted market prices, the carrying value of the acquired
assets and widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses, The
assumptions macde in performing these valuations include, but are not limited to, discount rates, future revenues and
operating costs, projections of capital costs, and other assumptions believed to be consistent with those used by
principal market participants.

Due to the specialized nature of these calculations, we engage third-party specialists to assist management in
evaluating our assumptions as well as appropriately measuring the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. We adjust the preliminary purchase price allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition
closing date as we obtain new information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the closing date, If actual
results are materially different than the assumptions we used to determine fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed through a business combination as well as the estimated useful lives of the acquired intangible
assels, it is possible that adjustments to the catrying values of such assets and liabilities will have a material impact
on our financial position and results of operations. See Note 2, "Acquisitions,” to our consolidated financial
statements for further details.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIRLE ASSETS
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired, including identifiable
intangible assets, in connection with our business combirations. Upon acquisition, goodwill is assigned to the
reporting unit that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination, which is the reporting unit
to which the related acquired technology is assigned. A reporting unit is the operating segment, or a business unit
one level below that operating segment, for which discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed
by executive management,

We assess goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate its carrying value may not be recoverable. We begin with the qualitative assessment of whether it is more
likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying value before applying the quantitative
assessment described below. When testing goodwill for impairment quantitatively, we first compare the fair value of
each reporting unit with its carrying amount, If the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied
fajr value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. The fair values calculated in our impairment tests are
determined nsing discounted cash flow models involving several assumptions (Level 3 inputs). The assumptions that
are used are based upon what we believe a hypothetical matketplace participant would use in estimating fair value.
We bage our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable but that are vnpredictable and
inherently uncertain. We evaluate the reasonableness of the fair value calculations of cur reporting units by
comparing the total of the fair value of all of our reporting units to our total market capitalization
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We have historically performed our annual assessment of goodwill impairment as of April 1. During the second
gquarter of of 2021, we voluntarily changed the date of our annual assessment of goodwill to October 1 for alf
reporting units. The change in testing date for goodwill impairment is a change in accounting principle, which
management believes is preferable as the new date of the assessment better aligns with our annual planning process.
The change in the assessment date did not delay or avoid a potential impairment charge nor did it change our
requirement to assess goodwill on an interim date between scheduled annual testing dates if triggering events are
present. To ensure that no lapse in an assessment oceurred since the prior period, we petformed qualitative
assessments in the second of 2021, for all reporting units except for the data and insights and platform technologies
reporting units. As a result of these qualitative assessments, we determined that it was not more likely that an
impairment existed; therefore, we did not perform a Step 1 quantitative impairment test. We did perform a
quantitative assessment for goodwill for our data and insights and platform technologies reporting units as of April
1, 2021. As a result of our interim qualitative and quantitative assessments, we concluded no impairment existed.

During the fourth quarter, as part of our annual impairment test as of October 1, we performed qualitative
assessments for all reporting units except for recently acquired businesses. As a result of these qualitative
assessments, we determined that it was not more likely than not that an impainment existed; therefore, we did not
perform a Step 1 quantitative impairment test. We did perform a quantitative assessment for goodwill associated
with our recently acquired businesses, data and insights, NIC, and platform technologies reporting units, and
concluded no impairment existed as of our annual assessment date. For most of our reporting units, goodwill relates
to a combination of legacy and acquired businesses and as a result those units have fair values that substantially
exceed their underlying carrying values. For other reporting units, in particular our data and insights, NIC, and
platform technologies business units, goodwill entirely relates to recently acquired businesses, and as a result those
reporting units do not have significant excess fair values over carrying values. The data and insights, NIC, and
platform technologies business units combined goodwill was $1.6 billion, or 68%, of total goodwill as of
December 31, 2021. Our annual goodwill impairment acalysis did not result in an impairment charge, During 2021,
we have recorded no impairment to goodwill as no triggering events or changes in circumstances indicating a
potential impairment have occurred as of period-end.

Determining the fair value of our reporting units involves the use of significant estitmates and assumptions and
considerable management judgment. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable at
the time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty. Changes in market conditions or other factors
outside of our control, such as a worsening of expected impact of COVID-19, could cause us to change key
assumptions and our judgment about a reporting unit’s prospects. Similarly, in a specific period, a reporting unit
could significantly underperform relative to its historical or projected future operating results. Either situation could
result in & meaningfully different estimate of the fair value of our reporting units, and a consequent futare
impairment charge.

There have been no impairments to goodwill in any of the periods presented. See Note 4, "Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets," for additional information,

Other Intangible Assels

We make judgments about the recoverability of purchased intangible assets other than goodwill whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment may exist. Customer base and acquired software each
comprise approximately half of our purchased intangible assets other than goodwill, We review our customer
tumover each year for indications of impairment, Qur customer tumnover has historically been very low. 1f
indications of impairment are determined (o exist, we measure the recoverability of assets by a comparison of the
carrying amount of the asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.
If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized
for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asseis exceeds the fair value of the assets. There have been no
impairments of intangible assets in any of the periods presented.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS



We periodically evaluate whether current facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our property and
equipment or other long-lived assets to be held and used may not be recoverable. If such circumstances are
determined to exist, we measure the recoverability of assets to be held and used by a comparison of the carrying
amount of the asset or appropriate grouping of assets and the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to
be generated by the assets. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their estimated future cash flows, an
impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of
the assets. There was no impairment of long-lived assets in any of the periods presented.

COSTS QF COMPUTER SOFTWARE

We capitalize software development costs upon the establishment of technological feasibility and prior to the
availability of the product for general release to customers for software sold to third parties and for application
development costs of software developed for internal use. Sofiware development costs primarily consist of
personnel costs and rent for related office space. During the twelve months period ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively, we capitalized approximately $21.7 million and $5.8 million of
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software development costs. We begin to amortize capitalized costs when a product is available for general release
to customers and internal use software is ready for its intended use. Amortization expense is determined on a
product-by-product basis at a rate not less than straight-line basis over the software’s remaining estimated economic
life of, generally, five years. Amortization of software development costs was approximately $2.3 million in 2021,
$1.2 million in 2020, and $0.3 million in 2019, and is included in cost of software license revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

CONTINGENT PURCHASE CONSIDERATION

Contingent future cash payments related to acquisitions are recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date and
included in the determination of the acquisition date purchase price. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the
contingent future cash payments are recognized in earnings in the period that the change occurs. We have no
contingent consideration ontstanding as of Deceaber 31, 2021.

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instrmments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash
and cash equivalents, accounts receivable from trade customers, and investments in marketable secusiiies. Our cash
and cash equivalents primarily consist of operating account balances and money market funds, which are maintained
at several major domestic financial institutions and the balances often exceed insured amounts, As of December 31,
2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $309.2 million. We perform periodic evaluations of the credit standing of
these financial institutions,

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are limited due to the size and geographical diversity of our
customer base. Historically, our credit losses have not been significant, As g result, we do not believe we have any
significant concentrations of credit risk as of December 31, 2021.

We maintain allowances for losses and sales adjustments, which losses are recorded against reverme at the time the
loss is incurred. Since most of our customers are dorneslic governmental entities, we rarely incur a loss resulting
from the inability of a customer to make required payments. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the
carrying amount for the allowances for losses and sales adjustments may require revision include, but are not limited
to, failure to manage our customer’s expectations regarding the scope of the services to be delivered, and defects or
etrors in new versions or enhancements of cur sofiware producis.

LEASES




We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use
("ROU”) assets, and operating lease liabilities, current and long-term, on our consolidated balance sheets. We
currently do not have any finance lease arrangements.

Operating lease ROU assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future
minimum lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. As most of our leases do not provide an
implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date of
the lease in determining the present value of future payments, The operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease
payments made and exctudes Jease incentives and initial direct costs incurred. Our lease terms may include options
to extend or terminate the Jease when it is reasonably certain thai we will exercise that option. Lease expense for
minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Leases with an initial term of 12
months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet; we recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which ate generally
accounted for as a single lease component.

INDEMNIFICATION

Most of our software license agreements indemnify our customers in the event that the software sold infringes upon
the intellectual property rights of a third-party. These agreements typically provide that in such event we will either
modify or replace the software so that it becomes non-infringing or procure for the customer the right to use the
software, We have recorded no liability associated with these indemnifications, as we are not aware of any pending
or threatened infringement actions that are possible losses. We believe the estimated fair value of these intellectual
propetty indemnification clauses is minimal.

We have also agreed to indemnify our officers and board members if they are named or threatened fo be named as a
party to any proceeding by reason of the fact that they acted in such capacity. We maintain directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage to protect against any such losses. We have recorded no liability associated with these
indemnifications. Because of our insurance coverage, we balieve the estimated fair value of these indemnification
agieernents is minimal.

RECLASSIFICATIONS
Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
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RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In August 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU”) 2020-06 - Debt with Conversion and
Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging — Coniracts in Entity's Own Equity (Sublopic 813-
40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity's Own Equity ("ASU 2020-067), which
gimplifies the accounting for convertible instruments by removing the separation models for (1) convertible debt
with a cash conversion feature and {2) convertible instruments with a beneficial conversion feature. As a result, a
convertible debt instrument will be accounted for as a single liability measured at its amortized cost. These changes
will reduce reported interest expense and increase reported net income for entities that have issued a convertible
instrument that was bifurcated according to previously existing rules. ASU 2020-06 also requires the application of
the ifconverted method for caleulating dihited earnings per share and the treasury stock method will be no longer
available. This standard will be effective for the Company's fiscal years beginning in the first quarter of 2022, with
early adoption permitted. The Company has elected to early adopt this standard as of January 1, 2021, Our
acconnting and disclosures related to our Convertible Senior Notes issued on March 9, 2021, raflect the
requiremenis of this standard. For further information, please refer to Note 6, "Debt.”

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, ("ASU 2019-127)
which simplifies the accounting for income taxcs, eliminates certain exceptions within ASC 740, Income Tuxes, and
clarifies certain. aspects of the current puidance to promote consistency among reporting entities, The new standard



is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, We adopted ASU 2019-12 as of January 1, 2021,
The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statentents.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 - dccouniing for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from
Contracts with Customers (ASC 805)("ASU 2021-08"). ASU 2021-08 requires an acquirer int a business
combination to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities (deferred revenue) from acquited
contracts using the revenue recognition guidance in Topic 606. Under this "Topic 606 approach,” the acquirer
applies the revenue model as if it had originated the contracts. This is a departure from the current requirement to
measure coniract assets and contract liabilitics at fair value, ASU 2021-08 is effective for all public business entitics
in annual and interim periods starting after December 15, 2022, and carly adoption is permitted. We early adopted as
of January 1, 2022. Adopting this standard could have a material impact on revenne associated with an acquired
business.

(2)ACQUISITIONS
2021

On September 9, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Ultimate Information Systems, Inc. {(dba Arx). Arxisa
cloud-based platform which creates accessible technology to enable a modem-day police force that is fully
transparent, accountable, and a trusted resource to the commumity it serves. The total purchase price, net of cash
acquired, was approximately $12.8 million, of which $12.4 million was paid in cash and approximately $0.5 million
was accrued for indemnity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing adjustments.

On September 1, 2021, we acquired VendBngine, Inc. (VendEngine) as contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of
Merger dated June 3, 2021. As result of the merger, VendEngine became a direct subsidiary of the Company.
VendEngine is a cloud-based software provider focused on financial technology for the corrections market. The total
purchase price, net of cash acquired of $1.7 million, was approximately $83.8 million, consisting of $80.2

million paid in cash, and approximately $5.4 million related to indemnity holdbacks, subject to certain post-closing
adjustments.

In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $5.8 million and assumed liabilities of
approximately $3.0 million. We recorded goodwill of approximately $54.5 million, none of which is expected to be
deductible for tax purpeses, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $37.9 million. The $37.9
million of intangible assets are atiributable to customer relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be
amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 16 years. We recorded net deferred tax Labilities of $9.6
million related to the tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations, In the twelve months ended December 31, we
recorded adjustments to the preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to a decrease to accounts receivable,
accounts payable, deferred income taxes, and an adjustment to the accrual for indemmnity holdbacks and increases in
identifiable intangible assets and accrued expenses resulting in a net decrease to goodwill of approximately §4.2
million.

VendEngine provides a suite of financial and communications applications ranging from deposit technologies for
commissary, ordeting, and warchouse technology to a host of informational, electronic communications, security,
accounting, and financial trust management components for more than 300 correctional facilities across 32 states
and the Caribbean. Therefore, the goodwill of approximately $54.5 million arising from this acquisition is primarily
attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues, earnings and cash flow by expanding our addressable markot
and client base.
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On April 21, 2021 (the "Closing Date™), we acquired NIC as contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger
dated Februaty 9, 2021. As result of the merger, NIC became a direct subsidiary of the Company and NIC’s
subsidiaries became indirect subsidiaries. NIC is a leading digital government solutions and payment compary that




primarily serves federal and state government agencies. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired of $331.8
million, was approximately $2.0 billion, consisting of cash paid of $2.3 billion and $1.9 million of purchase
consideration related to the conversion of unvested restricted stock awards.

We have performed a preliminary valuation analysis of the fair market vahte of NIC’s assets and liabilities. The
following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price as of the acquisition date:

331,783

777,000

(150,099

{11,103)

{190,596)

In connection with this transaction, we acquired total tangible assets of $515.3 million and assumed liabilities of
approximately $228.0 million. We recorded goodwill of approximately $1.4 billion, none of which is expected to be
deductible for tax purposes, and other identifiable intangible assets of approximately $777.0 million. The §777.0
million of intangible assets are attributable to customer relationships, acquired software, and trade name and will be
amortized over a weighted average period of approximately 17 years. We recorded net deferred tax liabilities of
$190.6 million related to the tax effect of our estimated fair value allocations. In the twelve months ended December
31, 2021, we recorded adjustments to the preliminary opening balance sheet attributed to a decrease to accounts
receivable and increases in identifiable intangible assets, deferred revenue and related defetred taxes resulting ina
net decrease to goodwill of approximately $17.2 million.

NIC delivers user-friendly digital services that make it easier and more efficient for citizens and businesses to
interact with government providing valuable conveniences like applying for unemployment insurance, submitting
business filings, renewing licenses, aceessing information and making secure payments without visiting a
government office. In addition, NIC has extensive expertise and scale in the government payments arena which will
accelerate our strategic payments initiatives. Therefore, the goodwill of approximately $1.4 billion arising from this
acquisition is primarily attributed to our ability to generate increased revenues, earnings and cash flow by expanding
our addressable market and client base.
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The following unaudited pro forma consolidated operating results information has been prepared as if the acquisition
of NIC had ocourred on January 1, 2020, after giving effect o certain adjustments, including amortization of
intangibles, interest, transaction costs, and tax effects,

Years Ended December 31,




201 3020

Net income 3 161,448 § 183,994

Diluted earnings per shars § 382 § 443

The pro forma information above does not include acquisitions that are not considered material to our results of
operations. The pro forma information does not purport to represent what our results of operations actuaily would
have been had such transaction occurred on the date specified or to project our results of operations for any futre
period,

On March 31, 2021, we acquired all the equity interest of Glass Arc, Inc. (dba ReadySub). ReadySub is a cloud-
based platform that assists school districts with absence tracking, filling substitute teacher assignments, and
automating essential payroll processes. The total cash price was approximately $6.2 million, net of cash acquired,

On March 31, 2021, we acquired substantially all assets of DataSpec, Inc. (DataSpec), a provider of a Saa$ solution
that atlows for secure electronic claims submission to the federal Depariment of Veterans Affairs and reporting
capabilities, in addition to scheduling, calendaring, and payments. The total cash purchase price was approximately
$5.8 million.

The operaling results of Arx, DataSpec, ReadySub, and VendEngine are included with the operating results of the
Enterprise Software segment since their date of acquisition. The impact of the Arx, DataSpec, ReadySub, and
VendEngine acquisitions, individually and in the aggregate, on our operating results, assets and liabilities is not
meaterial. The operating results of NIC are disclosed separately as a reportable segment. Revenues from NIC
included in Tyler's results of operations totaled approximately $368.9 million and net income was approximately
$37.2 million from the date of acquisition through December 31, 2021. In 2021, we incurred fees of approximately
$23.5 million for financial advisory, legal, accounting, due diligence, valuation and other varions services necessary
to complete these acquisitions. The Company also incurred $1.6 million of expense related to a separation
agreement with NIC's former Chief Executive Officer. These costs were expensed in 2021 and are included in
selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying condensed consclidated statements of income.

As of December 31, 2021, the purchase price allocations for DataSpec and ReadySub are complete, while the
purchase price allocations for Arx, NIC, and VendEngine are substantially complete; therefore, cerfain preliminary
valuation estimates of fair value assnmed at the acquisition date for intangible assets, receivables, deferred revenue
and related deferred taxos are subject to change as valuations are finalized. Our balance sheet as of December 31,
2021, reflects the allocation of the purchase price to the net assets acquired based on their estimated fair vahie af the
date of cach acquisition. The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired are based on valuations using Level 3,
unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the
assets or liabilities,

2020
No acquisitions oceurred in 2020.
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(3)PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET AND SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS, NET

Property und equipment, net consists of the following at December 31:




Useful
Lives
(years) 2021 2020

Building and leasehold improvements 5.39 154222 147729

322,575 305,914

AJ dépreciation ad amo

Property and equipment, net $ 181,193 % 168,004

Depreciation expense was $29.4 million in 2021, $25.5 million in 2020, and $23.4 million in 2019,

We paid $12.8 million and $9.9 million for real estate and the expansion of existing buildings in 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

Software development costs, net consisis of the following at December 31:
Useful

Livag
(years} 2021 2020

cvelopmentcosts 127

(1,4605

Accunmulated amortization . (3,78%)

Amortization expense for capitalized software development costs is recorded to cost of revenmes. Amortization
expense for software development costs wag $2.3 million in 2021, $1.2 millicn in 2020, and $296,000 in 2019,

Estimated annual amortization expense related to capitalized software development costs:

Thereafter
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(#)GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the two years ended December 31, 2021 are as follows:

Enterprise Appraisal
Software and Tax NIC Total

(1,639} {(1,689)

2021 2020

612,847

Total other intangibles, ret ' ' $ 1052493 § 322,068

Amortization expense for acquired software is recorded to cost of revenues. Amortization expense for customer
relationships and trade names are recorded to selling, general and adminisirative expenses. Amortization expense
related to acquired leases is recorded as a reduction to hardware and other revenue. Total amortization expense for
other intangibles was $20.8 million in 2021, $53.% million in 2020, and $52.5 million in 2019,

The amortization periods of other intangible assets is summarized in the following table:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Weighted Weighted
Gross Average Gross Average
Carrying ~ Amortization Accumulated  Camying  Amortization  Acoumulaied
Amouzt Period Amortization ~ Amount Period Amortization

$ 2359674 § 838428

" Customer related intangibles $ 049844 years § 157077 § 322,619 16yers $ 116,600




' Tredenames 45353 10yeas 13,064 22905 years 9,366
. o o , -
2025 - 86,016
o
Thereaftor 609,120
(5)JACCRUED LIABILITIES
Acorued lisbilities comsist of the following at December 31:

2021 2029

Other accrued linbilities ) 69,728 19.270

(6)Debt
2021 Credit Agreement

In comnection with the completion of the acquisition of NIC, on the Closing Date the Company, as borrower, entercd
into & new $1.4 billion Credit Agreement (the "2021 Credit Agreement”) with the various lenders party thereto and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender, and Issuing Lender. The 2021
Credit Agreement provides for (1) a senior unsecured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of
up 1o $500 million, including sub-facilities for standby letters of credit and swingline loans (the "Revolving Credit
Facility™), (2) an amortizing five-year term loan in the aggregate amount of $600 million {the "Term Loan A-17),
and (3) a non-amortizing three-year tetm loan in the aggregate amount of $300 million (the "Term Loan A-2") and,
together (the "Term Loans”). The 2021 Credit Agreement matures on April 20, 2026, and the loans may be prepaid
at any time, without premium or penalty, subject to certain minimum amounts and payment of any LIBOR breakage
costs. In addition to the required amortization payments on the Term Loan A-1 of 5% annually, certain mandatory
quarterly prepayments of the Term Loans and the Revolving Credit Facility will be required (i) upon the issuance or
incarrence of additional debt not otherwise permitted under the 2021 Credit Agreement and (if) upon the oceutrence



of certain asset sales and insurance and condemnation recoveries, subject to certain thresholds, baskets, and
reinvestment provisions as provided in the 2021 Credit Agreement,

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan A-1 bear interest, at the Company’s option, at a
per anoum rate of either (1) the Administrative Agent’s prime commercial lending rate (subject to certain higher rate
determinations) (the "Base Rate”) plus a margin of 0.125% to 0.75% or (2) the one-, three-, six-, or, subject to
approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1,125% to 1.75%. The Term Loan A-2 bears
interest, at the Company’s option, at a per annum rate of either (1) the Base Rate plus a margin of 0% to 0.5% or {2)
the one-, three-, or six-, ot, subject to approval by all lenders, twelve-month LIBOR rate plus a margin of 0.875% to
1.5%. The margin in each case is based upon the Company’s total net leverage ratio, as determined pursuant to the
2021 Credit Agreement. The 2021 Credit Agreement has customary benchmark replacement language with respect
to the replacement of LIBOR once LIBOR becomes unavailable. In addition to paying interest on the outstanding
principal of loans under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company is required to pay a commitment fec on the
average daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility, initially 0.25% per annum, ranging from 0.15% to
0.3% based upon the Company’s total net leverage ratio.
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The net proceeds from the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement were $1.1 billion, net of debt discounts of
$7.2 million and debt issuance costs of $4.9 million and $6.4 million of commitment fees paid related to the
terminated $1.6 billion unsecured bridge loan facility. On the Closing Dats, the Company paid approximately

$2.3 billion in cash for the purchase of NIC. The Term Loans of $900 million and a portion of the proceeds of the
Revolving Credit Facility, in the amount of $250 million, together with cash available to the Company of

$609 million and the net proceeds of its Convertible Senior Notes of $594 million, were used to complete the
acquisition and pay fees and expenses in connection with the acquisition and the 2021 Credit Agreement. The
remaining portion of the Revolving Credit Facility may be used for working capital requirements, acquisitions, and
capital expenditures of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The 2021 Credit Agreement requires us to maintain certain financial ratios and other financial conditions and
prohibits us from making certain investments, advances, cash dividends or loans, and limits incurrence of additional
indebtedness and liens. As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with those covenants,

The following table summarizes the Company's total outstanding borrowings related to the 2021 Credit Agreement
(in thousands):

December 31, 2021 Maturity Date

585000 Apedl 20,2006

b,

748,511

Less: cutrent portion of debt $ (30,000)

The carrying amount is the par value of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans less the debt discount and
debt issuance costs that are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the terms of the
Term Loans. [ntersst expense is included in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of income.




The effective interest rate for the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement is 1.84% as of December 31, 2021,
The following sets forth the interest expense recognized related to the borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement
included in interest expense in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of income (in thousands):

For the year ended

2021

T ©341)

{12,501}

As of December 31, 2021, we had no outstanding borrowings under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility, and our
available borrowing capacity was $500.0 million. In addition, as of December 31, 2021, we had one oustanding
standalone letter of credit totaling $2.0 million. The letter of credit, which guarantees our performance under a client
contract, renews automatically annually ynless canceled in writing, and expires in the third quarter of 2026,

F-23

Terminaied Debt Agreements

The 2021 Credit Agresment replaces and terminaies the Company’s previous $400.0 million credit facility pursuant
to the Credit Apreement dated as of September 30, 2019 (the "2019 Credit Agreement™), The Company’s previously
announced commitment from Goldman Sachs Bank USA for a $1.6 billion 364-day senior unsecured bridge loan
facility also terminated on the Closing Date. The following summarizes the interest expense and related amortization
of debt issnance costs associated with the terminated debt agreenients incurred through the Closing Date, included in
interest expense in the accompanying condensed consclidated statements of ncome (in thousands).

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Unsecored bridge loan facility commitment fee (6,407 —

Total % (8204) § (1,000 8 (2,026)

Converiible Senior Notes due 2026

On March 9, 2021, we issued 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 in the aggregate principal amount of $600.0
million ("the Convertible Senior Notes” or "the Notes™), The Convertible Senior Notes were issued pursaant to, and
are governed by, an indentute (the "Indenture™), dated as of March 9, 2021, with U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee. The net proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes were $591.4 million, net of initial
purchasers’ discounts of $6.0 million and debt issnance costs of $2.6 million,

The Convertible Senior Motes are senior, unsecured obligations and are (i) equal in right of payment with our fature
senior, unsecured indebtedness; (ii) senior in right of payment to our future indebtedness that is expressly
subordinated to the Notes; (iii) effectively subordinaied to our future secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value



of the collateral securing that indebtedness; and (iv) structurally subordinated to all future indebtedness and other
liabilities, including trade payables, and (fo the extent we are not a holder thereof) preferred equity, if any, of our
subsidiaries.

The Convertible Senior Notes accrue interest at a rate of 0.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on
Match 15 and September 15 of each year, beginning on Septerber 15, 2021, The Convertible Senior Notes mature
on: March 15, 2026, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted.

Before September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes have the right to convert their Convertible
Senior Notes only upon the oceurrence of certain events, Under the terms of indenture, the Convertible Senior Notes
are convertible info common stock of Tyler Technologies, Inc. (referred to as "our common stock™ herein) at the
following times or circumstances:

*during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ended June 30, 2021, if the last reported sale price
per share of our common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price for each of at least 20 trading days (whether or
net consceutive) during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the
immediately preceding calendar quarter; '

»during the five consecutive business days immediately after any five consecutive trading day period (such five
consecutive trading day period, the "Measurement Period”) if the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of
Convertible Senior Notes, as determined following a request by their holder in accordance with the procedures in the
ndenture, for each trading day of the Measurement Period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale
price per share of our common stock on such trading day and the conversion rate on such trading day;

«upon the occurrence of certain corporate events or distributions on our common stock, including but not limited to a
"Fundamental Changs” (as defined in the Indenture);

*upon the occurrence of specified corporate events; or -

+on or after September 15, 2025, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding
the maturity date, March 15, 2026,

With certain exceptions, upon a change of control or other fundamental change (both as defined in the indenture
governing the Convertible Senior Notes), the holders of the Convertible Senior Notes may require us to repurchase
all or part of the principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the
redemption dafe.

As of December 31, 2021, none of the conditions allowing holders of the Convertible Senior Notes to convert have

been met.
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From and including September 15, 2025, holders of the Convertible Senior Notes may convert their Convertibls
Senior Notes at any time at their election until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day
immediately before the maturity date. We will seltle any conversions of the Convertible Senior Notes either entirely
in cash or in a combination of cash and shares of common stock, at our election. However, upon conversion of any
Converiible Senior Notes, the conversion value, which will be determined over an "Ohservation Period” (as defined
in the Indenture) consisting of 30 trading days, will be paid in cash up to at least the principal amount of the Notes
being converted.

The initial conversion rate is 2.0266 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Senior
Notes, which represents an initial conversion prive of approximately $493.44 per share of common stock, The
conversion rate and conversion price will be subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events. In addition,
if certain corporate events that constitute a "Make-Whole Fundamental Change” (as defined in the Indenture) occur,
then the conversion rate will, in certain circumstances, he increased for a specified period of tine.

The Convettible Senior Notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at our option at any time, and from time to time,
on or after March 15, 2026 and on or before the 30th scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date, at




a cash redemption price equal to the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, up to, but excluding, the redetmption date, but only if the last reported sale price per share of our common
stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price of the Notes on (i) each of at least 20 trading days, whether or not
consecutive, during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the trading day immediately before
the date we send the related redemption notice; and (if) the trading day immediately before the date we send such
notice. In addition, calling ary Note for redempiion constitutes a Malke-Whole Fundamental Change with respect to
that Note, in which case the conversion rate applicable to the conversion of that Note will be increased in certain
circumstances if it is converted after it is calied for redemption.

The net carrying value of the Convertible Senior Notes, net of unamortized debt discount and unamortized debt
issuance costs were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2021

Less: unamoriized debst discount and debt issuance
costs

Catryinig vl as

The carrying amount is the par value of the Convertible Senior Notes less the debt discount and debt issuance costs
that are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the term of the Convertible Senior
Notes. Interest expense is inchided in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of income. The fair
value of the Convertible Senior Notes is determined based on quoted market prices for a similar liability when
fraded as an asset in an active market, a Level 2 input.

As of December 31, 2021, the effective interest rate as for the Convertible Senior Notes is 0.53%. The following sets
forth the interest expense recognized related to the Convertible Senior Notes (in thousands):

For the year ended

2021

-Améﬁizatibﬁ of debt discount ﬂﬂd‘(‘l‘@“)t rsqudnca
costs (1,382

Toul

We paid interest of $17.7 million in 2021, including $6.4 million related to the senior unsecured bridge loan facility
commitment fees, $0.6 million in 2020, and $1.8 million in 2019,
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As of December 31, 2021, the required annual maturitics refated to the 2021 Credit Agreement and the Convertible
Senior Notes due 2026 were as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, Annual Maturities

2025 30,000




Total required maturities $ 1,355,000

(7)FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received io sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or most advantageous market for that
asset or liability. Guidance on fair value measurements and disclosures establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure
of inputs nsed in measuring fair value defined as follows:

sLevel I—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

*Level 2—Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and quoted prices in non-active
markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, and inputs that are not directly observable, but are
corroborated by observable market data.

*Level 3—Inputs that are unobservable and are supported by little or no market activity and reflect the use of significant
management judgment,

The classification of a financial asset or liability within the hierarchy is determined based on the least reliable level of
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. In determining fair value, we utilize valvation techniques that
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. We also
consider the counterparty and our own non-performance risk in our assessment of fair value.

Assets that are Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables, accounts payables, short-term oblgations and cettain other assets
at cost approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments,

As of December 31, 2021, we have $98.7 million in investment grade corporate bonds, municipal bonds and asset-
backed securities with maturity dates ranging from 2022 through 2027, We believe cost approximates fair value
because of the relatively short duration of these investments, The fair values of these securities are considered Level
2 as they are based on inputs from quoted prices in markets that ate not active or other observable market data.
These investments are presented at amortized cost and are included in short-term investmenis and non-current
investments in the sccompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2021, we have an
accrued interest receivable balance of approximately $467,000 which is included in accounts receivable, net. We do
not measure an allowance for credit losses for acorued interest receivables as such loss would not be material. We
record any losses within the maturity period of the investment and any write-offs to acerned interest receivables are
recorded as a reduction to interest income in the period of the loss, During the twelve months ended December 3,
2021, we have recorded no credit losses. Interest income and amortization of discounts and premiums are incloded
in other income, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. During the fourth quarter,
Management determined that our investment portfolio would no longer be held to maturity. The impact to the
financial statements in the current year is not material.

Assets thut are Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

Assets that are Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis. In 2020, we purchased §10.0 million in common
stock representing a 18% interost in BFTR, LLC. The investment in common stock is accounted under the equity
mothod because we do not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee and the securities do
not have readily determingble fair values, Our investment is carried at cost less any itmpairment write-downs.
Periodically, our equity method investments are assessed for impairment. We do not reassess the fair value of equity
method investments if there are no identified events or changes in circumstances that may have a significant adverse
effect on the fair value of the investments. No events or changes in circumstances have occutred during the period
that require reassessment. There has been no impairment of our cost method investment for the
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periods presented. This investment is included in non-current investments and other assets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets,

We assess goodwill for impairment annuafly on October 1. In addition, we review goodwill, property and
equipment, and other intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the catrying
value may not be recoverable, During the fourth quarter of 2021, we completed our annmal assessment of goodwill
which did not result in an impairment charge. Further, we identified no judicators of impairment to long-tived and
other assets and therefore, no impairment was recorded as of and for the period ended December 31, 2021,

Financial instruments measured at fair value only for disclosure purposes

The fair value of our borrowing under our 2021 Credit Agreement would approximate book value as of
December 31, 2021, because our interest rates reset approximately every 30 days ot less.

The fair value of our Convertible Senior Notes dus 2026 is determined based on quoted market prices for a similar
liability when traded as an asset in an active market, a Level 2 input. See Note 6, "Debt,” for further discussion.

The following table presents the fair value and carrying valus, net, of the 2021 Credit Agreement and our
Convertible Notes due 2026, as of December 31, 2021, and 2020 (in thousands):

Fair Value at December 31, Carrying Value at December 31,

2021 2020 2021 2020

Term Loan A-2 167,996 -

Converfible Notes dus 202

$ 1,485,174 % — 3 1,341,276 % —

(8)INCOME TAX

Income tax (benefit) provision on income from operations consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2021 Ca020 2019

6,585
10,794 19,399
Deferred Casany SRR

24T B (19778) § 1311

Reconeiliation of the U.8. statutory income tax tate to our effective income tax expense rate for operations follows:



Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit 5,594 6,677 6,999

Exoess tax benefits of shars-based compensation (47,675) (60,190) (29,819}

49

i\[on-deductible business expenses 7,542 4,199 6,0 11

$ CATT) § '(19,773) £ 13311
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The tax effects of the major iterns recorded as deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are:

2021 2020

Operating expenses not currently deductible 3 16,639 § 9,084

et benicfit plans

As of December 31, 2021, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $39.1 million, after-tax
state nef operating loss carryforwards of approximately $2.5 million, and tax credit carryforwards of approximately
$9.8 million. The federal net operating loss carryforward will begin to expire in 2032, if not utilized, and a portion
of the state net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards begin expiring in 2022, if not utilized.

The acquired carryforwards are subject to an anmal limitation but are expected to be realized. The valuation
allowance disclosed in the table above was released in the current year as we determined that it is more likely than




not that all deferred tax assets will be realized. However, the amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable
could be adjusted in the future if estimates of reversing taxable temporary differences are revised,

The following table provides a reconciliation of the gross unrecognized tax benefits from uncertain tax positions for
the years ended December 31:

2021 2020 2019

Additions for tax pbsiﬁons of prior years

Additions for tax positions of current year 212 — —

Expiration of stztutes of Hmitations (2.004) ' _

As of December 31, 2021, $1.9 million of the unrecognized tax benefits are reflected as a decrease in deferred
income taxes and $2.7 million are included in other long-term liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. The total
amount of unrecognized tax benefits, net of federal income tax benefit of state taxes, if recognized, that would affect
the effective tax rate is $4.3 million as of December 31, 2021 and $1.9 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. It is reasonably possible that events will occur during the next 12 months that would cause the total
amount of unrecognized tax benefits to increase or decrease, However, we do not expect such increases or decreases
to be material to the financial condition or results of operations.

We are subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as income tax of multiple state, local and foreign jurisdictions.
We are routinely subject to income tax examinations by these taxing jurisdictions, but we do not have a history of,
nor do we expect, any material adjustments as a result of these examinations. With few exceptions, major U.S.
federal, state, local and foreign jurisdictions are no longer subject to examination for years before 2017, As of
February 23, 2022, no significant adjustments have been proposed by any taxing jurisdiction.
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We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense in the
consolidated statements of income. Accrued interest and penalty amounts were not significant at December 31,
2021.

We paid income taxes, net of refunds received, of $2.2 million in 2021, $3.3 million in 2020, and $21.3 million in
2019,

(9)SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The following table details activity in our common siock:

Years Bnded Decsmber 31,

2021 2020 2019

 Shares Amount Amount Shares Amount

278 9T

Stook gption excréises ST

Purchases of common stock 33) (1297 (59) (15484) ) (14289)



kestﬁﬁed stock nnits vested, net of witlheld
shares upon award settlement 147 (25,158) 76 (12,923} 53 (5,361)

As of February 23, 2022, we had authorization from cur board of directors to repurchase up to 2.4 miRlion additional
shares of our common stock.

{10)SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Share-Based Compensation Plan

In May 2018, stockholders approved the Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan ("the 2018 Plan™)
which amended and restated the existing Tyler Technologies, Inc, 2010 Stock Option Plan ("the 2010 Plan™), Upon
stockholder approval of the 2018 Plan, the remaining shares available for grant under the 2010 Plan were added to
the shares authorized for grant under the 2018 Plan. Additionally, any awards previously granted under the 2010
Plan that expire unexercised or are forfeited are added to the shares authorized for grant under the 2018 Plan.

During fiscal year 2021, we granted stock awards under the 2018 Plan in the form of stock options, restricted stock
units and performance share units. Stock options generally vest after three to six years of continuous service from
the date of grant and have a contractual term of 10 years. Once options become exercisable, the employee can
purchase shares of our common stock at the market price on the date we granted the option, Restricted stock unit
grants generally vest ratably over three to five years of continuous service from the date of grant, Each performance
share unit represents the right to receive one share of our common stock based on our achievement of certain
financial performance targets during applicable performance periods. We account for share-based compensation
utilizing the fair value recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Stock Compensation.

As of December 31, 2021, there were 1,9 million shares available for fiture grants under the 2018 Plan from the
22.9 million shares previously approved by the shareholders.

Determining Fair Valoe of Stock Compensation

Valuation and Amortization Method. We estimate the fair value of stock option awards granted using the Black-
Scholes option valwation model. For restricted stock unit and performance stock unit awards, we amortize the fair
value of all awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods, which are generally the vesting periods,

Expected Life. The expected life of awards granted represents the period of time that they are expected to be
outstanding. The expected life represents the weighted-average period the stock options are expected to be
outstanding based primarily on the options’ vesting tetins, remaining contractual life and the employees’ expected
exercise based on historical patierns,

Expected Volatility. Using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, we estimate the volatility of our common
stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of our common stock,

Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option valuation mode! on the
implied yield currently available on 1.8, Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent remaining term equal to
the expected life of the award,
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Expected Dividend Yield. We have not paid any cash dividends on cur common stock in more than ten years and we
do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foresseable future. Consequently, we use an expected dividend
yield of zero in the Blaclk-Scholes option valuation model.

Expected Forfeitures. We nse historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures. We record share-based
compensation only for those awards that are expected to vest.




The following weighted average assumptions were used for options granted:

Years Bnded December 31,

2021 2020 2018

Expested forfeiturs rate

Share-Based Award Activisy

The following table summarizes restricted stock unit and performance stock unit activity during the periods
presented (shares in thousands):

Weighted

Average Grant

Numberof  Date Fair Value
Shares per Share

Unvested at December 31, 2020 28245

Ct.yﬁ.ver.s.ic.m of Unyested Reéﬁ'icted Siﬁck
Awards

Vested . -

Forfeited

Options granted, exervised, forfeited and expired are summarized as follows:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Average Contractusl
Nunber of Exercise Life Aggregato
“Shares Price {Years) Intrinsic Vatue

Exercisable at December 31, 2021



We had unvested options to purchase approximately 445,000 shares with a weighted average grant date exercise
price of $293.84 as of December 31, 2021, and unvested options to purchase approximately 752,000 shares with a
weighted average grant date exercise price of $231.93 as of December 31, 2020

Other information pertaining to option activity was as follows during the twelve months ended December 31:

2021 2020 - 09

Wei

Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised 215,062 292394 § 155,899
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Share-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense related to share-based awards which is recorded
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

81,021

49,240

(47,675)

{60,190)

As of December 31, 2021, we had $187.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested
options and restricted stock units, net of expected forfeitures, which is expected to be amortized over a weighted
average amortization period of 3.0 years,

Emnplovee Stock Purchase Plan

Under our Bmployes Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP™) participants may conteibute up to 15% of their annual
compensation to purchase common shares of Tyler. The purchase price of the shares is equal to 85% of the closing
price of Tyler shares-on the last day of each quarterly offering period. As of December 31, 2021, there were 629,000
shares available for future issuances under the ESPP from the 2.0 million shares previously approved by the
stockholders.

{11)EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings and diluted eamings per share data were computed as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019




Net imcome 3 161,458 § 194,820 § 146,527

Weighted-average basic common shares outstanding

CESION

Stock awards

Denominator for diloted eamnings per share

- Adjusted weighted-average shares 42,244 41,526 40,105

395 §

Share-based awards representing the right to purchase common stock of 117,000 shares in 2021, 132,000 shares in
2020, and 633,000 shares in 2019 were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share becanse their
inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive effect.

We have used the if-converted method for calculating any potential dilutive effect of the Convertible Senior Notes
on our diluted net income per share. Under the if-converted method, the Notes are assumed to be converted at the
beginning of the period and the resulting common shares are included in the denominator of the diluted earnings per
share calculation for the entire period being presented and interest expense, net of tuax, recorded in connection with
the Convertible Senior Notes is not added back to the numerator, only in the periods in which such effect is dilutive.
The approximately 1.2 million temaining comnon shares related to the Notes are not included in the dilutive
weighted-average common shares outstanding calculation for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, as their
effect would be anti-dilutive given none of the conversion features have been triggered. See Note 6, "Debt,” for
disenssion on the conversion features related to the Convertible Senior Noles.
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(12) LEASES

We lease office facilities for use in our operaticns, as well as transporiation and other equipment. Most of our leases
are non-cancelable operating lease agreements and they expire in one year to 10 years. Some of these leases include
options to extend for up to 10 years. We had no finance leases and no related party lease agreements as of
December 31, 2021, Operating lease costs were approximately $15.1 million in 2021, $10.2 million in 2020, and
$9.9 million in 2019.

The components of operating lease expense were as follows (in thousands):

Lease Costs Years ended December 31,

Operating kease cost 5 11,095 §

Variable lease cost 1,659



As of December 31, ROUJ lease assets and lease liabilities for our operating leases were recorded in the consolidated
balance sheets as follows (in thousands):

2021 2020

18,734

Total lease liabilities 22,183

Supplemental information related to leases is as follows:

Cther Information For the year ended For the year ended

2021 2020

Operating leases _ $ 20,140 § 5,524

Weighted average discount rate
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As of December 31, 2021, maturities of lease liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, Amount

2022
2023
230
2025

202




Thereafter 11,431

©2.75)

Rental income from third parties

We own office buildings in Bangor, Falmouth and Yarmouth, Maine; Lubbock and Plano, Texas; Troy, Michigan;
Latham, New York; and Moraine, Ohio, We lease space in some of these buildings to third-party tenants. The
property we lease to others under operating leases consists primarily of specific facilities where one tenant obtains
substantially all of the economic benefit from the asset and has the right to direct the use of the asset. These non-
cancelable leases expire between 2022 and 2027, and some have options to extend the lsase for up to 10 years. We
determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. None of our leases allow the lessee to purchase the leased asset.

Rental income from third-party tenants was $1.2 million in 2021, $1.1 million in 2020, and $1.1 million in 2019.
Rental income is included in hardware and other revenue on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
Future minimum operating rental income based on contractual agreements is as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, Armount

Thereafter 7.

Totat

As of December 31, 2021, we had no additional significant operating or finance leases that had not yet commenced.

{(13)EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide a defined contribution plan for the majority of cur employees meeting minimum service requirements.
Eligible employees can contribute up to 30% of their current compensation to the plan subject to cortain statutory
limtitations. We contribute up to a maximum of 3% of an employee’s compensation to the plan. We made
contributions to the plan and charged operating results $15.6 million in 2021, $12.7 million in 2020, and $11.5
million in 2019.

(14)COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Security Incident

As previously disclosed, we experienced a security fncident in September 2020 (the "Incident”) involving
ransomware disrupting access to some of our internal information technology (IT) systems and telephone systems.
Although we believe we have contained and recovered from the Incident, and that we have taken and will continue
to take appropriate remediation steps, we are subject to risk and uncertainties as a result of the Incident. There can
be no assurance as fo what the ongoing impact of the Incident will be, if any. We maintain cyhersecurity insurance
coverage in an amount that we believe is adequate.
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Litigation

There are no material legal proceedings pending to which we are party or to which any of our properties are subject.

(15)SEGMENT AND RELATED INFORMATION
We provide integrated information management sclutions and services for the public sector,

‘We provide our software systems and services and appraisal services through seven business units, which focus on
the following products:

sfinancial management, education and planning, regulatory and maintenance sofiware solutions;

«financial management, municipal courts, planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions;

scourts and justice and public safety software solutions;

«data and insights solutions;

splatforn technologies solutions including case management and business management processing;

*NIC digital government and payments solutions; and

sappraisal and tax software solutions, land and vital records management software solutions, and property appraisal
services,

In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segment Reporting, we report our results in three segments. The financial
management, education and planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions unit; financial management,
municipal courts, planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions unit; courts and justice and public safety
software solutions unit; data and insights solutions; and platform technologies solutions meet the eriteria for
aggregation and are presented in the Enterprise Software ("ES™) reportable segment. The ES segment provides
public sector entities with software systems and services to meet their information technology and antomation neads
for mission-critical "back-office” functions such as: financial management and education, courts and justice, public
safety, planning, regulatory and maintenance, data and insights, and platform technologies processes. The Appraisal
and Tax ("A&T") segment provides systems and sofiware that automate the appraisal and assessment of real and
personal property, land and vital records management as well as provides properly appraisal outsourcing services for
local governments and taxing authorities. Property appraisal outsourcing services include: the physical inspection of
commercial and residential properties; data collection and processing; computer analysis for property valuation;
preparaticn of tax rolls; community education; and arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction. On
April 21, 2021, we acquired NIC, resulting in the addition of a new reportable segment, as its operating results meet
the criteria of a reportable segment, The operating results of NIC are inchided with the operating results of the NIC
segment firom the date of acquisition,

We evaluate performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business segment
operating income. We define segment operating income for our business units as income before non-cash
amortization of intangible assets associated with their acquisitions, interest expense and income taxes. Segment
operating income includes intercompany transactions. The majority of intercompany transactions relate to contracis
involving more than one unit and are valued based on the contractual arrangement. Corporate segment operating
income primatily consists of campensation costs for the executive menagement team, certain shared services staff,
and share-based compensation expense for the entire company. Corporate segment operating income also includes
revenues and expenses related to a company-wide user conference. The accounting policies of the reportable
segments are the same as those described in Note 1, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”.

Sepment assets primarily consist of net accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets and net
property and equipment, and capitalized software development costs. Corperate assets primarily consist of cash and
investments, prepaid insurance, intangibles associated with acquisitions, deferred income taxes and net property and
equipment mainly related to unallocated information and technology assets.




The ES segment capital expenditures included $12.8 miltion in 2021 and $6.6 million in 2029 for the expansion of
existing buildings and purchases of buildings. The A&T segment had no capital expenditures in 2021 and $3.3
million in 2020 for the expansion of existing buildings. The NIC segment had no capital expenditures in 2021 for
the expansion of existing buildings,

As of January 1, 2021, certain administrative costs related to information technology, which were previously
allocated and reported in the BS and AXT segments, were moved to the Corporate segiment to reflect changes in the
way in which management makes operating decisions, allocates resources, and manages the growth and profitability
of the Company. Prior year amounts for all segments have been adjusted to reflect the segment change.
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Enterprise Appraisal
For the year ended December 31, 2021 Software and Tax NIC Corporate Totals
e e . .. |
Software licenses and royalties % 68,101 § 6351 § — — 5 74432
3 S © 84435
Software services o 167065 18661 23,665 —  awpel

Appraisal services

Intercompar 2,921 67 — 22988 = —
y

Total revenues .~ - 18 1,502,287

Txepreciation amd amortization expense 135,624
Segment aperating ncom k:

6épita1ized software expendinres

Segment assets § 965966 $ 230077 § 303046 $ 3232872 § 4,733,161

Enterprise Appraisal

For the vear ended Deceniber 31, 2020 Software and Tax NIC Corporate Totals

Software licenzes and royai.tieéi o % 64,200 § 5 — & — § 73,164
Suchnptmns o e . T
Software services — N 186,409

Appraisal services
Hardware and oih@r’ (R

Intercompany 70 — ey _

Total rovenues

207§ 1116663

Depreciation and amm‘tizﬁtiun expense —_ 13,191 ' 51.657



Segment assets - 0§ 847672 8 94,149 — S 1665453 § 2607274
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Enterprise Appraisal
For the year ended December 31, 2019 Software and Tax NIC Cotporate Totals

Software licenses and royalties $ 90808 § 9397 § — % — 5 100208

Softwarc services 1798 33096 — — 213,061

Appraisal services - — 23479 — — 23,479

(15,496)

11,457

81 5

833203 § 01343 — & 1267068 3 2,191.614

Segmant assets
Reconciliation of reportable segment oporating Years Ended December 31,
income to the Company's consolidated totals: 2021 2020 2019

Amortization of sequired software (31,962)

Interest expense (23,293) (1,013) (2,027

Income before meome taxes § 158081 $ 175042 § 159,838
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(16) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

The tables below show disaggregation of revenue into categories that reflect how economic factors affect the nature,
amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows,



Timing of Revenue Recognition

Timing of revete recognition by revenue category during the period is as follows:

Products and services
transferred atapoint in -~ Products and services

For the year ended December 31, 2021 time transferred over time Total

209,391

27,788

Total $ 34,781 & 1,507,506 § 1,592,287

Products and services
transferred at 8 point in - Products sod services

For the year ended December 31,2020 tims transferred over time Total

Softwarc iicenses and royaliies . $ 62028 § 11,135 § 73,164

Software services — ) 717736,409
) A;p.prarsai. s;r.s;lces o . o ' . - : .. a ”21.,‘12.7;

Ha ., ware andother . 7: -

Total 3 79,831 § 1,036,832 § 1,116,663

Produsts and servicss
tansferred at 2 point  Products and services
For the year ended December 31, 2019 in time transfemred over Hme Tatal

100,263

. Appraisal services — 23,479 2.3,479

: Hard\.‘gare I T L L e e e e e 23 012

Total 978,515 % 1,086,427

Recurring Revenue



The majority of our revenue is comptised of recurring revenues from maintenance and subscriptions, Virtually all of
our on-premises software clients contract with us for maintenance and support, which provides us with a significant
source of recurring revenue, We generally provide maintenance and support for our on-premises clients under
annual, or in some cases, multi-year contracts. The contract terms for subscription arrangements range from one to
10 years but are typically confracted for initial periods of three to five years. Non-recurring revenues are derived
from all other revenue categories.

Recurring revenuss and non-recurring revermes recognized during the period are as follows;

Enterprise
For the year ended December 31, 2021 Software  Appraisal and Tax NIC Corporate ‘Totals

253933 52,041 23,665

Total revenues 51,122,073 § 121,258 & 368,917 § (19,961) $1,592.287

Enterprise
For the year ended December 31, 2020 Software  Appraisal and Tax NIC Corporate Totals

11

$1,020958 % 114824 § - $ (19,120) SL116.663

Bnterprise
Scfiware  Appraisal and Tax NIC Corporate Totals

Non-recurring revemues 287 ,255 6,276

Total revenues § 975319 % 120343 § — & (9,240) 51085427

(17) DEFERRED REVENUE AND PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS

Total deferred revenue, including long-term, by segment is as follows:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

;ﬁppmjsa] and Tax

Corporats 7 1,814 .

Totals: =

Changes in fotal deferred revenue, incliding long-term, were as follows:

2021




LI77,744

(1,128,555

Balanca at end of year $ 510,567

Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations represents contracted
revenue that has not yet been recognized ("Backlog™), which includes deferred revenue and amounts that will be
invoiced and recognized as revenue in future periods. Backlog as of December 31, 2021 was $1.80 billion, of which
we expect to recognize approximately 47% as revenue over the next 12 months and the remainder thereafter.
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(18) DEFERRED COMMISSIONS

Sales commissions earned by our sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a
confract with a customer. Sales commissions for initial contracts are deferred and then amortized commensurate
with the recognition of associated revenue over a period of benefit that we have determined to be generally three to
seven years, Deferred commissions were $38.1 million and $32.3 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, Amortization expense was $13.4 million, $11.9 million, and $11.5 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, There were no indicators of impairment in relation 1o the costs
capitalized for the periods presented. Deferred commissions have been included with prepaid expenses in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization expense related to deferred commissions is included in
selling, general and administralive expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive
meome.

{19) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 8, 2022, we acquired US eDirect Inc., a market-leading provider of technology solutions for
campground and outdoor recreation management. The total purchase price was approximately $123.1 million, of
which $117.6 millior: was paid in cash and approximately $5,5 million was accrued for indemnity holdbacks, subject
{0 certain post-closing adjustments,
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES GF TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC,

As of February 23, 2022

All corporations are subsidiaries of Tyler Technologies and, if indented, subsidiaries of the company under which
they are listed.

Subsidiaries ' Organized Under the Laws oft



Tyler Appraisal & Tax Services, ULC
lTerr Federal, LLC Virginia

Georgia

FPhitippines

el

7 Coloféﬁé

Colorado

Comnecticut

Indiana Interactive, LLC Indiana

' 'Kentﬁc-l'c-y Interactive, LLC Kentucky

Louisiana Interactive, LLC Louisiana

‘ Maryland Iliteracﬁvs, LLC

Mississippi Interactive, LLC Mississippi

Nebraska Interactive, LLC ' Nebraska




New Mexico Interactive, LLC New Mexico

| Oklahoma Interactive, LLC

Fennsylvania Interactive, LLC . Pennsylvania

Exhibit 21.1

South Carolina Interactive, LILC South Carolina

Vermont Information Consortium, LLC Vermont

‘West Virginia Interactive, West Virginia

. Wisconsin [ntera

Constmuction Registry Services, LLC

Florida

North Caroling

Soerata UK. Limited

VendEugine



The names of certain subsidiaries are omitted, as such subsidiaries in the aggregate would not constitute a significant
subsidiary.

Exhibit 23
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firmn
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-225011) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc, 2018 Stock Option Plan,
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-182318) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc. Employee Stock
Purchase Plan;

of our reports dated February 23, 2022, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of T'yler Technologies,
Inc., and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Tyler Technologies, Ine., included in this
Anmual Report (Form 10-K) of Tyler Technologies, Inc. for ihe year ended December 31, 2021,

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 23, 2022

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, H. Lynn Moore, Jr., certify that:
1.1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Tyler Technologies, Inc.;

2,  Based onmy knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of & material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(&)) and internal control over our financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 153-15(D) for Tyler and have:

a.Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to cnsure that material information relating to the registrant, including its divisions, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 1o be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and




the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in acvordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

¢.Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d.Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (The registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certitying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committes of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent function):

a.All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial informeation; and

b.Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Date: February 23, 2022 By: /s/H. Lynn Moore, J1.

H. Lynn Moors, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Qfficer

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Brian K. Miller, certify that:

1.1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-X of Tyler Technologies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a matesial
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(g) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over our financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for Tyler and have:

aDesigned such disclosure controls and procedures or cansed such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supetvision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its divisions, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,



b.Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or cansed such internal coatrol over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c.Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d.Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (The registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely fo materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifving officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent function):

a.All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affeot the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

b.Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Date: February 23, 2022 By: /s/ Brian K. Miller

Brian K. Miller

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

H. Lynn Moore, Jr., President and Chief Execntive Officer of Tyler Technologies, [nc., (the "Company™ and Brian
K. Miller, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each certify pursuant to section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U,8.C, Section 1350, that:

1.The Report fully complies with the requirements of Secticn 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as
amended; and

2, The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the {inancial condition and results of
operations of the Corporation,

Date: February 23,
2022 By: /s/H, Lynn Moore, Jr,



H. Lynn Moore, Jr.

President and Chief Executive Officer

By: /¢/ Brian K. Miller

Brian K. Miller

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Tyler Technologies, Inc.
and will be retained by Tyler Technologies, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon
request.



RQIT22000001 31/MAY/2022
VENDOR:
TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC
12 GOOSE IN

TOLLAND Cr 06084-000C

TEL: {800)}273-8605
FAX:{860)872-9526

ITEM DESCRIPTION
ool 920-45

REQUISTTION

REQUISITIONER:
T DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECH
240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD

6TH FLOOR
MINEOLA

S, BARNETT/MARY MAHONEY
TEL! (516)571-315%
FAX: (516)571-3318

oTY U/

COMPUTER SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE/SUPPORT

QUOTE: 070-106131

L R R R R

2022 IAS MAINTENANCE RENEWAL 1/1/2022-12/31/2022
2022 ADAPT MAINTENANCE RENEWAL 1/1/2022-12/31/2022

ADAPT MAINTENANCE:

TAX BILLING & COLLECTION
DELINQUENT TAX

APPERLS MANAGEMENT

EDME INTERFACE (IDOC)

INCLUDES: UPGRADES, NEW ENHANCEMENT RELEASES, HOT BUG FIKES/PATCHES

UNIT COST
1.00 LOT

$359,345.00
£307, 665.00

$667,010.00

MON-FRI 8:00 AaM - 5:00 PM TOLL FREE TELEPHONE SUPPORT,

USER GROUP

NY 11501

TOTAL
667,010.0000

T T T T T T O T T N N O O O AL Y

BILL T0O: I.T. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD 6TH FL
MINEOLA, NY¥, 11501

FMAIL: I[TACCOUNTINGENASSAUCOUNTYNY.GOV

P T T T T T T T T T O

667,010.00



ROIT22000001 31/mMAY/2022
VENDOR :
TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC
i2 GOOSE LN

TOLLAND cT 06084-0000

TEL: (800)273-B605
FAX: (860)872-952¢6

REQUISITION

REQUISITIONER:
r DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECH
240 GLD COUNTRY ROAD
6TH FLCOR
MINECLA NY 11501
&, BARNETT/MARY MAHONEY
TEL: {516)571-3159
FAX: (516)571-3918

ESTIMATED TOTAL: 667,010, 00



_ @@ Remittance: Invoice
’"@ '@® Tyler Technologies, Inc. .
(X (FEIN 75-2303920) 0";’6";’;;1‘;’? Date 1P a?‘j
. - 09/01/2021 G
Dallas, TX 75320-3556
Questions:
Tyler Technologies - Appraisal & Tax
Phone: 1-800-772-2260 Press 2, then 4
Email:  ar@tylertech.com
Bill To: Nassau County IT Dept. Ship Te:  Nassau County IT Dept.
Ms. Mary Mahoney Ms. Mary Mahoney
240 Old Country Road 240 Old Country Road
Minecla, NY 11501 Mineola, NY 11501
Cust No.-BiliTo-ShipTo Ord No PO Number Currency Terms Due Date
48769 - 12181 - 12181 4810 uso NET30 10/C1/2021
. Date Description Units Rate Extended Price
Contract Mo.: Nassau County [T Dept.
iasWorld Maintenance & Support 1 359,345.00 359,345.00
Maintenance: Start; 31/Jan/2022, End: 31/Dec/2022
ADAPT Maintenance & Support 1 307,665.00 307,685.00

Maintenance: Start: 01/Janf2022, End: 31/Dec/2022

“*ATTENTION** Subtotal | 667,010.00 I

Order your checks and forms from
Tyler Business Forms at 877-748-2090 or Sales Tax 0.00

tylerbusinessforms.com to guarantee
100% compliance with your software. Invoice Total 667,010.00




= tyler

One Tier Way
Maoraire, Ohio 48430

¥ 800.800.258]
F: 9372783711

e it e

sthiwlogies

September 1, 2021

Ms. Nancy Stanton

Nassau County Commissioner
Information Technology Department
240 Old Country Road, 6 Floor
Mineola, NY 11501

Dear Ms. Stanton:

Please accept this letter as confirmation that Tyler Technologies, Inc. 1s the sole provider of the
iasWorld® software (“iasWorld software™). Additionally, Tyler is the only party authorized to
host, support, update or modify iasWorld software.

The iasWorld software products currently in use by Nassau County, NY provides for a single
source of data to perform its business functions. The ability to use a single source of data (i) reduces
the possible need for duplicate data entry, (ii) provides a seamless transition of data from the
valuation office function to the billing and collection office function, and (iii) gives the tax office
function immediate access to changes in valuations. In addition, Tyler Technologies staff are the
foremost users of the Tyler software and have the abilities and access to access the solution in
advanced ways that no other software service provider can.

Tyler is the sole developer and implementer of its proprietary iasWorld® software.

If you have any questions, please feel free to call (800-800-2581), or email me at
kim.frisby@tylertech.com

Sincerely,

Kimberly L. Frisby
Vice President Support Services

KLF:smm:krs



teeh a logies

Gne ler Drive
Yarmouth, ME 04096

Py 8O0, 772.2260
F: 807.781.245%

s Tylartach.oom

November 9, 2020

Susan Barnett

Clerk IV

Nassau County Sheriff, NY

240 Old Country Road 6" Floor
Mineola, NY 11501
sharnett@nassaucountyny.gov

To Whom It May Concern:

Please allow this letter to confirm that SoftCode is a product of Tyler Technologies, which we
develop and license to our customers. Tyler is the sole source for the development,
implementation, maintenance and support of the SoftCode software.

Tyler appreciates the trust that Nassau County, NY has placed in our company and products, and
we will continue to work diligently to ensure your complete satisfaction with our software, service

and support throughout the life of this partnership.

Please do not hesitate to contact me with any questions regarding the foregoing.

Sincerely,

E Jisel Lopez
Senior Corporate Attorney



BRUCE BLAKEMAN
COUNTY EXECUTIVE

Nancy Stanton
COMMISSIONER

DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

TO: Robert Cleary, Chief Compliance Officer
Nassau County Dept. of Shared Services

Subject: Confirming REQ RQIT22000001 Justification

Robert,

RQIT22000001 is for the annual [AS/ADAPT maintenance renewal that began on January 1,
2022. This maintenance covers the IAS/ADAPT software currently being used by Nassau
County provides for a single source of data to perform its business functions. The ability to use a
single source of data reduces the possible need for duplicate data entry, provides a seamless
transition of data from the valuation office function to the billing and collection office function,
and gives the tax office function immediate access to changes in valuations. This year’s costs are
$359,345.00 for IAS and $307,665.00 for ADAPT for a total cost of $667,010.00.

We are aware that this must go to the Legislature as it is over $100k and is not on the NYS OGS
or Federal GSA Contracts. The vendor is the sole source owner/supplier of the software and its
maintenance. Tyler Technologies staff are the foremost users of the Tyler software and have the
abilities and access to access the solution in advanced ways that no other software service
provider can. [ have attached the sole source letter.

Please advise if you need any further information from LT. to receive Legislative approval so
that the P.O. can be created.

Thank you,
Susan

Susan Barnett, Clerk I (P-T)
N.C. Dept. of Information Technology

240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD - MINEQLA, NEW YORK 11501 (516) 571-4311 Fax: (516) 571-3918
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CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

DATE (MRM/DD/YYYY)
(440642022

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

— IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PROBUCER /o0 i ﬁgf';',TE{:‘CT Finn Dawis
NG PHONE FAX
99 HIGH STREET (A/G. No, oy, (017) 999-7802 {AIC, Noy:
BOSTON, MA 02110 L s Finn Davis@marsh.com
INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #
GN102891976-TT-GAWX-+-22-23 INSURER 4 : Hartford Fire Insurance Co . 10682
INSURED . 127120
Tyler Techaologies, Inc, INSURER B : Trumbull insurance Company j
5101 Tennyson Parkway INSURER ¢ : QBE Spedialty Insurance Company - 11515
Plano, TX 75024 INSURER D : Sentinel Insurance Cempany 111000
INSURER E : Hartford Casualty Insurance Company 09424

INSURER F :

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER:

NYC-011256015-04 REVISION NUMBER: 0

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABCVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED COR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS,

ADDLSUB TCY EXP
'E-PRR TYPE OF INSURANCE INSD | WVD POLICY NUMBER (nﬁ%ﬁ%}’vw:’) (nﬁaifongv‘() LIMITS
A | X COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 10 UEN DLO437 04/01/2022 040172023 EAGCH OCCURRENGE 3 1,000,000
WAGE T0 RENTED
| cLams-maDE OCCUR PREMISES (Ea occurranca) | § 300,000
. MED EXP {Any one person) $ 10,000
PERSONAL & ADV INJURY | § 1,000,000
GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE § 2,000,000
X poLicy i:l R Loc PRODUCTS - COMPIOP AGG | § 2,000,000
' OTHER: $
B | AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY TUUEN G857 0172022 040172023 | FOMBTIED SINGLELIMIT 14 4,000,000
X | ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per parson) | 6
! OWNED SCHEDULED . "
" AUTOS ONLY AJTOS BODILY INJURY (Per accident} | §
~ HIRED NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE Py
AUTOS ONLY ALTOS ONLY | (Per accident)
i 5
E ] X * UMBRELLA LIAB X | occur 10 XHU DLO102 0412022 | 04101/2023 EACH OCCURRENCE $ 25,000,000
: EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE _AGGREGATE 3 26,000,000
. DED | X | ReTENTION S 10,000 $
D |WORKERS COMPENSATION TOWBAKBAGK Dafri2022 04R1/2023 X | PER ‘ OTH-
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY YIN STATUTE ER
ANYPROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $ 1,000,000
OFFICERMEMBEREXCLUDED? NiA
{Mandatory in NH) EL. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE] $ 1,000,000
if yas, describe under 1,000,000
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMT | § 000,
C | Professional Liability 130001996 12171201 1211712022 Limit 5,000,000
Cyher Protection

County of Nassau is Additional Insured as respecls ganeral lizbility where required by wrilten coniract,

DESCRIPTION OF OFERATIONS { LOCATIONS | VEHICLES {ACORD 101, Additicnal Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is reguired)

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

CANCELLATION

County of Nassau
240 Old County Ré
Mineola, NY 11501

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHCRIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Plveod: TS E Foc.

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1983-2016 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and lego are registered marks of ACORD




AGENCY CUSTOMER ID: CN102891976
Loc # Boston

A
®
ACORD ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE page 2 ©of 2
'TGENCY NAMED INSURED
MARSH USA, ING. Tyler Technolegies, Inc.
5101 Tennyson Parkway
POLICY NUMBER Plano, TX 75024
CARRIER NAIC CODE
EFFECTIVE DATE: J
ADDITIONAL REMARKS
THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO AGORD FORM,
FORM NUMBER: __2° FORM TITLE: Certificate of Liability Insurance

The Professional Liability/Cyber poficies evidenced cortain Self Insured Retentions to varlous perils covered. 1§ you would like additional information regarding these sublimits or decuctibles, pleass contact the
insured.

Excess Cyber Protection:

5,000,000 x5 $5,000,000

Cafler: Munich Re Syndicaie Limited
Policy Humber: BOSOUFINPY2150867
EffiExp dates: 121712021 - 121712022
Par Claim and Agaregate Limit: $5,000,000
Business Inerruption: $2,500,000
Ransomware: 2,500,000

* (2008/01) © 2008 ACORD SORPORATION. All rights reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD




